024 FERE

Qﬁiiﬁiﬂﬁﬁ’élﬁlﬁ“j

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD
$ET§5§;<E¥% ffﬁ]?ﬂﬁﬁR_LE’JEBEAT

incorporated under th of the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

STOCK CODE Rgfa1X3&: 2869!& A




Z/IMEE

CORE VALUES

= 2
AN
PERFECTION




B 5

SINCERITY

=
==

WELL-
INTENTIONED

\ :% ,%_-Zé&

IMPECCABILITY



Contents

H &%

Corporate Information
ARAR

Definitions

B

Company Overview
NAEBE

Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights
BB RELBBERE

Awards and Honors

$TE ) B

Chairman’s Statement

TEWmE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE S wmM AT

Investor Relationship

BREERIR

Directors and Senior Management
EELEAEEE

Report of Directors

EEgRE

Corporate Governance Report
PREAME

Independent Auditor’s Report

B 7 BE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

mEBRmEMEEKR SR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A BRI R E

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BARREDR

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
MAERERER

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 ¥R AR M R

11

17

20

24

47

51

62

102

125

137

140

142

144

146



Corporate Information

DNEEHR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman)
Ms. Jin Keli
Mr. Chen Hao
(Resigned on 24 February 2025)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Shou Bainian
Ms. Xia Yibo
Ms. Li Hairong
Mr. Song Hailin
(Appointed on 24 February 2025)
Mr. Liu Xingwei
(Resigned on 24 February 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Mr. Wong Ka Yi

Mr. Li Feng

Mr. Jia Shenghua

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Ka Yi

Mr. Li Feng

Mr. Jia Shenghua

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Ka Yi

Mr. Li Feng

Mr. Jia Shenghua

EEx®

HITESE

BERRE (FE)
eRBRZL

PR e

(P 20254 2 A 24 BEHT)

FHITES
SRFELE
E—Fit
gL
RIGMEE
(720252 A24 HEZRT)
2 F A
(R 202542 A 24 BHEHT)

BYFHITES
EEBLE
BEREAE
FESE
BEAEERLE

BEREEg
BB S ()
EREEE
S
EAEE

FHESg
BB S ()
EREEE
S
EAEE

2024 FEEHRE SWRIEEEERAF



Corporate Information

DNEEHR

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wong Ka Yi (Chairman)

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Mr. Li Feng

Mr. Jia Shenghua

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ng Sau Mei (FCG, HKFCG)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yang Zhangfa
Ms. Jin Keli

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA

Block B

Xixi International Business Center

No. 767 West Wenyi Road

Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Rooms 1607-08, 16/F., Kai Tak Commercial Building

Nos. 317 & 319 Des Voeux Road Central

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REZET
ERELE (TR
ETRE
TR
R

DNEWE
{RF 4 + (FCG, HKFCG)

REAK
CES YL
SHBLL

SR

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HMERPETEERBE

FE

ATA TN

X — 767 5%
PR BIBR 7 75 R
B

ERBTEEEME
EB LR
BEEF 317 & 3195%

BB 2 A B 1618 1607-08 =

TERNBFETE

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands



Corporate Information

DNEEHR

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

AUDITOR
KPMG
Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
Han Kun Law Offices LLP
Rooms 4301-10

43/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS
Agricultural Bank of China (Hangsan Road Branch)

283 Wensanxi Road
Xihu District, Hangzhou
Zhejiang Province

The PRC

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
1 Garden Road
Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.lvchengfuwu.com

STOCK CODE
2869

LISTING DATE
12 July 2016

EERMDBFERE
BEERRELELERAA
EEET

EERER 1835

A IR R

17181712 2171655 48

3

25 A A E A

RO R BERBEH) T
FETR A R 5 AR AR BT
Rk

AT 0%

AT AESE

HEEER
EIMEMEHAERERETAR
o

ERREFR 155

BEHES

EERLTITAEAR

4301-10%

TEAERRIT
R IR = 15
Gk

T A

N P

S =7G3 283 5%

RERTT (BE) BRAF]
BB
TEEE 157

NGIE Bl

www.lvchengfuwu.com

R 4 4K 5%

2869

t BHA
201647 A 12 A

2024 FEEHRE SWRIEEEERAF



Definitions

B

“"AUD" Australian dollar, the lawful currency of Australia

ETT] BAFETT - RAN R HEE B

"Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

[BRZEg] ExeEn%Ee

"Board” the board of directors of our Company

[EFg] ZA/NTE o -

“China” or "PRC" the People’s Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this annual

report and for geographic reference only, excludes Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

[ REARANE  ERAFRRMEL2ENS - TRESE RS
THERAE

“Company” or “our Company"” Greentown Service Group Co. Ltd. (&R B & B BR 2 &), an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 24 November 2014

[AR KT RAE] BWREEEERAG - —HR2014F 1M1 A24BRHEH ST MK ZH
EHRRERQA

"Director(s)” the director(s) of our Company

[E%] RRREE

"GFA" gross floor area

RER TS

"Group”, "our Group”, “the Group”, our Company and its subsidiary(ies) from time to time or where the context
"we", "us" or "our” so requires, in respect of the period before our Company became the

holding company of our present subsidiaries, the business operated by
such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case may be)

(@] [AREE]HHM] ARREEAIKHOHMBEAR MEXERT RARAKRRENER
ANERARAAOEE  BHZEFHEARXERNE AR (BFBERME)
RENED

"HK$" Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

[&7t] B BREEER

“"Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

(&%) REE B RITTHER

“Listing” the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

[ £ BB PR £

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Definitions

B

“Listing Date”

[EH R
“Listing Rules”
[ Em#R A

"

m

B8

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEE]

"Prospectus”

[ E ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[#FEEE]

"Reporting Period”
[#R&ERA]

“"RMB”, "Renminbi” or
"Renminbi Yuan”

[AR¥]

“Shareholder(s)"”
[R% 3R]

“Share(s)"”
[ ]

"sq.m"

[ 75K

"Stock Exchange”
[ B 2 A

"Usb”
E

IIY/YII
NEi=al

u%u

(B ]s%]

12 July 2016, on which the Shares were listed and from which dealings in
the Shares were permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

2016F7H128 - BROARBERF EMIT B I EEE B/ HE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARIMBRARESR MR

million
EX-)

the nomination committee of the Board

EEgREEES

the prospectus of the Company dated 28 June 2016
AARBER2016F6 A28 AMBERE

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFxeyHEzES

the twelve months ended 31 December 2024
BZE2024F12 A3 B IETZ@A

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of China
ARETT HBUEEEE

shareholder(s) of the Company
ARABRSR

ordinary share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.00001 each in the share capital
of the Company

AR RIS R & AR TE B 0.00001 7 7T 2 & AR

square meter

FHK

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEREMERXHAARRNE

US dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of America

X7 XBHEEER

year-on-year

= 380

percent

BO
2024 FEEHRE SWRIEEEERAF
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Company Overview

NEE

The Group is a leading happy living service provider nationwide, and
is based on people’s full range of life scenes and the entire life cycle
of real estate, and provides a wide range of services that are strongly
associated with life, which include four types of services, namely
property services, community living services, consulting services and
technology services, and provide our residents with access to a broad
portfolio of products and services that address the evolving daily needs
of our customers, property owners and residents.

OUR PRODUCTS AND SERVICES PORTFOLIO

o Property services. We provide a range of high quality property
management services, such as security, cleaning, gardening, and
repair and maintenance services, which we refer to collectively

s “standard” property management services, and charge
the residents and owners of our managed properties or real
estate developers management fees for such services. As at
31 December 2024, we managed properties located in 202
cities across 31 provinces, direct-controlled municipalities and
autonomous regions across China with a total managed GFA
reached 509.0 million sg.m. which covers high-end residential,
government public construction, commercial office buildings,
urban complex.

J Consulting services. We offer consulting services to real estate
developers and local property management companies to
address various needs that arise during each major stage
throughout the course of their property development projects,
capitalizing on our brand equity and expertise. For example,
we provide real estate developers with project planning,
design management, construction management and marketing
management consulting services during the design and
development stages and display unit management services
to facilitate sales of their developed projects. We also provide
management consulting services with respect to delivered
properties to real estate developers and property management
companies.
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Company Overview

NEHE

Community living services. Based on the needs of the property
owners' full range of life scene, we provide property owners
and residents of our managed communities with access to an
extensive array of daily necessities complemented by a wide
assortment of life-style products and services through a variety
of channels. Our services under this segment include community
products and services, home living services, community space
services, property asset management services, cultural &
education services. As the needs of our property owners and
residents for better living have been evolving, on the basis of
innovation and promotion of traditional service, we will continue
to use the mobile Internet and the smart community portal, offer
a wider range of services and products to satisfy the customers,
and combine online and offline service, to broaden and
accelerate the flow of life services.

Technology services. Centering on the digitalization of services,
we have built all-round platform products and intelligent property
products for government, future communities, and property
enterprises. From the early stage of planning and design, smart
hardware construction to the development and operation of
digital system, technology services provide customers with
intelligent, inclusive and affordable integrated solutions, and
help customers in digital transformation. Technology services are
an important infrastructure to build the differentiated product
system of the Group, break the bottleneck of efficiency, and help
the Group achieve the strategic goal of being the most valuable
and happy living service provider in China.

B@RS - HPIEREETHN R TR
LRENFER BBRZRREMNKMAEE
AENXEREFREHEBAELER
LEMMSEREERERNRSE - B
AR B A E A MR - RIEEE
% ERE=RERYE WEEEEER
B XEHBERE -BEEEINERR
FHMAEMITENEERFE  SEE
B MRAEREDREOER L &,
MEEEEREHEMRPEETSHEA
O &P 4R 18 48 38 & A BR 7% A 2 2R
MREP  RAKLETEANARA A
RMIEAE RIS REZER]

MR - HPESERENEFL B
BT~ KRR MELCEZTITER
FeEMRESMEEM - KA HHE
Fit - EEREARRIBFERENRA
BREZ MERBEATFREHES
EE EEN-BEBRAAIR PIT
FPH#F EL - M RBEBENEE
ZRIERBR WRMEXRE  BH7
AEEERTPEZABEZREDRS
EBRE B RN ERERRIE -

2024 FEHRE HWRIEEEERAF

9



(CIEEES

PERFECTION



Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mEXRE

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TRT AR%TT AR®TZT

Revenue A 10,105,646 12,566,131 14,856,343 17,393,272 18,527,760

+-% Em/ W% 17.8% 24.3% 18.2% 17.1% 6.5%
Gross profit EN 1,922,834 2,330,526 2,401,953 2,913,386 3,196,665

+-% MWD % 24.3% 21.2% 31% 21.3% 9.7%
Profit for the year FERNFE 740,657 890,444 631,423 716,130 867,367
Net profit attributable to equity A AR

shareholders of the Company FEIREFE 710,414 846,275 547,501 605,374 785,080

+/-% Em/HD % 48.8% 19.1% -35.3% 10.6% 29.7%
Earnings per share after Listing ~ E#& G R&F

(RMB) (AR®) 0.23 0.26 0.17 0.19 0.25
% of overall revenue EEBAREE %

by service line

— Property services — MER 63.6% 61.8% 63.6% 63.8% 66.9%

— Community living services — BE R 20.0% 20.8% 19.2% 20.5% 18.2%

— Consulting services — BARE 14.9% 15.6% 13.9% 13.2% 13.0%

— Technology services — B AR 1.5% 1.8% 3.3% 2.5% 1.9%
Overall revenue HALON 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Profitability Ip:Es
Gross margin by service line REBEINEFRE

— Property services — MERE 12.8% 12.5% 12.1% 13.0% 13.7%

— Community living services — B& MR 25.4% 25.7% 20.8% 21.5% 22.6%

— Consulting services — BB 32.6% 30.0% 22.7% 23.4% 24.9%

— Technology services — BHRR 64.6% 42.8% 40.9% 38.7% 39.3%
Gross margin — overall EME e 19.0% 18.5% 16.2% 16.8% 17.3%
Net profit margin® EREERO 7.0% 67% 4.3% 4.1% 4.7%

0} Net profit margin is calculated as profit attributable to equity shareholders of the (i) FFERZE AR AR m IR R B IR AA o
Company divided by revenue.

(ii) To facilitate comparison between historical financial data, the financial data (i) BIERE S BUE 2 MR LB - 2024 F E I B 8RR

highlights for 2024 is based on the consolidated financial results of the Group EDNERAEBENGAMBEE MTROBER
without disaggregation of continuing operations and discontinued operations, for BEBREEERER ARFRAFHRELE
details, please refer to page 24 of this annual report and note 7 to the financial Pt

statements.

2024 EHRE SWIRBEERRART 1
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Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 ~ RMB‘000
ARETT ARETFT ARBTFT ARETT ARETT
PROFIT OR LOSS B
Revenue — by service line WA —RER
Property services LES TS 6428756 7,769,559 9,446,258 11,101,501 12,401,312
+/-% B mD % 17.9% 20.9% 21.6% 17.5% 11.7%
Community products Bl & 7 m MR 7
and services 651,798 958,686 1,138,251 1,272,004 1,310,311
+/-% B,/ m % 20.4% 18.8% 18.7% 11.7% 3.0%
Home living services RIEHTE R 147,241 193,517 256,420 547,453 395,672
+/-% BB % 26.7% 31.4% 32.5% 113.5% -27.7%
Community space services B[ 22 ] iR 75 194,632 223,971 249,788 280,635 292,734
+/-% B/ mA % -4.5% 15.1% 11.5% 12.3% 4.3%
Property asset management MEEEERRY
services 711,076 779,142 661,700 777,642 635,279
+/-% B Hd % -17.3% 9.6% -15.1% 17.5% -18.3%
Cultural & education services SULEE IR 316,840 460,367 547,740 690,827 739,237
+/-% B mD % 65.3% 45.3% 19.0% 26.1% 7.0%
Community living services ER#% 2,021,587 2,836,485 2,853,899 3,568,561 3,373,233
+/-% B,/ m % 57% 30.3% 9.1% 25.0% -5.5%
Property under construction YR
services 1,189,722 1,598,010 1,821,093 2,020,899 2,115,033
+/-% BB % 21.0% 34.3% 14.0% 11.0% 4.7%
Management consulting services & 3 &% 7 R 7% 310,167 362,077 245,703 274,357 296,997
+/-% BB % 32.6% 16.7% -32.1% 1.7% 8.3%
Consulting services BHARE 1,499,889 1,960,087 2,066,796 2,295,256 2,412,030
+/-% B WD % 23.2% 30.7% 5.4% 11.1% 5.1%
Technology services BER% 155,414 220,802 489,390 427,954 341,185
+/-% BB % - 42.1% 121.6% -12.6% -20.3%

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

For the year ended 31 December
BE12A3NBLFE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETT ARBTRT AR®TR

OPERATING DATA BEYE
Property services MR
Total no. of contracts ARAY 1,759 2,132 2,630 3,105 3,554
+/- #m/ L 305 373 498 475 449
+/-% /7% 21.0% 21.2% 23.4% 18.1% 14.5%
Reserved GFAs (m sq.m) REDER(BBEHK) 284.3 347.7 379.0 3716 357.2
+/- > 51.1 634 31.3 -74 -14.4
+/-% BB % 21.9% 22.3% 9.0% -1.95% -3.9%
Managed GFAs (m sq.m) EEAR(BEBEAXK) 250.5 304.1 384.1 448.4 509.0
+- @,/ md 38.1 536 80.0 64.3 60.6
+/-% /7% 24.6% 21.4% 26.3% 16.7% 13.5%
Terminated GFAs (m sq.m) BHEER(BBEAK) 73 1.0 14.1 388 36.9
+-% BB % -13.1% 50.7% 28.2% 175.2% -4.9%
% of managed GFAs inthe year HEFEEEE% 2.9% 3.6% 3.7% 8.7% 7.2%
Avg property service fee FHNERKE
(RMB/month/sq.m) (AR% 88>
BEHK) 3.20 3.21 3.20 3.24 3.24
+/-% #h,/m % 1.6% 0.3% -0.3% 1.3% -

2024 EHE HWIRBEEBRAR 13



Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

FINANCIAL POSITION B # AR R

As at 31 December
M12A31H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Note RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARETT ARETFT ARBTT AR%TT AR®BTR

Current assets TEEE 8,609,335 9,278,237 10,840,595 12,111,712 12,649,296
Including: BE:
Cash & cash equivalents HEREEZEY 4,437,192 4,306,619 4,183,381 4,530,836 4,853,862
Trade & other receivables & 5 & H b 8 U 5% 1,990,178 3,054,668 4,610,396 5,044,833 5,576,581
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,469,459 5,096,514 6,013,097 5,969,957 5,044,528
Total assets BEE 13,078,794 14,374,751 16,853,692 18,081,669 17,693,824
Current liabilities mEAE 4,685,813 5,788,719 7,387,474 8,557,525 8,528,388
Including: BE:
Bank loans RITER 6,000 5,205 124,294 267,406 41,050
Lease liabilities HEEE 163,730 184,745 257,762 287,750 159,839
Non-current liabilities ERBAaE 1,280,938 1,215,770 1,590,075 1,298,940 622,379
Including: BE:
Bank loans RITE N 140,456 147,282 186,638 23,018 23,873
Lease liabilities HERE 1,037,449 965,593 1,257,608 1,129,962 553,235
Total liabilities HEE 5,966,751 7,004,489 8,977,549 9,856,465 9,150,767
Net assets BEE 7,112,043 7,370,262 7,876,143 8,225,204 8,543,057
Financial ratios B it =
Current ratio BN % 1.84x 1.60x 1.47x 1.42x 1.48X
Quick ratio SIS 1.76x 1.53x 1.39x 1.19x 1.41X
Net gearing ratio FEEBEXR 0] Net cash Net cash Net cash Net cash Net cash
FHRE FERE FHE FERE FERE

Net cash per share ERFRE ) 0.96 0.93 0.73 0.88 1.29
Rates of return 5] 3R =
Dividend per share after ~ FT#BRIEE

Listing (HK$) (B7T) 3 0.120 0.160 0.100 0.150 0.130
Special dividend (HK$) BRI E (BT) 0.080 0.040 - - 0.070
Return on net equity FRERERE @) 10.0% 11.5% 6.9% 7.4% 9.2%
Return on total assets BEERRE (5) 5.4% 5.9% 3.2% 3.3% 4.4%

14 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

Notes:

Net gearing ratio is calculated as cash and cash equivalents minus bank loans and
lease liabilities, and then divided by net assets

Net cash per share is calculated as cash and cash equivalents minus bank loans and
lease liabilities, then divided by total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December

2024

This is based on total number of Shares issued as at 31 December 2024:
3,163,645,627 Shares

Return on net equity is calculated as net profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company divided by net assets

Return on total assets is calculated as profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company divided by total assets

=

FEERERTEAZRUBERACESEMRE
RITERREEEE  ABKRUFEE
FRFREOAEAFZRUBERBCEEMRE
RITERREEBRE  RAEKRUAN2024F12831
HE#TERE

ERENN2024F12A3MBE HITHRKE :
3,163,645,627 f%

R R AT E AR AR R S IR AR
FIBR AT & E

HEERIREETE AR AR R SRR S T
WA A E

2024 FEEHRE SWRIEEEERAF
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Historical Financial and Operating Data Highlights

B BEESHERE

RERTRE

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARBTT AR®TT AR®TR
Net cash generated from REEBMEREFR
operating activities 1,315,994 1,018,706 695,276 1,436,072 1,474,721
Net cash generated from/ REEBMEB/(FTA)
(used in) investing activities BeF8 (2,264,312) (301,513) (140,769) (377,530) (503,290)
Net cash (used in)/generated mEEE (FTA) /&
from financing activities Re#s 2,977,020 (778,692) (720,423) (717,246) ~ (651,446)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ~ BHa& MRS EEY)
and cash equivalents #m/Chd) 58 2,028,702 (61,499) (165,916) 341,296 319,985
Cash & cash equivalents at the FHNHERELEEY
beginning of the year 2,641,334 4,437,192 4,306,619 4,183,381 4,530,836
Effect of foreign exchange EXgHT e
rate changes (232,844) (69,074) 42,678 6,159 3,041
Cash & cash equivalents at the FREERELZEY
end of the year 2,641,334 4,306,619 4,183,381 4,530,836 4,853,862

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Awards and Honors

RIENRE

Top100 Chinese Property Enterprises with Service Top 20 China Urban Service Enterprises in 2024
Capability in 2024 2024 H B35 T AR 7 Top20 (%
2024 FEIECERB I EREE

2024 @k AL RS HEE R ’ 20247 BT S TOP20 1k
Top 100 Chinese Property Enterprises with Service Capability in 2024 ‘_\
e =} 1% [er =)

BRI IR S EHERAT ) ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ

cEEe

R, WA

2024 Leading Companies of China in Property 2024 Top 100 High-quality Service Property
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Awards and Honors
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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the report of annual results of
the Company for the year 2024.

This year, thanks to the diligence, enthusiasm and ambition of all
our employees, the Company’s performance has continued its
excellence and quality as seen in the first half of the year. In line with
its precise and effective strategic direction for development, the
Company achieved a steady growth with resilience in terms of its core
development, accumulating energy for the Company's long-term
vision and also strengthening the belief in the Company’s commitment
to stable and compliant development.

Annual performance: stable quality improvement with
resilience reflected in results

Only by striving for good services and quality products can we
navigate through industry cycles. In 2024, facing the dual challenges
of global economic recovery and in-depth industry adjustments,
the Group has consistently adhered to its strategic outline of “high-
quality development” to guide the Company to solve difficulties in
all aspects. With its scale reaching a new level, the Group recorded
an operating revenue of approximately RMB18.53 billion during the
year, representing a steady progress despite the high base. The
profit growth momentum was also strong, as evidenced by the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of approximately RMB785 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 29.7%. Besides, the Group's
cash reserves were abundant, with cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB4.85 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 7.1% compared with that in 2023. The time deposits amounted to
RMB1.12 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 199.5%. Thus,
the fundamental basis for increasing revenue and expanding profits is
solid and reliable.

Market potential can only be unlocked by visionary insight and
pragmatic execution. The managed gross floor area (“GFA") of the
Group reached 509 million square meters (“sq.m”), representing a
double-digit growth compared with that in 2023, which was primarily
concentrated in high-quality service spaces within first- and second-tier
cities, demonstrating our robust capability to create a virtuous cycle
from reserves to delivery and expansion, and establishing a secure
margin for future development.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Development strategy: united efforts to stand firm in times
of change

We refined management and improved efficiency to maximize
effectiveness. The Company deepened internal management
reform with a solid determination. In 2024, the Group reduced the
management expense ratio by 0.5 percentage point through digital
empowerment and precise operation with a “one model for one
project” approach. Quality remained as our most valued principle,
safeguarded by lean practices and efficiency. Our daily satisfaction
remained consistently high, and the property owners of over a hundred
projects supported price increases for high-quality services.

Technological empowerment, ecological symbiosis and innovation-
driven growth define our strategy. The value of last-mile digitalization
serves as the catalyst propelling us into the blue ocean of technology.
Hangzhou has solidified its position as the most vibrant hub for
technological innovation this year. As a service enterprise deeply
rooted in this city, we are intimately attuned to its innovation-
driven ethos and continuously harness technology to empower
our operations. Through in-house research and development and
ecosystem integration, we positioned technology services as one
of the core infrastructures to drive competitive differentiation and
overcome efficiency bottlenecks. In partnership with Ant Group, we
launched the “Property Intelligence Agent” to deliver good services
directly to property owners. Additionally, our collaboration with
DingTalk included providing comprehensive logistics services for its
headquarters and leveraging DingTalk’s advanced digital workspace
solutions to transform the Group's office ecosystem. Technologies like
Al-powered glasses, floor-cleaning robots and customer service robots
are already in pilot deployment. Concurrently, we are advancing brain-
computer interface (BCI) solutions through rigorous development and
testing. By integrating next-generation technologies, we are laying a
robust foundation for service innovation.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Culture shapes the core and model drives breakthroughs, seeking
momentum through integration. The construction of a better lifestyle is
evolving from residential communities to urban districts. In 2024, Yuhu
Park in Hangzhou gained widespread attention. During the first week
of its opening, the new urban park attracted 150,000 visitors daily, and
maintained a weekend flow of over 100,000 thereafter. Seizing this
chance, we swiftly established a new paradigm for urban services by
transitioning from the benchmark of “property+” comprehensive park
operations to “park+". This serves as a prime example of integrating
the Company'’s cultural professional services with its main property
services business, leveraging cultural synergy to drive a breakthrough
in development models. At our first conference in 2025, we designated
business integration as a key initiative. The marketing team launched
ten dedicated task forces to bring together large professional
companies. The customer service team collaborated with operation
team to ensure the effectiveness of implementation and execution,
while the technology team served functional departments and
business segments, comprehensively drove the continuous release of
integration-driven momentum.

Mission of the times: a three-pronged approach, anchoring
the future

Where the needs of the people lie, our services follow. Over the past
year, the Group has pioneered and further deepened the “property
+ lifestyle” model, driving it toward greater practicality. Aligning
with the national focus on “elderly and youth care”, our initiatives of
“recreation”, "“longevity” and “learning” have seamlessly integrated
into the fabric of a fulfilling life, forming the cornerstone of an ideal
community. The revenue from this sector accounted for 18.2% of the
Group's total operating revenue during the year.

Where urban renewal is needed, our expertise follows. Aligned with
the urban development vision proposed by the Ministry of Housing
and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC of “good houses, good
neighborhoods, good communities and good urban districts”, the
Group has focused on the “City Oases” integrated strategic layout.
By actively engaging in urban renewal and pioneering practices, we
have established exemplary projects such as Hangzhou Cuiyuan and
Tianshui Street, well prepared for advancing the “Four Goods" urban
development philosophy.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Where the consumption trends lead, our quality follows. In 2024,
we witnessed a rise in consumption activity. Leveraging our service
advantages of being "approachable, familiar and trustworthy”, we
achieved continuous growth in operating revenue and profits from our
community products and services. We have become a leading player
in the community commerce sector. This was mainly because we faced
the demand side, let services design life, optimized product quality,
and learnt from outstanding retail peers like “Pangdonglai” to adopt
better service and operational practices.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The value of an enterprise lies not only in its ability to generate profits,
but also in its capacity to become a “community of trust”, achieving
more sustainable and long-lasting value creation. We believe that
being approachable is natural, being familiar is our advantage, and
becoming trustworthy is our goal. Trust is as precious as gold, forged
only with craftsmanship; goodness and beauty radiate like light,
guarded only with perseverance. Looking forward to 2025, we will
focus on the main theme of "high-quality development”, enhance
our services to improve "people’s livelihood warmth”, define the
Company's height with “innovative sharpness”, and expand industry
horizon with “urban vitality”. We firmly believe that with our hearts set
on the stars, we fear no obstacles; together with goodness and beauty,
we shall traverse a magnificent journey.

Trust must never be betrayed. | would like to thank all of our
shareholders again for their continuous support and trust. Let us
embark on the new journey together and write a new chapter!

Yang Zhangfa
Chairman of the Board
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group is a leading happy living service provider nationwide.
The main business scope covers property services, community living
services, consulting services and technology services. The Group
always adheres to the concept of “Service Makes Life Better”, and the
strategic goal of the Group is to become the most valuable happiness
service provider in China. The Group adheres to the customer-oriented
and quality-oriented service strategy, the development strategy
on human-oriented technological synergy, the business strategy of
improving the lean operational efficiency, and adheres to the original
intention of service and service innovation. The Group will complete
the same goal with employees, grow together with the property
owners, and make progress with the society.

FINANCIAL REVIEW?
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group achieved the
following:

Revenue

Revenue was RMB18,527.8 million. Compared with that for the year
of 2023, which was RMB17,393.3 million, the growth rate on Y/Y basis
reached 6.5%.

The Group's revenue comes from four major businesses: (i) property
services; (i) community living services; (iii) consulting services; and (iv)
technology services. During the year, (i) revenue from property services
reached RMB12,401.3 million, accounting for 66.9% of the Group's
overall revenue. Compared with RMB11,101.5 million for the year of
2023, there was a Y/Y growth of 11.7%; (ii) revenue from community
living services reached RMB3,373.2 million, accounting for 18.2% of
the Group's overall revenue, representing a Y/Y decrease of 5.5% from
RMB3,568.6 million for the year of 2023; (iii) revenue from consulting
services amounted to RMB2,412.0 million, accounting for 13.0% of the
Group's overall revenue. There was a Y/Y growth of 5.1% compared
with RMB2,295.3 million for the year of 2023; and (iv) revenue from
technology services amounted to RMB341.2 million, accounting for
1.9% of the Group’s overall revenue, representing a Y/Y decrease of
20.3% from RMB428.0 million for the year of 2023.

# Considered that Montessori Academy Group Holdings Pty Ltd (“MAG") ceased
to be a subsidiary of the Group after the Group disposed of a portion of its equity
interest therein during the year, in accordance with the relevant requirements of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), management has classified
the Group's operations as continuing operations and discontinued operations, with
the operations of MAG being classified as discontinued operations and elected to
disclose a single amount of profit from discontinued operations, net of tax in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and has analysed that
amount into detail items of statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in note 4 to the financial statements. In order to facilitate the shareholders
and potential investors of the Company to compare the consolidated financial
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 with the previous year,
the analysis in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in the annual report
is based on the Group's consolidated financial results without disaggregation of
continuing operations and discontinued operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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2024 2023
% of the % of the
RMB’000 total revenue RMB'000  total revenue Y%
ARBTT (HEKA% AR®TR EBIA % [Al L, %
Property services ESE S
Property services ME R 12,401,312 66.9% 11,101,501 63.8% 11.7%
[ES 0L e 11101501 638% 17%
Community living services EfR#%
Community products & services &% 2 an M AR 7% 1,310,311 7.1% 1,272,004 7.3% 3.0%
Home living services JBREE RS 395,672 2.1% 547,453 31% -27.7%
Community space services Bl [ 7 i e 7% 292,734 1.6% 280,635 1.6% 4.3%
Property asset management WX EEEERRE
services 635,279 3.4% 777,642 4.5% -18.3%
Cultural & education services  X{L# A fR7% 739,237 4.0% 690,827 4.0% 7.0%
___________________________________________________ o R L
Consulting services B AR
Property under construction  TEEME RS
services 2,115,033 11.4% 2,020,899 11.6% 4.7%
Management consulting services & 12 7 # R 75 296,997 1.6% 274,357 1.6% 8.3%
___________________________________________________ R 227520 132%  51%
Technology services REBR®
Technology services R R 341,185 1.9% 427,954 2.5% -20.3%
e I O RN Y 2 SR 203%_
18,527,760 100.0% 17,393,272 100.0% 6.5%
Cost of sales SHERA

During the year, the cost of sales was RMB15,331.1 million, FWR W HEKABARKEISBIIEET &
representing an increase of 5.9% compared with RMB14,479.9 million  2023F2F AR 14,4799 8 & 0L K 59%
for the year of 2023, which was slightly lower than revenue growth. BE AR AU A 3R ©
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Gross profit margin

Gross profit reached RMB3,196.7 million, representing a growth of 9.7%
compared with RMB2,913.4 million for the year of 2023. Gross profit
margin was 17.3%, increased by 0.5 percentage point compared with
16.8% for the year of 2023, which was mainly due to the fact that the
Group continued to strengthen the cost control through a series of
measures to improve quality and efficiency.

—  Gross profit margin for property services was 13.7%, which
increased by 0.7 percentage point compared with 13.0% for the
year of 2023;

—  Gross profit margin for community living services was 22.6%,
which increased by 1.1 percentage points compared with 21.5%
for the year of 2023;

—  Gross profit margin for consulting services was 24.9%, which
increased by 1.5 percentage points compared with 23.4% for the
year of 2023; and

—  Gross profit margin for technology services was 39.3%, which
increased by 0.6 percentage point compared with 38.7% for the
year of 2023.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses were RMB352.9 million, representing
an increase of 3.0% compared with RMB342.6 million for the year of
2023. Selling expense ratio was 1.9%, representing a decrease of 0.1
percentage point compared with 2.0% for the year of 2023.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses were RMB1,256.3 million, representing a
decrease of 1.5% compared with RMB1,274.8 million for the year
of 2023. The management expense ratio was 6.8%, representing a
decrease of 0.5 percentage point compared with 7.3% for the year
of 2023. This was mainly because the Group continued to strengthen
the streamlining of organization and the management and control
of administrative logistics costs, and administrative expenses were
effectively controlled.

Core operation profit

Core operating profit was RMB1,587.5 million, representing an increase
of 22.5% compared with RMB1,296.0 million for the year of 2023, which
was mainly because the Group has strengthened the revenue quality
management and adopted effective cost control measures that have
brought about continuous improvement in the profitability of the
principal operating business.
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Expected credit losses on financial instruments

During the year, the expected credit losses on financial instruments
increased by 19.3% to RMB240.6 million from RMB201.7 million for
the year of 2023, primarily because of the synchronous increase in
impairment provisions caused by the increase in the balance of trade
receivables.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses were RMB234.4 million, representing an
increase of 39.3% compared with RMB168.2 million for the year of
2023, primarily due to the increase in impairment provisions for some
assets such as long-term equity investments made by the Group
pursuant to the market environment after taking into account prudent
considerations.

Net finance (income)/costs

The net finance income during the year was RMB4.4 million, which
increased by RMB6.5 million compared with the net finance costs
of RMB2.1 million for the year of 2023, which was mainly due to the
increase in interest income. The interest income was mainly composed
of the time deposits and demand deposits. During the year, in order to
improve the return on capital, the Group purchased a large number of
time deposits, resulting in a significant increase in interest income.

EMIANTEHEERXL

FHN ¢RHIANTEHEEBRRXAARE
2406 BB TT  2023F 2 F ARME201.7H
BTER193% TEERAE HEKFIER
REIE N A5 SR AR B R R 2P 40 -

H&Em

HEisEmMT AARK2344FE T - 82023
FRrEARKIB2EE L A% =2
EXMSRETE BRALEEZSRE LD
RERIBIEESEENRBEERIZM -

BE (WA, RAFEHE
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2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 Y/Y%
AR%T ARBEFT [t %
Interest income on financial assets AESBE A ENERIE E
measured at amortised cost B B A (84,555) (76,263) 10.9%
Interest expense on bank loans RITFERFERAX 30,837 22,559 36.7%
Interest expense on lease liabilities & & & F) 8 % H} 66,596 74,576 -10.7%
Less: interest expense capitalised JfiZs : ETMELATEEEER
into assets under F B X
construction (17,276) (18,796) -8.1%
Net finance (income)/costs BE (WA, BRAFE (4,398) 2,076 -311.8%
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Share of profits/losses of associates and joint ventures
During the year, share of losses of associates amounted to RMB11.0
million, representing a decrease of RMB156.2 million compared with
the profits of RMB145.2 million for the year of 2023, which was mainly
due to the profits of an associate of the Group in 2023, while there was
no such effect during the year.

During the year, share of losses of joint ventures amounted to RMB0.7
million, representing an increase of RMB0.6 million compared with the
losses of RMBO.1 million for the year of 2023, which was mainly due to
the increase in losses of certain joint ventures.

Profit before taxation

During the year, profit before taxation reached RMB1,188.2 million,
which increased by 22.2% from RMB972.2 million for the year of 2023.
It was mainly due to the increase in profit brought by the expansion of
the Group's operation scale and the improvement of operation and
management efficiency.

Income Tax

The income tax for the year was RMB320.8 million, which increased by
25.3% from RMB256.1 million for the year of 2023. The effective income
tax rate was 27.0%, which was in line with 26.3% for the year of 2023.
For the applicable tax rate of income tax, please refer to note 7 to the
financial statements.

Profit for the year
Profit for the year was RMB867.4 million, representing an increase of
21.1% compared with RMB716.1 million for the year of 2023.

The profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for
the year was RMB785.1 million, representing an increase of 29.7% as
compared with RMB605.4 million for the year of 2023. It was mainly
due to the increase in profit brought by the expansion of the Group's
operation scale and the improvement of operation and management
efficiency.

Net profit margin for the year was 4.7%, representing an increase of 0.6
percentage point compared with 4.1% for the year of 2023.
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Liquidity, reserves and capital structure

The Group maintained good financial condition during the year. The
current assets as at 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB12,649.3
million, which increased by 4.4% compared with RMB12,111.7 million
as at 31 December 2023. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB4,853.9 million as at 31 December 2024, which
increased by 7.1% Y/Y compared with RMB4,530.8 million as at 31
December 2023. During the year, in order to improve the return on
capital, time deposits amounted to RMB1,118.2 million, representing
an increase of 199.5% compared with RMB373.4 million as at 31
December 2023.

Net cash generated from operating activities amounted to RMB1,474.7
million during the year, which increased by 2.7% Y/Y from RMB1,436.1
million for the year of 2023. Net cash used in investing activities
amounted to RMB503.3 million, which increased by 33.3% compared
with RMB377.5 million in 2023. Net cash used in financing activities was
RMB651.4 million, down by RMB65.8 million from RMB717.2 million in
2023. It was mainly due to a decrease in cash used in the repurchase of
shares during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, long-term loans amounted to RMB23.9
million, which were mainly borrowed by certain domestic non-wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Group from the banks for the day-to-day
operational needs. The loan interest rate ranging from 4.35% to 5.20%.
As at 31 December 2024, such subsidiaries did not breach the financing
covenants.

As at 31 December 2024, the short-term loans amounted to RMB41.1
million, which were mainly borrowed by certain domestic subsidiaries
of the Group from the banks for the day-to-day operational needs. The
loan interest rate ranging from 0% to 3.80% (31 December 2023: 4.18%
to 7.53%). As at 31 December 2024, such subsidiaries did not breach
the financing covenants.

As at 31 December 2024, bank loans of approximately RMB64.9 million
(31 December 2023: RMB72.2 million) were at fixed interest rates, the
remaining balances were at floating interest rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the debt ratio (total liabilities divided by
total assets) of the Group was 51.7%, representing a decrease of 2.8
percentage points compared with 54.5% as at 31 December 2023.
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Investment properties, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets amounted to RMB1,230.0 million,
which decreased by 47.4% from RMB2,339.6 million as at 31 December
2023, it was mainly because MAG was no longer a subsidiary of the
Group and its statement of financial position was no longer integrated
into the consolidated financial statements of the Group after the
disposal of part of our equity interests in MAG during the year.

Intangible assets

As at 31 December 2024, intangible assets amounted to RMB380.9
million, representing a decrease of 35.7% compared with RMB592.3
million as at 31 December 2023, which was mainly because MAG was
no longer a subsidiary of the Group and its statement of financial
position was no longer integrated into the consolidated financial
statements of the Group after the disposal of part of our equity
interests in MAG during the year.

Trade and other receivables

As at 31 December 2024, trade and other receivables amounted to
RMBS5,576.6 million, representing an increase of 9.1% from RMB5,113.9
million as at 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to the increase
in receivable balances brought by the growth in business scale. During
the year, we also strengthened the assessment, management and
control of repayment and further accelerated the rate of repayment.

Trade and other payables

As at 31 December 2024, trade and other payables amounted to
RMB4,972.1 million, representing an increase of 2.0% from RMB4,873.0
million as at 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to the expansion
of procurement volume resulting from the growth of business scale.

Lease liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, lease liabilities due within one year, which
were included in current liabilities, were RMB159.8 million, representing
a decrease of 44.5% from RMB287.8 million as at 31 December 2023,
The lease liabilities due after one year, which were included in long-
term lease liabilities, were RMB553.2 million, representing a decrease
of 51.0% compared with RMB1,130.0 million as at 31 December 2023,
which was mainly because MAG was no longer a subsidiary of the
Group and its statement of financial position was no longer integrated
into the consolidated financial statements of the Group after the
disposal of part of our equity interests in MAG during the year.
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Property services — accounting for 66.9% of total revenue
and 53.2% of total gross profit

Property services remain the Group's largest revenue and margin
source. The Group has been mainly adopting the overall rationing
system for service charging. Based on our management experience and
cost control capability over the past 20 years, property services provide
us with stable revenue and profit, as well as good reputation, and is
the cornerstone of the Group's implementation of its living services
strategy. We will continue to strengthen our core fundamental services
of "Security”, “Maintenance”, “Environmental” and “Greening”, while
effectively integrating the service contents of the Group's various
product lines and empowering them with technology to drive the
orderly and steady growth of this business segment. During the year:

—  Revenue reached RMB12,401.3 million, representing an increase
of 11.7% compared with RMB11,101.5 million for the year of 2023,
which was mainly due to the revenue growth brought by the
steady growth of the managed GFA.

—  Gross profit reached RMB1,701.6 million, representing an
increase of 17.8% from RMB1,444.7 million for the year of 2023.

—  The managed GFA reached 509.0 million sg.m, representing an
increase of 13.5% or net increase of 60.6 million sgq.m compared
with 448.4 million sg.m in 2023. During the year, we continued
to strengthen the expansion of the existing market through the
strategy of city focus, customer focus and service format focus
and steady improvement of the managed GFA.

—  Reserved GFA, as a major source of the future managed GFA,
reached 357.2 million sgq.m during the year, representing a
decrease of 3.9% compared with 371.6 million sgq.m in 2023,
or a net decrease of 14.4 million sg.m, mainly affected by
the domestic real estate market environment, we prudently
carried out the expansion of incremental markets, focused on
the expansion of high-quality existing markets. Meanwhile, we
proactively withdrew from some non-core cities and reserve
projects with delivery risks, in order to minimize the possible
delivery risks of the subsequent projects. Nevertheless, our
reserved GFA was still very abundant and will continue to provide
a solid foundation for the Group's future growth.

— Managed projects reached 3,554, covering 202 cities in 31
provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in China.
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— Regional distribution: as at 31 December 2024, our managed —
GFA and revenue by region were distributed as follows:

2024 2023

% of % of % of % of

managed total managed total

GFA revenue GFA revenue

HEE h4 HEE 164

EHE % WA % & % WA %

Hangzhou UM 16.6 36.1 16.4 35.9

Ningbo ) 7.0 5.7 7.1 5.8
Yangtze River Delta RI=AR

Region (exclude (BRATIN

Hangzhou and 2N

Ningbo) 35.0 27.5 35.0 27.5
Bohai Economic Rim  ER)2)8 4€ 7 Bt [&

Region 15.6 11.8 15.4 11.6
Pearl River Delta Region ¥f)T = A& 9.2 5.8 9.1 5.9
Others A, 16.6 13.1 17.0 13.3

100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
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B A A A HIER R R0 B G AN IR TS R
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Community living services — accounting for 18.2% of total
revenue and 23.8% of total gross profit

Community living services offer systematic product and service
solutions for all life service scenes of property owners throughout the
life cycle of real estate. They are an extension of property services and
an important area for us to build an ideal community that integrates

“recreation”, "learning”, “joy” and “longevity"” (collectively referred to
as "Four Happiness”).

- EBRBUAZAREII2EET -
2023 FH AR 3,568.6 H&E T NFE55% °
o

During the year, the revenue from community living services was
RMB3,373.2 million, representing a decrease of 5.5% compared with
RMB3,568.6 million in 2023. Among them:

() BRERMRE (HERRBEERADN
38.9%) : 2024 F WA m A K #1,310.3
BB W2023F ARK1272088
TLREIE R 3.0% o

(1) Community products and services (accounting for 38.9% of the
revenue from community living services): in 2024, the revenue
reached RMB1,310.3 million, representing an increase of 3.0%
Y/Y compared with RMB1,272.0 million in 2023.
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Home living services (accounting for 11.7% of the revenue
from community living services): in 2024, the revenue reached
RMB395.7 million, representing a decrease of 27.7% Y/Y
compared with RMB547.5 million in 2023.

Community space services (accounting for 8.7% of the revenue
from community living services): in 2024, the revenue reached
RMB292.7 million, representing an increase of 4.3% Y/Y
compared with RMB280.6 million in 2023.

BREFERSE (GE & KRB WM A D
MT%) 2024 F WA BAREE39578
B BR2023F ARKS47588 LA
LT F£27.7% ©

BErfERE (0 EERSKRA®D
8.7%) 1 2024 F WA B ARKE2927EE
JC B2023F AR 2806 B BT A
R 4.3% o

Property asset management services (accounting for 18.8% of (4) WYEEEEERE (HEE RS WA
the revenue from community living services): in 2024, the revenue 18.8%) : 2024 F LA B AR ¥ 63538
reached RMB635.3 million, representing a decrease of 18.3% Y/Y BT B2023FARE7776BELE
compared with RMB777.6 million in 2023. tE T P& 18.3% ©
Cultural and education services (accounting for 21.9% of the (5) X bt #H B R (16 B & R & W A &
revenue from the community living services): in 2024, the revenue 21.9%) : 2024 F WA B AR 73928
reached RMB739.2 million, representing an increase of 7.0% Y/Y BT B2023F AR 69088 E LA
compared with RMB690.8 million in 2023. LI & 7.0% °
2024 2023
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
WA revenue Y/ % WA revenue
RMB’000 1% Rt RMB‘000 hiezs
AR¥T R % %  ARETT %
Community products B [ 2 an A1 AR 7
and services 1,310,311 38.9 3.0 1,272,004 35.6
Home living services BREERS 395,672 11.7 -27.7 547,453 15.3
Community space services & 2= AR 7% 292,734 8.7 4.3 280,635 7.9
Property asset management MEEBEERRE
services 635,279 18.8 -18.3 777,642 21.8
Cultural and education L HE R
services 739,237 21.9 7.0 690,827 194
Total BEr 3,373,233 100.0 -55 3,568,561 100.0

In light of the living needs of property owners, the Group
continued to establish a living service platform with the
integration of five ecosystems, including community retail, home
living services, space services, asset operation and culture and
education. During the year, we continued to optimize our service
mix, focus on core ecosystems and enhance operational capacity
based on strategic planning and actual conditions, of which:
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Community products and services

During the year, the Group relied on the support of the
" Accessibility + Relationship” community retail system, centering
on the demand of basic living products, effectively made use
of small programs, community pre-warehouse and community
market and other carriers to stimulate the vitality of the
community direct selling system, and provided complete logistics
service solutions according to different customer needs covering
high-quality scenes. During the year, we optimized the product
structure, streamlined product SKU, focused on the creation of
millions and tens of millions of explosive products, continued to
build product core capabilities, and further improved product
competitiveness and premium ability. At the same time, we
strengthened the collaborative development with the property
services, focused on core service scenarios, achieved business
diversification and sustainable development goals through
continuous innovation and resource integration, and continued
to provide customers with high-quality products and services.

Home living services

The Group makes use of the “Four Seasons Living” home service
platform, to facilitate the integration of existing home living
service products, proprietary + business cooperation mode to
build household service system, and fixed-point teaching to
achieve business, system and operation training to ensure due
provision of the services landing. During the year, considering
that the long-term development of the housing service business
of the Group, the shareholders unanimously agreed to adjust
its internal operation and management structure of Zhejiang
Greentown Housing Service System Co., Ltd.* (#T)T &3k 5 = AR
% R 5t A R 2 ), which was adjusted to a joint venture of the
Group and the revenue of this segment decreased significantly
as a result of this adjustment. In terms of “property services +
home-based elderly care services”, the Group continued to
promote the improvement of service operation capabilities, and
initially formed three service modes, “Chun Yue Hui"* (%5 1% &)
as the representative of the institutional elderly care operation,
“Tao Ran Li"* (B %A ) as the representative of the health care
community operation and “Chun Tian Li"* (5 X £) as the
representative of home-based elderly care operation.
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Property asset management services

Based on the service value chain and the property owners’ asset
management service needs as the starting point, the Group
deeply cultivated the community covered by property services,
built a community asset management service system, and took
replacement services, marketing services and asset management
(such as parking space business) as the main service products.
During the year, the revenue of this segment decreased
compared with that of the year of 2023 due to the environmental
impact of the real estate industry and the termination of some
special services, such as the accommodation services for the
Athletes’ Village of The 19th Asian Games in Hangzhou. Next,
we will continue to implement the multi-model expansion
strategy, such as shared butlers and pipeline distribution, focus
on advantageous projects, and continue to strengthen refine
management. At the same time, relying on the brand influence
and property service advantages of the Group, we will build a
high-end brokerage brand, deepen the high-end residential
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market segments, and gradually promote the transformation BEAAEE  BEBEKRE  RBAL
of property asset management services through the broker EmE e

partnership mechanism, parking agency sales and operation, and
commercial agency operation mode, further shift to the direction
of asset-light operation, reduce fixed cost and improve business
quality.
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Cultural and education services

The Group continued to implement the multi-brand strategy
in terms of childcare services through our three brand systems:
“Wonderful Garden Daycare Center + Lezhen Daycare Center
+ Montessori Academy Daycare Center"* (£ a7 W B + T =&
EEE + BXEIFE), and through in-depth exploration of the
educational service needs of the community under management,
we further optimized the service content and curriculum system,
improved the operation efficiency of the single garden, and
continuously enhanced the core competitiveness of the Group's
cultural and educational services. During the year, considering the
domestic policy and market environment of childhood education,
the Group's original goal of supporting the domestic large-scale
development of childhood education related businesses through
MAG's education system and business model in Australia may
not be realized within a short period of time. Therefore, based on
the overall layout of the Group's business development and the
interests of the Company'’s shareholders (the “Shareholders”)
as a whole, we disposed of 2,328,592 shares in MAG (the
“Disposal”). Immediately following completion of the Disposal,
the Group held an equity interest of approximately 35% of the
issued share capital of MAG and MAG ceased to be a subsidiary
of the Group. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 8 November 2024, 16 December 2024 and 9
January 2025, respectively. Nevertheless, the Disposal does not
affect the business cooperation between the Group and MAG.
At present, we have continued to cooperate with MAG in the
domestic cultural and education business through the licensing
model.
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Consulting services — accounting for 13.0% of total revenue
and 18.8% of total gross profit

We continued to focus on the full life cycle of real estate, continuously
improved the growth of consulting services and strengthened core
competitive advantages of our consulting services through methods
such as the integration of quality resources, construction of a
standardized system and business innovation. During the year:

—  Revenue reached RMB2,412.0 million, representing an increase of
5.1% compared with RMB2,295.3 million in 2023.

AR — HEAKRA13.0%  HEAEF
18.8%
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2024 2023
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
WA revenue YIY % WA revenue
RMB’000 HHE Rl RMB'000 fh#@%
AR®ET % % ARETT %
Project under construction £ #4913 R 15
services 2,115,033 87.7 47 2,020,899 88.0
Management consulting &% RS
services 296,997 12.3 8.3 274,357 12.0
Total BEr 2,412,030 100.0 5.1 2,295,256 100.0

—  Our gross profit increased by 11.9% to RMB600.1 million from
RMB536.3 million in 2023.

—  Property Under Construction Services

Our revenue reached RMB2,115.0 million, representing an
increase of 4.7% compared with RMB2,020.9 million in 2023.
During the year, through integrating different service system
resources within the Group, enriching the content of service and
product, gradually expanding service scenarios, and combining
them with customer service needs, we combined property under
construction services with the single special business (such as
exhibition hall explanation services, exhibition services and
conference services, etc.), further broadened the scope of service
targets, and continuously improved the comprehensive service
ability and competitiveness, which promoted the steady growth
of the property under construction services.
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— Management Consulting Services

Our revenue reached RMB297.0 million, representing an increase
of 8.3% compared with RMB274.4 million in 2023. It is mainly
due to the continuous improvement of the marketization ability
and core competitiveness of management consulting services.
During the year, we continued to implement the strategy of deep
cultivation in urban areas, accurately positioned and matched
the service needs of the customers, continuously enhanced
the competitiveness of management consulting services with
the project expansion of the property services, and continued
to create value for customers through a diversified product
system. In the future, we will strengthen the capacity building of
product design, value dissemination, operation management
and customer breakthrough with market demand, promote the
transformation and upgrading of services and products, build the
management consulting services of the Group into a professional
integration benchmark in the industry, build a sustainable
development ecology and promote the realization of customer
value.

Technology services — 1.9% of total revenue and 4.2% of
total gross profit

Technology services are an important infrastructure to build the
product differentiated system of the Group, break the bottleneck of
efficiency, and help the Group achieve the strategic goal of being the
most valuable and happy living service provider in China. Centering on
the digitalization of services, we have built global platform products
and intelligent property products for government’s digital governance,
futuristic communities and property enterprises. From the preliminary
planning and design, smart hardware construction to the development
and operation of digital system, technology services provide customers
with intelligent, inclusive and affordable integrated solutions, and help
customers in digital transformation. During the year:

—  Revenue reached RMB341.2 million, representing a decrease of
20.3% compared with RMB428.0 million in 2023.

—  Gross profit reached RMB134.0 million, representing a decrease
of 19.1% compared with RMB165.7 million in 2023.
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As mainly affected by the environment of the domestic market and
the real estate industry, some of our contracted businesses have
been delayed due to the requirement of the client and other reasons.
During the year, we focused on core cities, and also taken the initiative
to adjust the product structure according to the market demand,
and upgrade product content to further improve service quality. In
the future, we will continue to improve the standardization of core
products, enhance product replication capabilities, optimize customer
structure and other ways to drive business development.

Technology services mainly focus on the virtualization of space and
the digitalization of services to provide customers with digital product
and service solutions. During the year, two business systems including
software services and hardware engineering services have been
established. Among them, the core products of software services are:
(1) Shanshu intelligent property* (& #0585 Z %) %): which reshapes the
product ecosystem matrix with digital system, and with the intelligent
system operated by the Group over the years, it provides systematic
solutions based on the demands of property service enterprises
related to business operation management and intelligent needs;
(2) Shanshu intelligent community* (& £ % Z tL [&): which is based
on the foundation of “platform + butler + governance” system to
provide government customers with digital tools for urban basic
unit governance and services, and support the digital renewal and
development of urban and rural areas; and (3) Smart community* (&
Z [E [&): which is a digital service product integrating investment
management, space asset management, enterprise services, industrial
collaboration and intelligent Internet of Things connection, aiming
to build a digital management center for industrial community and
improve community management efficiency and service level. The
hardware engineering services take building science and technology
as the core and provide customers with Building Information Modeling
(BIM) design consulting, intelligent design, community renewal and
improvement and other building technology life cycle services and
comprehensive solutions in multiple segments, such as intelligent
buildings and smart cities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

The Group conducts substantially all of its businesses in China, with
most of the transactions conducted in Renminbi. Therefore, the Group
is exposed to limited foreign currency exchange rate risk. During
the year, the Group has not employed any financial instruments for
hedging purposes or engaged in any forward foreign exchange
contracts for foreign exchange risk hedging purposes. The Group will
continue to closely monitor its exposure to exchange rate and interest
rate risks and actively explore foreign exchange hedging options with
major banks, and may employ derivative financial instruments to hedge
against risks when necessary.
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TREASURY POLICIES

To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group's
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group has established its human resources policies and systems
to provide a wide range of training and personal development
programmes to its employees. The remuneration package offered
to the staff is in line with the duties and the prevailing market terms.
Discretionary bonuses based on individual performance will be paid to
employees and options will be granted as recognition of and reward
for their contributions. Staff benefits, including pension, medical
coverage, and provident funds are also provided to employees of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 48,423 employees,
representing an increase of 5.2% compared with that of the year of
2023. The total staff costs were RMB6,150.5 million, representing an
increase of 5.7% compared with RMB5,816.9 million in 2023, which was
mainly due to the increase in staff costs brought by the delivery of new
projects of the Group and the rigid increase in manpower costs.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company adopted a share option scheme on 16 June 2023 (the
“2023 Share Option Scheme”). For details, please refer to the circular
of the Company dated 26 April 2023.

On 26 June 2024, the Company granted an aggregate of 71,242,600
share options to subscribe for Shares to certain Directors, senior
management of the Company and employees of the Group, subject to
acceptance of the grantees, under the 2023 Share Option Scheme. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26
June 2024.

PLEDGED ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2024, a subsidiary of the Group had borrowed
RMB9.1 million from a bank for the purchase of the office building, and
has secured it by the purchased property (the carrying amount was
RMB10.8 million) as collateral.

Save as disclosed above, during the year, there was no pledged asset
of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the year.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT

VENTURES
During the year, the Group disposed of a total of 2,328,592 shares in

MAG for an aggregate consideration of AUD31.2 million. Immediately
following completion of the Disposal, the Group held an equity interest
of approximately 35% of the total issued share capital of MAG and
MAG ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. For details, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 8 November 2024, 16
December 2024 and 9 January 2025, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
during the year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any future plans for
material investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 24
February 2025, in relation to, among other things, the changes of
the Directors and chief financial officer of the Company (the “Chief
Financial Officer”), including:

(1) Mr. Chen Hao (P&
to his desire to devote more time to his personal matters with
effect from 24 February 2025,

) has resigned as an executive Director due

(20 Mr. Liu Xingwei (%] #{£) has resigned as a non-executive
(R 8 #)
("Mr. Song”) has been appointed as a non-executive Director,
both with effect from 24 February 2025. The Company has
entered into an appointment letter (the “Appointment Letter”)
with Mr. Song in relation to his appointment as a non-executive
Director for a term of three years commencing on 24 February
2025 and subject to automatic renewal upon expiry, unless

Director due to work adjustment, and Mr. Song Hailin

otherwise agreed in accordance with the Appointment Letter. Mr.
Song will be subject to retirement and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") to be held on 20
June 2025; and
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(3)  Mr. Xia Yun (E ) has resigned as the Chief Financial Officer
due to his desire to devote more time to his personal matters,
and Mr. Zhang Lingbo (5R3% i) has been appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer, both with effect from 24 February 2025.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other important event
which might affect the Group after 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this report.

ACQUISITION AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

We have always adhered to the acquisition and investment strategy of
“maintaining overall stability while focusing on synergies with existing
businesses”. At the time of investment or equity cooperation, the
Company focuses on factors such as the extent to which the target
company'’s business fits the Group's business, whether the target
company can increase the Group’s market shares in key regions, the
extent to which the target company contributes to the scale of the
Group, and resources that the partner may bring in the future and
other factors. At the same time, the Company pays attention to details
such as the target company’s demand for living service output, whether
it can improve the coverage density of living service of the Group, and
the consideration of an acquisition.

Next, we will focus more on the cultivation of strategic core
capabilities, focus on the main business, and strictly implement the
investment principles, including: (i) in terms of investment strategy, we
will focus on the Group's main businesses, strengthen the management
of the operational efficiency of the target company acquired, and
facilitate the stop loss and disposal of loss-making projects; (i) in terms
of investment direction, guided by the Group's development strategy,
while focusing on synergies with the existing businesses; (iii) in the
field of investment, the Company'’s existing business shall be the main
focus, with its new business as complementary. We will pay attention
to the investment target’'s management ability, business type and
regions that are complementary with the Company; (iv) in terms of the
investment model, focus on asset-light and steady investment projects,
pay attention to the quality expansion of the Company’s business, and
invest rationally and prudently.

We believe that high quality development is more valuable than rapid
growth. We adhere to the current investment principles, which can
make investment as the assistance to our main businesses, keeping
our business scale and efficiency at the forefront of the industry, and
helping to facilitate the building of our living services alliance, the
construction and upgrade of core business ability, in order to bring a
better contribution to the development of the Group.
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DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

At the Board meeting held on 21 March 2025, the Board recommended
the payment of a final dividend for 2024 of HK$0.130 per Share and
a special dividend of HK$0.070 per Share (2023: a final dividend of
HK$0.150 per Share), subject to approval by the Shareholders at the
AGM to be held on 20 June 2025.

The final dividend and the special dividend will be paid on or before 9
July 2025.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held by the Company on 20 June 2025 and a notice
convening the AGM will be published and/or sent to the Shareholders
in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(@) For the purpose of determining the qualification of the
Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 17 June 2025 to
20 June 2025, both days inclusive. In order to qualify to attend
and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates are required to be lodged with the
Company's share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 16 June 2025.

(b)  For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend (subject to the approval of the Shareholders at
the AGM) and the special dividend, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from 26 June 2025 to 27 June 2025,
both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the entitlement to the
proposed final dividend and the special dividend, unregistered
holders of Shares are required to lodge all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates with the
Company'’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 25 June 2025.

MAJOR LITIGATION RISK

As at the date of this report, to the knowledge of the Directors, there
are no outstanding or material legal proceedings or claims would
materially affect the normal operations of the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO
ACQUISITION OF 25% EQUITY INTEREST IN
HANGZHOU JIANCHENG ASSETS MANAGEMENT
COMPANY LIMITED

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 23
December 2024, 2 January 2025 and 9 January 2025, in relation to
the acquisition of 25% of the equity interest and shareholder loan in
Hangzhou Jiancheng Assets Management Company Limited* (4711 4&
REEEIE B MR A E]) ("Hangzhou Jiancheng”) (the "Acquisition”).

In order to continuously promoting the optimization of the Group's
existing investment portfolio and obtain stable and predictable
investment returns, at the same time bring more opportunities and
possibilities for the development of the Group’s main business, on 23
December 2024, a subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”) and
Hangzhou Yijin Investment Company Limited* (f1 /N B E & B R
‘A Al) ("Hangzhou Yijin") entered into the equity and debt transfer
agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser purchased 25% of the
equity interest in Hangzhou Jiancheng and the shareholder loan for a
consideration of RMB222,717,187.5 (of which the consideration of the
shareholder loan is RMB175,388,750).

As at the date of the equity and debt transfer agreement, the equity
interest of Hangzhou Jiancheng is held by the Purchaser, Hangzhou
Yijin and Zhejiang Lvyi Assets Management Company Limited* (}# /T
HEEEEEAMRAR) (" Zhejiang Lvyi”) as to 20%, 40% and 40%,
respectively.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, Hangzhou Yijin and its ultimate
beneficial owners are third parties independent of the Company and
connected persons of the Company, for details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company date 23 December 2024. And Zhejiang
Lvyi is ultimately owned by Mr. Shou Bainian (F 14 4F), Ms. Xia Yibo
(E—)%), Mr. Song Weiping (R & F) (the spouse of Ms. Xia Yibo) and
Greentown Holdings Group Co., Ltd.* (k¥ iE xS B AR A7) (being
indirectly owned by Mr. Shou Bainian (14 ), Ms. Xia Yibo (E—&)
and Mr. Song Weiping (R &) as to 39%, 21% and 40%, respectively)
as to 33.8%, 18.2%, 34.7% and 13.3%, respectively.
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Mr. Shou Bainian (S1H4F) and Ms. Xia Yibo (E—&) are non-executive
Directors, and they together with Mr. Song Weiping (/X & ) are
controlling shareholders of the Company and substantial shareholders
of Hangzhou Jiancheng. Therefore, the Acquisition constitutes a
connected transaction for the Company under Rule 14A.28 of the
Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the Acquisition are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
Acquisition is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements,
but is exempted from circular and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Acquisition was completed on 2 January 2025 and upon the
completion, the Purchaser holds 45% equity interest in Hangzhou
Jiancheng.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO
THE DISPOSAL OF EQUITY INTEREST IN MAG
Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 8
November 2024, 16 December 2024 and 9 January 2025, in relation
to the disposal of 1,209,077 shares held in MAG by a subsidiary of the
Group (“Vendor A") to Montessori Academy Pty Ltd (“Purchaser A")
(the "Disposal”) and the acquisition of 1,119,515 shares in MAG held
by Vendor A by MAG (the “Buyback”).

Considering the domestic policy and market environment of childhood
education, the Group's original goal of supporting the domestic
large-scale development of childhood education related businesses
through MAG'’s education system and business model in Australia
may not be realized within a short period of time. Therefore, based
on the overall layout of the Group’s business development and the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole, on 8 November 2024, Vendor
A entered into the share sale deed with Purchaser A, and on the same
day, entered into the buyback agreement with MAG for the disposal
of total 2,328,592 shares in MAG for the consideration of AUD31.2
million. The Disposal and Buyback were completed on 16 December
2024 and upon the completion, Vendor A held an equity interest of
approximately 35% of the issued share capital of MAG and MAG
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group.

BHFEARERE-RLXETRIIFNTEE M
REBERAREFEERNR R AIERB R K
MG R) E R RR - At - WIEFHBAK
EHRAIE14A8 B T A ARNEER S °
HRKBEIEN AR S ER DL EEB0.1%
BIER5% - Fitt - W =RAE T EWARR
FUATETHBREAERTE  EHRRET
i K S B R AR AR TE ©

W EIRE N2025%1 A28 58K &7 5T K
% BEARBMMEKASK%ER -

FREEMAGREZBEERS

ZIRM A AR BEA2024F11A8H »
2024F 12 B 168 N 2025F 1 A9B 2 A&
NABBEAEE2HBRAR ([EFAD M
Montessori Academy Pty Ltd ((BEFA]) &
HEEMAGH) 1,209,077 B (THESE])
EMAGHEEE T ARFAMAGH 1,119,515 &%
fetn ([EEEE]) -

ZEINEANDZTHENBRRERIRE  A&H
REGEBMAGEMNA BB R MBI
BN RHRERBEFSARRERNEZA
REELZNEHAER - Bt ERAEEE
BERNEBHRAMBRRERBIZEZE K
202411 A8H » EHFAREF ARG
ERE . WHEEEMAGET Y B E R - 1
EHEAHMAGA5T2,328,592 %A% 17D - R 18
BI2EBRIT - HEZTERABEEER
2024 F 12 B16 B MR EKE  BHARF
BMAG B 317 % 7S #935% /) # 2+ MAG T
BAAEBEZHBAR -
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BEE WM AT

Since (i) the Disposal and Buyback are all related to the disposal of
equity interest in MAG by the Vendor A; and (ii) the execution of the
buyback agreement is one of the conditions precedent of the Disposal
completion and the Disposal and Buyback are inter-conditional upon
each other, and shall be aggregated as a series of transactions in
accordance with Rule 14.22 under the Listing Rules. As at the date of
the share sale deed, the Purchaser A held approximately 21.92% of the
issued share capital of MAG and is a substantial shareholder of MAG,
and hence is a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level. Therefore, the Disposal together with the Buyback constitute
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

One or more of the highest percentage ratio(s) (as defined under Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules) applicable to the Company in respect of
the Disposal together with the Buyback exceeds 5% but is less than
25%. As (i) the Purchaser A is a connected person of the Company
at the subsidiary level; (i) the Board has approved the Disposal and
the Buyback; and (iii) the independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed that the terms of the Disposal and the Buyback are fair and
reasonable, the Disposal and the Buyback are on normal commercial
terms and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole, the Disposal and the Buyback are exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.
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Investor Relationship

REEBR

OBJECTIVES

Transparency in corporate information forms part of the basis for
investors’ confidence towards listed company, though it is also the
responsibility of a public company. The Company believes that a
stable, diversified Shareholders base in which communication is
effective, is essential to facilitate Shareholders value creation and
stabilize share price performance, and is also a valuable intangible
asset for the Company. Investor relation is the important bridge of two-
way communication between Shareholders, investment institutions
and the public at one end, whilst that of listed company at the other.
Externally, in compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company provides
regular, real-time, accurate and complete information and updates.
This facilitates Shareholders and the public alike to understand the
Company’s operation and value, as well as the status of business
development. Should this be well co-ordinated, this should contribute
to the establishment of a long term and mutual relationship between
the Company, Shareholders and the public. In the meantime, the
Company is able to make known of its corporate culture, business
philosophy, strategy and planning, as well as industry changes. This
would enable the Shareholders and the public to appreciate the
Company's positioning in the industry, business model and competitive
advantages, differentiating the Company from the peers further.
Internally, the Company takes the Shareholders’ and the public's
independent and valuable opinion seriously, the Company would listen
and consider their views, aiming to enhance the corporate governance.

CAPITAL MARKET RECOGNITION

Since the Listing in 2016, the Company has been researching diligently
on the capital markets and its expectation towards the Company.
Through various communication channels, the Company has built
effective and two-way relationships with Shareholders, investors, fund
managers and analysts, other related parties in the capital markets
and the public. The Company is very honoured to receive many
recognitions in the capital market in the past year.

MAJOR COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

o Brokers and investment banks organized investor marketing
activities
o Reverse roadshows — regularly and proactively invite investors to

visit our headquarters and communities we manage to conduct
onsite research

J Results announcements and public briefing twice a year

B
TCEEEERERREAH ETABEILE
DHERZ — LEARAFNER - QA7
BE-—EEBER BE ZRLIHNRRE
BRANNFERREER  RERBREAN
EABTAZEN—EELEE - M[KE
EFRRIEZE LT RARMBIR - RERE -
NRERBBNEZR/R - HIN RBEN
BLETMRAMAET RETH B £
EMTBNEELERN EERRMART
REEENEE UAREBERER LA
BENGE EBPNRANER 2RF
YRE BBNEEK- AR QA AAEE
BHMEEX KLED HERE 17

ENELE BRENAZREFTEEZERA
MITEEMN  KERANBEFES  BRR
RITHER -HA - RAPEFERBREMD

FHBUMBEEER SEERRANEE
HERE—FRIADADARE ©

BEXTHSHRT

NAB2016F WA —EREBMEERE
AmiBRE BRTSHIANYNE - BB
ZERBIPERR KREA E2LE-
DR BRATRISNE T RDABZELTAR
EPMEAE - BEN—FE RARKERS
ANEATHENEEMAA -

IRBBERE
o HE - RITEBHERREARELD

e RAKE — TEHIHREREARE
BeNsE RESEEEWER
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Investor Relationship

REEBR

B RUTABNERERED

1. Marketing activities organized by brokers and 1.

investment banks

The Company has participated in various roadshows and REZRZ2MEFEHMBITEBEERA
BEEMIAN G BAENREKEBR
H - ERETISREER  FELEHR
REANZR BRAEBORERBELS
FIREAN - F RN ARG E1,027 A
RHBREN (BEEERERN) BBER
3 R °

conferences organized by brokers and investment banks in China,
met with a large number of investment institutions, and actively
maintained communication with the market. The Company is
pleased to interact with the investors and keep them informed of
the business development. During the year, the Company met
with 1,027 investors in total (including repeated visits) through

conference calls or face to face communication.

Date Organizer Events Venue
B asE EREH it B
1/5 Dongwu 2024 Annual Strategy Conference Shanghai
RREH 0245 EREE i
5/7 Zhongtai 2024 Spring Listed Company Exchange Conference Shanghai
R ERE 2024B8F FHRRAIRRE i
6/4 Huatai 2024 Mid-term Investment Summit Shanghai
% 024 HREES =
6/5 Everbright Mid-term Listed Companies Exchange Conference Online
N FHETRARRRE i
6/5 CGS 9th Annual China/HK Property & China Property Management Virtual ~ Online
Conference
ROEES ENEFETR BERHERTRNEEREREH %t
6/7 CITIC 2024 Capital Market Summit Shanghai
FE 2024 BT 18 +ig
6/13 ClcC Investment Strategy Conference 2H2024 Shanghai
ik 2024 HRERK S i
6/24 CITl AP Property Conference Hong Kong
TEIE TABEMELES B
7/3 Industrial Securities 2024 Capital Markets Summit and Medium-term Strategy Conference =~ Shanghai
BEES 024 F B AT G wmBET RS i
9/25 Industrial Securities 2024 Autumn Listed Company Exchange Conference Shanghai
BEES 024 FRELTRARNE i
11/4 Merril Beijing Summit 2024 China Conference Beijing
Xk 024 FEAGILTES B2
11/14 CITIC 2025 Capital Markets Annual Meeting Shenzhen
RiE 025FEATHFE A
12/11 Dongwu 2025 Annual Strategy Conference Shanghai
RREH 20255 ERIEE =
12/20 Industrial Securities 2025 Annual Investment Strategy Conference Shanghai
BEEF 05FERERKE B
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Investor Relationship

REEBR

Reverse Roadshow and Open Day — regularly invite 2. REOKEMBEKBTES — EHBE
shareholders and investors to visit our headquarters BRE REARGFEXREERE
and communities we manage
During the year, the Company held various Open-Day activities FARAIZREBRFARBES - £
and proactively conducted reverse roadshows, inviting investors, FARRARKESE BFREA E2
fund managers and analysts to visit our headquarters as well IR MDA - RABBHBREEER
as communities under our management to conduct onsite BEEMARZER  AFRBEAMAERT
research. It is an opportunity to showcase our various services BRI ARMNSIAER  WHEEIREE
and operation openly to capital market, and follow up with TTRIEM © 2024 F - AN A — A T 23K
management discussion. The Company organized 23 onsite visits EEEE o
in total throughout 2024.
No. of reverse roadshows
REABEHE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
No. of activities RN 36 28 1 24 23
No. of visitors 2MAE 83 115 15 157 156
Results announcements and public briefings twice a 3. BEMREELAEREMS
year
The two results announcements followed by briefing conducted BEMREBLNENERNEHGEH S
every year are great opportunities for the Company to meet EEMKE  BRRARMAKEMNREMNE
with a large number of Shareholders and investors, discussing BARE BEMWEBMER - A
business and prospects directly. Therefore the Company actively NAMEEZHMFMEN BN TA
engages, with great detail, in presenting our core as well as the RIERIEN UK EXEBRNELE
four service business lines. The impact is noticeable. R BBBREE -
Investment reports from brokers and investment banks 4. %7 - RITHWRERE

The Company is honoured to be recognized by the capital
market. In 2024, the Company received 53 reports prepared by

RARBRE BREEATELE
20245 - RNAIAESSFHREHRES3

the brokers. 9 o
The main items are presented as follows: FE2WMT :
No. Brokers Rating
58 FTAR
1 CITI buy
1EiE EA
2 CICC outperform
PE BB AT
3 Goldman Sachs buy
= % EA
4 CITIC Securities Co Ltd buy
PIEEH EA
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No. Brokers Rating
57 4

5 Everbright Securities buy
HKES BEA

6 CMB International Capital Corp Ltd buy
IR B gEA

7 BOC International Holdings Ltd. buy
R B R BA

8 Industrial Securities outperform
B 3¢ 75 75 2F =N

9 Huatai buy
ERTRIER BEA

10 SWS Research buy
HELR BEA

(N China Securities Co., Ltd. buy
RlERK BEA

12 Zhongtai buy
o R A BA

13 Dongwu buy
RRHhE BEA

14 Guotai Junan International buy
BZRE & B A

15 Morgan Stanley overweight
JEAR £ 717 e

16 DBS Bank buy
BRRTT BEA

17 JP Morgan overweight
FEAR AR BEF

18 Kaiyuan buy
FRE BEA

19 Founder Securities buy
J7 &2 A

20 UBS neural
I #R aikEd

5. Improvement of Roadshows Information BEERNE

Every roadshow represents a valuable opportunity for the
Company to communicate with the investors. Thus, the Company
strives to optimize investors communication through various
methods including result presentation and corporate video. The
Company updates the presentation regularly and promptly, with
reference to the feedback from the investors, and the demand of
the investors at different stage.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEkaRERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Zhangfa (£ 3£), aged 53, has been an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company (“CEO") since 27 November
2015. He was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board and ceased
to be the CEO with effect from 23 March 2018. Mr. Yang has been
appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 30 December 2021, he
is responsible for making decisions for material operational matters,
participating in Board decisions and implementing the resolutions of
the Board. Mr. Yang joined our Group in February 2002 and has served
in various positions in Greentown Property Management Service
Group Co., Ltd* (&3 ¥ % IR 1% % E B R 2 7]) ("Greentown Property
Management”), including the assistant to general manager from April
2002 to March 2003, the vice general manager from March 2003 to
February 2008, the executive vice general manager from February 2008
to January 2009, the executive general manager from January 2009
to February 2011, the general manager from February 2011 to March
2018, the chairman of its board of directors from May 2019 to March
2025 and the sole director since March 2025.

In addition, Mr. Yang currently holds directorship in various subsidiaries
of our Company.

Mr. Yang is currently appointed as an expert of China Property
Management Association* (R ¥ % EE % €), and is the vice
president of Zhejiang Real Estate Industry Association* (/T % 5 i &
#1%'E), vice president of Zhejiang Property Management Association*
(FITEWEEEWHE), and president of Hangzhou Property
Management Association (#1071 %1 % & 2 # € ). He graduated
from Zhejiang University (17T X 2) in Hangzhou, the PRC and
Hunan University (81 ¥ X £) in Changsha, the PRC majoring in real
estate development and management, and business administration,
respectively. He has also attended study tours at The Wharton Business
School of the University of Pennsylvania in the United States and The
University of Tokyo in Japan.

2=

HITESE
BEEKE 535 B2015F 1M A27HEA
PITEBHR AR RITEER ([THREAR] -
WHR2018F3 A B EEETAEFECREF -
WRBFETITEAE - B 2021912308 -
BEERZAAESSIR FREAREX
BEEHMELAR R2HEEETERELRNT
EECRBE G EN2002F2 A MAK
S8 VESHRDERSEEERAE ([#
WYERKE]) TS EBA - B3R 20024
4 A7 200393 AETALIEEIE - 20034
3HE2008F2 A E(EEIRLKIE - 722008 F 2
A ZE2009F 1 AT E 24244812 - 722009
F1AE2011F2 AETRITRLEIE - 722011
F2AZE2018F3AEFREKIE  N2019F
SAZE2025F3AEEEER - K E202543
ARESEIHE—ESE -

SN BRAEBRBER AR ZRM B AR E
FE=E-

2
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Directors and Senior Management

EEkaRERE

Ms. Jin Keli (€8 8), aged 42, served as the CEO since 21 June 2021,
and has been appointed as an executive Director since 1 February
2022. She joined the Group in May 2006, and held various positions
in the Group, including the secretary to chairman and director of
the general manager’s office of Greentown Property Management
from May 2007 to January 2012, an administrative director of
the Administrative Management Center of Greentown Property
Management from January 2012 to January 2014, and the executive
general manager of Zhejiang Xinhu Lvcheng Property Service Co. Ltd.*
(T ER R Y 2 AR 7% B PR A7) from January 2014 to July 2017. She
also worked as the assistant president, vice president and president
of Greentown Property Management from February 2015 to July 2017,
August 2017 to March 2018, and since March 2018 respectively. Ms.
Jin served as the chief operating officer of the Company and the chief
financial officer ("CFO") from 23 March 2018 to 1 February 2022 and
21 June 2021 to 1 February 2022, respectively. She has also served as a
non-executive director of Zhong Ao Home Group Co. Ltd. (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1538)
since 17 July 2020.

In addition, Ms. Jin currently holds certain positions in various
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Jin is the vice president of China Property Management
Association* (R Bl ¥ 2 B IE % &), the vice president of Zhejiang
Property Management Association (H1/ I & WX EE W E), a member
of the Hangzhou Property Industry Association Committee of the
Communist Party of China* (R MM T ETEM ST EZE ), the
deputy secretary of the Party Committee of Hangzhou Xihu District
Property Management Association Committee of the Communist Party
of China* (F MM TR E D EETIEHEZLZ BE) and the president
of Hangzhou Xihu District Property Management Association* (F1/ i
RN EERGS).

Ms. Jin was awarded as the “2024 Annual CEO of Top 10 China
Property Management”, the “Model Woman of Hangzhou in 2020” and
the "Excellent Alumni of China University of Political Science and Law*
(FRIBUEARZ) in 2019 respectively. She was qualified as the “National
Property Management Enterprise Manager” by the Department of
Housing and Real Estate of the Ministry of Construction* (32 28X E
M EHE 2 7)) and “Property Manager” by Zhejiang Provincial Human
Resources and Social Security Bureau* (M) TE AN ERILERER).

Ms. Jin graduated from China University of Political Science and Law
in July 2006 with a bachelor’s degree majoring in philosophy, and
obtained her MBA degree from China Europe International Business
School* (F BX B X T 7 2653 ) in November 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEkaRERE

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shou Bainian (1 ), aged 71, has been our non-executive
Director since 27 November 2015, and is responsible for providing
guidance and supervision regarding the business and operation of
our Group. Mr. Shou became an indirect holder of equity interests
in Greentown Property Management in September 2000. He
worked as the vice executive chairman and the general manager of
Greentown Property Group Co., Ltd.* (4 ¥k E b E &£ B AR 2 7))
(being the wholly-owned subsidiary of Greentown China Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
3900)) from April 1998 to March 2015 and was primarily responsible
for its overall business operation and financial management. He is
the director of Greentown Holdings Group Co., Ltd.* (4& 3k 1% % &
E H R 2 7)) (“"Greentown Holdings”) since January 2002 and is
primarily responsible for its overall business operation and financial
management. He also served as the executive director of Greentown
China Holdings Limited from July 2006 to April 2018.

Mr. Shou is qualified as a senior economist (= A4S EAD) in enterprise
operation and management by Zhejiang Province Human Resources
and Social Security Department* (#T/T & A & RMEERERE). Mr.
Shou graduated from Hangzhou University* (11 X 2) in Zhejiang
Province, the PRC with a bachelor's degree majoring in history.

Ms. Xia Yibo (B — ), aged 62, has been our non-executive Director
since 27 November 2015, and is responsible for providing guidance
and supervision regarding the business and operation of our Group.
Ms. Xia became an indirect holder of equity interests in Greentown
Property Management in September 2002. Ms. Xia was the chairlady of
Hangzhou Greentown Decorating and Design Co., Ltd. (#7/N 4k ¥ 5 &
HEH AR A from September 1996 to August 2002. Ms. Xia has been
serving as the director of Greentown Holdings since September 2002
and is now the chairman of this company.

Ms. Xia graduated from the Department of Chinese of Zhejiang Radio
and Television University (#1)T E# 1% A 2) in Zhejiang Province, the
PRC.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEkaRERE

Ms. Li Hairong (Z#8#8), aged 67, was our sole Director from the date
of the incorporation of our Company until 26 November 2015 and was
re-designated as our chairman and executive Director on 27 November
2015. Ms. Li resigned as the Chairman and was re-designated as a
non-executive Director on 30 December 2021. From June 1997 to
September 1998, Ms. Li held various positions in Greentown Property
Group Co., Ltd.* (£ % 5t E £ E B R 2 7]), including being its
vice general manager, executive vice general manager and executive
general manager. She joined our Group in October 1998 and has been
responsible for the development strategy and strategic planning of our
Group as well as on making decisions for material operational matters.
Ms. Li was the chairman of Greentown Property Management from
October 1998 to March 2018, and was also its general manager from
October 1998 to February 2011, where she was primarily responsible
for its overall management and daily operation. She also served as the
executive general manager of Greentown Holdings from January 2006
to October 2015.

Ms. Li graduated from the Department of Basic Specialized Training
for Party and Government Officials* (ZE B 2 # & £ FEH}) of
Zhejiang Radio and Television University* (1)1 & B 18 K &) in
Zhejiang Province, the PRC.

Mr. Song Hailin (R % #k), aged 52, has been our non-executive
Director since 24 February 2025 and he joined Longfor Group Holdings
Limited (B & B IE R B PR 2 7) (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 960, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Longfor Group”) in February 2011. He served as
the general manager of Beijing company of Longfor Group, general
manager of research and development department of headquarter
of Longfor Group, head of IPD (Integrated Product Development)
laboratory of Longfor Group and chief executive officer of Longfor
Smart Construction* (& 82 %5 #&). Mr. Song is currently the senior vice
president of Longfor Group and the chief executive officer of Longfor
Intelligent Living* (BB 4% B4 VE).

Mr. Song was awarded the “China Real Estate Influencer in 2023”
by China Real Estate Newspaper* (1 Bl 5 #f &= ¥ 1) and China
International Real Estate & Architectural Technology Fair Organizing
Committee* (CIHAFH Bl (X 2 & 44 Z &) in January 2024. Mr. Song
obtained the registered qualification certificate of Class 1 registered
architect of the People’s Republic of China issued by the Beijing
Personnel Bureau* (1t =T A £ fF) in October 2007.

Mr. Song graduated from Tsinghua University* (JEZEAE) in June 2001
with a doctor degree in engineering in architectural design and theory.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEkaRERE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (7% 3 Ell), aged 63, has been our independent
non-executive Director since 12 July 2016. He is responsible for
supervising and providing independent opinions to the Board. He
has over 30 years of experience in regulatory affairs, listed company
corporate finance, companies governance. He is an executive director,
vice president and company secretary of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 336), whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange. He currently serves as an independent non-executive
director of the following companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange: Sany Heavy Equipment International Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 631), AUX International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2080), Sunac China Holdings Limited (stock code:
1918), Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd (stock code:
2362) and China Isotope & Radiation Corporation (stock code: 1763).

Mr. Poon was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Changan Minsheng APLL Logistics Co.,Ltd. (stock code: 1292),
Yankuang Energy Group Company Limited (stock code: 1171) and
Yuanda China Holdings Limited (stock code: 2789) , all listed on the
Stock Exchange, from September 2011 to June 2023, June 2017 to
June 2023 and April 2011 to September 2023, respectively.

Mr. Poon graduated from City University of Hong Kong with his
bachelor's degree of arts majoring in business studies in December
1994 and from the same university with his master’s degree of Arts
in International Accounting in November 1997. He also obtained his
bachelor's degree majoring in laws from University of Wolverhampton
in the United Kingdom in October 2004 and a postgraduate diploma
in laws from University of London in December 2010, respectively. He
is a fellow of CPA Australia, the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute, The Chartered Governance Institute, and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute, and a member of the Canadian
Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum.
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Mr. Wong Ka Yi (E % H), aged 50, has been our independent non-
executive Director since 12 July 2016. He is responsible for supervising
and providing independent opinions to our Board. Currently, Mr.
Wong serves as the head of research and investment and executive
director at YuFeng Financial Group. He is licensed to conduct Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising securities), and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the "SFO"). Mr. Wong's professional credentials are
comprehensive, he previously held key positions at prominent financial
institutions, including served as an investment director at Amoeba
Capital Advisors Ltd. and Regent Capital Management Limited
from September 2021 to February 2024 and from March 2019 to
September 2021, respectively. Additionally, he served as a director and
investment director at HX Innovation Capital Management Co. Limited
from October 2017 to February 2019, and at China Metamorphosis
Investment Limited from June 2017 to October 2017. Prior to these
roles, Mr. Wong demonstrated his leadership as a managing director
at Fundatech Capital Limited from February 2015 to May 2018. His
expertise extends to investment portfolio management, and he worked
at HT Capital Management Limited and Munsun Asset Management
(Asia) Limited.

Mr. Wong recognized as a Chartered Financial Analyst by the CFA

Institute, and holds a bachelor’'s degree in economics from The
University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Li Feng (Z[l), aged 66, has been our independent non-executive
Director since 5 December 2017, and he has years of rich experience in
property management industry. He served as the general manager of
Shanghai Donghu Property Management Co., Ltd. ( E/8 R\ % &
AR A al) from February 2002 to February 2023. He also served as
management in Honggiao State Guest Hotel Shanghai (_E/8 &0 E
£8), Dongjiao State Guest Hotel (BEZF & #8) and Shanghai Lilac Garden
Hotel (E/8 T BIERE£R).

Mr. Li was awarded as the Leader of the 25th anniversary of the Trade
Association of Shanghai Property Management (/8T ¥ E BT
g 25 BFRFNKEZEEAY) in 2019, the outstanding Entrepreneur
of 2018 Shanghai Modern Service Industry (2018 & /8 38 1% fR 7% %
B F &% K), Person of the Year of 2015 in Property Management
Industry (2015 ¥ B R ITEFE AY) in 2015, Shanghai Brand
Strategy Implementation of 20 Years Influential 50 People (/8 % &
B EME20F 5250 A)in 2014, Shanghai World Expo Advanced
Individual (_E)& t 8 & % # & A) in 2010 and China’s Economy 100
Outstanding Figures (7 Bl 48 & B8 & £ £ A #) in 2003. Mr. Li was
qualified as a senior economist by Shanghai Accreditation Committee
for the Qualifications of Senior Professional and Technical Positions
Majoring in Commercial and Industrial in the Economic Field (/&M 4¢
BRI IEQBEEXSREERMBEERERETEZES). He was
also qualified as a Shanghai government procurement review expert (_t
YT B S BE 5T 3 £ ) and appointed as an expert of China Property
Management Association* (1 B ) % & 2 # &). He graduated from
Shanghai University (/8 K 2) in Shanghai, the PRC with a master’s
graduate certificate majoring in management engineering.
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Mr. Jia Shenghua (E 4 %), aged 63, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2023. He worked at
Northwest Agricultural University* (75 3k 2 2 K 2) from July 1989 to
February 1995, where he was engaged in teaching and research of
land economic management. He has joined and taught in Zhejiang
University* (#17T A 22) since March 1995 and retired in January 2025.

Mr. Jia is currently an independent non-executive director of
Greentown China Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 3900), as well as an independent director of
each of Hangzhou Binjiang Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (F1 /& T /= th & iR
7 BBRA7A], a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 002244)) and Guangyu Group Co., Ltd.* (EF &£ B KR H BR A
Al, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
002133)). Moreover, Mr. Jia served as an independent non-executive
director of Dexin Services Group Limited (E2Z IR EBBR AT, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2215)) from June
2021 to April 2023 and an independent director of Nandu Property
Services Group Co., Ltd.* (MW ERBEBRDBER R A, a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603506))
from December 2018 to December 2024.

Mr. Jia obtained his bachelor’'s degree in agricultural economics and
management from the Northwest A&F University* (FAdt B2 T) in the
PRC in July 1983 and his doctor’s degree in agricultural economics and
management from the Northwest Agricultural University* (F81b 22X
2 in the PRC in July 1989.

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BEEERE 35 R2023F6A1BEZT
BB IERNTEE - ERENI9F7IARE
1995F2 AR RERBES  RE LT
KOEE I MR - i 5 1995F 3 A 1A
T REIH - WH2025F 1 AiEIK

B AR T R B AR A R (— KN
AT EWAR - BRMHARS - 3900) 2 8L IEH
TEE UEMINELIRMERD AR AT
(—RRFVEFRX S ETHRR - RO
5 :002244) R EFEBBROHBRAR (—XK
PRVIBEER G ETMHNRAGE B
002133) 2B E S - AN - E A B 2021
FOAR2BFIAEAZERBZEEER
AE(—RABRATETmHAR - RO :
2215) Z BN IERITEERR2018F 128 %
2024 F 12 RIEEEBMERBEBRR D ER
RAI(—RKREBBHR S ETHRAR - B
P HS : 603506) 7 B EE o

EARAMI983F7ARBHEAILRBRE
EEBEEERB LB WRN19894F7 A%
BHREALRRABRFEEREEB LB -



Directors and Senior Management

EEkaRERE

Senior Management
For details of Ms. Jin Keli (& £l B), please refer to the sub-section
headed "— Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Zhang Linbo (R %}, i), aged 43, has been the CFO since 24
February 2025, and he joined the Group in March 2023. Prior to joining
the Group, he served as the chief financial officer of Greentown Dingyi
Real Estate Investment Management Co., Ltd* (43l & B E R E
EE AP A F]) (now known as Greentown Real Estate Construction
Management Group Co., Ltd* (WM EMWERZXEEEBER A
Al), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Greentown Management Holdings
Company Limited (4735 B 32 £ ik B BR 72 &) (@ company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 9979)) from April
2012 to July 2016. Mr. Zhang served as the deputy general manager of
the financial capital center of Greentown China Holdings Limited (%3
FEIERBRAT]) (@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 3900) from August 2016 to January 2017,
served as the deputy general manager of Greentown Construction
Management Group Limited Co., Ltd* (i B R EREEBER A
Al) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Greentown Management Holdings
Company Limited (% % & I 4% ik B R 2 7)) from January 2017 to
February 2019, and was the vice president and general manager of
financial capital center of Lanlv Shuangcheng Technology Group Co.,
Lid* (B &2 g R £ BB R A 7)) from February 2019 to September
2022.

Mr. Zhang holds a membership issued by the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants* (FF BIFE & &AM 17 € ) in July 2004, the
International Certified Internal Auditor Certificate issued by the China
Association of Internal Auditors* (FF B A #8251 1 2 ) in November
2007, the Intermediate Accountant Professional Qualification
Certificate issued by Zhejiang Province Human Resources and Social
Security Department* (#1/T4& A N E R ML REEE) in August 2010,
and the registered tax agent qualification certificate of the People’s
Republic of China issued by Zhejiang Province Human Resources
and Social Security Department* (#1/T & A &R S REEE) in
September 2010.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Tongji University in July 2003 and obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in management with a major in accounting.
He also obtained an inter-school minor certificate in international
economics and trade from Fudan University in July 2002.
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Ms. Xu Yaping (#R3E3), aged 45, is now our chief marketing officer, #REFZ L 455 BHALAEE 2 HEMS
she is now responsible for market development of our Group. Ms. B ' FEBEHREASENTS - BL LR
Xu joined the Group in October 1998, she is now vice president of 1998 F 10 A MARNEE - BHIETHZIM W ER
Greentown Property Service Company Limited. She has held various AR AFMEIEE - LR ETAEES
positions of the Group, including being vice general manager of ERf - BIEEFENEHEZAEEER
Greentown Real Estate Consulting Group Company Limited* (44345 28 (FIEN IS EHEZRNEBRETRA
EEAEBABR AR formerly known as Zhejiang Greentown Real 7)) @42 4538 - i /AR 2013F 1 3 £2022F 5
Estate Consulting Group Company Limited* () L&x M FE I ERZ AE ABREEBEHEZAEERR D FALHE -
B & R 2 7))). She has also been the general manager of Greentown R =R R B M B9 0N B 2Pt T35 &
Real Estate Consulting Group Company Limited from January 2013  $55 ¥ - WHE2018F R EBE T KEEEH
to May 2022. Ms. Xu graduated from the Program of Marketing of ~ FREhEE L &47 °

Hangzhou Commercial School* (41 /N # 2% ) in Hangzhou City, the

PRC and obtained a master degree in international real estate from

Hong Kong Polytechnic University* (B2 T K2 ) in 2018,
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in the provision of residential
property management services in the PRC, which includes four types
of services: property services, consulting services, community living
services and technology services. An analysis of the principal activities
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in
note 3 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 137 to 139 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.130
per Share and a special dividend of HK$0.070 per Share (2023: a final
dividend of HK$0.150 per Share) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The final dividend and special dividend are subject to the approval of
Shareholders at the AGM to be held on 20 June 2025 and will be paid
on or before 9 July 2025 to the Shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 27 June 2025.

No Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividend during the
year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend is the embodiment of the operational capability of the
Company, which is also a commitment to share the results of the
Company'’s growth with all Shareholders. The payment and the amount
of dividends (if any) depend on our results of operation, cash flows,
financial position, future prospects, and other factors that we may
consider relevant. Pursuant to the dividend policy of the Company
disclosed in the Prospectus, and combined with the payments of the
dividends after Listing, we intend to pay dividends in the amount of
not less than 25% of our profit after tax for each year. Annual dividend
is subject to the approval of general meeting of Shareholders. The
payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the laws
of the Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong and the articles of
association of the Company (the "Articles of Association”).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing, a discussion on the Group's future
business development and an analysis of the Group's performance
during the Reporting Period using key financial performance indicators
are contained in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 24
to 46 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has been working on sustainable development and
environmental protection. We spare no effort in making the most
out of resources in our business. Laws and regulations in terms of
environment and health are strictly complied with. Meanwhile, the
Group holds various activities to promote environmental protection in
our business. Our goal is to educate proprietors and all walks of life on
creating a green city for the future.

The Group has completed its 2024 environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in
2024 and the requirements under the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing
Rules. The ESG report of the Company for 2024 will be published
at the same time as the publication of this annual report on the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.lvchengfuwu.com).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group clearly understands the importance of regulatory
compliance and the risk of non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. To the best of the Board’s knowledge, during the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2024, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years are set out on pages 11 to 16 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

XK E
AEFEHZE2024F 12 A31 HILFE 2 E£%E
B AEEAREEEG Y EBRAKRETETE
il BEAEERREBER TR K
RAZZYBERAEEHASENREHN
ZRBZDMEBRANTFHRE2XEEFI6EW
[EREFNRMDN] -

REBRRERR

AEE-BREHRBAIRHERRNIRRRE -
RERRREREE  ERERNBERMNA -
TREEE BT BRRR  RFERMERMARER -
R NEBGEELBETHLEREERS
BREEY SEEIRUSEERAGERE
W HERERE

AEBEKTKT H2024F BB 1HER
Ea ([ESG)) e - HF B2 T HFIHE2024
FHESGE R AR £ BRI $C2
REMRE HEREARRESEITHE
koo AN A B 2024 F K ESG 3 & #9 B K )
[B) B 7E Bt 22 FIT (www.hkexnews.hk) il K A &)
(www.lvchengfuwu.com) 89 4834 £ 254 o

BEFHEBEERER

REBRPEBTEERTECEENE TR
FERBRAEERAFIZER -HEZSH
FAE G REE2024F12A831BIEEE - K
SEERBSEZFAETHAEEESRE
BESXEAFVEZRBEZEREER -REZ
2024F 12 A3 HIEFE AEEMEREE
R EFEBERRER

BMBEHE
AEBBERTAVRFEZEEAREER
BEMEHINAFRFENEICH - AHRE
WA EBREEXEAMHERRN 7S °

2024 FEEHRE SWRIEEEERAF

63



64

Report of Directors

EEERE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the sales revenue from the five
largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 10% of the
Group's total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 20% of the Group's
total purchases.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 33(c) to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 33(d) to the financial
statements and pages 142 to 143 of this annual report under the
section headed "Statement of Changes in Equity”.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution (including share premium, share option reserve and
retained earnings of the Company), amounted to approximately
RMB2,731,829,000 (31 December 2023: RMB3,374,375,000).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of bank loans was RMB64.9
million. Save as disclosed above, the Group had no bank loans. The
Group is flush with cash.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman)

Ms. Jin Keli

Mr. Chen Hao (Resigned on 24 February 2025)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shou Bainian

Ms. Xia Yibo

Ms. Li Hairong

Mr. Song Hailin (Appointed on 24 February 2025)
Mr. Liu Xingwei (Resigned on 24 February 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Mr. Wong Ka Yi

Mr. Li Feng

Mr. Jia Shenghua

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yang
Zhangfa, Ms. Xia Yibo, Mr. Li Feng and Mr. Jia Shenghua shall retire by
rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at
the AGM.

In addition, in accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Song Hailin, who was appointed as a Director on 24
February 2025, is subject to re-election and being eligible, has offered
himself for re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
Company's circular to the Shareholders dated 24 April 2025.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 51 to 60 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors and the Company considers all independent
non-executive Directors to be independent throughout the year ended
31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
APPOINTMENT LETTERS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years, which is renewable automatically
for successive terms subject to termination as provided in the service
contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years, which may be renewable automatically subject to
both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service contract or an appointment letter
with the Company which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director or entity connected
with the Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during the
Reporting Period.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the
Group's emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted an emolument policy that combines a fixed
compensation mechanism with a long-acting share option scheme.
For details, please refer to the sections headed "EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICIES” and the “Share Option Schemes” of this
annual report.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 8 and 9 to
the financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in note 6(b) to the financial statements.

The main business of the Company is conducted in China, and for
this purpose, in accordance with the applicable Chinese laws, we
participate in a social insurance plan (including pension insurance)
(the “Social Security Plan”) organized by the Chinese government.
Under the Social Security Plan, both employers and employees are
required to make contributions at a specified rate by relevant laws and
regulations.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group also participated in pension
or similar plans for all its eligible overseas employees in accordance
with local laws: (i) the Group participated in the Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF") Scheme for its qualifying employees in Hong Kong, and
contribution was made by each of the employer and the employee
to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s monthly income and the
maximum total contribution is HK$3,000 per month; (ii) the Group
participated in the Super Guarantee plan for its eligible employees in
Australia, and contribution was made by the Group to the plan at a
certain percentage of the employee’s monthly income in accordance
with the relevant rules; and (iii) the Group participated in the Pension
Plan for its qualifying employees in Indonesia, and contributions were
made by both the employer and the employee to the plan at a certain
rate subject to the maximum contribution limit as specified by the
relevant rules.

Under the above plans, the Company may not use the forfeited
contributions to reduce the existing contribution level.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND THEIR INFORMATION

Mr. Jia Shenghua (B 4 %), an independent non-executive Director,
has resigned as an independent director of Nandu Property Services
Group Co., Ltd.* (F &YW ERBFEBE RN B R F]) (a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603506) in December
2024 and retired from Zhejiang University* (41)I K22 ) in January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors confirmed that no other

information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS EENRESITHRAERK® - 8
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING BER#ZREEIZFEETHNERR
SHARES AND DEBENTURES RE

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the R 2024F 12831 H * EFE R AR B REITH
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying A BB RIK(EFH R EEEH) EXVILET
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated K847 &AM & A A 7] KBk ZFTEY A R Al =k
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were ~ EAEBEEE (F& R (BEHRHE KO
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange  ZEXVED) FZD ~ MBI D R EEFZNE D
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests ~ MA B (BIERIE(ESFKBEKRH) HZE
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under BN EEWEEXRAEENETRAR) -
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to B (EH K B EIEHI) 5 35216 B2 8 1
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to  AARFHRzZELRMAEZR AR - HIRE
therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and  EMRBIMERCIAMHE M EMBEITAESRE
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities TEAFXRSMZESFA ([EBESFH ) BNS
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set AR A REZFTMER ABIT ¢

out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Interests in Shares RERGHER
Number of Number of
underlying underlying
Shares held Shares held
pursuant pursuant
to the share to the share  Approximate

Number of ~ options granted ~ options granted  percentage of  Long
Shares (other under the share under the share  shareholding  position/

than pursuant option scheme option scheme inthe  Short
Name of Director/ Capacity/ to equity adopted on adopted on Company  position/
Chief Executive Note Nature of interest derivatives) 25 May 2018 16 June 2023 (%)  Lending pool

BER2018F BER2023F
5B 25 BiRGH 6B 16 BERMK
RAZE BREGHRLEN BRESTIRLEHN READAMH Fa/ Ke/

B/ (kERE BREETHEN BREETHEN HABREIL  THES
BRTHABESR Wi 5B/ BEtE FTETERMN) HERGHE HERHHE (%)  WikH
Mr. Shou Bainian (1,3)  Interest of controlled 1,020,000,000 - - 3224 Long position
ShELAE corporation i1e

XS EERER
Ms. Xia Yibo (2,3)  Interest of controlled 1,020,000,000 - - 3224 Long position
E-kxt corporation e

TN EEER

(@ Interest of spouse 3,500,000 - - 0.1 Long position
[ e
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Number of
underlying Number of
Shares held underlying Shares
pursuant held pursuant
to the share totheshare  Approximate
Number of options granted options granted ~percentage of  Long
Shares (other under the share under the share shareholding  position/
than pursuant option scheme option scheme inthe  Short
Name of Director/ Capacity/ to equity adopted on adopted on Company position/
Chief Executive Note  Nature of interest derivatives) 25 May 2018 16 June 2023 (%) Lending pool
RER20185F RER2023%
5R25AKHM 6B 16 ARHH
RG®E  BREGERLNG BREG IR RELTH
g3/ (kBRE  BREETHEH BREETAHEN BORREA #8/%8/
BRTHABEA Wi 5ft/BEHE fTETARS) RBRGHEA RERGEE (%) TELHNRE
Ms. Li Hairong (5 Interest of controlled 423,868,339 - _ 1340 Long position
E3:FS corporation &
REHE AR
(6)  Interest of spouse 26,000,000 - _ 089 Long position
R i
() Beneficial interest - 800,000 - 003 Long position
Bhtth i
Mr. Yang Zhangfa 8 Beneficial interest 60,000,000 - _ 190 Long position
BEEEE EhEn g
(9 Beneficial interest - 3520000 4,500,000 025 Long position
EhfER i
Ms. Jin Keli (100 Beneficial interest 4,240,000 - _ 0.13  Long position
SRERL EhEs i
(1) Beneficial interest - 4,060,000 3,000,000 022 Long position
EifER i
Mr. Chen Hao (12 Beneficial interest - 1,350,000 - 004 Long position
RiExE BhEs i
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Notes:

©)

(10)

an

(12)

Mr. Shou Bainian holds all issued shares in Lily International Investment Company
Limited (“Lily International Investment”), which holds 39% of the issued shares in
Orchid Garden Investment Company Limited (“Orchid Garden Investment”).

Ms. Xia Yibo holds all issued shares in Shenalan International Investment Company
Limited (“ShenaLan International Investment”), which holds 21% of the issued
shares in Orchid Garden Investment. Ms. Xia Yibo is the spouse of Mr. Song
Weiping. Therefore, Ms. Xia Yibo is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
Mr. Song Weiping is interested in. Mr. Song Weiping holds all issued shares
in Osmanthus Garden Investment Company Limited (“Osmanthus Garden
Investment”), which holds 40% of the issued shares in Orchid Garden Investment.

Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan
International Investment are indirectly interested in the Shares through Orchid
Garden Investment. Therefore, Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International
Investment and Shenalan International Investment are deemed to be parties acting
in concert.

As such, Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian and Ms. Xia Yibo, together with
their respective holding companies (being Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily
International Investment and Shenalan International Investment), are all deemed
to be interested in the Shares directly held by Orchid Garden Investment (being
1,020,000,000 Shares).

Mr. Song Weiping, being the spouse of Ms. Xia Yibo, holds all issued shares in Delta
House Limited. Accordingly, Mr. Song Weiping is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Delta House Limited (being 3,500,000 Shares in total). Ms. Xia Yibo is
also deemed to be interested in such Shares.

Ms. Li Hairong holds all issued shares of Lilac International Investment Company
Limited (“Lilac International Investment”). Accordingly, Ms. Li Hairong is deemed
to be interested in the Shares directly held by Lilac International Investment (being
423,868,339 Shares).

Ms. Li Hairong is the spouse of Mr. Ju Jianhua. Therefore, Ms. Li Hairong is deemed
to be interested in the Shares which Mr. Ju Jianhua is interested in. Mr. Ju Jianhua
is one of the grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (as detailed in the
Prospectus) and is beneficially interested in the Shares.

Ms. Li Hairong is the holder of the share options.

Mr. Yang Zhangfa is a beneficial owner of the Shares.

Mr. Yang Zhangfa is the holder of the share options.

Ms. Jin Keli is a beneficial owner of the Shares.

Ms. Jin Keli is the holder of the share options.

Mr.Chen Hao is the holder of the share options.

F S % £ # A Lily International Investment
Company Limited ([ Lily International Investment|)
FrA B %17 » MLily International Investment
$§ A Orchid Garden Investment Company Limited
(T Orchid Garden Investment |) /] 39% 2 31T (5

B — ) Z £ # B Shenalan International Investment
Company Limited ([ ShenalLan International
Investment |) FT B 2 & 178 15 + ifl Shenalan
International Investment#f & Orchid Garden
Investment 8] 21% B 1T 5 - E— R X T ARE
FREMES Bt BE—RZTHRBRRE T
SEERBNRMBE P EGERZ - RETLERE
Osmanthus Garden Investment Company Limited
([ Osmanthus Garden Investment]) FT A E %17 %
3+ T Osmanthus Garden Investment#3 4 Orchid
Garden Investment #) 40% 2 21T iR {5 °

Osmanthus Garden Investment ~ Lily International
Investment & Shenalan International Investment
3% #8 Orchid Garden Investment @ & B K15 &Y
# % + #U Ik Osmanthus Garden Investment * Lily
International Investment & Shenalan International

Investment % & —BITE) AL ©

Bt REFEE SHFRERE—RLTE
[F 1% & & B M 1% i A 8 (B Osmanthus Garden
Investment - Lily International Investment &
Shenalan International Investment) 1 18 & %
Orchid Garden Investment & # # & ) & 15 (80
1,020,000,000 & AR 17) H e 25 ©

REFRERE K LZLTHEME ¥ ADelta
House Limited FT A B 1T % - Atk RETF %L
4318 A Delta House Limited EIZ#B B {H (2
0B REAER - E— BT hWRARZSE
M iy A A o

%8 8 2 £ 5 A Lilac International Investment
Company Limited ([ Lilac International Investment )
FBEEETRD At TELEZTHEREAR
Lilac International Investment B # 43 5 ) % {7 (B
423,868,339 FR AR () A A
FERTTTREELEENRS - Bt - TBRL
TR AEA B REE L ERE RN RDOER -
WMEELEERBERRRBEERRG ZBTE (FE
RBRE)EP—ZEBRA  UESHEEZSERG
FERLTAZEERENFBA -
HBEETERZERNOERZEEAA -
BEETERZEERENFEA -
SRBRTAZERMNEREEBA °
SRBRTRZEERENFEA -

BREEERZSERENSEA -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying

FTERRREROREBR G T
BERAR

MR2024F 124318 REEZEMA - TH AL
(WHEZRARAESTHAER) REMH K
R P B RIBECGEH R EEEH) FE XV
HE2M3DHARARRFEL AELDRA
RNARECGESR R EIRD]) B 33615 E T &
GrzERMRAzESZSKE

Shares which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336

of the SFO:

Approximate

Percentage of Long
Shareholding  position/
in the short
Number of Company position/
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares (%) Lending pool
RAEDFH
BALKR HE/ KB/
BEEE BB 20 £:1:3-1 D& B BAt(%) FIEE ARG

Orchid Garden Beneficial interest 1,020,000,000 3224 Long position
Investment Note DD EnlEn gE

Osmanthus Garden Interest of a controlled corporation  1,020,000,000 3224 Long position
Investment Notes 1.2 (i1 2) SR E B gE

Delta House Limited Nete 2 (Ffi£2) Beneficial interest 3,500,000 0.11  Long position
EmfEm HE

Mr. Song Weiping Netes 1.2 Interest of a controlled corporation  1,023,500,000 32.35 Long position
R o i 2) SR EE R HE

Lily International Interest of a controlled corporation  1,020,000,000 3224 Long position
Investment Notes 1.3 (i1 3) SR E B gE

Ms. Yao Huanjing Mete4 Interest of spouse 1,020,000,000 3224 Long position
kw2 WEe il B = HE

Shenalan International Interest of controlled corporation 1,020,000,000 32.24  Long position
Investment Notes 1.5 (i1 - 5) SR B gE

Lilac International Beneficial interest 423,868,339 1340 Long position

Investment Note 6) (Hiiks)

Eafgs
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Approximate
Percentage of Long
Shareholding  position/
in the short
Number of Company position/
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares (%) Lending pool
RERXFH
BHER H#HR/ %R/
BREE R 53,/ REME BABE  EALM%) ARERORG
Mr. Ju Jianhua Metes7.8) Interest of spouse 424,668,339 1342  Long position
BEgErLree FoBiEs )
Beneficial interest 28,000,000 0.89  Long position
BamEn )
Longfor Group Holdings Ltd. Mete?) Interest of controlled corporation 294,674,363 9.31  Long position
EAEEERER AR W= Ry EEE S A
Yiheng Capital, LLCNote? Beneficial interest 163,381,816 5.16  Long position
BRBEARNE o )
Notes: BT

M

Orchid Garden Investment is owned as to 40.0%, 39.0% and 21.0% by Osmanthus
Garden Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan International
Investment, respectively.

Given Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan
International Investment are indirectly interested in the Shares through Orchid
Garden Investment. Therefore, Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International
Investment and Shenalan International Investment are deemed to be parties acting
in concert.

As such, Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International Investment and Shenalan
International Investment (together with their respective sole shareholders, being
Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian and Ms. Xia Yibo, respectively), are all deemed
to be interested in the Shares directly held by Orchid Garden Investment (being
1,020,000,000 Shares).

Each of Osmanthus Garden Investment and Delta House Limited is wholly-owned
by Mr. Song Weiping. Mr. Song Weiping is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Osmanthus Garden Investment and Delta House Limited for the purpose of
Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Song Weiping is the spouse of Ms. Xia Yibo.

Lily International Investment is wholly-owned by Mr. Shou Bainian. Mr. Shou Bainian
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Lily International Investment for
the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Yao Huanjing is the spouse of Mr. Shou Bainian. Therefore, Ms. Yao Huanjing is
deemed to be interested in the Shares which Mr. Shou Bainian is interested in.
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BB # % Osmanthus Garden Investment * Lily
International Investment & Shenalan International

Investment #18 A —BUITBIA L ©

Atk © Osmanthus Garden Investment * Lily
International Investment }2 Shenalan International
Investment GERI K E 5 BMH—RE DAl AR
HEEE BHFAERE-RLL)HERA
7 Orchid Garden Investment B # 3 & # i (5 (8
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Shenalan International Investment is wholly-owned by Ms. Xia Yibo. Ms. Xia Yibo is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Shenalan International Investment.
Ms. Xia Yibo is the spouse of Mr. Song Weiping.

Lilac International Investment is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Hairong. Ms. Li Hairong is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Lilac International Investment for the
purpose of Part XV of the SFO (being 423,848,339 Shares in total).

Mr. Ju Jianhua is the spouse of Ms. Li Hairong. Therefore, Mr. Ju Jianhua is deemed
to be interested in the Shares which Ms. Li Hairong is interested in.

Mr. Ju Jianhua is one of the grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (as
detailed in the Prospectus) and is beneficially interested in the Shares.

The information disclosed is based on information provided on the Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge of

the Directors, they were not aware of any other persons (who were not

Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would be required to
be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

Share Option Scheme

M

2018 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 25 May 2018
(the “2018 Share Option Scheme”) which was terminated on 16
June 2023. Please refer to the circulars of the Company dated 24
April 2018 and 26 April 2023 for details.

The purpose of the 2018 Share Option Scheme is to provide
the people and the parties who are working for the interests
of the Group an opportunity to obtain an equity interest in the
Company, thus aligning their interest with the interests of the
Group and thereby providing them with an incentive to work
better for the interests of the Group.

(5) Shenalan International Investmentfl & — & &2
+T2EHE - E— KX+ H K AMShenalan
International Investment AT A K A&7 #E A 125 o
B RZTRREFEENRS -

() Lilac International Investment A 2= /8 £ 2 + 2 &
B (ELFLHEEM)EXVIME  THEL
+#%48 & Lilac International Investment BT 5 A &)
R b B A s (BN & #£423,868,339 R AR 17) -

(7))  BREEEDFERLLOEM - B WEEL
EWERNETBR LT HEERANRND T HEEE
%

®  BEERERERARBENRGEME (FE
RABRE) ER—RARA - YESHEZZRN -

©9) I 4% 55 & 2 2 F B 22 BT 48 3 (www.hkexnews. hk)
Frig itz BmIEDL o

B EXEr RN 7R20245 128318 5t
EEHA BIEAAEMAT (WFEEEEAR
NEEEITRAER) RGO SABEBR DTS
RIBEC(EHRBAEED) EXVEHBE2RINE
AMARAFE  KBECNEERPEK
BI) 28 336 IFFTat Y B M 2 RS SA R -

B REET 8

(1) 2018 EBERAETE
RRAFF 201845 B 25 B RN EE AR HE =
gl (2018 EBBmAESE]) » ZER
2023F 6 A16BK I - FBEHEZ2HAR
A EH 84201844 A 24 B % 202344 A
26 B 2B °

RI2018FRBRIEA B S HER T RAE
BMEMBNZ AL RETERARQA
Bz EE  HMEREZNmERE
B2 M - BB E R AR E A

SmmEM -
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Under the 2018 Share Option Scheme, the employees of the
Group (including Directors and senior management) and such
other persons as the Board may consider appropriate may be
granted options which entitle them to subscribe for Shares
representing, when aggregated with any Shares subject to any
other scheme(s) of the Company, up to a maximum of 10% of
the Shares in issue of the Company as of 25 May 2018, unless
the Company obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders to
renew the said limit or the Shareholders specifically approve the
grant.

Pursuant to the 2018 Share Option Scheme, the amount payable
by a grantee on acceptance of a grant of the option is HK$1.00
(or its equivalent in RMB or any other currency acceptable to the
Company).

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted and to be granted pursuant
to the 2018 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company to each participant in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant of the options
must not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue. Any
further grant of options which would result in the number of the
Shares issued as aforesaid exceeding the said 1% limit must be
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting at which such
participant and his or her associates must abstain from voting.

Any grant of share options to a participant who is a Director, chief
executive, or substantial Shareholder of the Company or any of
their respective associate must be approved by the independent
non-executive Directors, excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the grantee of the share options.

The exercise periods of the share options may be specified by
the Company at the time of the grant, and the share options shall
expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of the grant.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
11 September 2018. On 11 September 2018, the Company
granted a total of 133,500,000 share options to certain Directors
and employees for which the exercise price of each share option
is HK$6.116, subject to acceptance by the grantees. Since some
of the grantees are no longer eligible participants or do not meet
the issuing conditions, 3,474,450 share options have automatically
lapsed in accordance with the rules of the 2018 Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 January 2020. On 23 January 2020, the Company
granted a total of 33,150,000 share options to an associate of an
independent non-executive Director, senior management of the
Company, as well as certain employees of the Group for which
the exercise price of each share option is HK$9.214, subject to
acceptance by the grantees. Since some of the grantees are no
longer eligible participants or do not meet the issuing conditions,
1,549,700 share options have automatically lapsed in accordance
with the rules of the 2018 Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
14 September 2020. On 14 September 2020, the Company
granted a total of 25,770,000 share options to an associate of an
independent non-executive Director and certain employees of
the Group for which the exercise price of each share option is
HK$9.30, subject to acceptance by the grantees. Since some of
the grantees are no longer eligible participants or do not meet
the issuing conditions, 850,000 share options have automatically
lapsed in accordance with the rules of the 2018 Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
26 July 2021. On 26 July 2021, the Company granted a total of
33,130,200 share options to certain Directors, senior management
of the Company and certain employees of the Group for which
the exercise price of each share option is HK$8.902, subject to
acceptance by the grantees. Since some of the grantees are no
longer eligible participants or do not meet the issuing conditions,
1,679,800 share options have automatically lapsed in accordance
with the rules of the 2018 Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
8 December 2022. On 8 December 2022, the Company granted
a total of 41,464,500 share options to certain Directors, senior
management of the Company and employees of the Group for
which the exercise price of each share option is HK$5.58, subject
to acceptance of the grantees. Since some of the grantees are no
longer eligible participants or do not meet the issuing conditions,
6,455,250 share options have automatically lapsed in accordance
with the rules of the 2018 Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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Each of the share option granted under the 2018 Share Option
Scheme is conditional upon the achievement of certain
performance objectives as set out in the respective offer letters,
including but not limited to the respective job objectives as
determined by the Group, and subject to a waiting period of 12
months from the date on which the grantee has achieved the
length of service in the Group.

The vesting period is 3 years from the expiry date of the waiting
period under the 2018 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the 2018 Share Option Scheme is 138,274,350
Shares (representing approximately 4.4% of the issued shares
(excluding treasury shares) as of the date of this annual report (i.e.
3,163,645,627 Shares)).

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total number
of share options available for grant under the 2018 Share Option
Scheme was nil.

The subscription price for the Shares under the 2018 Share
Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and notified to a participant, provided that such price
shall be at least and the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of offer of a share option which must be a trading day; and
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for the five consecutive trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer.

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a Binomial model. For
details, please refer to note 30(a) to the financial statements.
Regard to the subjectivity and uncertainty of the values of
options to the effect that such values are subject to a number of
assumptions and with regard to the limitation of the model.

The 2018 Share Option Scheme was terminated on 16 June 2023.
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2023 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 16 June 2023
(the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) to replace the 2018 Share
Option Scheme. For details, please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 26 April 2023.

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to replace the
2018 Share Option Scheme and to enable the Company to grant
share options to the selected Eligible Participants (as defined
below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the development and long-term growth of the
Group.

Under the 2023 Share Option Scheme, the employees of the
Group (including the Directors and the senior management) and
Related Entity Participants (as defined under the Listing Rules) (the
“Eligible Participants”) may be granted options which entitle
them to subscribe for Shares representing, when aggregated
with any Shares, up to a maximum of 10% of the Shares in issue
as at 16 June 2023, unless the Company obtains a fresh approval
from the Shareholders to renew the said limit or the Shareholders
specifically approve the grant.

Unless approved by the Shareholders at the general meeting, the
total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of share options (whether exercised or outstanding) together
with all other options and awards granted under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company in any
12-month period to each grantee must not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue.

Insofar and for so long as the Listing Rules so require, no share
option may be granted to any substantial Shareholder or
independent non-executive Director (or any of their respective
associates or any person whose associate is a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director), which
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all share options and other options and awards already
granted (excluding those lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the scheme) to such person under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
and any other scheme(s) of the Company in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of the grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the number of Shares in issue, unless
such further grant is approved by the Shareholders at the general
meeting.
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Where any share option is proposed to be granted to an Eligible
Participant who is a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates,
it must first be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors or, if required by the Listing Rules, the Remuneration
Committee (excluding any Director who is or whose associate is
the Eligible Participant to whom the share option is proposed
to be granted or is himself/herself an associate of such Eligible
Participant).

The exercise periods of the share options may be specified by
the Company at the time of the grant, and the share options shall
expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of the grant.

Each of the share option granted under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme is conditional upon the achievement of certain
performance targets as set out in the respective offer letters
and the share option shall be held for a minimum vesting period
of 12 months. The Board has the discretion to accelerate the
vesting schedule of the share options, subject to compliance of
the requirements under the 2023 Share Option Scheme and Rule
17.03F of the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

Each grantee shall accept the offer within the period specified
in the offer letter. The Group has not provided any financial
assistance to the grantees to facilitate the purchase of Shares
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

The subscription price under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and
notified to a participant, provided that such price shall be at least
and the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of
a share option which must be a trading day; and (i) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer.

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a Binomial model.
Reference is made to note 30(a) to the financial statements.
Regard to the subjectivity and uncertainty of the values of
options to the effect that such values are subject to a number of
assumptions and with regard to the limitation of the model.
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Reference is made to the announcement of the Company 26
June 2024. On 26 June 2024, the Company granted a total of
71,242,600 share options to certain Directors, senior management
of the Company and employees of the Group for which the
exercise price of each share option is HK$3.494, subject to
acceptance of the grantees. Since some of the grantees are no
longer eligible participants or do not meet the issuing conditions,
1,118,000 share options have automatically lapsed in accordance
with the rules of the 2023 Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The 2023 Share Option Scheme will expire on 15 June 2033 and
the remaining life of the scheme is around 8 years and 2 months.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the 2023 Share Option Scheme is 322,119,962
Shares (representing approximately 10.2% of the issued shares

(excluding treasury shares) as of the date of this annual report (i.e.
3,163,645,627 Shares)).

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total number
of share options available for grant under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme was 323,237,962 and 251,995,362 respectively.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total number of
outstanding share options under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
was nil and 70,124,600 respectively.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under all share option schemes of the Company
(including the 2018 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share
Option Scheme) during the Report Period divided by the
weighted average number of the Shares in issue (excluding
treasury shares) for the Reporting Period is 14.5%.
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Details of the share options granted, exercised, lapsed and cancelled
in accordance with the 2018 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as
follows:

No. of Share No. of Share
Options ~ No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share Options
Outstanding Options Options Options Options  Outstanding

REE2024F 12831 B IEFEE - 1B12018
FRERETE R 2023FEEREFEEEL
BT AR LCEHENBREFISHT
UNNE

The
weighted
average
closing price
immediately ~ Closing price
before the ~ of the Shares
exercise  immediately
date of the before

atthe Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed at the Period during which Exercise share the date
Beginning during during  during the during End of Share Options are Price per options of grant
of the Year the Year the Year Year the Year the Year Date of Grant Exercisable Share (HKS) (HKS) (HKS)

£ 30 £ £R £h £
MAGREN  BREN  BFEN  BHEN  BAYN  MAGREN

ERRBRE RAHERE

fiffAS  BHAA

ZANME 2

SRER POUnE ki

Name of Grantee REARA BREHE BREHE RBREYAE BREHA EREXE BRE¥E RiEH ATEERENER (%) (#x) (#x)
Director iz
Ms. Li Hairong B3] Lo 800,000 - - - - 800,000 11 September 2018 From 11 September 201910 6116 - 606
N18F9A1A 10 September 2028727
N9F9ANAE
ABEIA0RI
Mr. Yang Zhangfa BEREE 2,020,000 - - - - 2020000 11September 2018 From 11 September 201910 6116 - 606
N18F9A1A 10 September 2028727
N9F9ANAE
ABEIA0RI
500,000 - - - - 500,000 26 July 2021 From 26 July 2022 to 8.902 - 8.94
M1ETAA 25 July 2031128

WNETANAZ
N3IETRBEM

1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 8 December 2022 From 8 December 2023 to 5.580 - 510
N2F1288A 7 December 2032027
NB3F1ASAE
NRF1ATRID
- 4500000 - - - 4500000 26June 2024 From 26 June 2025 to 3494 - 348
NAF6RNA 25 June 20349
N5F6ABAZ
NUF6RBRY
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The
weighted
average
closing price
immediately  Closing price
No. of Share No. of Share before the ~ of the Shares
Options  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share Options exercise  immediately
Outstanding Options Options Options Options  Outstanding date of the before
atthe Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed at the Period during which Exercise share the date
Beginning during during  during the during End of Share Options are Price per options of grant
of the Year the Year the Year Year the Year the Year Date of Grant Exercisable Share (HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
ERRBRE ROERE
%R8  RERH
£9 £R £ R £ L3 ZAfNE A
HATEN  BEEN  BAEN  BE#N  BAMY  HAGRY BROKE THUHE LT
Name of Grantee REARE BREHE BREHE BREZA BREHA EREXE BREXE RiEH ATRERENER (%) (#x) (#x)
Ms. Jin Keli SHERT 1,810,000 - - - - 1810000 11 September2018  From 11 September 2019 to 6116 - 606
N18F9A1A 10 September 2028727
N9FIANAE
ABEIR10BI
2,250,000 - - - - 2250000 26 July 2021 From 26 July 2022 to 8.902 - 8.94
AM1ETAA 25 July 2031128
N0FTAWAE
WNETRBAI
- 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 26 June 2024 From 26 June 2025 to 3494 - 348
NUE6R26A 25 June 20349
NB5F6ABAZE
AHEGRLBAS
Mr. Chen Hao i 850,000 - - - - 850000 11 September 2018 From 11 September 2019 to 6116 - 606
N18F9A1A 10 September 2028727
N9FIANAE
ABEIR10BI
500,000 - - - - 500,000 26 July 2021 From 26 July 2022 to 8.902 - 8.94
A1ETAA 25 July 2031128
N0FTAWAE
WNETRBAI
Subtotal I3t 9730000 7500000 - - - 17,3000
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The
weighted
average
closing price
immediately  Closing price
No. of Share No. of Share before the ~ of the Shares
Options  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share  No. of Share Options exercise  immediately
Outstanding Options Options Options Options  Outstanding date of the before
atthe Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed at the Period during which Exercise share the date
Beginning during during  during the during End of Share Options are Price per options of grant
of the Year the Year the Year Year the Year the Year Date of Grant Exercisable Share (HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
ERRBRE ROERE
%R8  RERH
£9 £R £ R £ L3 ZAfNE A
HATEN  BEEN  BAEN  BE#N  BAME  HAGRY BRAKE THUHE LT
Name of Grantee REARE BREHE BREHE BREZE BREHA EREXE BRE¥E RiEH ATRERENER (%) (#7) (#7)
Employees &I
Other certain employees  A&E2 £ 45,536,550 - - - 3473450 42063100 11September2018  From 11 September 2019 to 6.116 - 606
ofthe Group (other ~ ETES N18F9A1A 10 September 208 129
thenthepersonsas (M LB N1959A11AZ
disclosed above) ALTBIN NBFIF10R 12
21,807,250 - - - 1549700 20,257,550 23 January 2020 From 23 January 2021 9.214 - 9.3
N0F1A3A to 22 January 2030124
WIF1ABAZ
NETRNE
19,779,900 - - - TA90 19054950 14 September2020  From 14 September 2021 to 9.300 - 9.09
N0FIA14A 13 September 2030 129
WIF9A1URE
0EIR13BIS
20,000,000 - - - 1649800 18,350,200 26 July 2021 From 26 July 2022 to 8.902 - 8.94
A1ETAA 25 July 2031024
N0EFTRBAZE
WNETRBAI
34,843,700 - - - 6025150 28818550 8December2022  From 8 December 2023to 5.580 - 510
N2F12888 7 December 203212
WAESVEEIEES
AR E1ATEM
- 63742600 - - 1118000 62624600 26 June 2024 From 26 June 2025 to 3494 - 348
N4F6A268 25 June 20349
NB5F6A%AZE
AHEGRBAS
Subtotel It 11967400 63,742,600 - -~ USO80 191168950
Total ey 151697400 71,242,600 - - 14541050 208,398,950
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Notes:

33% of the total number of the share options granted will be vested on the next
day following the expiry date of the 12 months from the date on which the grantee
has achieved certain length of service in the Group (the “Waiting Period"”) and the
date on which certain performance conditions were satisfied (whichever is later).
33% of the total number of the share options granted will be vested on the next
day following the first anniversary of the expiry date of the Waiting Period and the
date on which certain performance conditions were satisfied (whichever is later).
34% of the total number of the share options granted will be vested on the next day
following the second anniversary of the expiry date of the Waiting Period and the
date on which certain performance conditions were satisfied (whichever is later).

The vesting period is 3 years from the expiry date of the Waiting Period.

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 11
September 2019 to 10 September 2028 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest
of 11 September 2020 to 10 September 2028 (both days inclusive); and (i) 34% of
the total number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the
earliest of 11 September 2021 to 10 September 2028 (both days inclusive).

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 23
January 2021 to 22 January 2030 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total number of
share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 23 January
2022 to 22 January 2030 (both days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the total number of
share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 23 January
2023 to 22 January 2030 (both days inclusive).

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 14
September 2021 to 13 September 2030 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest
of 14 September 2022 to 13 September 2030 (both days inclusive); and (i) 34% of
the total number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the
earliest of 14 September 2023 to 13 September 2030 (both days inclusive).

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total number
of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 July
2022 to 25 July 2031 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total number of share
options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 July 2023 to
25 July 2031 (both days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the total number of share options
granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 July 2024 to 25 July
2031 (both days inclusive).

Subject to the vesting dates referred to in note 1 above: (i) 33% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest
of 8 December 2023 to 7 December 2032 (both days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 8
December 2024 to 7 December 2032 (both days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the total
number of share options granted are exercisable commencing from the earliest of 8
December 2025 to 7 December 2032 (both days inclusive).
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8. This vesting period is 3 years, (i) 33% of the total number of the granted share
options will be vested on the next day following the date on which the Performance
Targets (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 26 June 2024)
were satisfied or the first anniversary of the date of grant (whichever is later), and be
exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 June 2025 to 25 June 2034 (both
days inclusive); (i) 33% of the total number of the granted share options will be
vested on the next day following the date on which the Performance Targets were
satisfied or the second anniversary of the date of grant (which-ever is later), and be
exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 June 2026 to 25 June 2034 (both
days inclusive); and (iii) 34% of the total number of the granted share options will
be vested on the next day following the date on which the Performance Targets
were satisfied or the third anniversary of the date of grant (whichever is later), and
be exercisable commencing from the earliest of 26 June 2027 to 25 June 2034 (both
days inclusive).

MANAGEMENT EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN AT
THE SUBSIDIARY OF THE COMPANY

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 29
March 2019. Pursuant to the shareholder deed, MAG will establish a
management equity incentive plan based on the shares of MAG held
by the Group. On 29 June 2021, the Board of the Company approved
the MAG’s management equity incentive plan, and agreed to grant to
the eligible grantees up to 5% of MAG shares held by the Group, and
the exercise price of the incentive shares granted is based on MAG's
EBITDA for the latest financial year (which is consistent with the pricing
strategy adopted by the Group when it acquired MAG shares). As at 16
December 2024, the granted incentive shares representing 5.0% of the
outstanding shares of MAG.

During the year, the Group disposed of a total of 2,328,592 shares in
MAG, immediately following completion of the Disposal, the Group
held an equity interest of approximately 35% of the total issued share
capital of MAG and MAG ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. For
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 8
November 2024, 16 December 2024 and 9 January 2025, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (as defined in the
Prospectus), the 2018 Share Option Scheme and the 2023 Share
Option Scheme, the Company has no equity-linked agreements that
were entered into or subsisted during the year of 2024.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
repurchased a total of 27,250,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange with
an aggregate amount of HK$79,012,131.01, and 24,390,000 Shares of
which were cancelled on 27 May 2024.

The Board considers that the trading price of the Shares does not
reflect their intrinsic value and the future business prospects of
the Group in the future, and that it is the appropriate timing for
the Company to repurchase Shares. The Board believes the share
repurchase and subsequent cancellation of the repurchased Shares
can enhance the value of the Shares, and improve the return to
Shareholders. The Board believes that the exercise of the repurchase
mandate is in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole, and the financial position of the Company is solid and healthy,
which enables it to implement the share repurchase.

Details of the Shares repurchased during the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out as follows:

No. of Shares

BE LEIBELTES

REE2024E 12 A3 BIEEE  ARFTER
Fst <3 B [0 B & £ 27,250,000 & B 1D - 4B 58 A&
79,012,131.017% 7T + E &+ 24,390,000 % % 15
DR 202445 A 27 BEil -

EFERR ERBEORIEBILREUR
MERNEBELASENREXHANR I
AARRBEBROOEERE - EFSHIE
%47 (2] 8 2 EL 1% 5F 36 A7 (2] B8 B AR 1) 7T $2 7 AR
EE AANREROHEER FEARFR
HEEROWERNZ  BRRA AN BEHRRAE
f2 @5k sEmEmARMOELD -

REZE 2024512 A31 HILFERIEBHRMD
BEHHOT -

Price per Share

repurchased BREXK Aggregate

by the Company Highest Lowest consideration

Month of repurchases PN T paid

E1RE A 4 HR BB &5 RIE B ENRE

HK$ HK$ HK$

AT T AT

January 2024 24,390,000 2.94 2.62 68,346,255.20

20241 A

December 2024 2,860,000 3.81 3.62 10,665,875.81

2024 12 A

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed
securities (including sale of treasury shares, if any). As at 31 December
2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

B Bt B FESN - AR B S E A B R AR
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners.

POTENTIAL COMPETING BUSINESSES

Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza Property Management
Company Limited (“Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza")

As at 31 December 2024, Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza is
indirectly owned by Greentown Holdings (which is indirectly owned by
Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian and Ms. Xia Yibo as to 40%, 39%
and 21%, respectively) as to 75.875%. Zhejiang Greentown Century
Plaza is engaged in the business of property management, housing and
building facilities maintenance and repair, the provision of gardening
services, cleaning services, home services, renovation services and
parking services. The business operated by Zhejiang Greentown
Century Plaza is subject to a non-competition undertaking executed
by Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza in favour of our Company on 13
January 2016 (as supplemented by a confirmation letter dated 7 March
2016) (the “Century Plaza Non-Competition Undertaking”).

The management of Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza is independent
of the management of the Group and there are no overlaps. For further
details of Zhejiang Greentown Century Plaza and the Century Plaza
Non-Competition Undertaking, please refer to the Prospectus.
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Excluded Group
The below entities (the "Excluded Group”) have limited competition
with the Group, details of which are set out as follows:

Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering Company Limited
("Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering”)

As at 31 December 2024, Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering
is a company established under the laws of the PRC in September
2005 and owned as to 50% by Hangzhou Dangui Investment Company
Limited ("Hangzhou Dangui Investment”) and 50% by Hangzhou
Guangri Elevator Engineering Co., Ltd., an independent third party.
Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering is engaged in the business
of elevator repair and maintenance services as well as carrying out
actual repair work. Our Group's property management services relating
to elevators are limited to regular inspection of the normal operation
of elevators and supervision of maintenance and repair work relating
to elevators. The management of Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator
Engineering is independent of the management of the Group and
there are no overlaps.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition undertakings entered
into amongst Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian, Ms. Xia Yibo,
Osmanthus Garden Investment, Lily International Investment,
Shenalan International Investment and Orchid Garden Investment (the
“"Covenantors”) on 13 June 2016 (the “Deed of Non-competition”),
each of the Covenantors has irrevocably and unconditionally
undertaken, jointly and severally, with the Company that he/she/
it shall not, and shall procure that its/his/her associates (other than
members of the Group) shall not directly carry on, engage in, invest in,
participate in, attempt to participate in, render any services to, provide
any financial support to or otherwise be involved in or interested in,
whether alone or jointly with another person and whether directly or
indirectly or on behalf of or to assist or act in concert with any other
person, any business or investment activities in the PRC and Hong
Kong which is the same as, similar to or in competition or likely to be
in competition with the business carried on or contemplated to be
carried on by any member of the Group from time to time.

For details of the Deed of Non-competition, please refer to the
Prospectus.

The Company has received confirmations from the controlling
Shareholders confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition during the Reporting Period for disclosure in this annual
report.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance with the Deed of Non-competition during the Reporting
Period based on the information and confirmation provided by or
obtained from the controlling Shareholders, and were satisfied that the
controlling Shareholders have duly complied with the Deed of Non-
competition.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had
any interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following parties are our connected persons.

1. Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering

Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering, a company
established in the PRC with limited liability, is principally engaged
in the provision of elevator maintenance services in the PRC,
which is held as to 50% by Hangzhou Dangui Investment (with
51% of its equity interest being held by Greentown Holdings
(which is indirectly owned as to 40%, 39% and 21% by Mr. Song
Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian and Ms. Xia Yibo, respectively), and
the remaining 49% equity interest being held by Hangzhou Zigui
Investment Co., Ltd. (FT /N &£ & B R A 7l), which is held as
to 100% by Ms. Li Haifang (Z/875) (a family member of Ms. Li
Hairong)). Therefore, Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering
is an associate of Mr. Song Weiping, Mr. Shou Bainian, Ms. Xia
Yibo and Ms. Li Hairong and hence a connected person of the
Company.
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2. Zhejiang Lansong Supply Chain Management Company
Limited (“Lansong Supply Chain")
Lansong Supply Chain is held as to 35.19%, 33.78% and 31.03%
by Zhejiang Greentown Community Business Group Co.,Ltd. (}f
LA AT (2 7 2 S B B BR A7) (a subsidiary of the Company),
Bluetown Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. (53t B ¥Rl H
R 2 A]) (“Bluetown Agricultural Technology”) and Hangzhou
Chenfeng Agricultural Development Co., Ltd. (1)1 2 &
B¥% BEAEMRAQA) (formerly known as Ningbo Chenfeng
Agricultural Development Co.,Ltd. (BEFEEREERBFR A
Al)), respectively. Bluetown Agricultural Technology is indirectly
wholly-owned by Bluetown China Holdings Limited (“Bluetown
China Holdings”), which is in turn wholly-owned by Delta House
Limited, whereas Delta House Limited is wholly-owned by Mr.
Song Weiping. Mr. Song Weiping, through his wholly-owned
company Osmanthus Garden Investment, is indirectly interested
in 40% of Orchid Garden Investment, a controlling Shareholder
which holds approximately 32.24% of the total issued share
capital of the Company. Mr. Song Weiping is also the spouse of
Ms. Xia Yibo, a non-executive Director. Lansong Supply Chain
is therefore an associate of Mr. Song Weiping and hence a
connected person of the Company.

The Group has entered into a number of continuing connected
transactions with its connected persons in the ordinary and usual
course of business, which are subject to the reporting, annual review
and announcement requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules:

1. Provision of Elevator Maintenance Services by Zhejiang
Gelingtong Elevator Engineering to our Group
We engage the elevator maintenance services of Zhejiang
Gelingtong Elevator Engineering in the ordinary course of our
business.
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Details of the transaction

On 10 June 2016, Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering entered
into an elevator maintenance services framework agreement with the
Group, and renewed on 28 December 2018 and 31 December 2021
respectively. Pursuant to the renewed elevator maintenance services
framework agreement (the "New Elevator Maintenance Services
Framework Agreement”) on 31 December 2021, Zhejiang Gelingtong
Elevator Engineering agreed to provide elevator maintenance services,
including but not limited to providing elevator inspections, safety
maintenance, and repair services to our Group for the properties
projects managed by our Group (“Elevator Maintenance Services”),
for a term commenced from 1 January 2022 until 31 December 2024.
For details, please refer to Company’s announcements dated 31
December 2021 and 10 February 2022.

Consideration

The fees charged for the Elevator Maintenance Services provided
by Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering to our Group was
determined based on (i) cost of raw materials and wages needed for
carrying out the Elevator Maintenance Services; and (i) the comparison
of the fee quote provided by Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering
to our Group with the fee quotes provided by other independent third
party elevator maintenance companies engaged by our Group for its
other property management projects. When comparing the fee quotes,
our Group considered factors including the price, scope of services
and the efficiency and ability of the service providers to perform such
services in a timely manner. The New Elevator Maintenance Services
Framework Agreement was entered into on normal commercial terms.

Annual caps

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual fee payable by our
Group in relation to the Elevator Maintenance Services to be provided
by Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering under the New Elevator
Maintenance Services Framework Agreement for each of the three
years ended 31 December 2024 would not exceed RMB17,056,943,
RMB18,592,068 and RMB20,265,354, respectively.

GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

IR ERER LREEREENR2016F6 A
10BFT . ERERBIELRGZE  LE D7
MR2018F 12 A28 A K& 2021F 12 A31 H# 1T
EE-IRE2021F12A3MBEEENTE
HERBER DR ((FHEREERBELY
B OMIKBERESHIEREMAEBIRE
HEMEERT  BREETREREAEEE
ENYEBEEREEHRE T2HEUR
wiER® ((EHEERLE]) - FHBE20224F
1A1THEZE2024F 12831 H1E - 55153

NAT HEA2021E12 A31 B K 202242 A
10082 RE -

RE

MITHRBRER TRAOAEERENER
MERGMEMEOERDIZO)ETEREE
ARG PR B9 R AT R TERCA © R (i) EL BOH
TIREAREHRIRAASRERENERRE
HASEAEMYEERER ZENEME
VYE=ZNEHEERTAREHERNOERAREM
BT GEULREARER AEEZEMEAE
ZREER REGEE KRG HEBKRER
HARIRTG VR B T - #TE B 4IRS
TEZR W TR — A R RKRT AL

FELR

BEME EHE2024F12A31BIE=EF
BERE  REESNIREBSELRIRH
BHEERGEEGZBIRENSHEZER
BEMNFESGSERSITSBBARE
17,056,943 7C + A R # 18,592,068 7T &2 A R ¥
20,265,354 7T °



Report of Directors

EEERE

HE2024F 12831 BILFE  AEBREMT

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fee paid by the Group for
the Elevator Maintenance Services provided by Zhejiang Gelingtong
Elevator Engineering amounted to RMB11,675,382, and the payment
for the same period last year was RMB11,990,569 .

As the applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules (other
than the profits ratio) in respect of the annual caps of the Elevator
Maintenance Services provided by Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator
Engineering to the Group are more than 0.1% but less than 5%,
the transactions under the New Elevator Maintenance Services
Framework Agreement are subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements, but are exempted from the independent
Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

2. Services provided by Lansong Supply Chain to the
Group
We receive the goods supply service provided by Lansong
Supply Chain to the Group in the ordinary course of business.

Details of the transaction

On 10 January 2017, Greentown Property Management, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the sales
framework agreement (the “Sales Framework Agreement”) with
Lansong Supply Chain and renewed on 31 December 2019 and
29 December 2022, respectively.

According to the renewed Sales Framework Agreement dated
29 December 2022 (the “2022 Sales Framework Agreement”),
Lansong Supply Chain agreed to supply various agricultural
goods and products, including but not limited to fresh agricultural
products and food, to Greentown Property Management and/or
its subsidiaries, for three years commenced from 1 January 2023
and ending on 31 December 2025. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 29 December 2022.
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Consideration KE

The price for the goods to be supplied under the 2022 Sales 202 FHEERBER THEERNE
Framework Agreement shall be determined principally by arm'’s B FERBRBITNTREATAER
length commercial negotiations, based on the prevailing market AFE BN THEERKRRTMEET
prices and in accordance with the principles of fairness and EhEg2EMT

reasonableness between the relevant parties with reference to
the following:

()  the wholesale prices or retail prices of relevant products () B=FEREUTRE QM)A H
published from time to time on third-party pricing websites EmEENTEE (BEIN
(including the “Zhejiang Grain and Qil Trading Website” TRER @] - IMMNHRET
and "Hangzhou Vegetable Basket Website”); I

(i)  the average retail prices of related products sold in the i)y AIMNERHEEERBED ML
China Resources Vanguard Supermarket, Century Lianhua SERRT RoKIER T H EAEE
Supermarket and Yonghui Supermarket in Hangzhou mEEEMNTHE: Rk
region; and

(i)  the purchasing costs of such goods from time to time and (i) EBEMEHEEFRER202FHERE
the operation costs (including packaging, processing and EREMZINERY & H
distribution costs) incurred by Lansong Supply Chain for Bt B N B T B E A Y
supplying goods to Greentown Property Management ZEEMMEBA AR EENR
and/or its subsidiaries under the 2022 Sales Framework (BERE BERIEXAE) -
Agreement.
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Annual caps

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual amount
payable by the Group to Lansong Supply Chain for each of the
three years ended/ending 31 December 2025 would not exceed
RMB24,150,000, RMB27,800,000 and RMB32,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the amount payable by
the Group in respect of the goods supplied by Lansong Supply
Chain was RMB23,051,890 and the payment for the same period
last year was RMB13,247,745.

As the applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules
(other than the profits ratio) in respect of the annual caps for the
goods supply service provided to the Group by Lansong Supply
Chain are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the transactions
under the 2022 Sales Framework Agreement are subject to the
reporting, annual review and announcement requirements, but
are exempted from the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The internal control measures adopted by the Company in
relation to all continuing connected transactions are as follows:

(@) before entering into any specific agreement or conducting
any transaction contemplated under an agreement for
continuing connected transactions, the internal control unit
of the Group comprising personnel from various business
departments and functional departments (the “Internal
Control Unit”) would review the proposed terms thereof to
ensure consistency with those of the governing framework
agreement and compliance with the applicable pricing
policies, and approve the same as appropriate;

(b) the Internal Control Unit is responsible for closely
monitoring the volume of individual connected transactions
and, before entering into any new transaction, confirming
whether there are still sufficient unused annual caps for
carrying out additional transactions under the respective
governing framework agreement(s). If it is anticipated
that the annual caps may be exceeded, it would take all
appropriate steps in advance to comply with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules, such as seeking to
revise the relevant annual caps;
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regular researches are conducted to assess the prices
charged and payment terms offered by or to independent
third parties to keep abreast with the prevailing terms
in the market and the market conditions, so as to assess
continuously whether the fees charged and payment terms
set for specific transactions are fair and reasonable;

regular internal reviews are conducted to assess whether
the continuing connected transactions of the Group are
being transacted or conducted:

(i) in accordance with the terms of the respective
governing framework agreement(s) and applicable
pricing policies;

(i) on normal commercial terms and on terms no less
favourable to the Company compared to those
offered by or to independent third parties; and

(i) taking into account the aggregate transaction
amounts, within the applicable annual cap(s); and

the independent non-executive Directors shall review the
Internal Control Unit’s reports on the transactions during
each reporting period on an annual basis in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the view that the Company's internal control
measures are adequate and effective to ensure that transactions

are so conducted. The Directors also confirm that the Company

has followed the policies and guidelines set out in the Guidance
Letter (HKEx-GL73-14) when determining the price and terms of
the transactions conducted during the reporting year.
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During the Reporting Period, the independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor (the “Auditor”) was engaged to report
on the Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) "Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor
has issued its letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules:

1. nothing has come to their attention that causes the
Auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that
causes the Auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

3. nothing has come to their attention that causes the
Auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and
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4. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come
to their attention that causes the Auditor to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

The financial performance of MAG

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
29 March 2019, 11 April 2019 and 5 July 2019 respectively, in relation
to, among other things, the Group's acquisition of approximately 56%
equity interest in MAG held by the vendor. Pursuant to the shareholder
deed between the Group and the vendor, the parties have set targets
for MAG's cumulative EBITDA (the “Target Cumulative EBITDA") for
the five financial years from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2023 (the
“Cumulative EBITDA Period”) and agreed on the relevant claw-back
and earn-out mechanisms.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.63(3) of the Listing Rules, the Company is required
to disclose in the 2024 annual report whether the actual performance
of MAG will trigger the claw-back or earn-out mechanisms.

According to the independent third party’s report on the cumulative
EBITDA achieved by MAG during the Cumulative EBITDA Period, the
actual cumulative EBITDA of AUD83,506,280 has exceeded 90% of the
Target Cumulative EBITDA, but is less than 110%. Therefore, it does
not trigger the claw-back and earn-out mechanism.

Immediately following completion of the Disposal, the Group held
an equity interest of approximately 35% of the issued share capital of
MAG and MAG ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. For details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 8 November
2024, 16 December 2024 and 9 January 2025, respectively.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 36 to
the financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction (as defined in the Listing Rules) which is subject to
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, except for the transactions described in the paragraphs headed
“Connect transaction in relation to acquisition of 25% equity interest
in Hangzhou Jiancheng Assets Management Company Limited”,
“Connect transaction in relation to the disposal of equity interest in
MAG” and “Continuing Connected Transactions”, in respect of which
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied with.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period,
the Company had no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which fell to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed "CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in this Report of Directors, during the Reporting
Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered
into any contract of significance or material contract with the
controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any of its
subsidiaries, and there is no entering into of any material contract in
respect of the services provided by the controlling Shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MAJOR EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF
THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as the matters disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements, no
other significant events which have an impact on the Company have
occurred after the end of the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company maintained liability insurance during the year of 2024
and is currently maintaining liability insurance for Directors and
senior management (being the liability insurance for Directors and
senior management and prospectus liability insurance) to provide the
appropriate coverage for the Directors and senior management of the
Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management and
external Auditor, reviewed the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 102 to 124 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company'’s total
issued Shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing
Rules, was held by the public at all times during the Reporting Period
and as of the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The Auditor has not changed in the past three years. KPMG was
appointed as the Auditor for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs have been audited by KPMG.

KPMG shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will
offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
KPMG as the Auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Zhangfa
Chairman

21 March 2025

* For identification purposes only
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions under the CG Code,
and has adopted most of the recommended best practices set out in
the CG Code. The Company will continue to review and monitor its
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG

Code.

The Board has formulated and adopted guidelines, policies and
procedures such as the code of conduct regarding the securities
transactions by the Directors, terms of reference for Board committees,
board diversity policy and shareholders’ communication policy to
support the Group's corporate governance framework. These policies
and procedures enable the Company to follow and apply the principles
of the CG Code. These documents are reviewed from time to time by
the Board and the relevant Board committees and are updated in line
with the applicable legislations and rules as well as the current market
practices.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board leads to establish, promote and continually reinforce the
desired corporate culture of the Company which is underpinned by
our corporate values of committing highest standard of business ethics
and integrity. Our sound corporate culture reaches all levels of the
Group, and aligns with the Company’s mission, corporate values and
strategies.

For detailed information about the Company’s mission, corporate
values and strategies, please refer to the ESG Report of the Company
and the session headed “Join us — Culture of the Company” on the
Company's website.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors its business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the
senior management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company's affairs, the Board has established three Board committees
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (each a “Board Committee” and, together,
the "Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations and act in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect
of legal actions against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises two executive
Directors, four non-executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman)

Ms. Jin Keli

Mr. Chen Hao (Resigned on 24 February 2025)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Shou Bainian

Ms. Xia Yibo

Ms. Li Hairong

Mr. Song Hailin (Appointed on 24 February 2025)
Mr. Liu Xingwei (Resigned on 24 February 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok

Mr. Wong Ka Yi

Mr. Li Feng

Mr. Jia Shenghua

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has, at all times,
met the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Mr. Song Hailin,
who was appointed as a non-executive Director on 24 February 2025,
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D on 18 February
2025, and confirmed that he understood his obligation as a Director.

The Company believes that the diversity of the Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining
the composition of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms of,
amongst other things, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board appointments
will be based on merits and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of the diversity of
the Board. The Board diversity policy is summarized below:

The Company attaches great importance to the gender diversity of
the Board: the proportion of female Directors now reaches 30% of
the total directorship, which is in line with and higher than the ratio of
most listed companies. As to gender diversity, the Company targets to
maintain the level of female representation on the Board that is no less
than the average level in the industry. The Company has taken steps
to promote gender diversity at each level, including but not limited
to the Board and senior management, by taking into account gender
diversity factors in the recruitment process, and to develop a pipeline
of female mid to senior level management so as to develop a pipeline
of potential successors to the Board.

The Board includes Directors with diverse backgrounds: executive
Directors have extensive industry management experience and are
in charge of the principal businesses of the Company; non-executive
Directors are highly experienced in corporate management, hence
they are able to provide effective recommendations on the Company's
operation and development; independent non-executive Directors
have experience in the property management industry, investment,
finance, corporate governance and the international market.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company
considers all of them to be independent parties.
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Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report,
none of the Directors have any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships)
with any other Director and chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Board Committees.

Given the strong independent element on the Board composition,
independent views and inputs are always available to the Board no
matter through formal or informal channels. The Chairman of the Board
promotes a culture of openness and constructive relations between
independent non-executive Directors and other Directors to facilitate
effective contribution of independent non-executive Directors for
independent views and inputs. The Chairman of the Board also holds
separate meetings with independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors at least once a year. Independent
professional advice is sought when necessary or as required by
Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
composition and is satisfied with the independence and diversity policy
of the Board.

As regards code provision C.1.5 of the CG Code, which requires each
director to disclose the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments, the
identity of the public companies or organizations and an indication of
the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose
their commitments and any subsequent changes to the Company in a
timely manner.

GENDER DIVERSITY ACROSS THE WORKFORCE

The Group maintains gender diversity in relation to employees of the
Group. Under the recruitment process of the Group, a candidate will
be appraised based on his/her qualifications, working experience, skills
and competence rather than his/her gender. As of 31 December 2024,
the number of female employees (including senior management) of the
Group is approximately 48.6% of the total number of employees of the
Group, and the Group will strive to maintain it.

The Group will continue to strengthen the gender diversity across the
workforce and to maintain the orderly and healthy development of the
Group.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with the necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses, as well as his/her
responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide the Directors
with updates on the latest developments and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time
to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated
and provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions
and duties of a Director. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
all Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development trainings and provided the Company with their records of
the trainings they received. These trainings included reading regulatory
updates, attending seminars and exchanging views.
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Continuous Professional
Development Training
BREEERREE
Reading or attending briefings
and/or seminars and/or
conferences relevant to
regulatory and governance updates

MERHLEREERER
Name of Director BNEREBENEERER R
BEsps HER/REH
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman) BEEEE(EE) YesB
Ms. Jin Keli eMEZL YesH
Mr. Chen Hao (Resigned on 24 February 2025) BRI A (2025 2 A 24 HEHT) YesB
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Shou Bainian SMERE Yes &
Ms. Xia Yibo E—Rut YesH
Ms. Li Hairong FERLT YesH
Mr. Song Hailin (Appointed on 24 February 2025)  R/&M5t A& (R 20252 A 24 REZE ) YesB
Mr. Liu Xingwei (Resigned on 24 February 2025) 28L& 5% 4 (R 20254 2 A 24 B EHE) YesH
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok ERRE K & Yes
Mr. Wong Ka Yi BERELE YesH
Mr. Li Feng FEEE YesH
Mr. Jia Shenghua BEHEELE YesB
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The Chairman of the Board and the CEO are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Yang Zhangfa and Ms. Jin Keli, respectively,
with clear distinction in responsibilities. The Chairman of the Board
is responsible for providing strategic advice and guidance on the
business development of the Group, while the CEO is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Appointment Letters

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years, which is renewable automatically
for successive terms subject to termination as provided in the service
contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years, which may be renewable automatically subject to
both parties’ agreement.

None of the Directors has a service contract or an appointment letter
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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Board meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
propose matters for the agenda of the regular Board meetings.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board also
held meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period in
compliance with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given by the Company. The agenda and accompanying
meeting papers are dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee
members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the papers and are adequately prepared
for the meetings. When the Directors or Board Committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters
to be discussed and be given an opportunity to make their views
known to the Chairman of the Board prior to the meeting. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company, with
copies circulated to all Directors for their information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the meeting is held. Minutes of the
Board meetings are open for inspection by the Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, five Board meetings and one annual MRBEHA EFSERITANEETL L
general meeting were held. The attendance of each Director at these I—XBRRBAFAL  FAESHFEZES

meetings is set out in the table below: EHBEREN T
Number of
Number of general
Board meetings meeting
attended/eligible ~  attended/eligible
Directors to attend to attend
BitiR/ Bt/
EHEESS FEHE R R
Bz R VS XEREY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yang Zhangfa (Chairman) BEEEE(EE) 5/5 1”1
Ms. Jin Keli THMERL 5/5 11
Mr. Chen Hao (Resigned on 24 February 2025) BR& A (R 20252 A24 HEHE) 5/5 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Shou Bainian SHELE 5/5 11
Ms. Xia Yibo E-Rzt 5/5 11
Ms. Li Hairong FERLL 5/5 171
Mr. Song Hailin (Appointed on 24 February 2025) R4 (7220256 2 A 24 HEZT) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Liu Xingwei (Resigned on 24 February 2025) 2|8 {& 5 4 (R 20254 2 A 24 B EHT) 5/5 7
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok ARBE L 5/5 11
Mr. Wong Ka Yi BERELE 5/5 11
Mr. Li Feng ENE 5/5 171
Mr. Jia Shenghua BAELE 5/5 11
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Specific enquiry has been made to all
Directors and each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the provisions set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters. The Directors have
recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the executive Directors and the senior management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by
the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions being entered into by the management of the
Company.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(@) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the Directors and the
employees of the Group;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
and report to the Board on related matters; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprised four
members, namely Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman), Mr. Wong Ka i,
Mr. Li Feng and Mr. Jia Shenghua. All of them are independent non-
executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1. to review the relationship with the Auditor by reference to
the work performed by the Auditor, their fees, and terms of
engagement and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the Auditor;

2. to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the Auditor before submission to the
Board; and

3. to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
financial reporting system, internal control and risk management
system, and the associated procedures, including the adequacy
of the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, three meetings of the
Audit Committee were held to discuss and consider the following key
matters:

J to review the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2023;

J to review the interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

o to review the Auditor’s report in relation to the audit plan and
strategy of the Group;

J to review the ESG response strategy under the revised Listing
Rules and the annual ESG report; and
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o to review the financial reporting system, compliance procedure,
internal control (including the Company's internal control of
corruption risks and the handling and identification of business
conflict of substantial shareholders in listed companies), risk
management system and procedures, and re-appointment
of external Auditor. The Board did not deviate from the
recommendations of the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external Auditor.

The attendance of each Audit Committee member is set out in the

o HUBREBERS AaREF ABEE
(BREAR R E R E A BT H &
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BRIEEFHE)  EREERMRIERF
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& e
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table below: T
Number of
meetings
attended/eligible
Directors to attend
X177
5= EHESZRRH
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman) ERE S E (FF) 3/3
Mr. Wong Ka Yi BERELE 3/3
Mr. Li Feng R &4 3/3
Mr. Jia Shenghua EHEELEYE 3/3

Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprised four
members, namely Mr. Wong Ka Yi (Chairman), Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok,
Mr. Li Feng and Mr. Jia Shenghua. All of them are independent non-
executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company's corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on

the selection of individuals nominated for directorship;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;
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4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the CEO; and

5. toreview the Board diversity policy.

The Nomination Committee assesses candidates or incumbents on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skills, and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision.

Nomination Policy

For an optimal composition of the Board with sustainability, the
nomination will be in pursuit of a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives in the Board appropriate to the requirements
of the Company's business as well as succession continuity.

The criteria listed below will be used as reference in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate:

J Character and integrity

J Skills, knowledge and experience relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy

J Willingness and availability to dedicate sufficient time and
attention to ensure the diligent performance of Directors’ duties
in concurrence with his/her other major appointments and
significant commitments

J Attributes enhancing the Board diversity in line with the Board
diversity policy

o Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company'’s business

° Requirements in respect of independent non-executive Directors
under the Listing Rules and whether the candidate would be
considered independent with reference to the independence
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules
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For appointment of new Director, the Nomination Committee as
delegated by the Board shall identify and evaluate candidate based
on the criteria set out above to determine whether the candidate is
qualified for directorship. If the candidate is considered qualified,
the Nomination Committee shall recommend to the Board for
consideration and the Board, if considered appropriate, shall approve
the appointment of the proposed candidate as a new Director.

For re-election of Director at general meeting, the Nomination
Committee as delegated by the Board shall review the contribution
made by the retiring Director and whether he/she can continue to fulfill
his/her role as required with reference to the criteria set out above. The
Board shall then, under advice of the Nomination Committee, make
recommendation to the Shareholders for the proposed re-election of
Director(s) at the general meeting.

For any candidate (other than a retiring Director) nominated by the
Board or Shareholder(s) to stand for election as a Director at the
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee shall,
upon receipt of the proposal of nomination and the biographical
information of the candidate, evaluate his/her suitability based on
the same criteria as set out above. The Board, under the advice of
the Nomination Committee, may make recommendation to the
Shareholders on their voting to the proposed election in the relevant
announcement and/or circular to Shareholders.

The Nomination Committee will review the director nomination policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting of the
Nomination Committee was held to review the structure, composition,
size and diversity of the Board and relevant recommendations were
made to the Board, which included the re-election of retiring Directors.
The summary and progress on achieving objectives of the Board
diversity policy are disclosed on page 104 of this annual report.
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The attendance of each Nomination Committee member is set outin SR ELEZEEXKELRELXSHMNBERENT

the table below: =

Number of
meetings
attended/eligible
Directors to attend
EHE FEHE
= BEAH
Mr. Wong Ka Yi (Chairman) EEENE(EE) 1/
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok EIRBE A 11
Mr. Li Feng FR %4 1/1
Mr. Jia Shenghua BEESRYE 1/1

Remuneration Committee FMEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprised four 72202412 A31H * HFZESHNEKE
members, namely Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman), Mr. Wong Ka Vi, #Hk - BVEBBLE (EFE) E=2HA £
Mr. Li Feng and Mr. Jia Shenghua. All of them are independent non-  FREEREEFELE  BEZLABLIE
executive Directors. HWITES -

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the FHMZESENEZRENT :

following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s 1.
overall policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

2. to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes 2.
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

3. to review and approve the management’s remuneration 3.
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
determined by the Board;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 4.
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including but not limited to benefits in kind,
pension rights, and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

5. to assess the performance of the executive Directors and approve 5.
the terms of their service contracts;
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6. FEMITERNFHAERSROES:

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held to discuss and consider the
following matters:

to review and discuss the initial grant under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme;

the remuneration policy of the Company and its subsidiaries;

the remuneration of the Directors and senior managements and
proposed adjustment to the Board; and

the share schemes of the Company and its subsidiary and their
implementation.
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Al M B R A e AN SR A EL Al 2 ] RO B
ffF

8. WMHRHEANTEFRERSEER
78 5K AR 1 BB o 2 A /B A O B
8 AR B B R A K R — B
ERERANGR—B BESAAT
A% THBS

9. I RHERERTR/KREMERSLE
PEBESZMY MM ELE - LR
RETHEANGK B BREHES
WIGR -8 ARERETAECEEE
K

10. MERTAESHETAHBEA RIEELE
MHRANER) G TS EETEI -

FWELEeNEmBEEERBIAEAR

AL A ER] -

HE2024FE12A3MBILEEN  FHEES

BET—kez UHEEBEUTREA :

o ERHIKFTim2023 FREMEETEI T A & Ef
BF

o ARFIREMEBRAB K FIEE

s EX SAEEEZHM IREFE
RHUARZE X

ARE) N E B AR Z B et & R E
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The attendance of each Remuneration Committee member is set out ZBHMEZESKELFEZLEMNBRETRT
in the table below: B

Number of
meeting
attended/eligible
Directors to attend
BHE/
= EHESERE
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok (Chairman) ERELEE (FE) 11
Mr. Wong Ka Vi EREEYE 1/1
Mr. Li Feng EE e 1/1
Mr. Jia Shenghua BEHEELYE 1/1
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Company is determined by reference to the Group’s remuneration
policies and based on the role and responsibilities of the Group, the
performance and contribution during the year, the overall performance
of the Group, the economic environment and market trends at the
time.

Details of the remuneration by band of the Directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on pages
571 to 60 of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB)

EESREREERENHMH
EERARFGREEBOFTFH HE2E
AEENFHBRREREEARANEE ZA
EBrBE FARALER AEEOHER
RE ERNKLERELATSBEET -

HZE2024F12A3MBIEFE - EERARNFA
BREEE HEZEESRAFRESE
FEFEOE)MMSERFTINWT -

Number of individuals

HEER(ARME) AE
0-2,500,000 10
2,500,001-4,500,000 3

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

The management of the Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 125 to 136 of this annual
report.

%EEE@EM%*&%E’QE?H%EF&&E

EEHAREARAEARAEE2024F12A
NBLEFENMBHREANEE  UEEQT
b B2 R AN 2 R) R AN 5= [ AR OR DA B AN SR [ B
XELHAERE -

ARBEEECHESSRELENEER
AR REESRERETESSRHANN
NEF B IRAAETT RIS

EFEYTAE R A EERECLHER
A5 P 0 1 SRR A B 1 £ 1 A T
EEE-

R EAHARRGE M BHRNBR

BEFHANBRAFRANFHRF125AE 1368
B8 S AR BUET $R 1 -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound risk
management (including environmental, social and governance risk) and
internal control system is established and maintained within the Group,
as well as its responsibility to review its effectiveness. Such system
aims to manage and reduce the business risks faced by the Group to
an acceptable extent, but not eliminate the risks of failure to achieve
business objectives. Moreover, it can only provide reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Board has authorized the Audit Committee to take charge of the
on-going monitoring of the Group's risk management and internal
control system, as well as the annual review of its effectiveness. Such
review covers all material control aspects, including financial control,
operation control, and compliance control.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure,
the management is responsible for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of the risk management and internal control system,
thereby ensuring, in particular, (i) appropriate policies and procedures
are designed and established to safeguard the Group's assets from
misappropriation or disposal; (i) compliance with any relevant laws,
regulations or rules; and (iii) reliable financial and accounting records
are kept properly in accordance with the relevant auditing standards
and regulatory reports.

The key features of the Company’s risk management and internal
control structure include: (i) designated departments are responsible
for the implementation and execution of the Company’s risk
management and internal control system and heads of major operating
units or departments are in charge of the management and mitigation
of identified risks; (i) the management ensures appropriate measures
have been taken in relation to significant risks that may affect the
Group's business and operation; and (iii) the internal auditor provides
independent confirmation to the Board, the Audit Committee and the
management on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control.
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FEHRESHA - AR E R K& A AR E
ETBTHRBHE:

During the Reporting Period, the Company’s main duties on risk
management and internal control include:

each of the major operating units and departments carried out
daily risk management activities, which included identifying
significant risks that may affect the Group's results, assessing
and evaluating significant risks identified based on their impacts
and possibilities of occurrence, formulating plans for and
implementing measures, control and emergency response plans
to manage and reduce such risks;

the management and finance department monitored and
reviewed the risk management and internal control system on an
ongoing basis and reported to the Audit Committee on its status;

the management regularly followed up and reviewed the
measures, control and emergency response plans in place for
the significant risks identified and built security risk management,
classification of risk prevention and control of double prevention
mechanisms, so as to ensure sufficient attention, monitoring and
response is given to such risks;

the management regularly reviewed the risk management and
internal control system for the purpose of identifying deficiencies
in the procedures and control function and designed and
implemented rectification for such deficiencies;

the management ensured the normal functioning of the
appropriate procedures and measures, such as making sure
there is no unauthorized use or disposition of assets, controlling
capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting records
and ensuring the reliability of financial information for business
operation and public disclosure; and

built and improved the safety protection system of the Company,
enhanced the safety protection ability of the area in the service
scope, maintained the safety of lives and properties of the owners
and staffs, and ensured that the Company operates orderly.

BEERELEMNFMIEERTERR
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The Company focuses on clients’ documents and supplier relationship
management. For clients’ information, the Company collects, uses
and protects the clients’ information, in compliance with the laws
related to information security protection, and the information security
management system of the Company. For supplier relationship
management, by public bidding, batch purchase, vendor assessment,
and other forms, the Company strictly controls the supplier selection,
quality of products and services, to make sure that cost control is
suitable and the quality of products and services is assured in the
meantime, with a further improvement of our overall competitive
advantage.

To ensure that the information was transmitted successfully, the
internal communication system has been continuously improved.
Risk control measures have been landed to help the management in
decision- making with timely and accurate feedbacks.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s ESG working group is
mainly responsible for the Group’s ESG review and risk assessment/
implementation. The working group is responsible for formulating
relevant management policies and specific measures, implementing
sustainable development policies determined by the Board and/or the
Audit Committee, and regularly reporting on the Group's ESG work.

The internal audit function monitors the Company’s internal
governance and provides independent confirmation on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system.
The chief executives in charge of the internal audit function report
directly to the Audit Committee, submit the internal audit report to
the Audit Committee based on the auditing plan as approved by the
Board, and report the results of the internal audit to all Directors.
During the Reporting Period, the internal audit function performed
analysis and evaluation on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal control system; in particular,
it inspected the documents in relation to risks, prepared by operating
units and the management, and interviewed staff members at all levels.
The chief executives in charge of the internal audit function attended
the meeting of the Audit Committee, explained the results of the
internal audit and answered questions raised by the Audit Committee.

120 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ARBIBEPEMRHEHBEERE -3
EFEMTE ARARRBRAMBEML 2R
ELEBMERARRAIFEZEELEEE
B ETEFEMNRSE EHRRE B
HEDBEEREE I EH BEARAERE HE
RE - HERNFREEARBIEEHRER
MEEE EmMRHmENER  ARBERMNK
AERBERE  EmERGmEEMEINA
R WE—FRAARDNBERIES -

TERZERARABEMBBES - AHERE
AEEIEE - BRAERIZE SRR T AT
E o BEMA R EROEEAQFE
BREAFORE -

RIBERA  AEMESG T/ MVA - TBA
BB ESGH M R AR, 1T LI -
T MARE HIERNERERE R AR -
EENTHERSR/RBREBGRTEN
TRERERRE TR BRAEEESGTH
TR -

NHBEZNEEEARARANAEES - BY
[\ B % B2 e P P AR 1 R AR O R SR M AN R R
REFEBIMHER - TERNBBEZNENSR
TRABEERNBEZZESHE  REES
BHENEZAARNERZESRIANIE
ZRE MEREERENBER TN
R-EREHA - AABEZRDEHARFN
[\ B % B2 e P P AR 1 R T O R SR M AN R R
ETTAMMFRE  BHRRE T EEEN
MEREEE BRARMBEOMT ALY
BEERETETTER TEABER®E
MERITRAB2ETERZESNEH
VREBEANDBERERIOEEREZES
TIE'E&E"]FDE]%"



Corporate Governance Report

EEERME

During the Reporting Period, the internal audit department of the
Company reported and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems to the Audit Committee every six months. The content
covers the resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions,
and their training programs and budget. The Board and the Audit
Committee reviewed the above content and were satisfied with its
effectiveness and adequacy.

The Company has established the inside information policy for fair and
timely dissemination of information to public based on applicable laws
and regulations. The chief executives authorized by the Group to take
charge of the investor relations, corporate matters and financial control
functions are responsible for ensuring and monitoring compliance
with the applicable disclosure procedures for inside information.
The relevant chief executives may access inside information on an
"as needed” basis at any time. Personnel and professionals involved
are reminded to keep inside information confidential until public
disclosure. The Company has other procedures in place to prevent
the mishandling of inside information, including prior approval of
any trading of the Company’s securities by the Directors and the
management, regular notice of black out periods, restrictions on any
securities trading by the Directors and staff and the use of codes for
project identification.

The Company has established arrangements for employees and
other stakeholders to raise concern on suspected misconduct in
financial reporting, internal control or other aspects in confidence. The
Audit Committee carries out regular reviews to ensure appropriate
arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigations and
proper actions for such matters.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The annual review included: (i)
reviewing the financial control, internal control and risk management
systems of the Company and its subsidiaries; (i) regular discussion with
chief executives at the management level on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control and the work of the internal audit
function; (iii) evaluating the scope and quality of the management's on-
going monitoring of the risk management and internal control system;
and (iv) reviewing the ESG report of the Company, evaluating related
policies and providing suggestions.
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Based on the above, the Audit Committee was not aware of any
significant issues that would adversely affect the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately as follows:

ARt BERZEEAREREFAEAR
AR E M D E e e IR K AR ) R A
B IEN MR T BT ERRE -

BREE &

MAZEENRE E2024F 12 A31 B IEFERA
SERENZHENMIIEZERB 2BOMEH
BT -

Type of Services Amount (RMB’000)

R 5 38 B SHE(ANRETT)

Annual audit services FEBETRE

Professional review services on 2024 2024 F R HRBA IS RS B B E RS 1,200
interim financial report

Professional audit services on 2024 2024 F E B S SR R BT HE R 4,200
annual financial statements

Non-audit services IEEF R 600

Total wwEt 6,000

Non-audit services mainly include: Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, Hong Kong Country-by-Country Reporting
Service, etc.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and the applicable Hong Kong laws, the
Company engages Ms. Ng Sau Mei (“Ms. Ng"), a director of the listing
services department of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial
service provider), as the company secretary of the Company. The
primary corporate contact person of Ms. Ng at the Company is Ms.
Wang Zhenyan.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Ng has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding the Group's business, performance and strategies. The
Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of the Company’s information, which will enable the
Shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the Board Committees
will attend the annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’
questions. The Auditor will also attend the annual general meetings to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the Auditor’s report, the accounting policies and Auditor’s
independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy, which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at www.lvchengfuwu.com, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy. With the above measures in place, the shareholders’
communication policy is considered to have been effectively
implemented. For detailed information about the communication
with the Shareholders, please refer to the section headed “Investor
Relationship” of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the Company for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.
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BRERREINAEREEZESR

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals

The Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition;and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move a
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Written requisitions to the Board and the company secretary of the
Company shall be sent to ir@lvchengfuwu.com.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the Company via
email (email address: ir@lvchengfuwu.com).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no change in the
Articles of Association.
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KPMG

Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of Greentown Service Group Co. Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Greentown
Service Group Co. Ltd. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 137 to 316, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS BAREITEIE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional ERBZFELRERMOEELE  RE
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ¥/ ANHIRA WIS REANBAN ZAEEMEE -
financial statements of the current period. These matters were EEFHEREARMBAEESATERER
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial HAERRBHETEEN R ToHELS
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do  TERHEERBNE R ©

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

BESRURECENFEEERE

Refer to accounting policy note 1(p), note 23 and note 34(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

BRHGEER KM T 1(0) (VBT ~ B ZE 23 R B it 34(a)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EPNBAMAEEZEE

The Key Audit Matter
HRETER

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gross trade receivables  Our audit procedures to assess the ECLs allowance
and a loss allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs") for trade receivables included the following:
amounted to RMB5,380 million and RMB537 million, ®&MIFHESEKRZEZEHEEEEBREENE
respectively. BFeE:
R2024F 12318 EXEESRKFELE RFERE

BB ((EREEEE) 2BEBEINAARKES380E o

obtaining an understanding of and evaluating

BT ARES7TAET -

The Group's trade receivables comprise mainly receivables
from property owners and property developers.
EXEENEIRERBETZORETIRMEERBNEY

A e

Management measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL of trade receivables based on the loss
patterns for different customers grouped according to the
shared credit risk characteristics, ageing of trade receivables,
historical loss rates, current economic conditions and
forward-looking information at the end of each reporting
period.
ERERTRZEFPNERENRBRELB 2 EERBRIEE
B RKFIARE - BEBRX - BEAKBERRRAIRIEE
B ERRAEBENEFRWREXKATEREES
BT HETEEERE -
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the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating
to credit control, segmentation of trade
receivables, ageing analysis review and
estimation of credit loss allowance;

TR ASREEES  EHREKREE S
Riro M REEBRBEFHGOBEEANH
EENRG - B lETARM

evaluating the Group's policy and method
for estimating the credit loss allowance with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standard;

2BV GHERNERFTE EREEE
EEBERBOBRREAE



Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

RREFETEEGE)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables (Continued)

EZREREEMEEERRE (&)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(p), note 23 and note 34(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

i D RIRE S BRI iE 1) S AT IR ~ Wit 23 K Y it 34(a)

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENETNNERZSEE

We identified the ECL allowance for trade receivables as a
key audit matter because the balance of trade receivables
is material to the Group's financial statements and the
recognition of expected credit loss is inherently subjective
and requires the exercise of significant management
judgement.

HRESRRFIENGESRY BESEVBHREAMEBEEX
ERBEEBENERAE LA IHL FTEEREE
HERHE SBEMEEZREFIBEZEREEERERE
HRARERETEE -

obtaining an understanding on the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model
adopted by management, including the basis
of segmentation of trade receivables based
on shared credit loss characteristics, historical
default data and assumptions involved in
management’s estimation of loss rate;
THRERERANBHEESEERENBRE
HERE BREBBERBZEEEHENEHET
BIRWSIASI D EE BERNEHNLE
BREMFEREEMY ROERR

assessing the appropriateness of management's
estimation of loss allowance and examining the
information used by management to derive
such estimates, including testing accuracy of the
historical default data and evaluating whether
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information;

L EEESEEREATNEELELESE
BEAGHZZHEMAMNER AR B
FEOBBENERENTHBEEBEEEAR
BREAKERALAEEERETESRHE

assessing whether items in the trade receivables
ageing report were categorised in the
appropriate ageing bracket by comparing with
the demand notes, invoices and other relevant
underlying documentation, on a sample basis;
and

FRMREMEAEERNFBNE BEER
H b AR St - HEET (2 5 e WA R
RBREANNEERESEZHEENREEAR
&

re-performing the calculation of the loss
allowance as at 31 December 2024 based on the
Group's credit loss allowance policies.

BiE ESEEEEBRRBECK EHAERN
20245F 12 A3 B EBSIERE -
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B AR S

RRFETEEGE)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of the fair value of financial instruments

EMIAQFPETMGE

Refer to accounting policy note 1(g), note 19 and note 34(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

B D RIRR S AR M i 1(9) BB AT ~ W aE 19 R Y i 34(f) »

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENETNNERZSEE

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments carried at fair value was RMB1,229
million, of which RMB141 million and RMB1,088 million were
classified under the fair value hierarchy as level 1 and level 3
financial instruments respectively.

R2024F12A31H - EXEURATFEAENERIAD
REFERAREI29EBE T ERFARBK M BEETRA
RE¥1088BETHRIABERAATESER 2E—BRRE=R
SRTE-

The valuation of the Group's financial instruments is
based on a combination of market data, valuation models
and valuation reports, if any, issued by an independent
external valuer. The above valuation results often require a
considerable number of inputs, including risk-free rate, share
price volatility, expected dividends, discount rate and market
multiples. Some of these inputs are obtained from readily
available data for liquid markets. Where such observable
data is not readily available, as in the case of level 3 financial
instruments, estimates need to be developed which can
involve significant management judgement.

EEESRIANGELDENTSER  HERE MEL
HNERIEERDPT EMEVEERS (WA)WES - LilifhES
RBEEFERERAE BEEARNEX  REK  FEH
PRE - BRI E R TISEE o A — L AMETRE TI5H
BRERDES - ML BEAIBRENTEZES  WE=R
TRIA  RIF2ETME S REANERE I -
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Our audit procedures to assess the fair value of
financial instruments included the following:

HARUFEERTANAFENTTIZEFEE

o assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal
controls over the valuation, independent price
verification and valuation model approval for
financial instruments;

AfEEeRIAME BUERRE REER
AEHOBRABEENORT  BELETAE
M

o assessing the fair value of level 1 financial
instruments, on sample basis, by comparing the
fair values applied by the Group with publicly
available market data;

FREE EEERAOQAFERENFATSE
B DL AFEE - ReRTANRQFE:

° reading investment agreements entered into
during current year, on a sample basis, to
understand the relevant investment terms
and obtaining the information related to the
valuation of financial instruments in accordance
with the terms of the agreements to evaluate
the accuracy of the information used in the
valuation;

MEHEARFER LR E WS - AT BEH
BREGH  URGREGZGERNSH TAMRL
AR E HARHEEMETE R EFERE



Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) FEEETEE(E)

Assessment of the fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

EEMITADPEFTMG @)

Refer to accounting policy note 1(g), note 19 and note 34(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

B2 E S IA AT 1(9) & EH IR ~ B 7 19 KM e 34(1) -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BREETER BMWEFNNEEZER

We have identified assessing the fair value of financial e evaluating the methodology adopted by
instruments as a key audit matter because of the degree of management and assessing the reasonableness
complexity involved in valuing certain financial instruments of the inputs and assumptions used by
and because of the degree of judgement exercised by management in the valuations of material level
management in determining the inputs used in the valuation 3 financial instruments;

models. HEEEBRANS L LFHEREBEEAXN
EZRIHETERIAGENEMREEANEREREE WE=ATRIAGEPEANEABRRR
HEREMAGAERELIOHEBREE  RMEES/T eI

B R FEN A RERESSE-

o obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by
the Group in the valuation of material level
3 financial instruments, if any, on which the
directors’ assessments of the fair value of these
financial instruments were based;

MGt inEh EXEZRIIBHEMBEER
WE=FReBITA (WA HEMRENEER
T EFRBUFRLFSRITANQTE:

. assessing the external valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considering their
objectivity and independence;

R SNER A ERT R EE  EBR R EERME - I
ZRHAZEHM LB
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B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) FEEETEE(E)

Assessment of the fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

EEMITADPEFTMG ()

Refer to accounting policy note 1(g), note 19 and note 34(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

BLEG A IREZN G 109 WK ~ AL 19 &I #3400 -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRETEE BMPHETNMEEZSE

o assessing the valuation methodology adopted
by management and the external valuer with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards, challenging the key
assumptions and parameters adopted in the
valuation, including risk-free rate, share price
volatility, expected dividends, discount rate
and market multiples by comparing these key
assumptions and parameters with available
market data and other publicly available
information and establishing our own valuation
models to perform revaluations; and
2RBITEHENRENEEEE RINR
EMEANEERE EAFEETNEER
BRZYEABTHENLEMARERET
HEmMERUSFERRLR2H (BFEERAR
ME RERS BHRE  MBRXLTISE
) YRIYRMECHWHEELAETER
&

o assessing whether the disclosures in the financial
statements reasonably reflected the Group’s
exposure to financial instrument valuation
risk with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
2ERTEAERNER  FEMBRERFT B
BEREGAERER BEfEMERITAMGBERR -
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B AR S

RRFETEEGE)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of potential impairment of goodwiill

BB NEERENE

Refer to accounting policy note 1(f) and note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Bt & IS AR MT At 100 B9 & & LR R et 16

ﬂﬁ/

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENETNNERZSEE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of the Group's
goodwill amounted to approximately RMB435 million, which
in aggregate represented 2.46% of the Group's consolidated
total assets at the reporting date.

N2024F12A31H » EXRENHEZEEEEORSARE
BRET RBEAHEHRIE ERERSREEN246% -

These assets have been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a result of businesses
acquisitions completed in previous years.
HREEFECEREBEE ZFEECRES
SRR P HERR o

B %55k

Management assesses annually whether goodwill is
impaired by means of discounted cash flow forecasts
prepared for each cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated, on their own or with the assistance of
an independent external valuer, if considered necessary for
relevant cash-generating units.
ERESFETHEBLIINEERMORE T (R REHE
MReELEUMEBLE) BERE—ECESKHEN
ReELBURNUBRRSRERARTIHHERLLE
BAE o

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment
of goodwill included the following:

B RAHEmENE

RERNERTF S

evaluating the methodology applied by
management in the allocation of goodwill
to relevant cash-generating units and its
preparation of the discounted cash flow
forecasts with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

2RBOTGHEINER - FEEEEERH
ReEFBUNEENSERMRHEERRER

i‘ﬁ/ﬂﬂﬁvfmﬁﬁ E}]E/f ’

assessing the qualifications, experience and
expertise of the external valuer appointed by
management in assessing the impairment of
goodwill and considering their objectivity and
independence;
EEREZEMINIEEMOER ERE
BEHMR G EHENRE) KERREN
BB

discussing future operating plans with
management and evaluating the reasonableness
of the assumptions including revenue growth
and future profitability;

HEEEmARNEEE
RREBMENFHERNEEN

AHE A &
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B AR S

RRFETEEGE)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Assessment of potential impairment of goodwill (Continued)

R KB R E RS ()

Refer to accounting policy note 1(f) and note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Bt & IS AR Mt 100 B9 & & LR R MFat 16

ﬂﬁ/

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENETNNERZSEE

Management's impairment assessment involves significant
judgement, particularly in determining short and long term
revenue growth, future profitability and the discount rates
applied, all of which can be inherently uncertain.
EEEHRER G REXNHLE  FRRERERANE
HIW ISR - RIREFEN MEANBRXRTE - 28517F
FEER NHEEN o

We identified assessing potential impairment of goodwill as
a key audit matter because determining the key assumptions
used in the discounted cash flow forecasts involves a
significant degree of management judgement and may be
subject to management bias.
HREETHRBEeRERASEANEIERI S LIEE
BENEREHE WA EERRETE  QWHMIET
EEENBLEREERSBRETEER -
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performing a retrospective review by
comparing the prior year's discounted cash
flow forecast with the current year's results to
assess the reliability and historical accuracy of
management's forecasting process;

ERUL F-FENBRRRSRAMNENEE
E’J ERCETEBMIEER  URIEEEEEA

BIRR AT SE M SR L

evaluating the appropriateness of the
discount rates by benchmarking against other
comparable companies in the same industry;
FRB2WETEEMATLLER AR - FIERMIRE
MR E M

evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions
adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts
and considering the possibility of error or
management bias; and
AEEEERRERSRERARANZIRE
E|RBAETHERESN - L EBHBEHR
HERERFAEOAIEENE &

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to goodwill with
reference to the requirement of the prevailing
accounting standards.

SRBAITEENNER  FREAWHRE
TEREEME -
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B AR S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR'’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AR e B S R R I AR BT 3R 2 BA S
IRERE
EFTUHMELRE - EELRETR
REBAMH2HES BTREFLHER
KRR ZHERES -

BAEGEEMBHRRNERL MREEME
B BRATAHZEFEMEEEREATA
M E S

?ﬁﬁﬁ%’f?ﬁéﬁﬂ%i&%ﬁﬁﬁ B E T
%5&:@1@1 CHEMBRET  EREME

Eﬁiﬁ?éﬁﬁ“#&%&ﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬂkqﬂ
i%,uﬁﬁéﬂﬁEEﬁT~ HUFFEEXN
$5 AR BRI ©

ERNBMABETHIE  HERMBREMD
EELREBERERRL  RMEREEBSE
B RS BEAARENEIER -

%?ﬁ%é%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ

EXFAAERBDTEGIMASRMH(ER
MBREEN) RBE(RARGIDOKER
KEREEEMTENSEMBHRER YHE
RABEEEMBBRRNAE I FEARK
n‘FjZfEl;;‘Qﬂﬁ B E AR AR IR P 5 9 A ED
12 il °

ERBGEEMBERRN EFREFME &
SEFELENREN TEEABRATHRE
ESELEARNER UARERHELE
SEFER RIEFEFAEN EXKEEFR
HIFILEE  SRIBEBERNER TR -

ERZEeWDEFRRETEE
BREBENEE -

BERENH
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B AR S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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B AR S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

BB B R M B RRAR
WEE(E)

s HEZRAUBELKLE/EMNEZE
ERREFELER  LRESERDE
B MTESRAYE EREREAL
EORENBREARBONEHNBERSE
ERTHERE -HEMR/FEEKR
THEEF 2= - H IR Az BUAD s 12
FEAEIBRAVBERRANBEE
B SMARmET R AERT RN
ER -HAMEREENZEMBEA
IEPTERS R BERHERRE « AW - RRFEH
HIERNATREEE BEEETRERFELE -

o FHERAMBHRR(BEEHEE) MHE
Brm  RERAT  UREAH
BHREEECRAIBBER S REH -

o FERMUTEEES UH EEER
ERNEBEUNYHESERTR
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BfEMERZZESRIER HBEHMC
NeBEBLEMHBIERERER &
P BREREAEMEARETERME
VERBRBEMEMEIER  AREEBN
BRAT  RIBREE MRINTTEI A ER
B #B 4 1 o

2024 FEHRE HWRIEEEERAF

135



Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yue Tat Wai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

21 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

meBEaREt2EKER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 202412 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(AARMTTIIR)

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 %
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B3 ARET T ARETF T
Restated*
LEY|*
Continuing operations BFREREXER
Revenue WA 3(a) 17,893,473 16,812,038
Cost of sales SHE AR (14,882,110) (14,052,541)
Gross profit EF 3,011,363 2,759,497
Other revenue E b ug A 5 98,497 112,266
Other net losses E ) Ea 5 (119,655) (191,442)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEAS (346,809) (336,943)
Administrative expenses THFEX (1,158,022) (1,192,599
Expected credit losses on TRIANTEHREEERXL
financial instruments 6(c) (240,631) (201,722)
Other operating expenses HE &L (230,479) (168,201)
Profit from operations M&&x® 1,014,264 780,856
Finance income BE WA 94,549 82,611
Finance costs A B AN (38,198) (36,515)
Net finance income = BAEKAR®E @ 56351 46,096 _
Share of profits less losses of associates 21 B & /A 7] )85 g5 18 (10,967) 145,186
Share of profits less losses of DihaEREFEREBE
joint ventures (676) (113)
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of subsidiaries  HEMEATM K (FIH) 11,676 (17,768
Profit before taxation B AT RE 6 1,070,648 954,257
Income tax FriS®t 7 (318,923) (252,596)
Profit from continuing operations FEREELTE 751,725 701,661
Discontinued operations ORI REER
Profit for the year from discontinued BRI E RBEF AR
operations, net of tax 4 18,851 14,469
Gain on disposal of discontinued HE BRI E B W
operations 4 96,791 -
Profit for the year FRFHE 867,367 716,130
Attributable to: BT AL :
Equity shareholders of the Company iN/NEGIE o 785,080 605,374
Non-controlling interests JEIE R RE = 82,287 110,756
Profit for the year FRFE 867,367 716,130
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

meBEaREtEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 202412 31 BIEFE

(AARMTTIIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

2024 2023
2024 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
B3t AR¥ET T AREFT
Restated*
KE >
Other comprehensive income for FAHM2EBA (BRBEREHN
the year (after tax and DEAERE)
reclassification adjustments) 10
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEN S HEEEmmER -
profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive income  D{EREEEB v Hth 2 A K=
of the investees - 26,610
Financial investments at fair value BAFEFAEMEERE
through other comprehensive income  ([1ZAFEFFAHEMEE K E])
("FVOCI") — net movement in fair FIEMNESREE — AV ERE
value reserves ZRE (3,657) (4,395)
Exchange differences on translation of  #8& XA & R A2 Bl H B Aty
financial statements of the Company AN B A &) (GERAME &)
and the Company's subsidiaries M mERMEEZERZHE
outside the mainland China with non-
foreign operation 68,510 32,604
64,853 54,819
Items that may be reclassified Hig e B D EE B ayE B
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of ~ #2 & /1 B A i LA SN /B 2 7]
financial statements of subsidiaries (RIME ) TR P E &
outside the mainland China with ZIEHER
foreign operaton - 6,494
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKRA
for the year S+ 61313
Total comprehensive income FREEERA
for the year 932,220 777,443
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

meBEaREt2EKER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 202412 31 BIEFE

(AARMTTIIR)

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR®T T ARBTIT
Restated*
E A *
Attributable to equity shareholders AR T ERBREMGUTER !
of the Company arising from:
Continuing operations HBISEET 743,749 657,469
Discontinued operations BRI EER 106,184 8,680
Attributable to non-controlling FEREREEUTER:
interests arising from:
Continuing operations B IS E T 73,993 104,389
Discontinued operations ERIEEEET 8,294 6,905
Total comprehensive income FREEMAWA
for the year 932,220 777,443
Earnings per share- Continuing BREFN —FERCEXK
operations 11
Basic (RMB) EXR(AR¥TT) 0.214 0.186
Diluted (RMB) g (AR®T) 0.214 0.186
Earnings per share — Discontinued HBREF —EBRLEEEHK
operations 1
Basic (RMB) EXR(AR¥T) 0.034 0.003
Diluted (RMB) e (AR%T) 0.034 0.003

*

operation (See note 4).

The comparative information has been re-presented due to a discontinued

The notes on pages 146 to 316 form part of these financial statements.

* MR IEEET - LERENBEES (RKF4) -

F 1462 N6 AN ER/AMBIRERE — D -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B IR ¥Rk

at 31 December 2024 12202412 A31H

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(AARMTTIIR)

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M RE AR¥T T AREFIT
Non-current assets RBEE
Investment properties TEWZE 12 476,699 365,725
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MR 13 516,628 1,038,845
Right-of-use assets FHESE 14(a) 236,698 934,995
Intangible assets BEEE 15 380,920 592,341
Goodwill EES 16 434,672 661,261
Interest in associates B2 N BIRE RS 17 799,107 837,436
Interest in joint ventures A2 NBIER 18 42,128 9,430
Other financial assets I 19 314,198 475,154
Other non-financial assets HipIEemEE 20 76,193 -
Deferred tax assets EIEHIREE 31(b)(ii) 564,616 519,073
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b EIGRIE 23 - 69,078
Prepayments TET SRIE 21 97,790 93,658
Time deposits TEHATF K 25 1,104,879 372,961
5,044,528 5,969,957
Current assets REBEE
Other financial assets EmmemEE 19 920,639 1,158,480
Inventories FE 22 597,962 673,789
Trade and other receivables B NHME A 23 5,576,581 5,044,833
Prepayments SEENE 21 171,296 212,079
Restricted bank balances SR AIRITEE R 24 515,603 491,243
Time deposits 7€ BiTF 3K 25 13,353 452
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEEYD 26 4,853,862 4,530,836
S 12,649,296 12111,7112
Current liabilities REBEE
Bank loans RITE X 27 41,050 267,406
Contract liabilities afmaE 28 2,234,945 2,095,751
Trade and other payables B 5 NH M ENFRIA 29 4,972,126 4,871,605
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 159,839 287,750
Current taxation B ERHR 18 31(a) 1,107,020 901,996
Provisions B 32 13,408 133,017
i 8,528,388 8,557,525
Netcurrentassets = #"BAEF® 4120908 3,554,187
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBAEE 9,165,436 9,524,144
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B IR Rk

at 31 December 2024 12202412 A31H

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(AARMTTIIR)

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 %
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
M3 ARET T ARETF T
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank loans RITEK 27 23,873 23,018
Trade and other payables B NHMENFRIA 29 = 1,369
Lease liabilities HEAR 14(b) 553,235 1,129,962
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBAE 31(b)(ii) 18,441 97,663
Provisions B 32 26,830 46,928
.. 622,379 1298940
NET ASSETS EEFH 8,543,057 8,225,204
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARRFE
Share capital [N 33(c) 27 27
Reserves & 7,788,660 7,405,508
Total equity attributable to equity ARG DB REGERER
shareholders of the Company 7,788,687 7,405,535
Non-controlling interests FERER 754,370 819,669
TOTAL EQUITY AR 8,543,057 8,225,204

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21

March 2025.

Yang Zhangfa

BE%
Director

EF

The notes on pages 146 to 316 form part of these financial statements.

BEEEMN2025F3 821 B E T B EETT -

Jin Keli
SRE
Director

EF

F146EN6HZWEBAFHmET 2 —8D -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

meEEm S ER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 EZ 2024512 431 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) (JAARITAI7R)

Attrbutable to equiy shareholders o the Company

TRARERERE
Share of other
People's comprenensiie
Republicof Fairvalue income of
China (*PRC") Share reseve  theinvestees Non-
Share Share tatutory option Other Specil Exchange (non- (non- Retained cortroling Totdl
capitel premium resenve resenve reserve Teserve Tesenve recyclng) recycling) profs Totel inferests equity
MRRER
HEAR HEREE
kna(wa) AVEEE g

BE o BHER  GEEE BBERE  AMBR  WABR  EXRE  (TWEE)  (FUME)  REME L ] b
Nete  RMBOD  RVBOD  RMBOW  RMBON  RVBOD B  RMBOD  RVBOX  RMBOW  RMBID  RMBOD  RMBOD  RMBOD
Wi ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ABMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARRTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

Balance at 1 January 2023 RNBE1R1R2ER il 3498852 6300 126465 (177,8%) 1066 23930 (10,144) (19991) 389899 71099 755154 1876143
Changes i equityfor 2023: 03 ERERE:
Proftfor the year FEAE - - - - - - - - - 405,374 405,374 11075 716130
Other comprehensiee ncome k3 ey - - - - - - 3850 439 2610 - 0775 2% 6313
Totalproft and comprehensve income FEHERRENELE

forthe year - - - - - - 3850 (439 25610 05374 086,149 mu s
Equity settld share based ransactions BREENROAER 225 ki - - 313 - - - - - BIB - B3
Capite injecton i subsicares from HEREEAHRALE

non-controllng interests - - - - - - - - - - - 1394 139%
Acquistion of subsiciares WEHEAR - - - - - - - - - - - 145 145
Acquistion of adiionel interests in WEHBLANEMER

subsicaries - - - - £ - - - - - 96 (6341) (6045
Disposalof subsiaries LENELA - - - - - - - - - - - (24044) (24,044
Repurchese and cancellaton of shares B R ki U] (115.41) - - - - - - - - (11526 - (11524
Repurchase ofshares tobe cancellec) BERR (i) - [15,485) - - - - - - - - (1549) - (15.469)
Transferofother comprehensiiencomeof ~ HERAT R AZH2ERE

the nvestees upon the disposel of SHERRHARRER 20

financial assets at FVOCI ey - - - - - - - - (12 17 - - -
Dividend declred and paidto BERRENFAREENRS

non-controllng inferests - - - - - - - - - - - (31.833) (31833
Dividends decared n respectof HEAFRERRS

the previous year K] - (285,119 - - - - - - - - (285,115 - (285,115)
Balance at 31 December 2023 ROBENANBZER 27 3,083,031 63000 160,168 (177,380) 106 (20830 (14,539) 6607 45036 TA055% 819669 822504
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

meEEm 2R

for the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 202412 31 BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) (A AR¥ITEIR)

Atributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KLARERRAG
Share of other
comprehensive
Fair vaue income of
PRC Share reserve  the investees Non-
Share Share statutory option Other Special Exchange (non- (non- Retained controlling Total
capitel premium reserve reserve resenve resenve resenve recycling) recycling) profits Total interests equity
HEREHR
HEMRE
DVEER L

BE  RGEE GEEESE  BRRRE  REBR  GEGR  EXGR  (FUM®)  (FEW)  GEWR St HEREE LI
Note  RMBOOO  RWBOO  RMBOIO  RWBOOO  RWBOD  RMBOD  RMBOOO  RWBON  RWBOD  RVBOO  RWBOD  RMBOM  RWBON
i AR®TR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARMTn  ARMTR ARRTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARR:

Balance at 1 January 2024 ROUE1R1B2ER 7 3,083,031 63,000 160,168 (177,360) 1,066 (220,830) (14539) 6,807 4,504,365 7,405,535 819,669 8,225,204
Changes i equityfor 2024: WAERERY:
Proftfor the year Z5HE - - - - - - - - - 785,080 785,080 82281 867,367
Other comprehensive income kil e - - - - - - 68510 (3,657) - - 64,853 B 64,853
Totalproft and comprehensve income ERERENALE

forthe year - - - - - - 68510 (3,651 - 785,080 849,933 82,287 932,220
Equity setled share-based transactions REEENRABERIRS kil - - - 2964 - - - - - - 26964 - 2964
Capialnection in subsidiaries fom HEREEAHEATLE

non-controllng interests - - - - - - - - - - - 16,028 16,028
Acquiston of additiona nerests n subsiciaies HEMBATHENER - - - - 3 = = = = = 3 (9803) (9.800)
Disposal of subsiaies HEHRRT - - - (8874) (2520) - B - - - 11830 (116.223) (104,393)
Reputchase and cancellton of sheres BERERN o (62,251) = = - - - - - - (62251) = (62251)
Repurchase ofshares tobe cancelled) BERG (R T8 - 9880) - - - - - - - - (9.880) - (9,880)
Dividend declared and paid o BERRERFAREENRE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (37,588) (37,588)
Dividends declared nresoect of HRrERERRS

the previous year 33l - (433,447 - - - - - = o o (433,447 - (433.447)
Balance at 31 December 2024 ROUE12R31B24% 27 2511483 63,000 178,258 (179,877) 1,066 (129,09) (18,196) 6,607 5,289,445 7,788,687 754,370 8,543,057
* Amount less than RMB1,000. * SEENARK1,0007T °

The notes on pages 146 to 316 form part of these financial statements. 25 146 £ 316 B 2 Wi B AT EHRE 2 —H5 -
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

meBERER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 202412 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(AARMTTIIR)

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥ET T AREFT
Operating activities RETH
Cash generated from operations KESRE 26(b) 1,700,622 1,641,412
Income tax paid BEETEH (225,901) (205,340)
Net cash generated from RETHFBRETE
operating activites 1,474,720 1436072
Investing activities REED
Payments for the purchase of BEREME VX BER
investment properties, property, R CREEE
plant and equipment, right-of-use REREEMNK
assets and intangible assets (321,904) (502,911)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - BFE RZEMERIE
property, plant and equipment 6,531 2,824
Acquisition of subsidiaries, WS E AR - MBRAESRS
net of cash acquired (7,523) (415)
Disposal of subsidiaries, HEMBAR - MBRAEERSE
net of cash disposed 62,721 (15,128)
Payments for purchase of: BE TIIRERMK:
— financial assets classified as fair value — DAL A FEFAEBZR
through profit or loss (“FVPL") (B AT EFAEZED
TREE (1,091,000) (1,141,521)
Proceeds from redemption of: FEE 5 B IEPASFOA
— FVPL — RAFEF AEE 1,379,239 1,186,332
— listed debt investments — ETEBRE = 4147
Payment for interests in associates MREE ARG E QAR
and joint ventures BN (16,773) (42,248)
Investment income received from HEMESREEMBIRERA
other financial assets 48,550 63,256
Dividends received from associates BlEE AR REERTRE
and joint ventures 58,203 56,615
Interest received 2 HHLE 57,965 68,382
Placement of time deposits, net TFHEBFERZ F58 (717,903) (285,450)
Payments for loans and advances ERRBHRAR (4,528) (88,754)
Proceeds from repayment of loans BEERRBRMGHIEA
and advances 43,132 317,347
Net cash used in investing activities R&EZEFTAESFHE (503,290) (377,530)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

mEBERER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE 202412 31 BIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(AARMTTIIR)

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 %
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M3 ARET T ARETF T
Financing activities REED
Proceeds from new bank loans FIZIRITER R EMER
and other borrowings FriS k1A 26(c) 1,441,233 329,151
Repayment of bank loans BEEITER 26(c) (1,310,726) (359,846)
Capital injection from non-controlling ~ JEIEfR R &
interests 16,028 13,994
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEERE ZEARE Y 26(c) (153,869) (154,480)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ EffFEfE 2 FI 825 26(c) (65,338) (69,807)
Payment for acquisition of non- W B FEIE AR B A 1P R
controlling interests (9,800) (6,045)
Payment on repurchase of shares o] B A% 15 1~ 7k 33(c)(ii) (72,131) (130,707)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders B {4 A A Bl AR EE AR B
of the Company 26(c) (433,447) (285,115)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B FEERE RIS
interests 26(c) (37,588) (31,833)
Interest paid B F 8 26(c) (25,808) (22,558)
Net cash used in financing activities BEZBAAREFR = (651,446) (717244
Net increase in cash and cash ReRRSSEYEMBEE
equivalents 319,985 341,296
Cash and cash equivalents at R1A1BZRERAESEEY
1 January 26(a) 4,530,836 4,183,381
Effect of foreign exchange rate BRSBTS
changes 3,041 6,159
Cash and cash equivalents at R12A31BZEERESE
31 December £EY 26(a) 4,853,862 4,530,836

The notes on pages 146 to 316 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the "Group”) and the Group's
interest in associates and joint ventures.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 24 November 2014 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The Company's shares were listed on the
Main Board on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) on 12 July 2016 (the “Listing”).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), rounded to the nearest thousand, which
is the presentation currency. It is prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial assets that are stated
at their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set
out below:

— investments in equity and debt financial instruments
measured at fair value (see note 1(g)); and

—  derivative financial instruments (see note 1(h))

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events
and circumstances relevant to the entity (the “functional
currency”).

RMB is the functional currency for the Company's
subsidiaries established in the mainland China. The
functional currency of the Company and the Company's
subsidiaries outside the mainland China (excluding the
Company's subsidiaries in Australia) are Hong Kong dollars.
The functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries in
Australia is Australian dollars.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

1
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following new and amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group. Of these, the following developments
are relevant to the Group's financial statements:

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (“2020 amendments”) and amendments
to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
— Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

J Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in
a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group's results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F& 5%

1IN - BAARBITINIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 FESTTHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (d) BT RFERES

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intragroup balances, and transactions and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intragroup
transactions are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intragroup transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

MEARRANEEZEHNER-

EAKE2EZBEREBM K
GRS E Rk QTR
ERITERNAZEZFT R -
AR RIS ZER - BRI
MBRERAAEEZSFHRZA
N BRITIEIRE - EEEHIAR -

SERNESR SEANTXZELE
MR 5 A RER KA RHX
(UNERXZBamRIN 15 T -
%@W*ﬁ %EEE’HE "EEJEETLE

i 1E| T%ﬁﬁiﬁ’\/xﬁﬂ@ BH
=

For each business combination, the Group can elect to MEEBEHMES  AEETE
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at fair BERATFEIFERES (HHW
value or at the NCI's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s MRz 1) AL M B 2 B AT 3 RDF

net identifiable assets.

NCI are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
NCI in the results of the Group are presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
NCI and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of NCI and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with note 1(r) or (s) depending on the nature of
the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

BEENLOFEERIEERER -

FEERERETREE TR
WEHNERAN BRRa R
RELERD AR KAEBHEZE
BRI ERERNGEERE
ke B kEM2ERERE
Bl - VE R A A FE1E AR e 2w B A
=R CHOFEERRELE
HBREIE - EIERERTE
AFREERREZSEFEALZ
EmAaHNET BTEEHER
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(e)

(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(m)(iii)), unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group
or the Company has joint control, whereby the Group
or the Company has the rights to the net assets of the
arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations
for its liabilities.

An interest in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method, unless it is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group classified as
held for sale). They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI") of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group's interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method, together with the Group's long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate or the joint venture (after
applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests
where applicable (see note 1(m)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no evidence
of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 1(m)), unless it is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group classified as
held for sale).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is tested
annually for impairment (see note 1(m)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

SITHERASN - GUAARKETTIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 FESTHERE)
(CONTINUED)
(g) Other investments in financial instruments () Ht&emMITARE
The Group's and the Company’s policies for investments in BRRMEBAR e mRkaes
financial instruments, other than investments in subsidiaries, RNEMEEN  REERER A

associates and joint ventures, are set out below:

Investments in financial instruments are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss.
For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 34(f). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on
their classification.

(i)  Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

— Amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest method
(see note 1(w)(ii)(c)), foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.

—  FVOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss
and computed in the same manner as if the
financial asset was measured at amortised cost.
The difference between the fair value and the
amortised cost is recognised in OCI. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCl is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Other investments in financial instruments
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

(ii)

Non-equity investments (Continued)

—  FVPL, if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value
of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity financial instruments is
classified as FVPL, unless the investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition the
Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in OCI. Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’'s perspective. If such election is made for a
particular investment at the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings and not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other net income (see note 1(w)(ii)(b)).

Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage

its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures.
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract
and accounted for separately if the host contract is not a
financial asset and certain criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently,

they are measured at fair value with changes therein

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

()

Investment property

Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Rental
income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 1(w)(ii)(a).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the costs of
investment properties, less a residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their lease term.

Property, plant and equipment
The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1(m)(iii)):

—  buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land (see note 1(l)); and

—  other items of plant and equipment.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(k)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:
— Buildings situated on shorter of the unexpired term
leasehold land of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more
than 20 years after date of
completion

— Leasehold shorter of the unexpired term

improvements of lease and their estimated

useful lives

— Office equipment 3-5years
and furniture

— Motor vehicles 3-10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or
loss as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised
only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially
feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the
Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting asset.
Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
upon acquisition of subsidiaries are measured at fair value
upon initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
those intangible assets are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see note 1(m)(iii).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

()

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible
assets with finite useful lives less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in profit
or loss. The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:
— Software 2-10 years

6-10 years
remaining contract

— Customer relationship
— Unfulfilled service contracts
periods

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee
Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value items such as
laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value item, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated
lease payments are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (Fr 5

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (Continued)

()

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(j)
and 1(m)(iii)), expect for the right-of-use assets related
to car parking space held as inventory are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value (see note (n)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments
in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost (see
notes 1(g)(i) and 1(m)(i)). Any excess of the nominal
value over the initial fair value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease payments made and
is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(Br 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (Continued)

()

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a lease modification, which means a change in the
scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if
such modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in ‘right-
of-use assets’ or “inventories” if they are held for
sales in the ordinary course of business and presents
lease liabilities separately in the statement of financial

position.

158 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

TTRERASN -

1

BANRETTSIR)

()

EFEFTBER(B)
AEEE (8)

(i)

EBEBEA(E)
R CRIES-DIE P Y
EMNRELEES: WAL
E e EER TIEFEMNS
SREAEE( AAEEN
BHERITHEE T
LIFEEEOFTME RIE
I EHERE -EHESR
BEAMARNEFER Y
FREEEMNEREEED
HERAZE  NERREE
MEEmEERLEE  Blst
AfBz#= o

MEETERR ATEE
MAEMHERGE BEER]
TE?EE%@WE%’*EHTK_RTEE

BHRLEALERENHEER
BaER( BEBERIR
EREBNEEAREZS
E - HEABEREEERT
MAENAEEERR (£
REETMMBREREETE
MEBHAE -

EEEMBRRBERS K
HEERENRNHN BT
RBEMRT—EARNELS
BN RNERE -

BRI AREMEERN
EREEE MREELER
EGBRETRRBHEEMR
B AARRESEIRSE
REEEIXIFE] Yk
MBMRR KRR T BB HRE
EafE-



Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(B B1TEASN - BAARKETTIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 FEETEHERE)
(CONTINUED)
() Leased assets (Continued) n HEEBESE)
(i) As alessor (i) EAHBEA

The Group determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee.
Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance with
note 1(w)(ii)(a).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-
leases are classified as a finance lease or as an
operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
exemption described in note 1(l)(i), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECL"s) on:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balances, trade and other receivables,
listed debt investments and those loans to
associates that are held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest);

—  lease receivables; and

— loan commitments issued, which are not
measured at FVPL.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRB1TEEASN - BAARKETTIIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

1

FTEGHBRGE)
(m) FEBEREEREE)

(i)

TRHMIARERBEEREN
FEBR(E)
FEEHEEEE
HHEEBEREAEEBEN
PR MEMSE - — M= -
EEBBEUNAGHNSHRERE
CRZEAMERERERR S
MIRERE -

For undrawn loan commitments, expected cash HRRIEBMOEF&EF - B
shortfalls are measured as the difference between (i) BRI € DA () 0 B FURGE
the contractual cash flows that would be due to the BEBHEARDNERESZFARE

Group if the holder of the loan commitment draws
down on the loan and (ii) the cash flows that the

BRAE4REREHii)ANE
& 78 B8 A H2 BB 38 UK ER 9

Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down. ReEnE 2 BOERETE -
The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the MEEBEXR AMERNAT

following rates if the effect is material:
—  fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other

receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate;

— lease receivables: discount rate used in the

PR RUIRIAHIERIA S ¢

— BEEMNEeREE =
5 R EM R RIEA : 1)
A TE R R B B IR
AR EALE

— SFPNESMEE:E
ATEBRFE

— EWRHEERR : AR

measurement of the lease receivable; and ERWEERENT
BE: K&
— loan commitments: current risk-free rate — Bk HEBRER

adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

160 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ERTERBRAENE
Al B JE g i K

B EMEEERREE BN
EERHREAKE@EEREE
RBH&EEHH -



Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B B1TaEBASN

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

—  other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk (i.e.
the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (Fr 5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when measuring ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group's historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

—  the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any
is held).

— the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account, except for investments in
non-equity securities that are measured at FVOCI
(recycling), for which the loss allowance is recognised
in OCl and accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling) does not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(B B1TEASN - BAARKETTIIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

1

FTEGHBRGE)
(m) FEBEREEREE)

() Credit losses from financial instruments and lease () @WMIAREKRHEEREN
receivables (Continued) FEEE (B
Credit-impaired financial assets EHEENZERE

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

REREEH  AEES
fBEMEERDTLREER
B -ERE-—AHKZEHS
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ELREERE -

TREELREEREMNZ

includes the following observable events: BEENTABREMHF:
—  significant financial difficulties of the debtor; — BEBALBBRETH
w2

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group otherwise determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occeurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at
fair value, which is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or to
interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is made
available with the estimated rates that lenders would
have charged, had the guarantees not been available,
where reliable estimates of such information can be
made. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group's policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

The amount initially recognised as deferred income is
subsequently amortised in profit or loss over the term
of the guarantee as income (see note T(w)(ii)(e)).

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract and remeasures the above
liability at a higher amount when ECLs on the financial
guarantees are determined to be higher than the
carrying amount in respect of the guarantees.

A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that the
specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime
ECL is measured. The same definition of default and
the same assessment of significant increase in credit
risk as described in note 1(m)(i) apply.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(BR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued
(Continued)

As the Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the specified debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the
Group expects to receive from the holder of the
guarantee, the specified debtor or any other party.
The amount is then discounted using the current risk-
free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-current assets (other than
property carried at revalued amounts, investment
property, inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units ("CGU"s). Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the
CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(Br 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iv)

(n)
(i)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Financial
Instruments on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial
year (see notes 1(m)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.

Inventories and other contract costs

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

TTRERASN -

1

BANRETTSIR)

(n)

FTEGHBRGE)
(m) FEBEREEREE)

(iv)

B

(i)

FHEI M RS R E
*Eﬁf%f/% BEXZMEER
_]@WQI/E\J:FD%EE'J PN
EEREE B ERE
34%43%?!4%%#&%%%%@
BBRFEEANER 2R BRHG
BWwE -RAPHBAR &
ERAENI BT E LS RE
BeRA B —BENR R
B EIEE (RMIRE 1)) B i) °

T R A A ) At 7R T R R
BEETERNER MR
[B] o RIS fis) 5% YRR (B 1 10 °X

oh B AT O B IR AR R R AT AR
mEER AL EERE  HE

BERIOBERLTIRAT U
ol -

kKEME
FE
TFERMKAER] 2 HEM
EPNREETE -

IR AR

AR I F A E - 8
EAREMRBEAAR  EEK
AR EFEEERI FES
B AR R R H AR ARRE A -

A SR (B — AR R TR R
o i 5 85 (AL 55 0 f
PO 17 84 4 BT 7B 9 i At
A o

EFECHER  ZFER
ERERENNIEL A O

FERGAEANZEEFESER
REFEMBRANBEHE
RELHEEAR/AX -7
ERAtERERANE R
HER R TF B iR 2 7
F o

2024 FEEHRE SWRIEEEERAF

167



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

(n)

(ii)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs
of obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs
to fulfil a contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see note 1(n)(i)), property,
plant and equipment (see note 1(j)) or intangible
assets (see note 1(k)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract, e.g. sales
commissions, are capitalised if the costs relate to
revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed
when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated contract; generate
or enhance resources that will be used to provide
goods or services in the future; and are expected to
be recovered. Otherwise, costs of fulfilling a contract,
which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as
incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
recognised in profit or loss when the revenue to which
the asset relates is recognised (see note 1(w)(i)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

(p)

(q)

Contract liabilities

A contract liabilities is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 1(w)(i)). A contract liability is
also recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such latter cases, a
corresponding receivable is also recognised (see note 1(p)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 1(w)(i)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note 1(m)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, property pre-sale proceeds held by solicitors
that are held for meeting short-term cash commitments,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see note 1(m)(i)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these borrowings
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
note 1(y).

Employee benefits

(i)  Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.

Contributions to the PRC local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations
in the PRC are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Share-based payments
The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share based
payments granted to employees is measured using
the binomial lattice model. The amount is generally
recognised as an expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the vesting period of the
awards. The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which
the related service conditions are expected to be
met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is
based on the number of awards that meet the related
service conditions at the vesting date. The equity
amount is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is included in
the amount recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax.
It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
it relates to a business combination, or items recognised
directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income, or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EFEEFHEEE)

(CONTINUED)

(u) Income tax (Continued) (uy FIBH(E)
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary BREBIEERARYBREEN
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and WEENMBEEREEXEANAB
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts EMMmeBE o EHMNEREEZEER
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised R o A TNERTHERELEN A :
for:

temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future;

taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation

— HEREBAGHNXZT A
BREELBERELN
ERMER HEBTEES
sHR& - T ERMANRE
@ AT EELRFMER
MAMAT RN TR ER

— BEYKBRR BMEIAR
BELENKRERBBANT N
MER  GHRAEERN
R R A B E R
- I B fE A 78 R 5 SRR 7]
gErERE

— VRERBERELENER
ERMEERE R

— FRABBITRAHEBAMD
XHEZTRBHRAMBMRE
ERMHOBEMELENME

for Economic Co-operation and Development. B o
The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred AEERHERBENEREEE
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and 2 RIHERIE FE TR IE & E IR E
right-of-use assets. HAE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(Br 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(u)

(v)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered,
based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries
in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised,;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or
settle of the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on historical
warranty data and a weighting of possible outcomes
against their associated probabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

1

(Br 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based on
the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under that
contract and an allocation of other costs directly related
to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established,
the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract (see note 1(m)(iii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services
or the use by others of the Group’s assets under
leases in the ordinary course of the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, or the
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (Fr 5

1IN - BAARBITINIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1
(CONTINUED)

(w) Revenue and other income (Continued)

FTEGHBRGE)
(w) WamERE MW A ()

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method. Where
the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration
for any effects of a significant financing component if
the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(a)  Property service fees, consulting service fee,
community living service fee and technology
service fees

(i)

REEFEHZWA (E)

WEHThBEEAREFPIRHER
BIREAMEABEFZED
BEIS S Bl ERS
EMRENE TRAER
FHE—FTRER ST R
RO BRIR R BLIR - W A B
RERFEESITRR
BT BEEAAERIRHEE
ABEMNZHRE D - Al
BIBEZAEOEROWZ B IE
REBRMNELTENEGRA
BEFIEEMFERS - A%
EERBSVHHELERSE

155 FE 63 A ERRIET S
o B R EHIBR A 121 A sk
LATE BITEREARSE
WOME(IHEFHENRE -

B RN SE S R E A RA
ERBRAE— S FHBOT

&) YVXRFEE  BARE
B {5 ERE
Ri5E

For property services, the Group recognises HMERBETS - A%
revenue in the amount to which the Group ERETHKOESEE
has the right to invoice based on the value of EERAEEGER
performance completed. HBEZENGE -

For property service income arising from

REBEBHHIEEME

properties managed under lump sum basis, BMERBKRAME -
where the Group acts as principal, the Group REBEREZFEA A
is entitled to revenue at the value of property IR W B ) R R
management service fee received. For property RR 7% 2 (B B W AR & o
service income arising from properties managed RREMEHEED
under commission basis, where the Group acts E¥RWMERBWKAM

as an agent of the property owners, the Group
is entitled to revenue at a pre-determined

T AEBEANEL
ERIE AR ST

percentage or fixed amount of the property RO EEE
service fees the property owners are obligated EEXROEESEN
to pay. MEE IR B WEUIA o
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

SITHERASN - GUAARKETTIIR)

FTEGHBRGE)
(w) WamEREAMWA ()

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1
(CONTINUED)

(w) Revenue and other income (Continued)

() Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) (i) REEFFEHZWBANE)

(a)  Property service fees, consulting service fee, (a) YERKEE  ZHRE
community living service fee and technology B BERREELFK
service fees (Continued) IR & (8)
Consulting services mainly include management BARBEEBEE
consulting services and property under BEAREREZD
construction services. The Group recognises ERTE - AEBRIEHR
revenue as the services are provided based on PR 75 BF AR B8 8 AK B /B
the value of performance completed. R EEERWE -
Community living services mainly include ERREEFrEZaHEHT

community products and services, home
living services, community space services,

&2 m AR - KR
BoHEREERE D

property asset management services and FEEEBRRB L
cultural & education services. For sales of BB R - Bt
goods in community products and services, Em&REH O E miHE

and brokerage services in property asset
management services, the Group recognises
revenue at point in time when the property
owners take possession of and accept the
goods and services. For home living services,
community space services, cultural & education
services and other community living services,

& EMXREETER
BHHRLERY  ~%
BREXHAEREEE
an N AR A% B R R Mk R o
HRRERF - LRz
IR - XILEHE R
T R EL A AL R AR A - AR

the Group recognises revenue when the services 5 B 7E 12 R 7S A e
are rendered. These community services are Rl - ZERE RS
normally billable immediately upon the services BEERHERB &L
are provided. B & o

Technology services mainly include software MEBRBEETEBRRE

development services, information technology
services and intelligent lighting engineering and
design services. For intelligent lighting design
service, the Group recognises revenue at point
in time when the customers take possession
of and accept the services. For software
development services, information technology
services and intelligent lighting engineering
service, the Group recognises revenue as the
services are provided based on the value of
performance completed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EFEEFHEEE)
(CONTINUED)
(w) Revenue and other income (Continued) (w) WEEEMKA (E)
(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income (i) HaRFREKEREAMEA

(a)  Rental income from operating leases (a) AEHEMMD Kz
Rental income from operating leases is KEKEHENES
recognised in profit or loss on a straight- Wa R EEEBRNE
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease HEHRZNERER o &
incentives granted are recognised as an integral HeHEBEREH
part of the total rental income, over the term of HEANERRES K
the lease. Variable lease payments that do not HEVAEKE D o TEUR
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as PR 48 B3 F 3 ) BT
income in the accounting period in which they HENRERRN S
are earned. TR R R UA -

(b) Dividends (b) HKE
Dividend income is recognised in profit or A% B 2 P AN &R B
loss on the date on which the Group's right to HR 5 3R 80 4 B 7 1 E
receive payment is established. Z BREBEZHER -

(c) Interest income () FEBYA
Interest income is recognised using the effective FE W AR E B F =
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is EMER o [BERME]Z
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future N BEERHPFR
cash receipts through the expected life of the WEERRIRE HA
financial asset to the gross carrying amount TETRRMBEE
of the financial asset. In calculating interest HIBREABEE 2 MK o 78
income, the effective interest rate is applied to FFEF AR R
the gross carrying amount of the asset (when MEEANEEDNR
the asset is not credit-impaired). However, EEAE(BEEEWLIE
for financial assets that have become credit- EETRE) - AW
impaired subsequent to initial recognition, MY EREARE
interest income is calculated by applying the BETRMEREEM
effective interest rate to the amortised cost s AR ERTNERE
of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer BRZemEENH#
credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest £ A AN T 5T & R B U
income reverts to the gross basis. A BEEETHBEBEE

TR - BIREERAR
EESEFSWA -
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(x)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(Continued)

(d)  Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are initially recognised as deferred
income and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss as other income on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

(e)  Income from financial guarantees issued
Income from financial guarantees issued is
recognised over the term of the guarantees (see
note 1(m)(ii)).

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(x)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)
However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognised in OCI:

— an investment in equity securities designated as at

FVOCI;

— qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the
hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into RMB at the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On
disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the
NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to
profit or loss. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a
subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture
while retaining significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(y)

(2)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:

— represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations;

— is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations; or

— is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the
earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria
to be classified as held for sale.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued operation,
the comparative statement of profit or loss and OCl is re-
presented as if the operation had been discontinued from
the start of the comparative year.
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(B B1TEASN - BAARKETTIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1
(CONTINUED)
(aa) Related parties

FESTHE(E)
(aa) BAEETS

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

@ H‘EATERT RALHHE
TS GER B A K B AR

B

(i)

P Sk B s A LR
HIAEE

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEEBBEEAZE
-4
(i is a member of the key management personnel (iiy EAEEHFAEHEH

of the Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

RAMEEREHRAR
B E -

(b) HEATEMABRT XERE
SR ER[E A R -

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the () ZEBRAEEHER
same group (which means that each parent, —SEBHKERF (A
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the BRaE - MEARKRA
others). ZAMBAAISEEREH

Bt) o

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy HELRS—ETEOH
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a ERAlgEERF (3
member of a group of which the other entity is a S—EBRKERAAN
member). EEENKERTK

BrE N RIEERA]) o

(iiiy  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (iii) BEEHYER—F

party.

IE=
S
F
o
i}
S
el

(ivy One entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy XERBEE=/7EH®
and the other entity is an associate of the third WeEgrams—%8
entity. BARZE=ZTER

BB E QA -

(vi)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (aa)(a).

(vi)

7‘F'J%$%l‘k£ﬁ$;‘%
BEHEBNERENE
BRBERIRBARTE -

ZE R (aa)a) B AT
=B A ek
A5l o
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1 EEFETHREGE)
(CONTINUED)
(aa) Related parties (Continued) (aa) BAEE S (48)
(b)  (Continued) b) (%)

(vii) A person identified in (aa)(a)(i) has significant (vii) 1E (aa)(a)(i) IB / FFT 3% 7
influence over the entity or is a member of the 7 A i “ﬁEA ERAE
key management personnel of the entity (or of a TEN HHRALRE
parent of the entity). E% ER(ARZEEN

BRA)MNFEEREA
BHRKE -

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which (vii) MAEEHAAREE 2
it is a part, provides key management personnel NARHITEER
services to the Group or to the Group's parent. ANE R BEREsE AR

BEE 2 ERKERT -

Close members of the family of a person are those family EATHWERREXKERENRE
members who may be expected to influence, or be BRONEHETEZBALTX
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. RAZABALTHENRKEKXE °
(bb) Segment reporting (bb) ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment CE DR BERMEMZINE S
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from %E WEE DR AAAEE S
the financial information provided regularly to the Group's BNEOEERRTEEEEM
most senior executive management for the purposes of EHRAEBESGRTHERER
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, B B E R PR 2R o

the Group's various geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not HRYBREMS  EAHNEZHK
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the EPE T GESAR BRIFZF
segments have similar economic characteristics and are DEOKLBERERL BRERN
similar in respect of the nature of products and services, EmkRELEE  AEIFILEE -
the nature of production processes, the type or class of EPEMYEE  DHEMRKE
customers, the methods used to distribute the products HREOAFENEEREEES
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory FEARRR - WA RN E KA
environment. Operating segments which are not ENMHEERBZFRE A
individually material may be aggregated if they share a AETEHEE -

majority of these criteria.
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (R B1TaEBASN + HAAREILIIR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies, which are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The following critical accounting policies involve the most
significant judgements and estimates used in the preparation of
the financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i) Fair value measurements for financial assets at fair
value
The Group has investments in a wide variety of companies
as set out in Note 18. The Group accounts for these
financial instruments as financial assets at FVTPL or FVOCI.
For those investments with no quoted market prices in
an active market, their fair values are estimated by using
valuation techniques. These techniques include those
further described in Note 34 under the heading “Fair
value measurement”. Valuation techniques are certified
by independent and recognised business valuer before
being implemented for valuation and are calibrated to
ensure that outputs reflect market conditions. Valuation
models established by the valuer make the maximum use of
market inputs and rely as little as possible on the Group's
specific data. However, some inputs require management
estimates and assumptions, which are reviewed periodically
and adjusted if necessary. Should any of the estimates and
assumptions be changed, it may lead to a change in the fair
value of the financial assets.

ST HET RS

AT EBAMBMELRBRE 28
EMBERETHRE A BEE
MARERARE ST REBEPITR
HAE  BRABRKE TUHENERE
RBEERMRBABATHERGE
MEMESE  BREEREEFNES -

TORER S BORS LR R 5 E R
PR & E ZHIE AR -

BT EER RN T ZHRRINT

(i) RAFPEFENEHMEENL
FEFE
AEBEEMT18AENZ AR
ETRE -AEERZFERT
B REAFEFABRSHIZER
FEHFARMEZAKENESBHE
BE o PO FE R BB T 95 I 4 (B W
BRE ERAFEERMGERMG
B ZERMBEME34TATE
ArEJE—FFAABERM -G
ERMEEEETIAER BB
RABEGHEMETRE AL
8 BE DA B R B L BR TR S5 MR A o
HEMETNHERLKKEE
WHAmHEA  LEAENIS
AT BEIMWKBAEEN AR
Bm-AM FoBABRRERE
BEHERER  ZFHFL
RBREEMEMLN D EREST

B ANTEEREREEATE
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (FR 5%

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment for financial instruments and lease
receivables

The impairment allowances for financial instruments and
lease receivables are based on assumptions about risk of
expected credit loss rates. The Group adjusts judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting inputs for
computing such impairment loss, broadly based on the
available customers’ historical data, existing market
conditions including forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Any change in such assumptions
and judgement would affect the expected credit loss to be
recognised and hence the net profit in future years.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward
and deductible temporary differences are recognised and
measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the relevant assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of each reporting date. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets, expected
taxable profits are estimated which involves a number
of assumptions relating to the operating environment of
the Group and require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such assumptions
and judgement would affect the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets to be recognised and hence the net
profit in future years.

Impairment of non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets, goodwill, interest in associates, interest
in joint ventures and investment properties may not be
recoverable, the assets may be considered impaired and
are tested for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised
when the asset’s recoverable amount has declined below
its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the
greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
In determining the recoverable amount which requires
significant judgements, the Group estimates the future
cash flows to be derived from continuing use and ultimate
disposal of the asset and applies an appropriate discount
rate to these future cash flows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. WMARDEER
(a) Revenue (@) WA
The principal activities of the Group are provision of RAEENFEEBRREERDER
property services, community living services, consulting % BERS - BHRRERER
services and technology services. BR7% -
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) WABD
Disaggregation of revenue by major service line is as REBRBREBANE S
follows: S
Continuing operations  Discontinued operations Total
BEREEY REREER @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

024F ABFE - 0AUF NBF  2004%F 023%
RMB'O00  RMB'0O0 ~ RMB000  RMBOO0 ~ RMB'000  RMB000
ARBTR AREBTL ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR

Restated
gER
Revenue from contracts BEENBREER
with customers within F15REER
the scope of HKFRS 15 REREFEHMH
KA
Disaggregated by major BRIERBEES
service lines
Property services NERB 12,401,312 11,101,501 - - 12,401,312 11,101,501
Community living services &R % 2,692,013 2,940,646 634,287 581,234 3,326,300 3,521,880
Consulting services EARE 2,412,030 2,295,256 - - 2,412,030 2,295,256
Technology services B RS 341,185 427954 - - 341,185 427954

17,846,540 16,765,357 634,287 581,234 18,480,827 17,346,591
Revenue from other sources E KA KIE

Gross rentals from investment &M ¥ A%
properties
— Community living services  — Bl R 75 46,933 46,681 - - 46,933 46,681

17,893,473 16,812,038 634,287 581,234 18,527,760 17393212
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. MARSHZ2H(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (@) WA (&)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) (i WABD(E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with HEBEBVBREENE5
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 by timing of REEME P& R ARIE
revenue recognition is as follows: ABREEESOT :

Continuing operations  Discontinued operations Total
BREERE RIESERH @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

2%  ABFE - 0AF A% 2004% 023%
RMB'O00  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR AREBTT ARBTR ARRTR ARBTR ARRTR

Revenue recognised R RER WA

over time:
Property services VES
Propertysenvces  WXEB | EE N 11001 - - - BERERN 11107301
Community living services ~ BB
Home living services EFAERE 395,672 547453 - - 395672 547,453
Community space services BZ=RERE 292,734 280,635 = - 292,734 280,635
Property asset management ¥ EEEERE

services 166,791 253132 - - 166,791 253132
Cultural & education services  X{t#F IR % 104,950 109,593 634,287 581,234 739,237 690,827
e R 170513 R 123 S 177204
Consulting services BARYE
Property under construction ~ EB# £ R

services 2,115,033 2,020,899 - - 2115033 2020899
Management consulting EREARY

services 296,997 274,357 - - 296,997 274,357
__________________________________________ L RN e Rl
Technology services RHE R
Technology services R R 333,742 407,984 = - 333742 407,984

16,107,231 14,995,554 634,287 581,234 16,741,518 15,576,788
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3. MARSHME2®K(E)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (a) WA (&)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) (i) WwABD(E)
Continuing operations  Discontinued operations Total
BEREEY RIEBELHK o
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

024%F ANF - 204F  0BF  04F  ABF
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMBO00 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTL ARETR ARETR

Revenue recognised at point REBHLBEZ
in time: KA

Community living services ~ BB

Community products and BEE o R R%

services 1,310,311 1,272,004 - - 1,310,311 1,272,004
Property asset management NEEEERRY
services 421,555 471,829 - - 421,555 471,829
__________________________________________ 17186 17W8R o 131868 17458
Technology services NER®
Technology services HRR% 7,443 19970 - - 7,443 19970
1,739,309 1,769,803 - - 1,739,309 1769803

17,846,540 16,765,357 634,287 581,234 18,480,827 17,346,591

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with R IBM BE R P AW A

customers by geographical location is disclosed in BIZ 5 B EEIE3(b)) °

note 3(b)(i).

No revenue from transaction with single external Bm s —INBEPHRX S

customer amounts to 10% or more of the Group's EXMBRAEREBRE

revenue for each of the periods presented. 2 5| HB RS B9 W A 49 10% 2% A
o
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Revenue (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

(iii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date

For property services and consulting services,
the Group recognises revenue as the services are
provided and recognises to which the Group has a
right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the
value of performance completed. The majority of the
property service contracts do not have a fixed term.
The term of the contracts for consulting services is
generally set to expire when the counterparties notify
the Group that the services are no longer required.

For community living services that involved provision
of services and goods, they are rendered in a short
period of time, which is generally less than a year, and
the Group has elected the practical expedient for not
to disclose the remaining performance obligations for
these types of contracts.

There were no significant incremental costs to obtain
a contract.
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARSHB2H(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (b) 2 EB2H
The Group manages its businesses by geographical REBRMBLEEBHER -
location. In a manner consistent with the way in which FEAHERTAEESZFSTH
information is reported internally to the Group’s most ERABEHERDBERKRRFT
senior executive management for the purposes of resource HOERMAN AR —BNER
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has T AEERE T ALIEAN 2R
presented the following seven reportable segments. SEB o
. Region 1: Hangzhou (include Yuhang) . g1 N (BRI
. Region 2: Yangtze River Delta Region (include Ningbo) . g2 R=AME (B
EK)
. Region 3: Pearl River Delta Region . HWE3: R=AE
. Region 4: Bohai Economic Rim Region J R4 BB EEE R
. Region 5: Australia . @ 5 - AN ZE
. Region 6: Other overseas and Hongkong Regions . e 6 - EfgINERNE
VR
. Region 7: Other mainland China Regions J b 7« AR B K RE E A b (R
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (Fr 5

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group's senior executive management monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all non-current assets and
current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables of the individual segments and bank
borrowings managed directly by the segments with
exceptions of current taxation and deferred tax
liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated
by those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to
those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit
is profit before taxation. In addition to receiving
segment information concerning profit before
taxation, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue (including inter
segment sales), interest income and expense from
cash balances and borrowings managed directly by
segments, depreciation and amortisation, impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations. Inter-
segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (R B1TaEBASN + HAAREILIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARDEE®HR (E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) HW2W (&)
(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (i) BEE BEENEE(E)

Information regarding the Group's reportable BB R 2024 F k20234
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior 12ANBLEFENERS R
executive management for the purposes of resource K9 B R IR AV Ak 1 [A) 2R 5%
allocation and assessment of segment performance EiIEJT‘IB( BABRERNAE
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set SEF2WmH BE RS0
out below: I

Year ended 31 December 2024

HE0UF12/31ALLEE
Hangzhou Yangtze River Delta Region
i REAKE

Yangtze Other
River overseas Other
Hangzhou Region Pearl River Bohai Australia and  mainland
(exclude Yuhang (exclude Ningbo Delta  Economic (Discontinued  Hongkong China

Yuhang) Region Ningbo) Region Region  Rim Region ~operations*) Regions Regions Total

ARAE  EEHD

M R=AHE BEEHE (B&L HEN  hEAE

(FEERH)  AMHE (FREER) ERME HK=AHE BHE HEREY) BEME  HHME Eh
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RVB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR AR%TR ARMTR ARETZ ARRTR ARWTZ ARBTR ARNT:R

Revenue from external customers MBEERA 5,898,852 663,257 5,207,874 993,899 1073497 2,209,557 634,287 11,525 1835012 18,527,760
Inter-segment revenue AHEEA 212,466 114,316 43,294 90,795 26,004 31,874 - - 26,502 545,251
Reportable segment revenue EES: V19N 6,111,318 777573 5251168 1,084,694 1,099,501 2,241,431 634,287 11,525 1,861,514 19,073,011
Reportable segment profit T2HIBAE 493,940 36,601 229,863 45,435 90,808 123,164 20,717 (77,102) 224,730 1,188,156
Interest income FEKA 57,334 9 7,981 212 115 4 2,416 27,619 838 96,965
Interest expense (excluding expense ~ HER R (TREER{HR)
capitalised) (17,042) (1,154) (3.768) (11,454) 93 (3,316) (54,370) (18) (1,539 (92,568)
Share of profits less losses of associates  AEBF& A A7 EBE B (17,338) - - - = (158) = 6,529 - (10,967)
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures 2154 &2 A7 BB BT (642) - (35) - - 1 - = = (676)
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M BT (B#8),/ Wik (627) 9 - - - 1,074 - 117,695 (9,684) 108,467
Impairment of assets BERE
— investment properties —RENE = = = = = = = = = =
— inventories —H& 21,358 - - 10,329 - - - - - 31,687
— Goodwill .- 33,721 - - 2,102 - - - - - 35,829
— interest in associates —BEDRER 66,725 - - - - - - 62,444 - 129,169
Expected credit losses on financial SRIANEMEEEX
instruments 60,992 4184 64,614 12,298 20,353 36,218 - 876 41,096 240,631
Depreciation and amortisation for the ~ FE#7E REH (T RFER(
year (excluding expense capitalised) ~ #%) (247,516) (14,931) (45,650) (34,140) (9.810) (48,570) (122,693 (51) (23,272)  (546,633)
Reportable segment assets TE2HIPEE 43,527,728 728772 8,308,686 1,809,256 1,464,292 2,232,858 - 2452018 2,187,134 62,710,744
Including: B
Interest in joint ventures =X YNG4 $: 11,816 - 22,792 7,425 - 95 - - - 42,128
Interest in associates NG 393,948 - 98 - - - - 405,061 - 799,107
Additions to property, plant and FRFENE  BERZE -
equipment, right of use assets, RREEE RENX
investment properties, intangible BREENREE
assets and goodwill during the year 396,348 11,874 62,488 17,705 14,319 38,705 - 6 28,453 569,898
Reportable segment liabilities PER: V-1 40,923,938 834907 6720135 1,355,785 897,317 1,491,859 - 248978 1,331,963 53,804,882
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 WARSHZ2H(E
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) W2, (F)
(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (i) BEE BEENEE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2023
RENBFNANALER
Hangzhou Yangtze River Delta Region
HiM kAR
Yangtze Other
River overseas Other
Hangzhou Region Pearl River Bohai Australia and  mainland
(exclude Yuhang (exclude Ningbo Delta Economic  (Discontinued ~ Hongkong China
Yuhang) Region Ningbo) Region Region  RimRegion  operations*) Regions Regions Total
BAME  EE
i R=AlE BEGEE (B&IE HWER  PEAR

(PefEfl)  ARME (TREZR) BEME R=AHR BaE  HEXEY)  EEME  HHME Eh
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBO00
ARETR  ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARRTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR

Revenue from external customers MEEREMA 5,450,790 638138 4832377 1,022,007 1047719 2053919 581,234 5377 1760711 17,393,212
Inter-segment revenue AHERA 233730 55,986 59071 2,360 3904 9,809 - 5 22400 387,265
Reportable segment revenue EES: V9N 5,684,520 694,124 4,891,448 1,024,367 1,051,623 2,063,728 581,234 5382 1,784,111 17,780,537
Reportable segment profit AERABAE 451,622 62,74 320,787 9777 18,609 76445 17,969 (224,882) 209,153 972,226
Interest income FEKA 61,800 15 233 642 139 658 2960 16,039 982 85,571
Interest expense (excluding expense ~ HER R (TREER{H)
capitalised) (13192) (919) (1,872) (10,888) (414) (5,093) (51,131) (219) (3918) (87,646)
Share of profits less losses of associates  HMEBE AR EHER 133,798 - (13) - - 26 - 11,135 - 145,186
Share of profitsless losses of joint ventures 2158 &2 A7 BB B (206) - 87 - - 6 - - - (113)
Impairment of assets BERE
— investment properties —RENE - - - - - - - - 11,708 11,708
— interest in associates —BEDAER 6,300 - - - - - - 25570 - 31,870
Expected creditlosses on financial SRIANEEEEEX
instruments 5,176 3481 46,054 749 15,587 21564 - 15316 30,050 201,722
Depreciation and amortisation forthe ~ FE & R#&H (FREEA(
year (excluding expense capitalised) ) (220859) (16,799) (46,833) (29,931) (8,182) (45,533 (92,720) (26) (23,669) (484,552)
Reportable segment assets 2RI TEE 38,994,478 82614 93421 237,188 1765939 2969030 1486204 2947661 2840432 63537817
Including: B
Interest in joint ventures =X YNG4 $: 8801 - 535 - - 9% - - - 9430
Interest in associates BENAER 544,540 - 10,581 - - 553 - 21,762 - 837,43
Additions to property, plant and ERFENE  BERRE
equipment, right of use assets, RREEE RENE
investment properties, intangible BREENRER
assets and goodwill during the year 245,208 13825 63890 19,261 2,032 50,418 7,797 75 23,8% 611,402
Reportable segment liabilities TERIBER 37535472 804,718 7416410 1,952,366 1,310,171 2,266,868 1,379,963 98,805 2078273 54,843,046
* Upon the completion of the disposal as described in note 4, the * FME EE AR B EE T KA
Group no longer has the control in the childcare business through REBTEBBLURBKRIEH
Montessori Academy Group Holdings Pty Ltd ("MAG") in Australia. Montessori Academy Group Holdings
Accordingly, these operations were classified as discontinued Pty Ltd ([MAG ) S fE B ¥ B B 1%
operations and segment reporting was re-presented. HME - Ht - ZEEBOBEREKL

WEEY BPBEMOMES -
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 BWARSWME2®H(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) HW2W (&)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, iy AEHRIBRA -BR &
profit or loss, assets and liabilities EREENHE

Continuing operations

HEREER
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
Restated
Revenue PN
Reportable segment revenue A2 H B A 19,073,011 17,780,537
Elimination of inter-segment revenue  ¥§§4 % 2B R Uk A (545,251) (387,265)
Elimination of discontinued HIHE LRI EER
operations (note 4) (f15E4) (634,287) (581,234)
Consolidated revenue from BB E A WA
continuing operating (note 3(a)) (FF3E3()) 17,893,473 16,812,038
Profit FE
Reportable segment profit A 2 3o S FE 1,188,156 972,226
Elimination of inter-segment profit %} 855> &8 & K )& - -
Elimination of discontinued HIEE R IEREETR
operations (note 4) (Pt3E4) (117,508) (17,969)
Reportable segment profit derived R B ANEBIFE L E X
from Group's external customers HNER R P EY AT 2 3]
of continuing operations PaR=i D 1,070,648 954,257
Consolidated profit before tax FECEE BB AR S T
from continuing operations 1,070,648 954,257

2024 FEEHE SWIRBEEBRAT 193



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (Fr 5

1T - BAARBITIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3 BWARSWME2®H(E)

194

(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) HTW2/ (&)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, (i) AEBIBUA -8B F
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) ERBENHE(E)
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets RO EE 62,710,744 63,537,817
Elimination of inter-segment Y55 5 2B e MR IR
receivables (45,581,536) (45,975,221)
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE B 564,616 519,073
Consolidated total assets AEREE 17,693,824 18,081,669
Liabilities =N
Reportable segment liabilities AZBoEEaE 53,804,882 54,843,046
Elimination of inter-segment 45 PR AT 3K
payables (45,779,576) (45,986,240)
Current taxation Bl ERFR I8 1,107,020 901,996
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 18,441 97,663
Consolidated total liabilities LAEARE 9,150,767 9,856,465
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered

into a number of agreements with Montessori Academy Pty Ltd
("MA"), CCA Hold Co Pty Ltd. ("CCA") and MAG to dispose
the equity interests of MAG, a then subsidiary of the Group, by
steps. The details were described in the announcement dated 8
November 2024.

(1

Disposal of 11.64% and 10.78% equity interests
of MAG respectively over which the Group loses
control after disposal

On 16 December 2024, the Group disposed of 11.64%
equity interests in MAG to MA Trust at cash consideration
of AUD16.2 million (equivalent to RMB73.50 million). On the
same day, the Group and MAG entered into the buyback
agreement, pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell and
MAG agreed to acquire the buyback shares, representing
approximately 10.78% of the issued share capital of MAG,
for the cash consideration of AUD15.0 million (equivalent to
RMB67.06 million). Upon the completion of the disposal and
buyback, the Group changed its appointment of directors
to the Board of MAG from three directors to two directors.
MAG became an associate of the Group thereafter.

Accordingly, the business operations of MAG were
classified to discontinued operations.

The comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income has been re-presented
to show the discontinued operation separately from
continuing operations.

ST - GUAARKETTIIR)

RIEREXR

BHZE2024F12A3MBLEFE K
& [ 8 Montessori Academy Pty Ltd
(ITMA]) ~ CCA Hold Co Pty Ltd
(TCCA D) RMAGRI M ZE & &
EEAEBRE R KB R FMAGH
Pt - BRAFBERMN A QA AR 2024
F11ASHMASE -

(1)

HEMAGH11.64% &
10.78% K # > HEZAXEH
KA HEGIE
R20245 12 A16H - KEB AR
ERE16L2EBRT (ERRAR
#7350 B B L) 15 MAG 11.64% K]
A & FMA Trust o [A B » 2K
EEEMAGER] TRIERE &
I AEEREHE  MMAGH
EWEDER D (1GMAGE B
TR AR10.78%) - BeREA
150E BRI (ZFRNRAR67.06
BB - HERBEBEERE A
EEBMAGEEEWESRI®m
THEERTAMEES - &
MAG ik AR S E /& AR ©

At - MAGHI X BB R RERK

BEeBEa At ERER

EREY URERLEEEEXRH
BEEFELEEBORIIR -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B B1TaEBASN

4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
(2) Put and call option deed

On 16 December 2024, the Group entered into the Put and
Call Option Deed pursuant to which CCA will grant to the
Group a put option to require CCA (or its nominee or a
combination or MAG and CCA or its nominee) to purchase
the 3,271,757 fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of
MAG held by the Group and the Group will grant to CCA a
call option to sell the Option Shares to CCA (or its nominee
or a combination of MAG and CCA or its nominee) at a
fixed exercise price, subject to the terms and conditions of
the Put and Call Option Deed.

The Directors have recognised the put and call option of
interests in MAG as a derivative financial instrument and
initially recognised it at fair value of RMB42.7 million with
subsequent changes in fair value of RMB139,000 recognised
in profit or loss.

The Directors consider the agreements are entered into at
in contemplation of each other for disposal purpose and all
transactions are related. The total consideration of disposal of
equity interests in MAG over which the Group loses control after
disposal was RMB183 million, included the cash of RMB140.6
million and fair value of Put and Call Option of RMB42.7 million.
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HHRMLTER mASEEER
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BR

4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 4

(@) Results of discontinued operation (a) BRIEREEBELES
For the period
from 1 January
2024 to
16 December
2024 2023
2024
1818 &
2024 F
12H16H
Hi S 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Revenue LON 634,287 581,234
Cost of sales HER A (448,985) (427,345)
Gross profit EX 185,302 153,889
Other net (losses)/income H % (E5ER), s (4,365) 122
Selling and marketing expenses HERITHAY (6,073) (5,623)
Administrative expenses THHZ (98,315) (82,247)
Other operating expenses HAib & &£ (3,879) -
Profit from operations  M&&N® 72670 66141
Finance income* & YA+ 2,417 2,960
Finance costs* B A AR * (54,370) (51,132)
Netfinance costs  BARFFE&E (51.953) (48,172)
Results from operating activities RESEE A 20,717 17,969
Tax expense HERS (1,866) (3,500)
Results from operating activities, RETEREE  NKRBIE
net of tax 18,851 14,469
Gain on disposal of discontinued HEBRIEREER 2 K
operation 96,791 -
Profit from discontinued operations, T IF&E& £ HER -
net of tax HBR T 1| 115,642 14,469

RIEEEER(E)

ST - GUAARKETTIIR)

*

* BREEEEBMRILEE XL ZH
MREBRAMBERAEHEER
AR#12411,0007C (20235 : AR
#9,308,0007C) °

An elimination of finance income and finance costs between the
continued and discontinued operations is amount to RMB12,411,000
(2023: RMB9,308,000).
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4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 4 #RRILE&ERK (&)
(b) Cash flows from discontinued operation (b) ERALREXEKNRERE

For the period
from 1 January

2024 to

16 December
2024 2023

2024

1H1H

£2024 %

12H16 H
Hi 2023 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBTT
Net cash from operating activities KEEBEReFE 74,221 107,836
Net cash from investing activities KEEEASEE T (134,925) (102,059)
Net cash from financing activities B EESIR S E5E 44,772 2,602
Net cash (outflows)/inflows BE CRE),/ mA Tz (15,932) 8,379
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 4 #RRILE&ERK (&)

(c) Effect of disposal of MAG on the financial position () HEMAGH KEE KRR
of the Group N

As at

16 December

2024

R 2024 F

12816 H

RMB’'000

AR T

Current assets MENEE 125,543

Non-current assets EMBEE 1,416,876
Current liabilities mENAE (188,693)
Non-current liabilities EmEBAE (1,128,194)

Net assets BEFHE 225,532
Less: Non-controlling interest W SRR R (93,736)

Net assets of MAG in relation to disposed

HHEREARNOMAGEEFE

equity interests 131,796
Total consideration BRE 183,273
Fair value of remaining interests in MAG* PRMAG 2 Tz A FE* 201,278
Less: Net assets disposed B BEHREEEFE (131,796)

Goodwill EES (155,964)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— B ARz e 96,791
Consideration received, satisfied in cash BURE  UIRE 140,618
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of & : HEMRE RIRNEZEY (99.802)
Net cash inflows IR E R AFRR 40,816

*

The equity interests remained subsequent to disposal are accounted

as interest in associates, which measured at the fair value of disposal

date.

*

1 AR B e RS B A AR
% R RO AT AN E -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

SITHERASN - GUAARKETTIIR)

5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET LOSSES 5 HwAMAEMFEER

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T

Other revenue Ha A
Government grants (note (i) R 4 Bh (B (1)) 50,837 66,021
Value-added tax deductible (note (ii)) AR (B FE (i) - 28,749
Others Hh 47,660 17,496
98,497 112,266

(i) Government grants mainly represent unconditional discretionary financial (i)

support from local municipal government authorities.

(ii) Value-added tax deductible mainly included additional deduction of input (i)
value-added tax applicable to certain subsidiaries of the Group.

BRMBEERLTDBRAEERENE

R BRI IE -

BERENIEEBRERR A B LM
BARMEAEERNMNE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFTT
Restated
Other net losses HibnFEE
Net losses on sale of property, HEWME - HEREEFEE
plant and equipment (3,641) (2,297)
Net (losses)/gain on FVPL BAFEFAEBRENTE(BE),
L&
— Convertible notes (note 19(ii)) — AT A (B R 19Gi) (105,746) (127,434)
— Project investments (notes 19(iv) (vi)) — B EEE (I 19(v) (vi) 59,525 (18,279)
— Unlisted equity investments — JEETIRARE (77,115) (60,856)
— Treasury products —BeE® 1,805 63,281
— Listed equity securities — R ARE S 42,897 (22,923)
— Funds —HE (39,417) (19,213)
— Written put and call options of — BE R TR ARG R
interests in an associate (note 4) R ERRE (FPsE4) 139 -
Net foreign exchange gain/(losses) BE . F W as(E18) 1,898 (3,721)
(119,655) (191,442)
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PRSI EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B B1TaEBASN

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:

BANRETTSIR)

i A
BATFER GIA) /KR TY5EEE
Egs

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Restated
(a) Net finance income (a) REWAFE

Interest income on financial assets NS AT ENSREE
measured at amortised cost B 1 B A (94,549) (82,611)
Interest expense on bank loans RITERFEZH 9.727 5,907
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBGEMNEXZH 28,471 30,608
Net finance income RIE WA FEE (56,351) (46,096)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED) 6 BATFE(E)
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTTT
Restated
(b) Staff costs (b) BIMA
Salaries and other benefits &K EAAE T 4,901,633 4,644,856
Equity-settled share-based payment NEREERNEINER
expense (note 30) (Ff+5E30) 25,427 29,985
Contributions to defined contribution FEHRET B AR (M EEG)
scheme (note (i) 860,193 785,288
5,787,253 5,460,129
Included in: A
— Cost of sales — HEKAR 4,718,834 4,395,985
— Administrative expenses — THAEX 867,928 879,815
— Selling and marketing expenses — HE NEHAX 200,491 184,329
5,787,253 5,460,129
()  Employees of the Group's PRC subsidiaries are required to () ZTEENFEMBAREERZ
participate in a defined contribution scheme administered e 75 BRI KB S R R
and operated by the local municipal government. The EHAREE - AEES BB
Group's PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are NERM A TBARERES H
calculated on certain percentages of the employee salary as eETE LM SR - AR
agreed by the local municipal government to the scheme X & B RIKAER] o
to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
The Group has no other material obligation for the payment B Lt FEERN  AE B E
of retirement benefits associated with these schemes Hih Bz St 8 HEMNRKER

beyond the annual contributions described above. RNEWEREE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(B B1TEASN - BAARKETTIIR)

6 BATFE(E)

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFT
Restated
(¢) Other items HiEH
Expected credit losses on financial TRIAMEHREERX
instruments
— trade receivables (note 34(a)) — B S Wk (M5 34(a)) 218,780 124,102
— other receivables (note 34(a)) — E b E U SR (B 5T 34(a)) 20,975 62,304
— listed debt investments (note 19(i)) — B LETmELFKRE
(B3 190)) 876 15,316
Impairment losses REEE
— investment properties (note 12) —REME (ME12) - 11,708
— inventories —FE 31,687 -
— Goodwill (note 16) — EE (MIsE16) 35,829 -
— interest in associates (note 17) — BN AR (HFT17) 129,169 31,870
Depreciation charge FrEMX
— property, plant and equipment — M BERF 144,473 134,160
— right-of-use assets — (FREEE 156,147 148,768
— investment properties — REYE 69,499 56,721
Amortisation charge B>
— intangible assets —EmEEE 53,821 52,183
Expense relating to short-term REHEMEBER
leases (note 14(a)) (B 3E14(a)) 93,539 121,269
Expense relating to leases of HEEEEEHEMRBAN
low-value assets, excluding Fx  TBEREREEE
short-term leases of low-value BEMRE (HiE14))
assets (note 14(a)) 736 728
(Reversal)/provision for lawsuit (note 32) (BE@), SFanfEis (H3E32) (15,580) 94,048
Cost of inventories FEKA 969,359 1,134,658
Outsourcing labor costs e B TR 5,653,690 5,398,139
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B8R0 BN &
— annual audit services — FEEIRT 4,200 4,150
— review services — EHR 1,200 1,150
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 HZEBEzRkEMZEKRER
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND ZHEH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) HmEBBRZBERREK:

loss represents:

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Restated
Current tax — PRC corporate BEABiE — hE D EMS
income tax
Provision for the year FEEE 431,267 396,308
Under-provision in respect of BAFERETR
prior years 5,479 2,075
... CELD . 398,383 _
Deferred tax ELEBLIE
Origination and reversal of ERERcEERED
_temporarydifferences oo 17823 (145787)
Tax expense on continuing operations #4848 & ¥ 75 2 BB X 318,923 252,596
Tax expense on continuing operations excludes the tax RELEEB BRBRITBRE
expense from the discontinued operation of RMB1,866,000 ERFATERIESEER] (R
(2023: RMB3,500,000) and has been included in A)HMBERITELEEBHMERY
“Discontinued operations” (see note 4). AR B 1,866,0007T (2023 F : AR

i 3,500,000 7T) ©
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BR =TTRERASN -

BANRETTSIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 ZEBERRkEMEZARER
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND ZEH ()
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) REARENHRERIHEE T
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: 3z EAVHER
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Restated
Profit before taxation from continuing  #H88 48 & %75 2 B A1 FE
operations 1,070,648 954,257
National tax on profit before taxation, XBATAER - EAR
calculated at the rates applicable FENBEERONEN
to profits in the tax jurisdictions R E (L))
concerned (note (i) 286,019 254,972
Tax benefit of subsidiaries subjectto  Fff B2 Rl FAE BB EHUL
preferential tax rates (note (ii) A (B 5E i) (3,740) (20,063)
Tax effect of non-deductible TRAIHRERN NG E -
expenses, net of non-taxable R FEFE T WA
income 23,506 52,181
Additional deduction for qualified S EBREEANEIMR
research and development cost (PR 52 (i)
(note (iii) (5,848) (9,267)
Tax effect of unused tax losses and AERBELEHIBEEEL
other temporary differences not REN AT IE ET1E I E B A
recognised as deferred tax assets EROMBEE 33,132 19,589
Recognition of temporary deductible R IBEFERERBIEIL
differences and tax losses not MIBEENER AR ER
recognised as deferred tax assets REEEE
in previous years (26,505) (23,007)
Reversal of deferred tax recognised BEFEERELENIEED
in prior years 6,683 11,420
Tax effect of share of results of LB E RN R REEARIER
associates and joint ventures 2T 197 (35,304)
Under-provision in respect of BAFERETR
prior years 5,479 2,075
Actual tax expense on continuing FECEEBNERRIAR X
operations 318,923 252,596
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)

(i)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and BVI.

The income tax rate applicable to Group entities
incorporated in Hong Kong for the income subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax is 16.5%. A two-tiered profits
tax rates regime was introduced in 2018 whereby the
first HKD2 million in assessable profits earned by a
company will be taxed at half of the current tax rate
(8.25%), while the remaining profits will continue to be
taxed at 16.5%.

The income tax rate applicable to Group entities
incorporated in Australia for the income subject to
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 during the reporting
period is 30%.

(ii) PRC Corporate Income Tax
The Group's PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC
income tax at 25% unless otherwise specified.

—  For the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, the Group's certain subsidiaries fulfilled
the criteria required for preferential income tax
rate granted to small and low profit-making
enterprised in the PRC, and were entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 5% on taxable
income within RMB3,000,000.

—  Pursuant to Chapter 28 of the Law of the
People's Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax, enterprises are entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% after
the recognition of high and new technology
enterprise.
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B B1TaEBASN

7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

PRC Corporate Income Tax (Continued)

The following list contains subsidiaries of the Group
obtained high and new technology enterprise
certifications and entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 15%.

BANRETTSIR)

&%Méﬁ%é%

(b) BERABENHIRMET
FMEzBHYEEK: (&)

(i) HELXMEHR (B
ARERFSSAEMERR
& A ERIS%AEHER
BMEHMBABFRL TR -

Concessionary Applicable
tax rate period
BEX i A EARR

Hangzhou Greentown Information and Technology
Company Limited*
MINERIRE BT B R 2 7]

Lvman Technology Company Limited*

15% 2024 to 2026
2024 F &= 2026 F

15% 2022 to 2024

BRI BRAR 2022 5 % 2024
Zhejiang Huixiang Information and Technology Company Limited* 15% 2023 to 2025
MIBZEEMRARATR 2023 F & 2025 F

Zhejiang Greentown Architectural Technology Co., Ltd.*
AT ER B R AR

Caizhiyunxiang (Hangzhou) Data Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
MEEZE (M) BIERESRMERAF

Zhejiang Greentown Housing Service System Co., Ltd.
("Housing Services")* (note 18(i))

LB EEREZRERAE ([EERB D (HEE180)

Zhejiang Greentown Chunling Technology Group Co., Ltd.*
TR EE RN XEEERAT

* The English translation of the Company name is for reference
only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

Under the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its
relevant regulations, additional tax deduction is
allowed for qualified research and development costs.

15% 2024 to 2026
2024 F 2 2026 F

15% 2022 to 2024
2022 F = 2024 F

15% 1 January 2024 to
19 April 2024

20241 A1RE
202454 4198

15% 2022 to 2024
2022 F 2 2024 F

« ARERMEXBRERS
% REAAMEEREA
X -

(i) REFE(RPEARAMBELZE
FrEmE) REBBERE
RGN ZER A ER
SMOER ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (R B1TaEBASN + HUAAREILIIR)

8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8 EEM2
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the RIRE A R AEGI 2 383(1) R kA a) (4]
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BEENRERBAMNE2EN  E5Me
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation WEINT :

are as follows:

Salaries, Equity settled
allowances Retirement  share-based
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme transactions 2024
fees in kind bonuses  contributions expense Total
NEREE
#e - BRR NRBRER 2024 %
EShe ENEA REEAL  BAGEMR  2REBRX @it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTR  ARMTr  AR®Tx  AR®Tn  ARRTR

Chairman Ed:4
Mr. Yang Zhangfa Berit - 2130 960 121 1,255 4,466
Executive directors YiTES
Ms. Jin Keli SHERT - 1,784 960 121 749 3,614
Mr. Chen Hao Btk

(resigned on 24 February 2005) (202552 A 24 AEAT) - 1,582 374 - 35 1,991
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Li Hairong FRRRL 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Shou Bainian SHERE 300 - - - - 300
Ms. Xia Yibo E-fut 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Liu Xingwei HERRE

(resigned on 24 February 2025) (30202542 A 24 A EHT) 300 - - - - 300

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kok EREEE 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Wong Ka Yi ERERE 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Li Feng FEEE 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Jia Shenghua EEERLE 300 - - - - 300

2,400 5,496 2,294 242 2,039 12471
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

8 DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

8 EEM= (&)

Salaries, Equity settled
allowances Retirement  share-based
Directors'  andbenefits  Discretionary scheme  transactions 2023
fees inkind bonuses  contrioutions expense Total
DREEE
FoEER SRR AER 03%
EEiE EMiEH BEZL  RAGHESE  ZRPRX @5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBFR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Chairman £33
Mr. Yang Zhangfa ESS - 209 9%0 125 854 4,035
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Jin Keli ERERT - 1,669 960 125 122 2876
Mr. Wu Zhihua REERE(RABE
(resigned on 10 February 2023) 2 A 10 B &) - 194 - 2 - 214
Mr. Chen Hao Rs%E - 1,551 374 2 4 1973
Non-executive directors ¥unES
Ms. Li Hairong Ey:E S 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Shou Bainian ShERE 300 - - - - 300
Ms. Xia Yibo Bt 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Zeng Yiming LRMATE
(resigned on 28 March 2023) (RABEIABEREE) 75 - - - - 75
Mr. Liu Xingwei ARERE(R03E
(appointed on 28 March 2023~ 3ABBEZ) 25 - - - - 225
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok BRELE 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Wong Ka Yi ERHEREE 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Li Feng FEEE 300 - - - - 300
Ms. Wu Aiping RERLL
(resigned on 1 June 2023) (R2023F6R1BET) 125 - - - - 125
Mr. Jia Shenghua ERERE(RA3E
(appointed on 1 June 2023) 6A1BEZ() 175 - - - - 175
2400 5510 2,94 212 1022 11,498
(i)  There were no emoluments during the above periods paid () REREHE AEEHSERES
by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest paid ok T X9 Pt ) AL B = B A
individuals set out in note 9 below as an inducement to TXNEAME  EREFRSE
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss IS AN AN £ E 1% 1) 52 B ok
of office. In addition, no director has waived or agreed to BEAE o thoh - A EuiHRRS - B 4E
waive any emoluments during the above periods. BEEMEIRAEREEAHE -
(i) Mr. Song Hailin has been appointed as a non-executive (i) REBREEBZEIFRTES

Director with effect from 24 February 2025.

B 20252 A24 B AR -
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 9 &E&S¥H AL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023: hAE&EEHFALTHR WA (2023F : =
three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. N EEE HENESRKESHE -
The emoluments in respect of three (2023: two) individual are as =% (20235 : ME) ATHB S H 50
follows: Nk
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
Salaries, allowance, and benefits-in-kind &% - 2B R BEWEF 3,652 2,486
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 4,052 1,475
Retirement scheme contributions RORET SR 266 280
Share based payment LA 7 B EL B 2 S 7Rk 1,446 213
9,416 4,454
The emoluments of the above individual with the highest FilsEEmHATHHSEELNT -

emoluments are within the following bands:

2024 2023

2024 £ 20234

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A N

HKD2,000,001 — HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 % 7T & 2,500,000 7 7T - 1
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 & 7T & 3,000,000/ 7T 2 1
HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 & 7T & 3,500,000/ 7T - -
HKD3,500,001 — HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 7 7T & 4,000,000 7 7T - -
HKD4,500,001 — HKD5,000,000 4,500,001 % 7T 2 5,000,000 % 7T 1 -
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 10 EzmEk =
2024 2023
2024 F 20235
Before-tax Before tax
amount Tax benefit  Net-of tax amount  Taxbenefit  Net-of tax

HAEE  BEES ik HAEE  HBEES i3
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETR ARBTRT AR®TR ARETT ARETLT ARETR

Exchange differences on ATHEVERZS:
translation of:
— financial statements of — BB AN B 2 A
subsidiaries outside the (BMEB) BBRE
mainland China with foreign (FTE1E)
operation (recycling) - - - 6,494 - 6,494
— financial statements of the ~ — AR B R AR A]F
Company and the Company's At LAGNT B A A
subsidiaries outside the (FEEoMER)
mainland China with non- BHRE (T 2E)
foreign operation (non
recycling) 68,510 - 68,510 32,604 - 32,604
Equity investments at FVOCl —  RATFEHAEMEZE
net movement in fair value MR E 2 AR E
reserves (non-recycling) —nTEREL
REY(TA2E) (3,657) - (3,657) (4,508) 113 (4,395)
Share of other comprehensive AR EHRMAMEE
income of the investees Wegs (1a] 88)
(non-recycling) - - - 26,610 - 26,610
Other comprehensive income  E At 2 & K& 64,853 = 64,853 61,200 113 61,313
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 8REF

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders
of the Company arising from continuing operations
and discontinued operations of RMB677,732,000 and
RMB107,348,000 (2023: RMB597,272,000 and RMB8,102,000)
respectively, and the weighted average of 3,164,276,000
ordinary shares (2023: 3,210,924,000 shares) in issue during
the year, calculated as follows:

(a)

BREXRZR
EREFBINNHFEKRERA
AIRERKEEBRME R ILLEE
X¥BEBERTERBRENFE
o R A AR B 677,732,000 7T F
A K #107,348,000 7T (20234 :
A R % 597,272,000 7T F1 A R ¥
8,102,0007T) ' A RARF[E B 817
37 A% 3,164,276,000 f% (2023 4F -
3,210,924,000 %) &) hn#E F 5 1E -
FEMT

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) EERMEFLHH(ER)
2024 2023
2024 20234
‘000 ‘000
T iR T &
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January MTATBZ B ETERK 3,188,036 3,227,696
Effect of shares repurchased EfERhO T2 (23,760) (16,772)

Weighted average number of ordinary 712 A 31 B 2 & @Ak it
shares at 31 December I 3,164,276 3,210,924
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BREERAF

The Company issued potentially dilutive instrument such
as equity settled share-based transaction (see note 30) in
previous years. However, the Company did not include
this instrument in its calculation of diluted earnings per
share during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
because the effect of such inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Therefore, diluted earnings per share are the same as the
basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12 REWE
Leased Leasehold

properties  improvements Total
HEWME HEMERE wmEt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARET T AREFTT

Cost: RN :
At 1 January 2023 20231 A1 R 595,770 29,582 625,352
Additions NE 9,677 2,027 11,704
Disposals HE (154,910) - (154,910)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 A31H 450,537 31,609 482,146
Additions NE 198,475 - 198,475
Disposals & (33,147) (18,306) (51,453)
At 31 December 2024 A2024%12A31H 615,865 13,303 629,168

Accumulated depreciation: ZIHE:

At 1 January 2023 MR2023F 1 A1H (94,930) (2,025) (96,955)
Additions = (56,104) (617) (56,721)
Disposals & 37,255 - 37,255
At 31 December 2023 7R2023F 12 A431H (113,779) (2,642) (116,4217)
Additions NE (67,009) (2,490) (69,499)
Disposals & 32,927 524 33,451
At 31 December 2024 ~~ M2024%12A31R | (147860 (4.008)  (152,469)
Accumulated Impairment: RiHRE :
At 1 January 2023 2023F1 A1 R - - -
Additions NE (11,708) - (11,708)
Disposals HE 11,708 - 11,708
At 31 December 2023, M 2023%F12HA318 -

1 January 2024 and 20241 A1 HK2024
_.31Decomber2024 ... F12A3B S S
Net book value: BRIENEE :
At 31 December 2024 A2024512831H 468,004 8,695 476,699
At 31 December 2023 202312 A31H 336,758 28,967 365,725
The investment properties are valued by management to be EEENR2024F12 A BHKREYE
RMB479,877,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB407,380,000) Bl B B A R % 479,877,000 7T (2023
using discounted cash flow techniques based on contracted and #F : AR ®407,380,0007T) @ AfE A E
expected cash inflows and outflows arising from the investment RIEEMEEENDITARBAR SR
properties. ARREHE BRI &M 8 AT
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y% BERRHE
Office
Leasehold equipment Construction-
Buildings  improvements  and furniture  Motor vehicles in-progress Total
By HEWRRE REE nE fEETR @t

RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARETT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARRTRT  ARET:R

Cost: KA
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1 418 245,258 871,069 352,677 39,907 3,496 1,512,407
Additions RE 15430 194,326 61,307 6113 4723 281,899
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEEHB A El - 1,648 1,491 - - 3,139
Exchange adjustments B X A% - 18,645 2232 10 - 20,887
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - 1) (876) - - (887)
Disposals e (23) - (13,513) (4,490) - (18,026)
Transfer from ERETRIR

construction-in-progress - - 2,325 - (2,325 -
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F12A318 260,665 1,085,677 405,643 41,540 5,894 1,799,419
At 1 January 2024 202451418 260,665 1,085,677 405,643 41,540 589 1,799,419
Additions NE 65977 210,359 52,576 4,365 451 333,728
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y HIB 2 & - - 11 - - 11
Disposal of subsidiaries HENRBAF (29,017) (811,293 (60,09) (1,150) - (901,556)
Disposals LE - - (22,089) (2,534) (4,903 (29,526)
Transfer from ggafrIe

construction-in-progress - - 856 - (856) -
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 128318 297,625 484,743 376,901 42,221 586 1,202,076
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 M%¥ BMERREE)
(CONTINUED)
Office
Leasehold equipment Construction-
Buildings  improvements  andfumiture  Motor vehicles in-progress Total
N
By HEWREE RExE nE fEEIR #;

RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE  ARETT  ARETR  AREBTR  ARRTRE  ARET:R

Accumulated depreciation: Rt % :

At 1 January 2023 RABE1A1H (61,634) (302,611) (210,077) (20,843) - (595,165)
Charge for the year EEXH (7,358) (81,298) (81,778) (4,609) - (175,043)
Acquisition of subsidiaries  YEEHB A F - - (125) - - (125)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - (2,888) (1,536) ) - (4,432)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - 3 378 - - 381
Written back on disposals 1 &) 9 - 10616 3,185 - 13810
At31Decomber 2023 RABERANAE | 6853 G869 @252 @ o (760,574)
At 1 January 2024 R2024E1A1H (68,983) (386,794) (282,522) (22.275) - (760,574)
Charge for the year EEYH (8,600) (85,198) (85,309) (4,091) - (183,198)
Acquisition of subsidiaries  REEH B - - (4 - - @
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBAR] 18,702 178,566 41,006 943 - 239,217
Written back on disposals i E&[E - - 17,625 1,486 - 1911
At31December 2024 RAMUFRANA o8 @428 U204 @9 o (685.448)
Net book value: FHFE:

At 31 December 2024 M2024F 128318 238,744 191,317 67,697 18,284 586 516,628
At 31 December 2023 R2023% 128318 191,682 698,883 123121 19,265 5,894 1,038,845
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

SITHERASN - GUAARKETTIIR)

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

14 EREEEREERE

Right-of-use assets (a) EAEEE
Leasehold
properties
for own use
carried at
depreciated
cost Other leases Total
BITE AR
HIER 2
EREEME HiiHE 5T
note (i) note (ii)
MR () B 5 (i)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T ARETF T
Cost: RS
At 1 January 2023 M2023F181H 1,251,839 110,243 1,362,082
Additions NE 184,621 16,474 201,095
Exchange adjustments TE 7 % 23,498 - 23,498
Disposals & (123,792) (3,516) (127,308)
At 31 December 2023  }N2023%12A31RH 1836166 123201 1459367
At 1 January 2024 R2024%F1 A1 H 1,336,166 123,201 1,459,367
Additions NE 220,482 710 221,192
Disposals of subsidiaries HENB A A (995,570) - (995,570)
Disposals e (82,243) (3,350) (85,593)
At 31 December 2024 ~ 2024%12A8318 478835 120561 599,39
Accumulated depreciation: R ITE
At 1 January 2023 M2023F181H (386,742) (37,722) (424,464)
Charge for the year FREXH (160,653) (45,059) (205,712)
Exchange adjustments TE 7 % (7,611) - (7,611)
Written back on disposals & #m 109,899 3,516 113,415
At 31 December 2023  }02023%12A31R | (445107) (79,265  (524372)
At 1 January 2024 R2024%F1 A1 H (445,107) (79,265) (524,372)
Charge for the year FESH (204,310) (31,309) (235,619)
Disposals of subsidiaries HEHB QR 341,254 - 341,254
Written back on disposals &S B E 52,689 3,350 56,039
At 31 December 2024 ~ }2024%128318 | (255474) (107,224)  (362,698)
Net book value: RHEFE
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 31 H 223,361 13,337 236,698
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 A31H 891,059 43,936 934,995

216 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BR

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
For the right-of-use assets which meet the definition of
investment properties and inventories (car parking places),
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets as investment
properties and inventories (see notes 12 and 22).

Depreciation charge of RMB8,357,000 (2023: RMB9,524,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been capitalised
in “Property, plant and equipment” when these cost are
relating to development activities.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

BTSN -

BANRETTSIR)

14 EREEERBERE(E)

EREEE (8)
HERBEETAREMERT
B OREM) 2 EE  AAKEK
ZEERAREERRARNEDE
kEE (RMsE12K%22) -

(a)

HE2024F12831BIEFEZT
E % 1 A R #8,357,000 7T (2023
F . ARM9524,0007T) B R ZE
RARMEETHEERER LS
(% BE&E&E] -

BN EBERER cEEZRAXA

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: BT :
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTIT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) ~ FHEBEF B (FiE6(a)) 28,471 30,608
Expenses related to short-term leases 52 EATHEMERE A (M7 6(c))
(note 6(c)) 93,539 121,269
Expense relating to leases of low-value ELEKEBZEMERENER -
assets, excluding short-term leases of TEIERHAKEEEEHRE
low-value assets (note 6(c)) (Bt 5E6(c)) 736 728
(i) Leasehold properties for own use () BRHEEYE
The Group has obtained the right to use properties rEBECEFEAEEHZES
as its office spaces, teaching buildings, service FERENEYERERRR
apartments and retail stores through tenancy E HEE BREA2TR
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial TEME - BEZVHRFH
period of 2 to 10 years. Lease payments are usually BER2E10F - HEMNK
increased every 2 years to reflect market rentals. —MREMF LR —IK AR
BMHiSHEE e
(i) Other leases (i) HiEE
The Group leases office equipment and furniture AEBA2E10F 2 HHME
under leases expiring from 2 to 10 years. EMRERBERRE -
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 14 EREEEREEAE(E)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Lease liabilities (b)y HEEE
At 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable R2024F12A31H - EEEHRE
as follows: BENT :

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

2024 % 2023 4F

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARMBF T

Within 1 year —FKN 159,839 287,750
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMRFEA 180,252 313,683
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBRFA 191,574 564,818
After 5 years hEE 181,409 251,461
713,074 1,417,712
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)  (F&

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ST - GUAARKETTIIR)

15 BEE

Capitalised Unfulfilled
development  Customer service
Software costs  relationship contracts Brand Total
e AR RETZ
gt ERXMt  EFBE  RESH mhE @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARNKTR ARBTL ARETT ARETR AR%TR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 202351 A1 A 318,673 19,810 133,358 51,242 207,205 730,288
Acquired from acquisition of ~ WEEM B A FEE
subsidiaries 445 - - - - 445
Additions NE 116,704 - - - - 116,704
Reclassified EX Dk 19,810 (19,810) - - - -
Disposal & (4,592) - - - - (4,592)
Exchange adjustments ERBEE - - 573 - 5916 6,489
At 31 December 2023 R2023 5124318 451,040 - 133,931 51,242 23121 849,334
At 1 January 2024 2024 51R18 451,040 - 133,931 51,242 213,121 849,334
Additions NE 64,664 - - - - 64,664
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHHEAR (3,750) - (13,065) - 213121)  (229,936)
Disposal of Intangible Assets ~ HERVEE () - - - - ()
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12E318 511,949 — 12086 51,242 ~ 68405
Accumulated amortisation: it ##
At 1 January 2023 202351 A1 A (145,231) - (25,317) (30,712) - (201,260)
Charge for the year FEXH (27,093) - (16,382) (13125) - (56,600)
Written back on disposals HE#D 1,334 - - - - 1,334
Exchange adjustments ERAE - - (467) - - (467)
At3 December 2023 RABFRANA 0090 R L L 126993
At 1 January 2024 20245118 (170,990) - (42,166) (43,837) - (256,993)
Charge for the year FEIH (36,586) - (14,326) (7,405) - (58,317)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHBAR 576 - 11,596 - - 12,172
Written back on disposals HERD 1 - - - - 1
At31December2024 RA4F12ANA 200999 . L A ) - 0837
Net book value: BRERE -
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A318 304,950 - 75970 - - 380,920
At 31 December 2023 20235 12A318 280,050 - 91,765 7,405 213,121 592,341
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B ISER R BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

16 GOODWILL 16 BHE
RMB’000

ARBTT
Cost: AN :
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 657,562
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries RUGERBRARIRES 1,212
Exchange adjustments bE 3 B 2,487
At 31 December 2023 7R 2023F 12 A31H 661,261
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWNBRR (190,760)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12 A31H 470,501
Accumulated Impairment: Z5HREME -
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 H31 H -
Impairment loss BB 1R (35,829)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 A31H (35,829)
Carrying values: ARMEE :
At 31 December 2024 1202412 431 H 434,672
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 661,261
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z7T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

16 GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 16 HE(E)

Impairment of CGU containing goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill
is allocated to a group of CGU (being subsidiaries acquired in
each acquisition). Such group of CGU represents the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes.

REELEN(B2BE)RE
RETHERENR BEEIEE—
MAECELBEUAESREBTEA
MBAE) - BEREEEFEMAR
RAKBRAREEENEERE LR
EEX -

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT

Digital intelligence space (formerly B = (RIS [T AR 2 52

named “Zhejiang Greentown BRERARLD

Architectural Technology Co., Ltd.”) 226,387 226,387
MAG MAG - 169,281
Other subsidiaries in property services P 3 Bl 765 EL At Bt B8 R R 159,852 184,351
Other subsidiaries in other services REM RS 2 B A B A A 48,433 81,242
Total At 434,672 661,261

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections primarily based on the respective financial budgets of
the CGU covering a five-year period estimated and approved by
management.

Digital intelligence space department

The following table sets each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of on acquisition of Digital intelligence space
department as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

ReELBMZz DR IERERE
REEAEEE REFAEERNRS
MEETRENEEEE G AL E L
EReEABUDTFHRVBES -

HETEIM

TR EEBR2024F12A318 K
2023F12ANBERER S RIEEAT
ETZRRBEE EHAMELNEE
MAERENHARAZ S EEERE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

Revenue (% annual growth rate) WA (FEERY%) 36.5%-12.0% 24.0%-5.4%
Cost of sales (% of revenue) HEMAR (KA Z%) 64.1%-59.8%  55.8%-54.6%
Long-term growth rate REGRE 2.0% 2.2%
Pre-tax discount rate AT HTIR %= 17.3% 17.4%
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B Z1T5ERASN - HUAA R TIITR)

16 GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 16 HE(E)

Digital intelligence space department (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the estimated recoverable amount
of Digital intelligence space department exceeded its carrying
amount by approximately RMB34 million. Management
has identified that a reasonably possible change in four key
assumptions could cause the carrying amount to exceed the
recoverable amount. The following table shows the amount by
which these four assumptions would need to change individually
for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying
amount.

Revenue (% annual growth rate) -0.99%
Cost of sales (% of revenue) 1.34%
Long-term growth rates -1.06%
Pre-tax discount rate 0.67%

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted
average growth rate of 2.0% (2023: 2.2%), which is consistent
with the Chinese Consumer Price Index from 2024 IMF World
Economic outlook. The growth rates used do not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the business in which the
CGU operates. The cash flows are discounted using a discount
rate of 17.3% (2023: 17.4%). The discount rates used are pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.
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R2024 512 A3 H » HUE =R P9 3&
Al ezER T EESEHOARE M
AET -BEEEDLEE NEFXFER
B AEA NS LA ERERER
BBERIRE SR - TRER T ENER
HOREEREN ST - LUFEBEFTTK

CeEENEmEHE -

WA (FIERE%) -0.99%
HEAN (WA Z%) 1.34%
REERE -1.06%
TR 3R K 0.67%

ReEFBMNMAWEISETIAFERE
BT EREEE - RS E R ERARE
REEBEEHANAFHUBREENERE
TRIER o B T HARYIR & (s A HE 2R
B 2024 F IMF World Economic outlook
MERBEERESE —BRMINET
18 R T 2.0% HEET (2023 4F - 2.2%) ©
FFABERERTBERARSELESUL
EMEEBNRPIHERE - ZER
SR TYIR B R 17.3% 8 3 (2023 4F
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B IS ER AR BT RE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (R B1TaEBASN + HAAREILIIR)

16 GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

MAG

The following table sets each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill and the Brand arising on
acquisition of MAG as at 31 December 2023:

TRE|HNEEEBR2023F12A3MBE
RER SR HEEPTET 2 ARBMAG
EENBELRERENARAZEE
FTERK:

2023

2023

Revenue (% annual growth rate) WA (FEER) 15%-5%
Staff cost (% of revenue) BTIRAMAZS) 58.5%-57.6%
Long-term growth rate REERE 2.5%
Pre-tax discount rate AT ITIR =R 15.7%

As at 31 December 2023, the estimated recoverable amount of
MAG exceeded its carrying amount by approximately RMB74
million. The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period.

In respect of goodwill arising on acquisition of other subsidiaries,
the value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections primarily
based on the respective financial budgets of the CGU covering
a five-year period estimated and approved by management.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated to be
similar to that of the respective final forecast years on existing
service capacity. The pre-tax discount rates ranging from 16.87%
to 17.90% (2023: from 15.01% to 24.00%) reflect current market
assessment of the time value of money and specific risks relating
to the CGU.

As at 31 December 2024, the impairment loss of RMB35.8
million (31 December 2023: nil) recognised in “Other operating
expenses” (see note 6(c)) during the year solely relates to the
Group's other subsidiaries in property and other services.
As the CGU has been reduced to its recoverable amount of
RMB10.54 million, any adverse change in the assumptions used
in the calculation of recoverable amount would result in further
impairment losses.

2023512 A31H - MAGTE ST /] Y (@]
CHBHEASHEOARB4AEBET
ReEESMMA BB AFERE
B EHEET - ZEEHERAE
NEBEIEN A FHUBEENRS
TR TER o

AREREEMRB AR MEENE
2 FHEENTEIZANERER
ML ENReELEEV AT HMAS
BN BEERERRSTRHEE - AF
AR @M B B8 & 1% T8 R 5
FIREREEENTEM - AR EN T
16.87% &F 17.90% (20234 : 15.01% =
24.00%) * RMLT ERITHISE B KRR
BEMTE  URERSELEENEHE
r) A58 R e o

R2024F12A31H > FRARTHMKLE
Fx | (RHE6() R RER KR ERBEBA
R¥358HET (20234128318 « #)
EEAEEHMBHBARNMEREMD
[REER AR ZREELEENDHE
HAakE4£3EAREI1054B8 T &t
AT Uk 515 BB AT A R A% 9 AT fr] )
BB —TRERAE -
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

17

ST - BUAARETIIR)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 17 REBEE DT ZER
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Investment in associates REEE AR 2IE 638,796 690,322
Amounts due from associates (note 36(d)(i)) F& U EE &~ 7] 5038 (B 5F 36(d)(i) 160,311 147,114
799,107 837,436

The following table analyses, in aggregate, the carrying amount

TREESTNEE R ARERNREE

and share of profit or loss of interest in associates. NEGER -
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Opening carrying amount HEREE 837,436 659,203
Addition of associates (note (i) AN D~ J) (B RE ) 218,637 68,924

Share of post-acquisition profit less loss,  FE{h S8 1& & FRET 18

net of dividend received Ik B W% B (130,635) 137,853
Exchange adjustments TE A% 2,838 3,326
Impairment loss B EE (129,169) (31,870)
Closing carrying amount HREREE 799,107 837,436
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

ST - BUAARETIIR)

R & X7 2 ()

TREJHAEAEERLEAAZE
Ko R REIRRHARAR ([ RE
R))AEELTRABESI - EiphE

17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17

The following list contains only the particulars of major associates
of the Group. Except for Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (“Zhong
Ao Home") which was listed equity securities in Hong Kong,

others are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price

is not available:

MIGMEZFELTEXER:

Place of Effective interest
Form of business ~ incorporation Registered held by the Group Principal activity
Name of associate structure and business capital At 31 December and legal status
AR AEER12A31H
BENTER EBRBYA XY ifER RENERER TERBRERBA
2024 2023
0245 PURES
MAG () Incorporated Australia AUD86,460,698 35% 5%  Nursery services, day-to-day
education services,
\ limited liabilty company
MAG ) i AR 86,460,698 2T RERE  ARHERE
EREALT
Yiwu State-owned Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RMB3,000,000 40% 40%  Property management,
Services Company Limited limited liability company
ETRERINERERRA e hE ABR%30000007C NEER BRAMLA
Shanghai Xinhu Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RMB20,000,000 34% 34%  Property management,
Services Company Limited ‘ limited liability company
LEmRgEnEREARAR i Mer hE ARE20,0000007 NEER ERAMLA
Shenyang Xinhu Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RIMB5,000,000 34% 34%  Property management,
Services Company Limited ‘ limited liability company
EBRARANERBERAA e hE ARES50000007T NEER BRAMLA
Quzhou Xinhu Greentown Incorporated the PRC RMBS500,000 34% 34%  Property management,
Services Company Limited ‘ limited liability company
BB ERBERAA e hE ARH 5000007 NXER ERAMLA
Jurong Xinhu Baohua Conference Incorporated the PRC RMB100,000 34% 3%  Meeting and banquet services,
Center Company Limited ‘ limited liability company
AR AEEEE P LARAR e hE ARHE1000007T SEREERY ARELLA
Zhejiang Xinlv Commercial Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 34% 3%  Commercial Management,
Management Co,, Ltd. ‘ limited liability company
NG AXEEERARAR e hE AEE100000007 BEER ARAMLT
Jiangxi Xinvjing Property Services Incorporated the PRC RMBS5,000,000 17% 17%  Property management,
Company Limited ‘ limited liability company
TRFRRNXREERAD" e hE ARE5,0000007T NXER BRAMLA
Zhejiang Xinhu Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 34% 3%  Property management,
Services Company Limited \ limited liability company
WIRRENxREARAR" Fid) )74 hE ARE100000007 NXER ERAMLA
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17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17 REEERTRI 2 (B8)

Place of Effective interest
Form of business ~ incorporation Registered held by the Group Principal activity
Name of associate structure and business capital At 31 December and legal status
ERELR KEEM2A318
L WEEL £33 S XY ifER HRNERESR TEEBRLRA
2024 203
0245 WBE
Greentown Lvcheng vfa Community Incorporated the PRC RMBS0,000,000 15% 15%  Property management,

Service Company Limited ‘ limited liability company
BRREERBEIRRAA e hE AEE 500000007 NRER ERAMLA
Ningbo Yule Investment Co,, Ltd. (“Ningbo Yule")  Incorporated the PRC RMB50,000,000 40% 40%  Investment management,

‘ limited liability company
ERRRRARRAD (ERAE ) e hE AR 500000007 REEE BRAMAA
Beijing Oriental Star Technology Co,, Ltd Incorporated the PRC RMB33,163,637 16% 12%  Technical advisory,

‘ limited liability company
FREAZEMBRARRA i hE ARE33163631 T Ri#A - BRALLA
Zhong Ao Home Incorporated Cayman Islands HKD80,000,000 19% 19%  Property management,

\ limited liability company
hEIK Fid) )74 FEHE 80,000,000 7 NXER ERAMLA
Greentown Technology Industry Incorporated the PRC RMBS0,000,000 10% 10%  Information Technology

Services Company Limited Consultant, limited

‘ liability company
BUNRERRBERARAD e hE ARE 300000007 ERNRER ARELLT
Zhejiang Yunbang Security Incorporated the PRC RMB10,500,000 31% 31%  Security Service Technology,

Senice Technology Co, Ltd. ‘ limitedizbility company
WIEALHRBHRARA D e hE ARB10500007 LR AREELT
Zhejiang Yunjie Environmental Technology Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 31% 31%  Environmental Technology

Service Co,, Ltd. Service, limited

‘ ligbility company
WIZZRAHRREAR DA iz hE ARE100000007 RENERE BRELLA
Shandong Tiefa Greentown Property Incorporated the PRC RMBS5,000,000 15% 15%  Property management,

Services Company Limited ‘ limited liability company
WREFANRERARAR e hE ABRH5,0000007T NXER BRAMLA
Hangzhou Jiancheng Asset Management Incorporated the PRC RMB50,000,000 20% 20%  Asset management,

Co, Ltd ("Hangzhou Jiancheng”) ‘ limited liability company
RNRREEEEARAD  ([MEK]) Fid )74 hE AR 500000007 AEER BRAMLA
Zhejiang Jinlu Property Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 45% 45%  Property management,

Sevice Co, Ltd \ limited liability company
WIERNERBBRAA Fid) )74 hE AEH100000007 NXER BERAMLA
Xi'an High-tech Zone Chuangfu Lvcheng Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 49% 49%  Property management,

Property Service Co, Ltd \ limited liability company
AR =R AR ERERRAA Fid 74T hE ARH 100000007 NXER BRAMLA
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17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17 RBE DTz EH (B)
Place of Effective interest
Form of business ~ incorporation Registered held by the Group Principal activity
Name of associate structure and business capital At 31 December and legal status
ERELR KEEM2A318
L WEEL £33 S LESH ] ifER HRNERESR TEEBRLRA
2024 203
0245 WBE
Zhejiang Lancheng Henghui Incorporated the PRC RIV100,000,000 41% 41%  Software and information
Technology Development Co., Ltd technology services,
\ limited liability company
HIENEENRERARAR" e hE B 1000000007 anRRmHA - BR
EfERA
Zhejiang Greentown |deal Life Commercial Incorporated the PRC RMB20,000,000 30% 30%  Management Consulting,
Operation Senvice Co,, Ltd limited liability company
MIEEBEZEE REARLR e hE AR%20,000,0007T BRI ARAMLT
Shanxi Lvcheng Huamei Property Senvice Co, Ltd  Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 40% 40%  Property management,
limited liability company
REGHEXNEREARAMELA e hE AE%10000,0007T NEER ARAMLT
Zhejiang Zhijiang Property Service Co,, Ltd Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 49% 49%  Property management,
limited liability company
WL INEERERAT i hE AR10,0000007T NEXER AREMLA
Zhejiang Lanzheng Enterprise Management Incorporated the PRC RMB20,000,000 21% 21%  Management Consulting,
Consutting Co., Ltd limited liability company
MIELAXERANARAT e hE AR 2000000070 ERH ARAMLT
Zhejiang Yunyong Supply Chain Incorporated the PRC RMB20,040,000 50% 50%  Supply Chain Management,
Management Co,, Ltd limited liability company
MIERRERERERAR" A hE AR 20,040,007 fERER ARALLA
Zhejiang Puyule Technology Co., Ltd Incorporated the PRC RMB10,000,000 17% 0% Software and information
technology services,
\ limited liability company
HTEARHRARL" Fid) )74 hE ARH10,000,0007T A REmEE AR
2l
Shanghai Greentown Chunyi Information Incorporated the PRC RMB5,000,000 20% 51%  Software and information
Technology Co,, Ltd. technology semvices,
limited liability company
HEGHRRESHRARA R e hE AR5,0000007 Qe AREH

The English translation of the Company name is for reference only. The
official names of these companies are in Chinese.

(i) As set out in note 4, the Group disposed of 22.42% equity interests in MAG
and after the disposal, MAG became an associate of the Group.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

Al

* RABBHEXBEEHRSE - ZERFN
EEBBET

0} HK EAFTE AL EHSEMAGH
22.42% & #E - B 18 MAG R A& 7N £ 3] /O B

BAF -

FTE Liltht 2 R AR BERER R A B
IS E YN K
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17 REEE QR 2#EH= ()
TEMEARAZHEEREE

17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summary financial information on principal associates:

MAGZ B ERME (B AFERS
ABRREAEREHAR) REEMB

Summarised financial information of MAG, adjusted for fair value
and any differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to

the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements, are HBREMEZHERBEENT
disclosed below:
2024
2024 F
RMB’'000
AR®T T
Gross amounts of MAG MAGERIER 24
Current assets mEEE 59,876
Non-current assets EmEEE 1,393,747
Current liabilities MENRIE (190,911)
Non-current liabilities EREAE (1,105,793)
Equity fix 7 (156,919)
Revenue from the disposal date to 31 December 2024 H & HHIEZ=2024F 12 A31 BHY
YA 45,252
Profit from the disposal date to 31 December 2024 BHEHBABRE2024F12A31HH
il 1,156
Total comprehensive income from the disposal AHEBHEZE2024F 12 A31BH
date to 31 December 2024 HEBALE 451
Included in the above current assets: FPA LR EE -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIESEEY 16,999
Reconciled to the Group's investment HEASERBEATNREZHIR
in the associates
Gross amount of net assets of the associates BE R EEFELE 156,919
Group's effective interest REEERER 35%
Group's share of net assets of the associate REBED (B E AR EEFE 54,922
Goodwill kS 146,760
Carrying amount in the consolidated FaVBmAEEE
financial statements 201,682
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17 RBE QT 2 E#® (B)
FRERZMBEANME ERATE
HEHHREMERELAR) RES
M REEEE 2 HEREOT -

17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information of Zhong Ao Home, adjusted
for fair value and any differences in accounting policies, and a
reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial

statements, are disclosed below:

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFT
Gross amounts of Zhong Ao Home PREREBEEB ZEHE
Current assets MEEE 1,370,386 1,396,157
Non-current assets EREBEE 782,170 849,539
Current liabilities mEAaE (876,764) (997,448)
Non-current liabilities EmBEE (74,853) (65,486)
Equity Rt 1,200,939 1,182,763
Revenue for the year FEWA 1,778,998 1,709,642
Profit for the year FEF)HE 66,983 59,639
Total comprehensive income W 4E58 66,983 59,639
Included in the above current assets: FPA iR BN EE ¢
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBEEED 545,156 531,583
Reconciled to the Group's investment  EEAREBEREE ARRE ZHIR
in the associates
Gross amount of net assets B N EEEFEEHE
of the associates 1,148,443 1,120,384
Group's effective interest NEEER#ES 18.67% 18.67%
Group's share of net assets REBOEZBERREEFE
of the associate 214,414 209,176
Goodwill GRS 42,829 42,829
Exchange adjustments VE 5 % 32,794 33,523
Accumulated impairment loss ZEHREEIE (88,014) (25,570)
Carrying amount in the consolidated FEMBmAREE
financial statements 202,023 259,958
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17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17 REHE QT 2 EE (8)
Summarised financial information of Ningbo Yule, adjusted ERALEHMBEMBE (BERQTE
for fair value and any differences in accounting policies, and a REHBREMEZEELAR) REKE
reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial PHRARMAE EEREROT ¢

statements, are disclosed below:

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFT
Gross amounts of Ningbo Yule ERREEHAER 2B
Current assets MEEE 272,138 475,525
Non-current assets EREBEE 16,058 190,623
Current liabilities mENEE (158,336) (247,359)
Non-current liabilities EREBAE = -
Equity Rt 129,860 418,789
Revenue for the year FEWA 126,796 2,281,518
Profit for the year FEME (93,470) 455,898
Total comprehensive income W 4E58 (93,470) 455,898
— Attributable to equity shareholders — RNARIE SRR ENS
of the Company (63,984) 323,189
— Attributable to non-controlling interests — 3122 J% # 2 FE {5 (29,486) 132,709
Included in the above current assets: FTALHURENE E
Cash and cash equivalents BehBRLEEY 150,538 284,091

Reconciled to the Group's investment BEAEBAKE QA TRE YR
in the associates

Gross amount of net assets B NREEFEESE

of the associates 122,743 348,826
Group's effective interest REBEERER 40.00% 40.00%
Group's share of net assets rEESIEZBE LR EERE

of the associate 49,097 139,530
Carrying amount in the consolidated A BRAEREE

financial statements 49,097 139,530
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17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17 REEERNT 2= ()

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

&R TN ERAEZ R BIHAR B B

material:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETF T
Aggregate carrying amount of RGBSR NE R IEE K&
individually immaterial associates NAHEIREE
in the consolidated financial statements 346,304 404,794
Aggregate amounts of the KEBDEZEHERAN
Group's share of those associates BEE
Profit from continuing operations FEKLTE 11,082 145,186
Other comprehensive income H 2 mE s - -
Total comprehensive income 2HE N LER 11,082 145,186

Impairment losses

As at 31 December 2024, the market value of investment in Zhong
Ao Home was RMB43.6 million based on its quoted market price,
which was below its carrying amount by approximately 83.5%.
Management of the Group performed an impairment test and
determined the respective recoverable amount of the investment
based on its value in use. The calculation has considered pre-
tax cash flow projections of Zhong Ao Home for the five years
ending 31 December 2029 with an extrapolation made to
perpetuity. The discount rate used to discount the cash flows
to their respective net present values was 12.6% (2023: 13%)
based on cost of capital used to evaluate investments of similar
nature in Mainland China. Management judgement is required
in estimating the future cash flows of Zhong Ao Home. The key
assumptions are determined with reference to external sources of
information. Based on the management'’s assessment results and
sensitivity analysis performed, an impairment of interest in Zhong
Ao Home amounted to RMB62,444,000 was recognised as other
operating expense for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB25,570,000).

In addition, some of the associates of the Group incurred
continuous losses. In view of this, management of the Group
performed impairment test on interest in such associates and
made a provision for impairment loss of RMB114,784,000 at 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: RMB48,059,000) based on
the results of the assessment, an impairment of interest in such
associates amounted to RMB66,725,000 was recognised as other
operating expense for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB6,300,000).

BEERE

2024128318 BEMWHRE -
PRIZNIEEMBEEAARKL36
BB BREKRmMEKLYSS% A%
EEREETRENS  WIEREFERE
BEETHREMBERATKLESRE - ZitH
EZERRIKREZE2029F12A831H
IEAEFE AR E % HEE = K E M
HalRensRil BREFEHRA
HEFRAERNEANEREE12.6%
(20234 + 13%) * TYER AU+ E
I Hb ) 75 B R BL R 35 B /9 & AR K AR T
Eo el PRIRARRERESRE
BEHE  BREIKZEBIIFERTR
WE BREEEETGHERNHZED
Mo B ZE20245F 128318 1EFE R
fR B B R A HE s R B A R 62,444,000
7T (20234 : A R#25,570,0007T) B 7%
REEMEERS -

BEoh - REBMBEE A QR BT HE
g BERNL AEETEEBHNE
E A N MmRERETRENR R
202412 A31 B IR B F1 & 4 RETIRR
1B /5548 B 18 A R 114,784,000 7T (2023
F12H318 : AR ¥48,059,0007T) -
HZE2024F 128318 IEFE - Nig
B 25 X B A RE 2R R A R 66,725,000
7T (20234 : AR #6,300,0007T) E ##
REBHMEEFRY -
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18 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

ST - BUAARETIIR)

18 REELQFAzER

The following list contains only the particulars of joint ventures,

which are accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements:

THREFERAESEN A B EHRE
AEHABARZAR

Form of Place of Effective interest
business incorporation held by the Group Principal activity
Name of joint venture structure and business Registered capital At 31 December and legal status
ERA IR AEER12A318
RENAER RBRBPS 2xnE EMER BRNERESR IERBRERBA
2024 2023
2024 03%
Housing Services (note (i)) Incorporated  the PRC RMB50,000,000 50% 50%  Property management,
limited liability company

FERH (W) ML hE AK%50,000,0007C WxEEE ARREAF
Shanghai Huamu Greentown Property Incorporated  the PRC RMB1,000,000 50% 50%  Property management,

Management Company Limited limited liability company
EEREAZHNERBAR LA ML P AR#1,0000007C NEER BRALAF
Anhui Yanye Greentown Property Incorporated  the PRC RMB3,000,000 60% 60%  Property management,

Management Company Limited limited liability company
RREXRSANERBER AT ML PE AR 30000007 NEEE ARALAF
Xiangtan Chengfa Greentown Property Incorporated  the PRC RMB5,000,000 51% 51%  Property management,

Service Company Limited limited liability company
METHERADEREERRA MR L PE AR 5,000,007 WxEEE ARRELT
Zhejiang Lvshu City Operation Incorporated  the PRC RMB10,000,000 50% 50%  Property management,

Service Co,, Ltd limited liability company
MIREHTEE BREBRAR" A P AR%100000007T WEER BRALAF
* The English translation of the company name is for reference only. The RAEBHRXBHEEHZE - ZE QTN

official names of these companies are in Chinese.
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18 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

All of the above joint ventures in which the Group participates
are unlisted corporate entities with no quoted market prices
available.

(i) On 19 April 2024, the shareholders of Housing Service
resolved to re-organise its board of directors. Pursuant
to this resolution, the board seats held by the Company
no longer constituted a majority. The directors of the
Company conclude that the Group no longer has control
over Housing Service, and Housing Service has been
redesignated as a joint venture of the Group. Accordingly,
the Company has ceased to consolidate the results, assets
and liabilities of Housing Service since 19 April 2024 with
an amount of RMB33,660,378 reclassified as interest in joint
venture. No gain or loss was recognised for the disposal of
Housing Service for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
net profit up to the date of disposal for the year ended 31
December 2024 was RMB7,834,481, which were included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2024 of the Group.

ST - BUAARETIIR)

18 REELTRzER (B)
FiE L AEESENA B AT Bk
EHORER  ATETHEE -

() 202448198 EERBHK
FARAEZBEHESTS - BRIBEZ AR
X ARABENESSRAT
BEANRKZH -ARFESEST
@ AEBETHEZESERERS -
EERGEHETETAELSE
BMEERA Bt "ARAH
228 F AR 9B BT HBAEHEE
RISHEE BEMAE EF
ANR#E33,660,378 TEFH N EBAR
AERNR ZEZ - H E2024F 12
A3BLEFE VTERHERE
PR 75 7 SR U &= sk 1B 2k o L E 2024
FN2ANHIEFE BHEHEAR
HEFEFE A AR 7,834,481 7T
BETAREEE F2024F 12 A 31
AIEFEMGEEakEME2E

WA e
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually AR T ERNEERRNGZEEER
material:
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Aggregate carrying amount of individually #R3& B 75K NERIFEE KX
immaterial joint ventures in the BENRINAERER
consolidated financial statements 42,128 9,430
Aggregate amounts of the Group's NEEEEZESENT
share of those joint ventures HEH
Loss from continuing operations SEKEEIR (676) (113)
Total comprehensive income PHEHW AR (676) (113)
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19 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 19 EEmEE
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
Current Non-current Current Non-current
T E IERE Vi) FERE
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR¥ T AREFTT AREFTT
Financial assets measured at REHEKATEZSR
amortised cost BE
— Listed debt investments, — FHEBKRE - Mk
net of loss allowance BEEE (i)
(note (i) 650 4,826 1,356 3,612
Financial assets measured at FVPL R A FEFFABT 2
CREE
— Treasury products — By ER 10,101 = 35,025 -
— Listed equity securities — FHRRARES 140,704 = 147,582 -
— Convertible notes (note (ii)) — AR AR (M EE () = 236,319 338,179 -
— Unlisted equity investments — FEMRARE
(note (i) and note (iv)) (PR3 (i) B2 B 7 (i)
— Investment in China CVS — F China CVS
Holdings Limited Holdings Limited
(“China CVS") ([China CVSJ) &
wE - 11,163 - 27,147
— Investment in other unlisted — REMIELETER
entities 2B - 18,818 41,868 59,467

— Unlisted equity investments of ~— BEFIEREE 2 L
underlying project investments TRARE (52

(note (iv)) (iv) 113,179 - 97,822 -
— Project investments (note (vi)) ~ — J8 B #%& (P 5E (vi)) 454,026 = 246,411 382,092
— Funds (note (v)) — &% (W) 201,979 - 249,072 -
— Written put and call options of ~ — B & A A1 2 89 520
interests in associates (note 4) KGREEHRRE (P 3E4) - 42,786 - -
919,989 309,086 1,155,959 468,706
Financial instruments measured at A EFF AEMEE
FVOCI (non-recycling) W8z e®MIA
(A EEE)
— Interest rate swap arrangements — | % 5 i %2 Bk = - 1,165 -
— Listed equity securities — FIRAER - 286 - 1,706
— Unlisted equity investment — TR ARE - - - 1,130
- 286 1,165 2,836
920,639 314,198 1,158,480 475,154
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19 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The listed debt investments are measured at amortised
cost using an effective interest rate of 5.25% to 7.90% per
annum (2023: 4.85% to 9.65% per annum). An impairment
of listed debt investments amounted to RMB876,000 (2023:
RMB15,316,000) was recognised as "expected credit losses
on financial instruments” according to the ECL model (see
note 6(c)) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

China CVS is principally engaged in operating retail stores
in the PRC. On 28 September 2017, China CVS issued
convertible notes to the Company for a principal amount
of USD54,000,000. The convertible notes bear interest at
6% per annum. Based on the latest modification dated on
25 October 2024, the maturity date shall fall on 26 October
2026, and the Company reclassified the investment to non-
current financial assets as at 31 December 2024.

The Company has used a market approach to measure the
underlying share fair value of the China CVS and adopts
Binomial Option Pricing Model to determine the fair value
of the convertible notes as at the end of each reporting
period. Key valuation assumptions used to determine the
fair value of convertible notes are presented in note 34(f).

Unrealised losses recorded on convertible notes in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2024 is RMB105,746,000 (2023: RMB127,434,000).

The unlisted equity investments at FVPL of RMB29,981,000
(2023: RMB128,482,000) mainly represent non-controlling
interests in private entities. None of the shareholdings
exceeds 20% of the issued capital of the respective investee
and the Group did not have significant influence on these
invested entities.

The unlisted equity investments of underlying project
investments at FVPL of RMB113,179,000 (2023:
RMB97,822,000) mainly represent non-controlling interests
in a partnership with underlying project investing to certain
company.

TTRERRAN -

BUARETTIIR)

19 HhemEE (8)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

ETEBIREERERFRE5.25%
£790% (20234 : FF| & 485% %
9.65%) 1L SHR ANET &= o B ZE 2024
FRANBLEFE EWEBKEK
ERE AN R 876,000 7T (20234 -
AR 15,316,000 7T) 518 4% 78 HA
FEEBERX (R ERA
[¢mTAMTEHREEEXL] -
China CVSEZBHER P BLE
TEFE - RN2017F9H28H -
China CVSTAI AN A R 8 77 A & 58
54,000,000 T 2 A] g E K o
ZEN BB ERLF N EE%ET
B o IRIE2024F 10 A25 B & ¥
1857+ B/ HA B 1% £2026F 10 A 26
B MARAER2024F12A31H
BN EEH D EAERS SR
BE -

XA A BB AW %A E China
CVS 2 ABRARR (MY A F1E + WER AN
THEANBETERAETR SR
EHRAUTEREENAFE A
NWEEAEREENFLENTE
HERERZ TR 34

HE2024F12ANBILFE 245
AEFELREMEENER P AT
BREEHSAEREEAARE
105,746,000 7T (20234 : AR ¥
127,434,0007T) °

EAFEFABREZIELETRA
& B AR 29,981,000 (2023
£ AR¥128,482,0007T) -
BEFLEER T Hﬁﬁéﬁﬁ ° FJ’T
BRESABRSREH SO %
TIRAR20%  AEEHZERE
ERESATE-

BAFEFABZZEBBERR
B2 LIETBRAEEBARE
113,179,000 7T (20234 : AR
97,822,0007T) - T2 AR EEA
MEBEBERENETRARAEEYE
FEIEE IR RS o
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19 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 19 HttEmEE (8)

(v/  The Group entered into several contracts of funds (the
“Funds”) with financial institutions. The return of the Funds
is determined by reference to the performance of the
underlying instruments including equity and debt securities.

(vi)  Project investments mainly represent projects financing
provided to certain companies that meet the Group's credit
quality requirements. The gross amount of RMB395,902,000,
bearing interest at 6.4%, will expire before August 2025.
The remaining RMB48,512,000, bearing interest at 6.5%, has
no fixed due date. In January 2025, the Group received the
repayment with an amount of RMB222,022,000.

20 OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

v) ASKEESREBITILENESD
E2ha -EemRH2E
BREEAREBESHEBTA
ZRETE °

vi) BEEREXZHRAXZLFTAARE
BEEEEERNARIRHBE
BB - AR#395902,0007T 2
MR RN R 6 A4%E B B
2025F 8 ARIBIE - THOAR
¥ 48,512,000 7T © % | & 6.5% 5t
B EEBETEHHE-R2025F1
A1R AKBERIERARKE
222,022,000 7T ©

HitkemEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETF T

Buildings g 74,444 -
Others Hi 1,749 -
76,193 -

The Group obtained assets by taking possession of collateral
held as security for trade and other receivables, and are initially
recognised at the lower of their fair values less costs to sell and
the amortised costs of the related outstanding trade and other
receivables on the date of repossession. At 31 December 2024,
other non-financial assets are measured at the lower of the
carrying amount and the fair values less costs to sell. When the
fair values less costs to sell is lower than the carrying amount, an
impairment allowance is recognised.

In principle, those assets should not be transferred for own use,
in the event that they are needed for the Group's own business
or management purposes, they are transferred at their net
carrying amounts and managed as newly acquired property and
equipment.
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21

22

ST - BUAARETIIR)

PREPAYMENTS 21 FE{FIE
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%T AREBFT
Prepayments for purchase of BB B KRG TER RIE
goods and service 171,296 212,079
Prepayments for purchase of BEETLEEARYE BF
Intangible assets and property, KR ETER RIE
plant and equipment 95,040 90,908
Others Hib 2,750 2,750
269,086 305,737
Less: Amount included under B HAIRBEEINS T
“current assets” (171,296) (212,079)
97,790 93,658
INVENTORIES 22 ®7E&
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 4F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFT
Properties held for re-sale* RIEEEME~ 485,984 542,967
Merchandise for re-sale s 94,944 120,746
Others HAih 17,034 10,076
597,962 673,789
* Properties held for re-sale represent right-of-use assets relating to car * FEBEMEREASBBELHIEEEN

parking places purchased by the Group for re-sale.

B EREEE -
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23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23 BESZRHEAMEKRN

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

B ARBTR ARETE

Trade receivables (i) Z 5 e W SRIA (i) 5,380,468 4,654,489
Less: Loss allowance of BB S RGBS E R
trade receivables 34(a) (537,218) (389,695)
Trade receivables, B 5 EWETE - NBRE IR EE
net of loss allowance 4,843,250 4,264,794
Payments on behalf of REXEFZNHFKIE
property owners 297,690 319,187
Deposits He 338,086 325,640
Loan receivables U E X 67,653 204,286
Advances to staff BHRFET 58,150 53,934
Receivable from disposal of o B BB R R FE W IR
subsidiaries 59,976 38,359
Others Eh 42,428 41,243
863,983 982,649
Less: Loss allowance of T EA e MR S 1R
other receivables 34(a) (130,652) (133,532)
Other receivables, net of loss H b el s s - MBREIEEE
allowance 733,331 849,117
Less: Other receivables due after W — 1R B HR A H Uk
one year, net of loss allowance FIE - KRS EEE - (69,078)
5,576,581 5,044,833

Trade receivables are primarily related to revenue recognised
from the provision of property services, community living services,
consulting services and technology services.

For other provision of services and sales of goods, trade
receivables are due when the receivables are recognised.

(i) Included in the balance of trade receivables, there
is a sum of cash-in-transit of RMB104,361,000 (2023:
RMB143,546,000) which has been settled subsequently in
the bank of the Group.
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23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

24

(CONTINUED)
Ageing analysis

(B&

SITREAN -

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables based on the date of revenue recognition and
net of allowance for impairment of trade receivables, is as follows:

BUARETTIIR)

23 BEZREMEBWR(E)

AR AT

BERSHR  REWAER A RN
BESRKKIERERENE S EUKK
TR DT

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T T ARBFT

Within 1 year —F R 2,984,049 2,734,183
1 to 2 years —ZEMmF 994,618 1,041,867
2 to 3 years ME=F 668,042 427,564
3to 4 years =ZUFE 188,993 55,581
4 to 5 years MEFRF 7,548 5,599
4,843,250 4,264,794

For further details on the Group's credit risk management policy

and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note

FEAEEEERAREERRLRESE
WHRIEMELEER RN E — P FFH

34(a). AT EF 34(@a) °
RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES 24 ZRFIBITEER
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Escrow funds held on behalf of REZEFEARNTEES
customers (note 29 and note (i)) (Bt 5 29 M B 5 (1)) 49,744 64,112
Cash collected on behalf of the owners’ REEZGWRNRE
associations (note 29 and note (ii)) (Bt 5 29 M BT 5E Gi)) 427,150 320,383
Funds for litigation preservation of HoMBEARFAREZER
some subsidiaries 9,395 59,546
Restricted deposits (note (iii) =R #1732 (B EE Gii)) 29,314 47,202
515,603 491,243
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24 RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED) 24 ZPRHISBITEER (B)

(i) Escrow funds represents the advance cash deposits (i)
received from buyers as requested by sellers to secure
the transactions during the provision of real estate agency
services.

(i) The Group collects cash on behalf of the property owners’ (ii)
associations as part of its property management service
business. Since the property owners’ associations often face
difficulties opening bank accounts, the Group opens and
manages these bank accounts on behalf of the property
owners’ associations.

(i) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, restricted deposits (ii1)
represent certain deposits in the designated banks as
guarantees for the execution of cleaning services and
deposits for utilities.

i’t”ééﬁﬁh#%ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁ&
BHRRERZERE ERKMHE
HeMeRN -

AEBEREREZGWIHRT - F
REMFREERBGEHH D
HREZELERFARRITES
By 0 el R B8 - R R SR B %
ZeMRMERZFRITERS

MR2024F K 2023F 12318 %
RETFRAETERIEERITIE
BHRITREBERBEOERT R L
FEHRe -

25 TIME DEPOSITS 25 EEFR
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARETE

Time deposits held at the bank RIBTTHEZEHEFER 1,118,232 373,413
Less: Amount included under B IATRBEE NS
“current assets” (13,353) (452)
1,104,879 372,961
As at 31 December 2024, the time deposits held at the bank have R2024F12A31H  RIBTHBFZT
annual interest rate ranging from 2.05% to 4.44% (2023: 1.55% to HATF SR T 0 F-2.05% £ 4.44% (2023
3.70%). F 1 1.55% % 3.70%) °
26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26 BEhBREEEY
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) RekBELEEYEE:
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBF T
Cash in hand FHEES 1,742 501
Cash at bank SRITFER 5,367,723 5,021,578
5,369,465 5,022,079
Less: Restricted bank balances (note 24) & : R HISR1T458% (FIzE24) (515,603) (491,243)
4,853,862 4,530,836
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(BRZ=1TEA - BUAAREITIIR)

26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26 BEehBEEEY (E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BRI AR HEKEELFTEBMN
generated from operations: REHK:
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BT 5 AR¥T ARET T
Profit before taxation B A5 A1 R 1,188,156 972,226
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation charge FrEX
— property, plant and o E N &
equipment 183,198 175,043
— right-of-use assets — FREEE 227,262 196,188
— investment properties — B 69,499 56,721
Amortisation of intangible assets #& 2 & = # §H 58,317 56,600
Expected credit losses on eHMIANEHREERL
financial instruments 6(c) 240,631 201,722
Impairment losses BB EE 6(c) 196,685 43,578
Interest expense MEFRX 80,157 78,339
Interest income B WA (84,555) (76,263)
Equity-settled share-based NEREERNXNER
payment expenses 26,964 33,723
Net losses on FVPL BAFEFABERFER 117,912 185,425
Net losses on sale of property, HEWE - HEREKEZE
plant and equipment B 5 3,641 2,297
Share of profits less losses of DG S N R EREE
associates 10,967 (145,186)
Share of profits less losses of AEEE R FEREE
joint ventures 676 13
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HEWB AT
subsidiaries (Yz),/ 518 (11,676) 17,768
Gain on sale of discontinued HED RIS EBRR NS
operation 4 (96,791) -
Realised exchange gains BB IRE KU = (16,510)
Changes in working capital: LEESEY:
Increase in inventories FEHEM (498,169) (57,767)
Increase in trade and E 5 K& H b FE BFIE N
other receivables (820,320) (771,789)
Increase in restricted PR S IR1T 17 5K A0
bank deposits (24,360) (126,666)
Increase in contract liabilities A4 aEEM 380,793 502,024
Increase in trade and B 5 M H A RS FRIEE N
other payables 451,635 313,826
Cash generated from operations #&&FT15IH & 1,700,622 1,641,412
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26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26 RERBEEEN(E)
(CONTINUED)
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () METHFELZEGEHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRALASEREZDAESE
from financing activities, including both cash and non- ZEEEEH(REReLIRESE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are ) METHELCEERES
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will MEBRAKREEREFT R
be, classified in the cash flow statement as cash flows from REERERZBEETHMER
financing activities. EMEBEZEME-
Lease  Loan froma Dividend
Bank loans liabilities third p;{rto payable Total
BITEX HEEE HZHEX ERKRE @zt

RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%Tx AR®TR AR¥Tn AR%¥Tx

(Note 27)  (Note 14(b)) (Note 29)

(Mz£27)  (MEEE14(b) (H&E29)

At 1 January 2024 M2024F1818 290,424 1,417,712 23,027 - 1,731,163
Changes from financing MERERELD

cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank MEBITERREMER

loans and other borrowings g E 1,441,233 - - - 1,441,233
Repayment of bank loans BEBRITER (1,310,726) - - - (1,310,726)
Capital element of BRHEERS AR

lease rentals paid - (153,869) - - (153,869)
Interest element of BREERS 2 FEHH

lease rentals paid - (65,338) - - (65,338)
Interest paid ERFE (25,808) - - - (25,808)
Dividends paid to equity BRAA B EERRMN

shareholders of the Company ~ fRE - - - (433,447) (433,447)
Dividends paid to non- BRFERERNRE

controlling interests - - - (37,588) (37,588)
Total changes from RERSRELDER

financing cash flows 104,699 (219,207) - (4_7:I :93:5_’_ - _(§§§,_5_4_32 |
Other changes: Hip g
Increase in lease liabilities FREMEHEML MM

from entering into new HERE

leases during the year - 350,685 - - 350,685
Decrease in lease liabilities REREAERE

from disposals - (90,528) - - (90,528)
Interest expenses FIEFX 25,808 54,349 - - 80,157
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBRA (356,008) (799,937) - - (1,155,945)
Exchange adjustments [E X AR = = 2,495 = 2,495
Profit distribution FE DI - - - 471,035 471,035
Total other changes R2HAR __ 3302000 (as5A3) | s 471,035 342101)
At 31 December 2024 M2024%12831R8 64,923 713,074 25,522 - 803,519
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26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(B&

SITREAN -

BUARETTIIR)

26 RERBEEEYW(E)

(CONTINUED)
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing ) METBFRELAZEBYHER
activities (Continued) (%8)
Lease Loan from a Dividend
Bank loans liabilities third party payable Total
RE
RITER HEBE E=-HEX EARE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTLT AR®TT ARETT AREBTT ARET:R
(Note 27) (Note 14(b)) (Note 29)
(M5E27)  (MEE140) (Fi£29)
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 310,932 1,515,370 22,698 - 1,849,000
Changes from financing RMERERELD
cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank MEBITERREMER
loans and other borrowings SRR 329,151 - - - 329,151
Repayment of bank loans BEBITEX (359,846) - - - (359,846)
Capital element of lease BENHERE 2 EADH
rentals paid - (154,480) - - (154,480)
Interest element of lease BREERS 2 FEHH
rentals paid - (69,807) - - (69,807)
Interest paid [SXRELSE (22,558) - - - (22,558)
Dividends paid to equity [RENEAVNGIE: £23 E !
shareholders of the Company & & - - - (285,115) (285,115)
Dividends paid to non- BIFEREENRE
controlling interests - - - (31,833) (31,833)
Total changes from BRERERELYET
_financing cashflows B33 awn T B1694)  (594.488)
Other changes: Hit# 5
Increase in lease liabilities FREMEHEML MM
from entering into new HEBE
leases during the year - 176,086 - - 176,086
Decrease in lease liabilities REREAERE
from disposals - (145,873) - - (145,873)
Interest expenses FSFAX 22,559 74,576 - - 97,135
Acquisition from subsidiaries  YtBE I B A &) 4,000 - - - 4,000
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - - - -
Exchange adjustments fE 5 R 6,186 21,840 329 - 28,355
Profit distribution FMHEIE - - - 316,948 316,948
Total other changes =~ RfBBE® 2045 126829 . S 398 476651
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A831 8 290,424 1,417,712 23,027 - 1,731,163
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26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26 RERBEEEN(E)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) #AEERESRE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases HINHEHEREGREXRTHNEHA
comprise the following: U
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Within operating cash flows REEREREN 93,539 121,997
Within investing cash flows RIEEREREN 53,066 38,110
Within financing cash flows REERSREN 219,207 224,287
365,812 384,394
These amounts relate to the following: ZECHRENTBRAEEA
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Lease rentals paid BENEERS 312,746 346,284
Prepayment for leased properties ENEEYE 53,066 38,110
365,812 384,394
27 BANK LOANS 27 RITEX
(@) Short-term bank loans (a) HHIRITEXN
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR®T T ARBETTT
Unsecured A (i) 41,050 49,230
41,050 49,230
Add: current portion of m: REBRITEFREB IS
long-term bank loans (ii) - 218,176
41,050 267,406
(i)  As at 31 December 2024, unsecured bank loans with () H2024F12H318 KA
a carrying amount of RMB41,050,000 (31 December B A AR%41,050,0007T
2023: RMB49,230,000) were interest bearing ranging (20235 12A31H : AR
from 0% to 3.8%. 49,230,000 7T) 2 IR 1T

B BRENENFO%E
38%:tE °
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(B&

27 BANK LOANS (CONTINUED)

Short-term bank loans (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(ii)

As at 31 December 2023, secured bank loans
of AUD45,000,000 (equivalent approximately to
RMB218,176,000) were secured by certain property,
plant and equipment of MAG with the carrying
amount of AUD118,256,000 (equivalent approximately
to RMB543,542,000). The secured bank loan bears
annual interest rate of 4.18%-7.53%, and has been
due in 2024.

ST - BUAARETIIR)

27 RITERE)
EHRAT B ()

(a)

(ii)

H2023%F12831H A&
1 4R 17 B $0 45,000,000 % 7T
(ZR# AR 218,176,000
T) DB MAGE®EE A
118,256,00032 7T (FH 49 A
R #543,542,0007T) 2 & T
WE - BB KRR -
EHEFETEREFENE
4.18%-7.53% st B - ZZ B &K
B 2024 FE B H -

Long-term bank loans (b) REBITER
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
e ARET ARETF T
Secured B
— CNY denominated — UARKEE (i) 9,103 23,018
— AUD denominated — DUBITEHE (a)i) - 218,176
9,103 241,194
Unsecured AR IR
— CNY denominated — UAREEE 14,770 -
23,873 241,194
Less: current portion of B RESRITERRB S
long-term bank loans - (218,176)
23,873 23,018

As at 31 December 2024, a secured bank loan of
RMB9,103,000 was secured by certain property,
plant and equipment of the Group with the carrying
amount of RMB10,829,000. The secured bank loan
bears interest rate of 4.35% per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, an unsecured bank loan with
a carrying amount of RMB10,800,000 bears interest
at a rate of 5.10% per annum and will be due on 12
January 2028. Additionally, a long-term loan with
a carrying amount of RMB3,970,000 bears interest
at a rate of 5.20% per annum and will be due on 1
February 2029.
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H2024%F12831H B
IR 1T B A R # 9,103,000
TIHAEEEREEAA
R #10,829,0007t 2 & T ¥
¥ BEE&EEERF-F
EIRRITEFILF £ 4.35%

N
EI-I_ /%\ °

M2024F12A831H  FE
& A A R #10,800,000 7T 2
EIMAIRITER - BFF X
5.10% &1 8« W7 2028 F 1
B12B B H - b o - BREAE
A AR #3,970,0007T 2 & 5
B BFEFES520%ETE
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28 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

ST - BUAARETIIR)

28 EHEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Property services ESE 2,096,419 1,740,579
Community living services % AR 7% 130,721 338,823
Consulting services AR 4,217 11,100
Technology services BHE R 3,588 5,249
2,234,945 2,095,751
Movements in contract liabilities: EHRBEEHUT -
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Balance at 1 January R1A1HZ &6 2,095,751 1,528,834
Revenue recognised that was included FURAGHBELRZ
in the balance of contract liabilities BRERUBA
at the beginning of the year (2,052,652) (1,503,197)
Increase in contract liabilities as a TEWRIEHREEZ B LA BEM
result of receipts in advances of
provision of services 2,191,846 2,070,114
2,234,945 2,095,751

BHRABRERBNMERREE - %W
%8 BRRGERBSREE -

Contract liabilities represent prepaid property services fees,
consulting services fees, community living service fees and
technology services fees received.

PR TE#) BT R B BB TR B 0 R B — 5
R IER AU & ER A AR 35,433,000
7 (20234 - AR #43,099,0007T) ©

The amount of receipts in advance of performance expected
to be recognised as income after more than one year is
RMB35,433,000 (2023: RMB43,099,000).
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29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

29 BZREAMEMNIEA

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5 AR%T AREBFT
Trade payables B S EMNE 2,172,955 2,004,758
— Billed trade payables — BHEEEFEMNFE (a) 1,786,317 1,825,281
— Accrued trade payables — ERTE S EMNFIE 386,638 179,477
Bills payable ERE® 48,878 81,097
Trade and bills payable B S EMNFIERENRE 2,221,833 2,085,855
— third parties —%=x 2,169,327 2,054,709
— related parties — s 36(d) 52,506 31,146
Less: trade and bills payable W —FRIENES
due after one year JEAST FRIE M R R = (1,369)
Trade and bills payable (current) B S EMFIENENEE
(BPER) 2,221,833 2,084,486
Refundable deposits ARIERS (b) 571,011 589,032
Escrow funds held on behalf of REBEFFAENTEES
customers (note 24) (BzE24) 49,744 64,112
Cash collected on behalf of the REFZEWEINIERS
owners’ associations (note 24) (Ff15E24) 427,150 320,383
Temporary receipts % B Ui R (c) 461,561 470,053
Amounts due to related parties JE A BEESE 5 0B 36(d) 37,404 102,326
Loan from a third party FE=FEX 25,522 23,027
Other payables H At & A5 5RIE 173,819 259,028
Financial liabilities measured RHEEKNAFTENSREE
at amortised cost 3,968,044 3,912,447
Accrued payroll and other benefits ~ fE5T T & 28 & H b 18 5 596,329 553,010
Other tax, charges payable Hmfizx  ENER
and accruals K EFIEE 407,753 406,148
4,972,126 4,871,605
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29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(@) Trade payables mainly represent payables arising from
sub-contracting services including cleaning, landscaping,
maintenance and security services provided by suppliers,
and payable for the purchase of goods and car parking
places.

(b) Refundable deposits represent miscellaneous decoration
deposits received from property owners during the
decoration period.

(c)  Temporary receipts represent utility charges received from
residents on behalf of utility companies.

As of the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of
billed trade payables, based on invoice date is as follows.

ST - BUAARETIIR)

29 ESZRAMEMNKE(E)

@ BIENREXBEICRY (L
BHBRAIREORER  BE - 4§
HRRZ IR B M ROR
DT E P B O O

b) AREZSA/NEEHELEE
WA MR R IR S -

© MEEEXASRRABRELFM
FEPWEAAREER -

BESBEHMR EREZRHNCHE
HEFGRNFARKROTOT -

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 %

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETF T

Within 1 month —MEAR 1,243,843 1,363,728
After 1 month but within 3 months —[EAABE=ZEANRN 179,925 149,035
After 3 months but within one year =EABEBTBBE —F 236,663 207,908
After one year —F % 125,886 104,610
1,786,317 1,825,281
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30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS
The Company

(a)

(i)

Pursuant to a resolution of shareholders of the
Company passed on 25 May 2018, a share option
scheme was adopted (2018 Share Option Scheme”)
for purpose of providing incentives to certain directors
and employees of the Group (“Eligible Participants”).
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the directors
of the Company are authorised, at their direction, to
invite Eligible Participants.

On 11 September 2018 (the “First Date of Offer”), the
Company granted share options to 4 directors of the
Group and certain employees of the Group (“the First
Grantees”) at nil consideration and the First Grantees
finally acknowledged to subscribe for 122,410,000
shares of the Company under the Share Option
Scheme at an exercise price of HKDé6.116 (the “First
Grant”). The closing prices of the Company'’s shares
immediately before the Date of Offer and on the Date
of Offer were HKD6.06 and HKD5.71, respectively.

On 23 January 2020 (the “Second Date of Offer”),
the Company granted share options to certain
employees of the Group (“the Second Grantees”)
at nil consideration and the Second Grantees finally
acknowledged to subscribe for 33,150,000 shares of
the Company under the Share Option Scheme at an
exercise price of HKD9.214 (the “Second Grant”). The
closing prices of the Company’s shares immediately
before the Second Date of Offer and on the
Second Date of Offer were HKD8.92 and HKD9.214,
respectively.

On 14 September 2020 (the “Third Date of Offer”),
the Company granted share options to certain
employees of the Group (“the Third Grantees”)
at nil consideration and the Third Grantees finally
acknowledged to subscribe for 25,770,000 shares of
the Company under the Share Option Scheme at
an exercise price of HKD9.3 (the “Third Grant”). The
closing prices of the Company’s shares immediately
on the Date of Offer and the average closing price for
the five business days immediately before the Third
Date of Offer and on the Third Date of Offer were
HKD?9.28 and HKD®.3, respectively.

TTRERRAN -

BUARETTIIR)

0 LUEZEELURAERZ
X5
PN

(a)

0]

1B 15 A R ) B B 2018 £
SA2SHBBEMRZEER
MR RERT 2] (2018 F 8
PHETE])  UAKEES
FEEREE ([AEK2H
) RGEHE o 1B IR S AR E
e ARREEERED
BRBEAERSESE -

R2018F9A 118 ([E1E
ZHBRB]D  ARAUER
BERAEBNBEEE KA
EEETERE (85— &R
AN BT ERE &R
AN RER IR R AR =T &
A6 1168 T MITHEERE
122,410,000 f% 2 2 &) f% 19
([BXREL]D - KRR KM
EREZHEHIILRENA
Hm W MBS B A 6.067% T
K57187TT °

R2020F1 B 238 (1% — 1@
ZHBRB]D  ARAUER
EmrEEETRERE ([E=
ERADBRLBRE £=
AR AR ER IR R ERE
FHEIA9.2148 LT B
2 8% 33,150,000 f% 7 A &) I
B UEZKEE]) - AQA)
BOBES —@EELHBEH
MREZFEZEL AT
BH R A8928 T 921475
5 o

R20205E9 A 148 ([5% =18
BHAE]) ARBUER
BEmrEEETERE ([E=
ERADBRLBRE £=
AE AR RERIZRERE
FFEIAOIETNITEMER
f# 25,770,000 J& A& 1 7] B 19
([FE=REHD - ARAK
NEESHAHNKTER
EERF-EAZEHAHNAE
EEARBE-MELHHEBFE
HKHESD B AE.28B T &
9.3 T °
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30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

(a)

(i)

(Continued)

On 26 July 2021 (the “Fourth Date of Offer”), the
Company granted share options to 2 directors of the
Group and certain employees of the Group (“the
Fourth Grantees”) at nil consideration and the Fourth
Grantees finally acknowledged to subscribe for
33,130,200 shares of the Company under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HKD8.902
(the "Fourth Grant”). The closing prices of the
Company’s shares immediately on the Date of Offer
and the average closing price for the five business
days immediately before the Fourth Date of Offer
and on the Fourth Date of Offer were HKD8.31 and
HKD8.803, respectively.

On 8 December 2022 (the “Fifth Date of Offer”), the
Company granted share options to 1 director of the
Group and certain employees of the Group (“the Fifth
Grantees”) at nil consideration and the Fifth Grantees
finally acknowledged to subscribe for 41,464,500
shares of the Company under the Share Option
Scheme at an exercise price of HKD5.580 (the “Fifth
Grant"). The closing prices of the Company's shares
immediately on the Date of Offer and the average
closing price for the five business days immediately
before the Fifth Date of Offer and on the Fifth Date of
Offer were HKD5.318 and HKD5.580, respectively. The
options have vesting periods of 3 years commencing
after 12 months from the date on which the Eligible
Participants have achieved the length of service in the
Group and have a contractual life of 10 years. Each
option gives the holders the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company.
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30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Pursuant to a resolution of shareholders of the
Company passed on 16 June 2023, a share option
scheme was adopted ("2023 Share Option Scheme”)
for purpose of providing incentives to certain directors
and employees of the Group (“Eligible Participants”).
The 2018 Share Option Scheme was terminated.
Pursuant to the 2023 Share Option Scheme, the
directors of the Company are authorised, at their
direction, to invite Eligible Participants.

On 26 June 2024 (the "First Date of Offer”), the
Company granted share options to 2 directors of
the Group and certain employees of the Group
("the Sixth Grantees”) at nil consideration and the
Sixth Grantees finally acknowledged to subscribe for
71,242,600 shares of the Company under the Share
Option Scheme at an exercise price of HKD3.494 (the
“Sixth Grant”). The closing prices of the Company’s
shares immediately on the Date of Offer and the
average closing price for the five business days
immediately before the Sixth Date of Offer and on
the Sixth Date of Offer were HKD3.494 and HKD3.480,
respectively. The options have vesting periods of 3
years commencing after 12 months from the date of
grant and have a contractual life of 10 years. Each
option gives the holders the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company.

1TEERASN -

BUARETTIIR)
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0 LERAEURO/BERZ

30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED ¥
R (4E)

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) The Company (Continued) (@) AT (&)
The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: R Z R R T
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREZ
TERE HBEFAE BNEH
Options granted to directors:
RYEXEZHEME:
—on 11 September 2018 10,800,000 The first exercise period shall commence from 10 years
— 20185911 A trading day after expiry of the 12-month period 104
— on 23 January 2020 210,000 from the date on which the Eligible Participants
— 202051 A23H have achieved the length of service in the Group.
— on 14 September 2020 320,000 The share options shall be exercisable separately
— 2020569 A 148 in the subsequent 3 exercise periods, whose
— on 26 July 2021 1,000,000 percentages of options exercisable are 33%,
— 2021467 A26 R 33% and 34% respectively, subject to the Eligible
— on 08 December 2022 1,000,000  Participants’ performance as the conditions of
— R2022% 12 A8H exercise.
— on 26 June 2024 7500000 F-ETEHEAERSEENAEENTHES
—R2024F 6 A 26 R RiwE < BE12ER RN S BRRE  TEET

BARGEBRSEENKR  BREATRZEN
SETEBR D RIITE  FHMOTELA D 5B
33% ~ 33% £234% °

The first exercise period shall commence from
trading day after expiry of the 12-month period
from the date of grant. The share options shall be
exercisable separately in the 3 exercise periods,
whose percentages of options exercisable are 33%,
33% and 34% respectively, subject to the Eligible
Participants’ performance as the conditions of
exercise.
F-ETEHERLEHRH2EARNZ S A
BIG - ITRGHTIBARGERZEENKE
BRERRIEITEDRPDRITE - BHNTEL
5153 B & 33% ~ 33% 12 34% °
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30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 30 UESEEURNAERZ
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) X5 (%)
(a) The Company (Continued) (@) A7 (E)
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREZ
TRAHE BEFH BHER
Options granted to employees:
RTEEZBRE
—on 11 September 2018 111,610,000  The first exercise period shall commence from 10 years
— 201859 A 11 A trading day after expiry of the 12-month period 104
— on 23 January 2020 32,940,000  from the date on which the Eligible Participants has
— 1202051 A 23R achieved the length of service in the Group. The
— on 14 September 2020 25,450,000  share options shall be exercisable separately in the
— 202059 A 14 R subsequent 3 exercise periods, whose percentages
— on 26 July 2021 32,130,200  of options exercisable are 33%, 33% and 34%
— 202157 26 R respectively, subject to the Eligible Participants’
— on 08 December 2022 40,464,500 performance as the conditions of exercise.
—R20226F12 A 8H {Ifﬂiﬁﬁé/\ﬁTﬁ/,\%EA$EIE’JI{’E¢
— on 26 June 2024 63,742,600 rﬁﬁuﬁ&z AE12EA&RMR S ARG - TR &S
—R2024F 6 R 26RH MEURR A BHRBEENKE ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁéﬂﬁ’c\z&
H3METTEBP D RITTRE - BHNTELIID R
33% ~ 33% }.34% °
The first exercise period shall commence from
trading day after expiry of the 12-month period
from the date of grant. The share options shall be
exercisable separately in the 3 exercise periods,
whose percentages of options exercisable are 33%,
33% and 34% respectively, subject to the Eligible
Participants’ performance as the conditions of
exercise.
F-ETEHERLEHLH2EARNZ S A
R ITREHTIRNAERBEENRE B
BAER R 3BT IR D RIITEE - FEA T
R 533% * 33% F.34% °
Total share options granted 327,167,300
ROBRERR
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30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 30 UEREEURAAERZ
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) X5 (&)
(a) The Company (Continued) (@) AT (&)
The number and exercise prices of share options are as REARHE 2 8B RATRENT
follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 20235
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  options ('000) exercise price options ('000)
ik Bz BREHA 13 BREZAE
EE () e (F4)
Outstanding at the FPRARITE HKD7.277 % 7 151,697 HKD7.2447% T 171,000
beginning of the year
Forfeited during the year AR IR HKD6.497 % Tt (14,541) HKD6.9855 T (19,303)
Granted during the year FREH HKD3.494 % T 71,243 - -
Outstanding at the end EREARITE HKD6.038 7% 7t 208,399 HKD7.277 87T 151,697
of the year
Exercisable at the end ERATE HKD7.461% 7t 110,278 HKD7.4528 7T 92,693
of the year
The options outstanding at 31 December 2024 had exercise M2024F12A318 - WARITEE
prices of HKD3.494, HKD5.580, HKD8.902, HKD9.300, ZEREZITEED B/ 3.494
HKD9.214 and HKDé6.116 (2023: HKD5.580, HKD8.902, 7 7T~ 5.580% 7T ~ 8.902% T
HKD9.300, HKD9.214 and HKD6.116) respectively and a 9.300/ 7T ~ 9.214 8 7L & 6.116 78
weighted average remaining contractual life is 6.9 years 70 (2023 4F : 55807 JT * 8.902/%5
(2023: 6.6 years). JC ~ 9.3008 7T ~ 9.2148L K 6.116

BT MIETFHRBENFHA
694 (20234 : 6.6%F) ©
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30 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 30 UEREZEURGOGAER 2
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) X5 (%)
(@) The Company (Continued) (@) AT (&)
Fair value of share options and assumptions BREZAFERRRE
The fair value of services received in return for share options PR ERERMBE RS <2 F
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share BEN2ERXHEREZ A FERT
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share E-ERHBREZGFATE
options granted is measured based on a Binomial model. DAZIEAERGE - FARE
The input variables under the applied model are as follows: HBAZFENT :
Grant Date 26 June 2024
B 2024 6H26H
Fair value at measurement date HKDO0.795~HKDO0.814
REtER#MZ 2 FE 0.795%8 7T ~0.8148 7T
Share price HKD3.480
fiZ & 3.4807% 7T
Exercise price HKD3.494
TEE 34947 7T
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted average volatility 34.25%~35.63%
used in the modelling under Binomial model)
TRER B R (PARIR — 1B R @8 pr A I PR B R R R) 34.25%~35.63%
Option life (expressed as weighted average life used in 5.5 years~7.5 years
the modelling under Binomial model)

R S B (AR IR — TR AL 2 R AR P A N S F B RR) 55 ~7.54
Expected dividends 4.76%
BB 4.76%
Risk-free interest rate (based on Exchange Fund Notes) 3.468%~3.481%
ERREAMNE(UINEEEERRESE) 3.468%~3.481%
The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility TEHDR B) R Ty AR 2R B R (IR 8
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life REREE) INRE A TSR F IR T E) B
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes A& - UHBEBEAMAGERE
to future volatility based on publicly available information. HABESENEMNEBIELH
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends. BoBHREUELREBELE -
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could THEABRIZEHABRETE
materially affect the fair value estimate. NFEMAE -
Share options were granted under a service condition. This BIREDRERBEEGHRL - UL
condition has not been taken into account in the grant BRERETEMBMARBAELE A
date fair value measurement of the services received. There HOATERTEAEERN &
were no market conditions associated with the share option £ B AR A D A BT A T S AR o
grants.

2024 EHE HWIRBEEBR AR 255



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1TaEBASN - MAARETHIR)

31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31 REMBRABRNWAEBH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEMBMRRFRNVENHABE
financial position represents: 5
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 %
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
At 1 January ®W1A1H 901,996 684,553
Provision for current taxation FNEVARRL IR B S
for the year 438,612 421,042
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B K B A ) = 1,741
Disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR (7,687) -
Payments during the year F R (225,901) (205,340)
At 31 December W12A31H 1,107,020 901,996
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31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31 ZFEMBRRBERAAEBH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (%)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERIELEHBEERES:
()  Movement of each component of deferred tax () EZEHEEEREEZAMK
assets and liabilities B Ky B
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) BAR A BB AR O R FE R AV IR
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial EBEEE(AF) @E
position and the movements during the year are as ARAFERNEBOT
follows:
Expected Investment
credit loss income from  Intangible
allowances Other deemed assets arising
Accrued and financial ~ disposal of from  Right-of-use Lease
expenses  impairment  Provisions  Taxlosses assets  anassociate  acquisitions assets liabilities Total
RHEE BELE
FERf -BHENE  hEEE
JEET B ERE BE  HEFE HNCREE 2REKA ZEBFVEE FREEE  HERR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETR ARMTn ARMTR ARETn AR%Tr ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Deferred tax arising from: B4 B T&ANET
BE:
At 1 January 2023 RABE1R1H 121,484 112309 19,09 76,347 (1820 (4498) (107,989) (249,878) 290,075 255,126
Credited/(charged) to RIERTA/ (1B)
profit or loss 17,901 29,188 18120 61426 1209 - 5217 (23942) 4487 164,946
Credited to reserves TARE - - - - 113 - - - - 113
Exchange adjustments ~ EX A% 25 - 205 = - = (846) (1,259 2900 1225
At 31 December 2023 RABE12A318 139,610 141497 342 131773 10392 (4.498) (103,558) (275079 337,852 2140
At 1 January 2024 ROUE1E1H 139,610 141,497 37421 131,173 10,392 (4,498) (103,558) (275,079) 337,852 421,410
Credited/(charged)to ~ IMERFFA/ (%)
profit or loss 40,417 47,874 (17,873) 58,244 3,682 4,498 6,833 (7313 (6,090) 130,212
Disposal of subsiciaries (i EMBAF (8,637) - (9,576) (17,410) - - 64,664 4,295 (38,328) (4,992
Credited to reserves TARE - - - - (455) - - - = (455)
At 31 December 2024 R0UE12A31H 171,390 189,371 9972 178,607 13,619 - (32,061) (278,157) 293,434 546,175
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) HEMBERRBRAOEIER
financial position
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFT
Net deferred tax asset recognised in 434 B A5k i R % iR &
the consolidated statement RERIBFEE
of financial position 564,616 519,073
Net deferred tax liability recognised %74 B 75k i 3R = R 49
in the consolidated statement BEHRIBFEE
of financial position (18,441) (97,663)
546,175 421,410
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31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31 REMBRRBEROAEH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (%)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () AEREEHREBEEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Unused tax losses AEABHIAEE 226,063 378,389
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note BB EE 1) BTN TR - B
1(u), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of 202412 A31B  KEBEARAEA
RMB43,938,000 (31 December 2023: RMB60,976,000) in THEARRDAREEERER
respect of unused tax losses of certain subsidiaries as at 31 AR 43,938,000 7T (2023 12 A
December 2024. The directors consider it is not probable 318 : AR®60,976,0007T) iE T
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be MBEE ZFBFRATKARE
available will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and ERABBRAEER L ERBIEA
entity. B A H AR FE R A A K SE &S -
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, BEFRBEAREERER K&
the unrecognised tax losses at the end of the reporting EHRORERTIEEE G N A
period will expire in the following years: TEEEm
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
2024 2024 F - 60,507
2025 2025 F 66,474 83,636
2026 2026 F 34,218 81,362
2027 2027 % 36,626 62,811
2028 2028 F 19,011 37,246
2029 2029 F 16,013 -
172,342 325,562
The tax losses of RMB53,721,000 (2023: RMB52,827,000) for RERTEBRBG AN A
the Hong Kong subsidiaries do not expire under current Bt B 2 Al A A R ¥ 53,721,000 7T
Hong Kong tax legislation. (20234 : NE#552,827,0007T) %t
HEBETEERM -
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31

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

(d) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB558,666,000 (2023:
RMB552,108,000) were not recognised in respect of the 10%
PRC dividend withholding tax that would be payable on
the distribution of retained profits of RMB5,586,659,000 as
at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB5,521,076,000) in respect
of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it was

31

determined that it was probable that these profits would

not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

SITEAIN  HUAARETIIR)

%é),\tﬁﬂﬁiﬂiﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ?%ﬁ

(d) KEREZHESE
R2024F 12 A31H » WEFAE
ERFPBEHBRARNDIRIRSR
A E A R ¥ 558,666,000 7T (2023
& ARM552,108,0007T) MZB X
9 10% B % 8 78 0 i fE 3R
R #5,586,659,000 7T (20234 = A
R #5,521,076,000 7T ) B IE 3L £ I8
B BERRKRRIEH ZSH
BARIMBKREWE MADETE
ZENBAEARETGEN REK

i

~~

=

A’

DK °
32 PROVISIONS 32 BB
Onerous Leave  Reinstatement Legal
contracts obligations cost obligation Total
BEMEN RERE BERAE EEER @5t
note (i) note (ii) note (iii) note (iv)
P 2E (1) Mt = (ii) Bt 2 (i) Pt £ (iv)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®T R AR®TR AR®TR
At 1 January 2023 R2023F 1518 32,487 19,443 26,680 20,000 98,610
Exchange adjustments B 5 50 % - 668 958 - 1,626
Provisions made EEtREE 13,243 3972 6,870 94,048 118,133
Provisions utilised EBARE (10,888) - - (27,536) (38,424)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H 34,842 24,083 34,508 86,512 179,945
Less: Amount included under 3 : A [REN & & 4
"current liabilities” - (27,119) (19,217) (169) (86,512) (133,017)
7,723 4,866 34,339 - 46,928
At 1 January 2024 R024F1 18 34,842 24,083 34,508 86,512 179,945
Exchange adjustments [ Ji % = (2,263) (2,527) = (4,790)
Provisions made EHES L] 14,486 12,146 8,449 - 35,081
Provisions utilised BEARE (9,090) - - (70,932) (80,022)
Provisions reversed BROEE - - = (15,580) (15,580)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBRA - (33,966) (40,430) = (74,396)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 128318 40,238 - - - 40,238
Less: Amount included under 3, : FIA [ REIEE | H)
"current liabilities” 28 (13,408) - - - (13,408)
26,830 - - - 26,830
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32 PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group was in contracts with certain communities that
were operating at a loss. The obligation for the future
payments of these communities, net of expected property
service income, has been provided for.

Leave obligations cover the Group's liabilities for long
service leaves and annual leaves, including all of accrued
annual leaves, the unconditional entitlements to long
service leaves where certain employees have completed
the required period of services and also those where
employees are entitled to pro-rata payments.

The Group is required to restore certain leased premises
to their original condition at the end of the respective
lease terms under certain contracts. A provision has
been recognised for the present value of the estimated
expenditure required to remove any leasehold
improvements. These costs have been recognised as part
of the cost of leasehold improvements and are amortised
over the shorter of the term of the lease or the useful life of
the assets.

References are made to the announcements of the Group
dated 19 July 2022, 20 October 2022, 21 March 2023,
21 August 2023 and 29 August 2024 in respect of the claim
proceedings that the Group is involved because of joint
liability with a third party for an associate under a lease
arrangement. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has
made the additional provision of RMB91,415,000 for what
may be required for the settlement of this claim. As at 31
December 2024, the Group has entered into a settlement
agreement and paid a settlement fee of RMB68,299,000,
the over-accrued of RMB15,580,000 were reversed as
the “Other operating expenses” for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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BUARETTIIR)

32 #®E(E)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

AEEEETAREEHEMNERE
FIVAER D& FERMKRK
MREE CREBREEMERBEA)
TR -

BHAEREASERAREK
BEFREL BRMAEEFEF
B BETEEERERERRE
HIRR & R 1 = A REIRB |
HALA o (R B B HE 1R L DI 1 15 3 B
N RARBGED -

REETEH AKEEREB
R E THRESMIRE
ENaARE - HERBERER
BHRAAHEMERERIME
XHHIREER - R EKAE
RRHEMREERAN—ED

WA EEERFH (ARE

iRt KB B # 5202297 A
198 ~ 2022410 A20 8 -~ 20234
3A218 ~ 202348 A 21 B &% 2024
FE8AHEBREFAHNAL
NABBASERBELZHT—
REERAIME —BE = EE
B S N2023F12A8318 -
REBEABAZREITES
SR RIBEEIREIINEHEARE
91,415,000 7T ° 7 2024 F 12 A 31
B AEBEBFUMERELD
ST AEEE R A R 68,299,000
JC  FAEE FEFT A R 15,580,000 7T
DREEERZE 202412 A31 B 1k
FEM[HMEERZ] -
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33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 33 EX-#EERE
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) ERFrEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBGRARESHBINFIR
balances of each component of the Group's consolidated FRESEHEINGEE=Z D
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes R ARAERZIAIREIR
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s FROEHFERHRINAT ¢

individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company AT
Share of other
comprehensive
Exchange Fairvalue  income of the
Share Share Share reserve reserve investees Retained
capital premium  optionreserve  (non-recycling)  (non-recycling)  (non-recycling) eamnings Total
ElREHS
EXfR ATERE ZEM2EUE
s RitEE BRERE (FT88) (FT88) (FT8E) REEF a3t
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fis AERBTT AR®TT AE®TT ARBTT AR®TT AEBTT ARBTT AR®TT
Balance at 1 January 2023 ROBEIR1AZER 2 3,498,852 126,445 (249,490) (10,144) (19991) 349,795 3695495
Changes in equity for 2023: WBFERELY:
Profitfor the year ERflE - - - - - - (218631) (218631)
Other comprehensive income Ep2EkE - - - 13,524 (5.411) 2,610 - IR
Total profit and comprehensive income - £RFIER2ENAEE
for the year - - - 13524 (5411) 26610 (218631) (183908)
Equity settled share-based transactions B £ERABERZ
25 i - - 813 - - - - BB
Repurchase and cancellation of shares B8 Rt k1A [0} (115.241) - - - - - (115.242)
Repurchase of shares (to be cancelled) ~ BER(7 (45:E3) - (15,465) - - - - - (15,469)
Transfer of other comprehensive income & RAFEF AZM2E
of the investees upon the disposal of MBI & REEKERR
financial assets at FVOCI BHKZEDRENS - - - - - (12) 12 -
Divicends declared in respect FALERERRE
of the previous year 330) - (285,119) - e e (2_85_,1152_
Balance at 31 December 2023and 20235128318 R
1 January 2024 WUE1B1R2E8 27 3,083,031 160,168 (235966) (15,559 6,607 131,176 3129488
Changes in equity for 2024: NUFERELE
Profitfor the year MR = = = = = = (162,395) (162,395)
Other comprehensive income Aprmka - - - 155,979 (3,657) - - 152,322
Total profit and comprehensive income  FARIE R 2EREEE
for the year - - - 155,979 (3,657) - (162,395) (10,073)
Equity settled share-based transactions 1B 5 I\ R7 BEH
%5 0 - - 25421 - - - - 25421
Repurchase and cancellation of shares 8B Rt {7 y (62,251) - - - - - (62,251)
Repurchase of shares (to be cancelled)  EEIR( (i) - (9,880) - - - - - (9,880)
Transfer of other comprehensive income (i €A FEF AL 2E
of the investees upon the disposal of MK SREEKERR
financial assets at FVOCI BHREBRENR - - - - - - = =
Dividends declared in respect FBEERERRE
of the previous year 33b) - (433,447) - - - - - (433,447)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R204E12831 A2E8 7 2,577,453 185,595 (79,987 (19.212) 6,607 (31,219 2,639,264
* Amount less than RMB1,000. * SEENRARK1,0007T °
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33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 33 BX - ERKRE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Dividends by BE
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) FRENARAEGKRRZ
Company attributable to the year: RS

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

A final dividend of HKDO0.13 per RS R B ERIRA
share and a special dividend of REARR B BAR0.13E 7T

HKDO.07 per share proposed KRR B & H%0.07 & T

after the end of reporting period (20234 : A AR EAAR B

(2023: a final dividend of FHR0.15%87T)

HKDO.15 per share) 585,932 434,185
The final dividend and special dividend proposed for R EBMREEREIL AL
shareholders’ approval after the end of the reporting R 3 R EI R B KRR RIAR B
period have not been recognised as a liability at the WARBERRERREE -

end of the reporting period.

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) FAREHMERIKN 2 E—8
Company attributable to the previous financial year, RERENARRBIRERRER
approved and paid during the year: SN

2024 2023
2024 F 2023F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
A final dividend of HKDO0.15 RERNS BRI 2
per share in respect of the previous = —BFEF € R HIR S
financial year, approved and FHx0.15% 7T (2023 4 -
paid during the year (2023: a final ~ RFEAE#/E KRR 2
dividend of HKDO0.10 per F-HMERFERPKRE
share in respect of the previous 0108 7T)
financial year, approved and
paid during the year) 433,447 285,115
The dividends approved during the year ended 31 RE ZE 2024 F k20234 12
December 2024 and 2023 were paid on 11 July 2024 A3NBILEFEERAENRE
and 11 July 2023 respectively. B RIR2024F7 A1MB K

20237 A1 BIRST ©

262 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(B&

SITREAN -

BUARETTIIR)

33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

33 EX

CRERKRE(E)

(c) Share capital () BA&
(i) Issued share capital (i) BEITEREX
2024 2023
20245 20034
No. of shares No. of shares
('000) RMB'000 ('000) RMB'000
RHEE RinEE
(F18) AR®T R (T AR®FT
Ordinary shares, issued and BRTRHAZZER
fully paid:
At 1 January W1A1H 3,194,114 27 3,232,380 28
Cancellation of shares (note (ii)) 7 S5 A (B3 (i) (30,468) * (38,266) (1)
At 31 December W12831H 3,163,646 27 3,194,114 27
* Amount less than 1,000. * FREE R 1,000 ©
(i) Repurchase and cancellation of shares (i) BERITHERSG
During the year, the Company repurchased its own FARNARARBEBBER
ordinary shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong SHMERRARBENATES
Limited as follows: TiEAR
Number
of shares Highest Lowest Aggregate
repurchased price paid price paid price paid
Month/year %£,/8 ('000) per share per share (RMB'000)
BERGHE BRAH BRMAH THBER
(TR EEER ERE®R (AR¥TR)
January 2024 202441 A 24,390 HKD2.947% 7T HKD2.62 7% T 62,251
December 2024 202412 A 2,860 HKD3.81 % 7T HKD3.62 7% T 9,880
72,131

The total amount paid on the repurchased shares
of RMB72,131,000 was paid wholly out of retained
profits.

30,468,000 shares of the repurchased shares have
been cancelled on 27 May 2024, and 2,860,000 shares
have not yet been cancelled as at 31 December 2024.

BRBRMOANRSEAAR
#72,131,0007C * 5 B R B
FEEE -

30,468,000 % 8 [ J& 1) B
PR 2024F5F27 B k8

2,860,000 I A& 17 75 2024 12
A31 B AR -
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33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(d)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

Share premium represents the difference between
the total amount of the par value of shares issued
and the amount of the net proceeds received. Under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company would be
in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PRC statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group (excluding foreign
investment enterprises) are required to transfer 10%
of their profit after taxation, as determined under the
PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their
registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to cover previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders
in proportion to their existing shareholdings or by
increasing the par value of the shares currently held
by them, provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the surplus/deficit between
the consideration paid/received and the net assets
of a subsidiary acquired/disposed regarding the
transactions between the Group and the non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control.
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33 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside the mainland China.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(x).

(v)  Fair value reserve (non-recycling)
The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that
are held at the end of the reporting period (see note

T(g)).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
its net gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by net assets. Net debt is calculated as total debt
(including all bank loans and lease liabilities as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group maintained
at net cash position.

As at 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

SITEAIN  HUAARETIIR)

33 BEXR-FERRE(E)
d) HBENEERARE)

(e)

(ivy, EREE
P& W% 8 B 45 B Rt A A1
MEBINER 2 S RETFT
EXEZHMBENEZE %
HREWF 1 2 &5t
BURIERRIE o

v) 2AFEREFTHE)
RN EREB(TEE) RS
RB|EHRFENRER A
MBHREENEIRIEE R
NRAFEFEEEEH A
H 2 HE RS RARE N

EU) °

EXER
AEBERAEEBNTEBERR
BEARAKERBELENED B
B A EE G M BR 7S E R R K SF AR
MO EBMASEKARGHE -
A B R RCR IR MmN A H A R
D E R -

AEBEERNE RS REER
BEAREE NEBRSKERERA
EMERSEFKTFRARBRER
RS R BB RARE ARG F
& YERKERREHABREN
28 -

AEERBEEFEEABRER
HERRE - LR EHF
BBRUNEEFBEME - EHF
BIRBES (BR&EE P BN
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the Group's business. The Group is also
exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in
other entities and movements in its own equity share price.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to cash at bank, treasury products, other financial
assets measured at amortised cost and trade and other
receivables.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Cash at bank and treasury products

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash at
bank is limited because the counterparties are well-known
financial institutions, for which the Group considers to have
low credit risk.

The Group's treasury products classified as FVTPL are
issued by financial institutions with good credit rating. The
Group has determined that there is no significant credit
risk associated with these treasury products, and these
products did not cause any losses during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Otbher financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group's credit risk in other financial assets measured
at amortised cost is mainly attributable to listed debt
instruments. The credit risk arises from default of the
issuers, with a maximum exposure represented by the net
carrying amount of financial assets as at the end of each
reporting period.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

The Group adopts a credit rating approach in managing
the credit risk of the listed debt investments portfolio. Debt
securities are rated with reference to major rating agencies
where the issuers of the securities are located. The net book
value of listed debt investments analysed by the rating
agency designations as at December 31 are as follows:

SITEAIN  HUAARETIIR)

34 BBEREEREEMIAN

DFEGE)

(a)

FERR (&)
RBHERAGENHMEEREE
(&)
AEERBEREFABTEEED
tHEBREAENERERR -
BEBEF2REFETAMET
ZHMBBEOFR - R12A831
B EeLtmEBREREFER
AR BRRE R DTN

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBFT
Ratings AR
— unrated — \m 5,476 4,968

The Group applies the ECL model to calculate loss
allowances for its listed debt instruments. Method applied
by the Group in assessing the expected credit losses of
its financial assets is risk parameters method. The key
parameters include Probability of Default (“PD"), Loss
Given Default (“"LGD"), and Exposure at Default (“"EAD"),
considering the time value of money. Related definitions
are as follows:

—  PDis the possibility that a customer will default on its
obligation within a certain period of time in light of
forward-looking information;

— LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is
a default in light of forward-looking information.
The LGD is depending on the type of counterparty,
the method and priority of the recourse, and the
type of collaterals, with taking the forward looking
information into account;

— EAD refers to the total amount of on- and off-
balance sheet exposures in the event of default and
is determined based on the historical repayment
records.

There have been no significant changes in estimation
techniques or significant assumptions made during the
year.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of debt security
instruments during the year is as follow:

34 MREAREEREMIAN
AFE(E)

EERK (&)
REBERAHENHGbSREE
(%)
NEFBEEBSHTLERERGS
T

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARET T

Balance at 1 January W1 A1 87,749 72,433

Impairment loss recognised EHRRMEERR 876 15,316

Balance at 31 December ®12 B31 HR & 88,625 87,749
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. The Group has no concentrations of credit risk
in view of its large number of customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.

268 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

AEENEERREIZERERE
FEENFHTZE MIETPXE
BRENTERERER AREE
RREREFRAKEHERNT
FAEEARRBOZKEL - M
RAEENETEFHEERSZ 8T
BEERBRETHEMN -

HRAABEERETEESBEZE
FHEETENEEN G ZF
AEERHHEFBEEIEEZ
BERCHERAREMNRES  AE
BEFREREMERBEEEFKZ
FrEE IR ZEHL -



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR Z1TFEBRIM

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix and individually determined to be
impaired.

(i) At 31 December 2024, the Group's trade receivables
of RMB439,470,000 (2023: RMB189,938,000) were
individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to customers
that were in financial difficulties and management
assessed that only a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered and certain amount of
RMB396,810,000 (2023: RMB120,753,000) as at 31
December 2024 is past due over 1 year against which
the Group held collaterals. On that basis, specific
allowance for impairment of trade receivables
of RMB108,295,000 (2023: RMB69,185,000) were
recognised.

(i)  For the provision matrix method, as the Group's
historical credit loss experience indicates significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on ageing
information is further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

BUARETTIIR)

34 BXEARBEEREMTAMN

DFEGE)

(a)

EERE(E)

B 5 W oE ()
AEBENERKATRBEREEE
e BT EE S RBKFBENER
B wRBERREBREGSE
W& E A ERRE -

iy M2024%F 128318 &
EEESHEBFEARE
439,470,000 7T (20234 @ A
R #189,938,0007T) # & F
BEBRE - ZZ @R E
JE U 5% 18 B T BE B RS N #
WEFEHE AHLERERE
FEzERrKEEEE
BEU —EB o 0 R 2024 4
1231 B A& E 3t Hi i
B—FMNETHREARE
396,810,000 7T (20234 : A
R #120,753,0007T) # A &
HR-Al EERESE
WRBREZEEEEA
A B 108,295,000 7T (2023
£ AR#69,1850007T) °

(i) SABEBEMIEMS  BR
AEBENELEEBRELR
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DFEGE)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (@) FERR (E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B EWRE(E)
The following tables provides information about the TREIAEERBERREEE
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade MEAEEERBME S ERGIE
receivables by using a provision matrix: TBEMEEEEIER
2024
2024 F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BEHEEER IREARE ik e
% RMB’'000 RMB’'000
% AR¥T T AR¥T T
Trade receivables B S EWRIE
Amounts due from FEW e EIE
non-property owners
Within 1 year —F R 1.5% 1,076,329 16,177
1 to 2 years —EME 1.7% 357,867 6,062
2 to 3 years MZE=F 7.5% 301,565 22,484
3to 4 years =EF 41.0% 88,089 36,100
4 to 5 years MZEFRF 87.3% 14,278 12,470
Over 5 years AFLE 100.0% 5,219 5,219
L (£ Sl |
Amounts due from EWEERE
property owners
Within 1 year —F R 3.4% 1,779,206 60,701
1to 2 years —E=WF 10.4% 625,060 64,943
2 to 3 years ME=4F 23.4% 478,085 112,076
3to 4 years —EMmEF 43.1% 215,300 92,691
Over 4 years ME £ 100.0% - -
e 00 3.097.651 .. 330,411 |
4,940,998 428,923
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS D E(E)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) FERR(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B EWRE(E)
2023
2023 %
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHBAX FRE 487 EBEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AREBT T ARBTT
Trade receivables P& W R E
Amounts due from ALEE ]
non-property owners
Within 1 year —F R 1.1% 1,082,196 11,570
1 to 2 years —EMF 3.1% 464,124 14,548
2 to 3 years ME=4F 15.0% 204,862 30,828
3to 4 years —ZEF 43.6% 29,159 12,705
4 to 5 years Nz hHF 97.1% 5,468 5,312
Over 5 years FFE 100.0% 5,198 5,198
R 7 A\ 80,161
Amounts due from A E EX8
property owners
Within 1 year —FRX 3.4% 1,668,588 57,004
1 to 2 years —ZEMF 11.8% 641,523 75,589
2 to 3years ME=F 24.2% 297,853 72,207
3to 4 years =EF 54.2% 65,580 35,549
Over 4 years EL 100.0% - -
1 s o s S 240,349
4,464,551 320,510
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience EHERXDERBERLFZE
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect BEBELR BERELEXEHAER
differences between economic conditions during the period f2 B s 5= B S BUHR AR 2 48 B IR
over which the historic data has been collected, current S BREARREARRE ARG E
conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions Wk T 78 B 6 B 2 4 RO 2
over the expected lives of the receivables. WER-
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables during the year, including both specific and
collective loss components, is as follows:

34 MREAREEREMIAN
AFE(E)

(a)

FERRE (&)

B 5 W oE ()
FRESRUFBEREREE D
(BREEHNEEREERID) AT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 %

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREFIT

Balance at 1 January w1 A1B 2 & 389,695 324,094

Disposal of subsidiaries k=) =N - (217)

Impairment loss recognised EER R EEE 218,780 124,102

Uncollectible amounts written off i SE AT U Bl £ 58 (71,257) (58,284)

Balance at 31 December W12 A3 Bz 48 537,218 389,695
Other receivables H it FE W FRE

For other receivables, management performs periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experiences incorporating
forward-looking information.

The Group considers counter-parties as follows:

J ‘Stage 1' Counter-parties who have a low risk of
default and a strong capacity to meet contractual
cash flows;

o ‘Stage 2' Counter-parties whose repayments are past

due but with reasonable expectation of recovery; and

o ‘Stage 3' Counter-parties whose repayments are past
due and with low reasonable expectation of recovery.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DFEGE)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) FERR(E)
Other receivables (Continued) H fth B WK IE (48)
The following tables summarised the loss allowance for T ZR MR S R B R 9 A 8
other receivables as analysed by different stages: W R IR B 1R 1 4
2024
2024 5
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BEHEEXR IREARE BREE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®T AR¥T T
Other receivables Hfh e FRIE
Stage 1-12-month ECL 14 —1218 A 1B A
EEEER 4.39% 761,807 33,476
Stage 2-Lifetime ECL E2/ — K ATAHE
8E#E 18.98% 6,171 1,171
Stage 3-Lifetime ECL EIR/ — KATEHHE
BEE 100.00% 96,005 96,005
863,983 130,652
2023
20234
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHBEX AR 4878 BEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AREF T ARBTIT
Other receivables H b P& WK IR
Stage 1-12-month ECL E18— 121 ATEE
EEEE 2.64% 796,036 20,996
Stage 2-Lifetime ECL F2/ — KATEH
EEEE 29.72% 105,400 31,323
Stage 3-Lifetime ECL E3R/ —KATEH
EEEE 100.00% 81,213 81,213

982,649 133,532
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of other
receivables during the year, including both specific and
collective loss components, is as follows:

34

BUARETTIIR)

BHEEREEREMIAN
DFEGE)

(a)

FERRE (&)

H fth P W Sk 0H (48

F A H i 8 W R TR (B B B
(BREEHNEEREERID) AT

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Balance at 1 January w1 A1B 2 & 133,532 71,525
Disposal of subsidiaries BT A R (122) 3)
Impairment losses recognised R REEE 20,975 62,304
Uncollectible amounts written off 58 A W B & BE (23,733) (294)
Balance at 31 December R12A3NHZ&E% 130,652 133,532

(b) Liquidity risk (b) RBEZRERE

The Group's management reviews the liquidity position
of the Group on an ongoing basis, including review of
the expected cash inflows and outflows and maturity of
loans and borrowings, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions and/or from other Group
companies to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS D E(E)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) by RBELRAR (E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRITAEERREHRD R
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the BEMNRTEHNHR  HRES
Group's financial liabilities, which are based on contractual WATRBEeRE(BREREREH
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments MEFENFENK - WEZEE -
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on AR EHROMEGTE) RAE
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the Ea gt FEXNORE BEEE

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

2024
20245
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BARFRRERH

More than ~ More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but

1 year or less than lessthan ~ More than Carrying

on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
—£R BA-F  BBRF

FRER  EREA BEER BARF a5t fREE

RVMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR%TR AR®TR ARE®TR AR%TR

Trade and other payables BHREMENTRE
(excluding accrued payroll (T BIEETER
and other benefits, other tax, E BT « H b ER
charges payable and accruals) 18 « B8 R EET

EM) 3,968,044 - - - 3,968,044 3,968,044
Bank loans RITER 41,380 - 18,616 13,548 73,544 64,923
Lease liabilities HEARE 174,731 197,629 246,450 279,341 898,151 713,074

4,184,155 197,629 265,066 292,889 4,939,739 4,746,041
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AYE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) by RBELRAR (E)
2023
2023 F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ANRTER SRS

More than More than
Within Tyearbut  2yearsbut

1 year or less than less than More than Carrying

on demand 2 years 5years 5years Total amount
—£R BB—F BB F

FIREK BRMFER BRFR HBBREF Bt FmE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT AREBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETL

Trade and other payables 85 REMENTRIE
(excluding accrued payroll (T EIEEFTE R
and other benefits, other tax,  EAAEF « E At EF
charges payable and accruals) 18 - B K&

£H) 3,912,447 1,369 - - 3913816 3913816
Bank loans RITER 278815 10,415 13,482 - 302,712 290,424
Lease liabilities HEGE 328,328 329,135 576,702 662,154 1,896,319 1,417,712
Liabilities associated with B BB R
financial guarantees issued ~ BEAREE 83,879 - - - 83,879 83,879
4,603,469 340,919 590,184 662,154 6,196,726 5,705,831
(c) Interest rate risk () A=ZEbx
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIRER
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from AEBEMAERERBREENRE
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and RekReFEY ZRHI
interest-bearing loans. The Group manages its ReRFAEER - ANEEFE
interest rate exposure by maintaining a prudent mix BRFFENTELS Y EME
of fixed and variable rate borrowings. TS EIRER R @R -
The Group is not exposed to significant interest rate rEBTEGRE RS
risk for cash and cash equivalents or restricted cash BYIZRFReMATE
because the interest rates of cash at bank are not AFE @R - kT8 TE E
expected to change significantly. RITERFETGHEERE
& o
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AYE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) () A=ERER (E)
(i) Interest rate profile (Continued) (i) R (E)
The following table details the interest rate profile of TREFMAEE B REREN
the Group's total borrowings: FIEBER
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRAIE BRFI=
% RMB’000 % RMB'000
% ARBTR % ARBFT
Fixed rate borrowings: EEEX
Lease liabilities (note 14(b)) HEBE (T4 b)) 3.45%-4.90% 713,074  3.55%-4.90% 1,417,712
Bank loans RITER 0%-5.20% 64,923 1.80%-5.80% 72,248
777,997 1,489,960
Interest rate swap MEF#H - - 2.20% 109,088
777,997 1,599,048
Variable rate borrowings: BEER:
Bank loans SRITER - = 4.18%-7.53% 218,177
Interest rate swap xR} = - AUD-BBSYBid (109,088)
BT —RIT
_______________________________________________________________________________ REERE
Net exposure FEER O = 109,089
Total borrowings BREs 777,997 1,708,137
Fixed rate borrowings as a EEBRGERERE
percentage of total borrowings B2t 100% 94%
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

34 MREAREEREMIAN
AFE(E)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit after taxation
and retained profits by nil (2023: RMB764,000) in
response to the general increase/decrease in interest
rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's profit after
taxation (and retained profits) and other components
of consolidated equity that would arise assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the

() F=mEE(E)

(ii)

BRBEDSN

202412 A318 - &5t
F =R EFH 1001
Ho mrBEMEEHE
T BLAEERTB %
FIH R AR B R B8 b0, R
= (20234 + AR % 764,000
TU) AR R 2 e b
Tt/ TR

E RS AT R B
SRR 45 R B A B
7 B B8 TS (RAR B
FIH) R 2 At 2 HE 25 0 5
EAMDBED - AEET

end of the reporting period. The Group does not FFARATEFGFAERZE
account for any fixed rate borrowings at fair value BAERK .lﬂ:ﬁ’\%ﬁiﬁﬂﬂiﬁﬁ
through profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest MEZFEBHWARTEIEZ R
rate at the end of the reporting period would not BREHRBAEERFENTF

affect profit or loss. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group's

B EIEDTAE T ARSI B
BenE8NMERRME 4
AEEBRHRMNE (RRE
f'JiFﬁ)&?&‘?/m\E E’Jﬁi\’rm“ﬁ

profit after taxation (and retained profits) and other VR B TIERZIAN EE
components of consolidated equity is estimated as TKE’J@E{E*U E‘ffﬂﬁiqﬁlm
an annualised impact on interest expense or income FEMMGET - ZED TR
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is 2023 F MR A EAE T AETT o

performed on the same basis for 2023.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk

(e)

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the respective functional currencies of Group
entities.

The Company, the BVI subsidiary and the Hong Kong
subsidiaries’ functional currency is Hong Kong Dollar
(HKD). Their businesses are principally conducted in
HKD. In addition, as the HKD is pegged to the USD, the
Group considers the risk of movements in exchange rates
between the HKD and the USD to be insignificant. The
Group's PRC subsidiaries’ functional currency is RMB and
MAG's functional currency is AUD, and their businesses
are principally conducted in RMB and AUD. The Group
therefore considers the currency risk to be insignificant.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments held for trading and non-trading
purposes (see note 19). Other than unquoted securities
held for strategic purposes, all of these investments are
listed.

The Group's listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong and are mostly included in the
Hang Seng Index. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities
are based on daily monitoring of the performance of
individual securities compared to that of the index and
other industry indicators, as well as the Group's liquidity
needs.

All of the Group's unquoted investments are held for long-
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed
at least biannually against performance of similar listed
entities, based on the limited information available to the
Group, together with an assessment of their relevance to
the Group's long-term strategic plans.

SITEAIN  HUAARETIIR)

34 BBEREEREEMIAN

DFEGE)

(d)

(e)

E¥ER
AEEEBENESRBREERS
NASEEEEEWEER AN
MERHERHE KRB -

ARe RBEBERBEENE QA
LREBMBEARNINEEEHS
BB - REXEBITENE
TLHEIT UL HRBITEETT
By REBERRETHEETE
XEH I RBEN - AKEFTH
MEARMNMEEERARER
MAGHYIhEEER R ARE
EBETEUAAREFORITTHETT
BARERREBRRLTERX -

IR A (E 45 ELR
AEEEBREARSUERIER S
PR B FTEE £ M (B Z B 2
(RMEE19) - BRIFAIEREE M
MIELEMESIN BEZSTRE
BREMRE -

AEEN EHRECER BB
Ei o AT EBREEELEREA -
EARBEHXRZERTDENER
ERBEESFNKE  HEHE
BMEMITRIBEEMEL LR D
i ARBAEERPESHTR
MEREERE -

AR E AR H I L RE W U
MERIEE OG- RIEAEE
MEERER ERAAKERY
SN 810 AR B BF - K
—REMAG LT EBRR T
P8 DA 12 S 1 fE BT -
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SITEAN -

BUARETTIIR)

34 MREAREEREMIAN
AFE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(e) Equity price risk (Continued) (e) MAEHREM (&)
At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that an increase/ M2024%F12A31 8 H:t 4
(decrease) of 1% (2023: 1%) in the relevant stock price (for PEE (EWIEE) A (TFE) 1%
listed investments), with all other variables held constant, (2023F : 1%) r MATEEMESE
would have increased/decreased the Group's profit BETE BLAEERTET
after tax (and retained profits) and other components of B(RRENE) REMEE ER
consolidated equity as follows: EREB I, HAD AT
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Effect on Effect on
profit after profit after
tax and Effect on tax and Effect on
retained fair value retained fair value
profits reserve profits reserve
HRB&AE HRBEFE
RREAEH HAYE RAREFIEE HATE
e RENYE ¥E  BENYE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR%Tx ARETT ARETT
Change in quoted ~ REREZH
share price
Increase 2 1% 1,407 3 1% 1,476 16
Decrease B (1%) (1,407) 3) (1%) (1,476) (16)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group's profit after tax (and retained profits) and fair
value reserve that would arise assuming that the changes
in the respective quoted share prices had occurred at the
statement of financial position date and had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2023.
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

— Level 1 Fair value measured using only
valuations: Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date
— Level 2 Fair value measured using Level 2
valuations: inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available
— Level 3 Fair value measured using
valuations: significant unobservable inputs

The Group involved independent valuation specialist
to perform valuations for certain financial instruments,
including unlisted equity investments and convertible
notes which are categorised into Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.

SITREAN -

BUARETTIIR)

BERAFEFENERMEER
afE

RFEFE
TERENANEERREHK
RIEFHEEENATEFE
MEMTE ADBREE
B HmEEYNFIRIAF
B EIMREN=EIF
BEER - BLATEFESR
MER LS E LT AER
M AEARENATBRRENE
REBAMK :

— R RERE—R%H
BE: ABEFEER
FE BN E
AR EE K
BEERETIS
IR BRE

— B,
(RN

FERE-_REA
BEBEAEHERF
B BAKRENA
FE—MZABR
o A\ BUR & E
RBARTAEE
BABE - TH
BEERAZSED
™5 BUR R BEIR
2B AR

—E=&
ftfE -

ERERT AR
5 A BIRG E
ATH

AEBEBEBELAEERY
ETeRTR(BEIER
NP ERBE=ZRZIFLH
BARKRERAEBRER) E
17418 -
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4 BEEREEREMIAN
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DNFE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) f 2DFEFEE)
()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BOATVEFTENSREER
value (Continued) &8&(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) D TFEER(E)

Fair value measurements

Efralioas as at 31 December 2024 using
31 December AVLBEIEAAR2024E12831BER
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R 2024 5
128318
ZDTE #£-& =R E=8
Recurring fair value BEMAPETE
measurement
Asset: BE:
FVOC| BATEF AR M2 ERS
— Listed equity securities — FTRAES 286 286 - -
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — JE E MR AR E
(note (i) (MEEQ) - - - -
— Interest rate swap —FIEEHhTH
arrangements = = = =
FVPL RAFER AR
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — 3 F MR AR A
(note (i) (3£ G) 29,981 - - 29,981
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — {RAFIE B R &M FE LT
of underlying project RARE (B (i)
investments (note (ii)) 113,179 - - 113,179
— Project investments (note (vi)) — T8 E & & (M5 (vi) 454,026 - - 454,026
— Listed equity securities — FRAES 140,704 140,704 - =
— Treasury Products (note (iil) ~ — & & 2 @ (FIFE (i) 10,101 - - 10,101
— Funds (note (iv)) —E& (M) 201,979 - - 201,979
— Convertible notes (note (v)) ~ — AR ZEHE (Fi7E () 236,319 - - 236,319
— Written put and call options ~ — B &R R ERE MR
of interest in associate R B (V3T (vii)
(note (vi) 42,786 - - 42,786
1,229,361 140,990 - 1,088,371
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DNFE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) f 2DFEFEE)
()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BOATVEFTENSBREER
value (Continued) &8&(E)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RNFEZR(E)

Fair value measurements
Fair value at as at 31 December 2023 using

31 December AEEFEHAR 202312831 BER

2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2023
12A3H
ZRTE E—1 E-H F=R
Recurring fair value BEMAPETE
measurement
Asset: BE:
FVOCl BRVERHARMZERS
— Listed equity securities — FRAES 1,706 1,706 - -
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — 3E E TR AR E
(note (i) (MZEG) 1129 - - 1,129
— Interest rate swap — FIRERTH
arrangements 1,164 - 1,164 -
FVPL BRFERHARS
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — JE EMRARE
(note (1)) (P =E ) 128,482 - - 128,482
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — FABIE B RARFELT
of underlying project AR A (B (i)
investments (note (ii)) 97,822 - - 97,822
— Project investments (note (vi) — B8 &% & (FI3E(vi) 628,503 - - 628,503
— Listed equity securities — FRAES 147,582 147,582 - -
— Treasury Products (note (i)~ — & & & (FI3E i) 35,025 - - 35,025
— Funds (note (iv) — 22 (&) 249,072 - - 249,072
— Convertible notes (note (v)) ~ — ATHAIRZE (M3 () 338,179 - - 338,179
1,628,664 149,288 1,164 1,478,212
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

284

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

DFEGE)

f 2DEEFEE)
(i) BRLAFENENESBREER
&8&(E)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements E—RAFEFAEHER

()  The valuation of the Group's unlisted equity () AEEFLTRER
investments is based on a combination of EWMHEDERTS
market data, valuation models and valuation B HEER BT
report, if any, issued by an independent external SN EB 15 B Al BT 3 6 {
valuer. The Group measures the fair value of BEHE (WA)MESs -
unlisted equity investments in the following REBZIATHAG
manner: EFLTHRAEEN

NEE

Unlisted equity investment in China CVS of
RMB11,163,000 (2023: RMB27,147,000) are
valued with PS ratio of 1.47x (2023: 2.05x) and
a lack of marketability discount of 26.0% (2023:
20.0%) was employed as appropriate.

Remaining unlisted equity investments
of RMB18,818,000 (2023: RMB59,467,000)
represents various equity investments valued
with PS ratios and liquidation discounts, and

A China CVSH) 3E
MBEAKZEEARE
11,163,000 7T (2023
F 0 AR B 27,147,000
JT) JhiR1.47 £ (2023
F 1 2.05fF) ™A
KHE WREE R
KEMmzmERBMNT
T 78 26.0% (2023 4 -
20.0%) °

AR #18,818,000 7T
B FRI 88 9E £ IR AN IR
& (2023F : AR
59,467,0007T) 5 A T

lack of marketability discounts as key valuation 8 5 R B AR TR A Rk
inputs. TS RAMITEER
TEMERABEE
TTHENZIERARE -
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

34 BBEREEREEMIAN

DFEGE)

f 2DFEFEE)

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BRLOAFENENESBREER
value (Continued) &8&(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements E—RAFEFAEHER
(Continued) (#8)
(i)  The fair value of the Group’s unlisted equity (i) AEEABERREDN
investments of underlying project investments I ETMRAEEN AT

of RMB113,179,000 (2023: RMB97,822,000) is
based on the fair value of underlying project
investments determined by measuring the ECL
associated with the project financing (2023:
based on the fair value of underlying project
investments determined by measuring the ECL
associated with the project financing). Please
refer to note (vi) for the method applied to
project investments.

B AR ®113,179,000
T (20234F : AR
97,822,0007T) Jh E R
HIEERMER@ENE
HEEBEBFEERT
MEBERRENR
FIEEE (20234F « &
REBEREEED
EHEEBEBEEE
EHWHBEEREN
NEERFL) -FLH
B &E(vi)IE B B FT#R

MEVFTE A ©
(i) The fair value of treasury products are calculated iy E€EMATHERE
by discounting the expected future cash flows. HARREREMR
The fair value measurement is negatively 8 AT EEHEA
correlated to discount rate. The discount rate WEGMEE - BB ER
is determined according to market expected BhmsEiEmEE

(iv)

return rate. As at 31 December 2024, market
expected return rates ranged from 1.25% to
2.32% per annum, it is estimated that with all
other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in fair value of wealth management
products by 1% would have increased/
decreased the Group's profit for the year by
RMB50,000 (2023: RMB350,000).

The fair value of fund assets is determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows

TE o 2024412 A 31
B WHBEHFLHFE
N F1.25% % 2.32%
HEHEBEEME S
BERFTIENBERT 12
BEMDNFAEZM R
D1% - KEBF A F
g R AR
50,0007 (20234 : A
R #350,0007T) °

vy E2EENRFED
BARHR (EBRIE

which are secured by items of collaterals (mainly TR RERER
unlisted equity interests) and guarantees. HHEERKRR SR
The fair value of fund assets is thus positively SHRETE ARES
correlated with the realisable amounts of BEEMNRTEREER
collaterals or guarantees. Related significant mAERAIZR SR
unobservable inputs include the factors used in EAERE - A ERT
valuing collateralised unlisted shares. HEHASRBERRE
AR HABEEMIE L
TP EIEZE -
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)
(v)  The fair value of convertible notes issued by
China CVS classified as FVPL is determined
using Binomial Option Pricing Model and the
significant unobservable inputs are as follows:

DFEGE)

H 2DFEFEE)

() BRAFEHENSBREER
=R AC-))
FE=RATFEGTENEH
(%)

(vy HChina CVSE{THE D
HMAERAFEIT AR
ERAEBREENA
FERA BN E
TEEEMET BT

Share price & B
Expected volatility & BB &
Risk-free rate e ) =X
Pre-tax discount rate TR AL IR &

Issuer repurchase probability BIT ABEOIE R
Issuer not repurchase probability 17 A7 BI# &
Liquidation discount BRI

(vi) The fair value of project investments is
determined by measuring the ECL associated
with the project financing (2023: determined by
measuring the ECL associated with the project
financing). Significant unobservable inputs are a
PD of 7.77% (2023: 8.09%) for unlisted borrower
and 0.26% (2023: 0.20%) for a listed borrower,
and a LGD of 69.66% (2023: 75.00%).
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AEEBABBLT

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
USD0.28% 7t  USDO0.73% 7T
53.06% 53.14%
4.23% 4.95%
21.05% 19.47%

95% 95%

5% 5%

42% 25%

viy BEERENAFER
FHEEEEHEAN
EHEEBREE
TE (20234 : FRA MG
BEmEEENESEE
BERITEET) ~EX
TR A BUR A IE
ETERARNELOB X
7.77% (2023 4F : 8.09%)
METERANED
2R 0.26% (20234 :
0.20%) * LA K& #1418
5 T 69.66% (2023 F -
75.00%) °
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 KEREEREMIAMN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DFEGE)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) f DEEFEE)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BOATVEFTENSBREER
value (Continued) aE @)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements F=RRFEFTENEH
(Continued) (4&)
(viiy The fair value of written put and call options (vii) B & D AR AR
of interest in associate is determined using RRBEIHEIFER
Binomial Option Pricing Model and the B-EAHREERE
significant unobservable inputs are as follows: BEF  ERTAEHE
BABBT
2024
2024 F
Share price I (& AUD13.65 2 T
Exercise price 1T1EE AUD19.00 2 7t
Expected volatility T8 B R & 43.31%
Option life RE R 1 45 5 3.4 years £ -
3.8 years
Risk-free rate # [ B ) X 3.85%-3.88%

2024 FEEHE HWIRSEERR AR 287



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B& 5

1TEERSN - HAARETIIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 MBRERE )E BEREmMIAN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NEE(E
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) f 2DFEFEE)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair () BRLOAFENENESBREER
value (Continued) &8&(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements E—RAFEFAEHER
(Continued) (4&)
There were no other changes in valuation HE2024F12AH31 8 EF
methodologies during the year ended 31 December B hEFALEEMEE) o
2024.
The movements during the year in the balance of ZEBE="MATEAENF
these Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: %ﬁ?Z“@JﬁDT :
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR®T ARET T
FVPL: RAFETAESR
At 1 January ®W1A1H 1,477,083 1,721,747
Acquisitions g 42,786 -
Payment for purchases MEE R 1,091,000 1,141,521
Proceeds from sales &S KIAE (1,341,729) (1,186,332)
Changes in fair value FARIBRER
recognised in profit or loss 2N AR
during the year (192,581) (225,758)
Exchange differences &R =% 11,812 27,273
Others E b = (1,368)
At 31 December ®12A31H 19 1,088,371 1,477,083
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 MBRERE )E BEREmMIAN

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AYTE (B
(CONTINUED)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) f 2DFEFEE)
()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BOATVEFTENSREER
value (Continued) &8&(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements E—RAFEFAEHER
(Continued) (#8)
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR®T ARBTT
FVOCI: RAVEFAHEMEEZE
Wz
At 1 January R1A1H 1,129 2,221
Change in fair value FAREAM 2 E R
recognised in other R AT EES
comprehensive income
during the year (1,146) (1,129
Exchange differences MEH ZER 17 37
At 31 December ®12A31H 19 - 1,129
(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried (i) BAFEUMNIKRNSEE
at other than fair value EREENATE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial N LR ®NE 3 N
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are e TENEEEHER
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 72024 F K 2023 % 12 A 31
December 2024 and 2023. HRAFEHMEERER -
35 COMMITMENTS 35 #&iE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 not 202412 A3 B M KRR &+
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: BENORBITERRENT
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFT
Contracted for a4 18,360 63,969
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 EXBHEE RS

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere MRiZE MM A M T BN
in the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into BRI REBET A TERBEE R
the following significant related party transactions. 5 °
(@) Name of and relationship with related parties (a) BB L SN EBAB S MWER
During the reporting period, transactions with the following R|EHE - BUATETHRS
parties are considered as related party transactions: WRABBM TS
Name of party Relationship with the Group
B E £ B B S EEAR

Mr. Song Weiping, Ms. Xia Yibo and Mr. Shou Bainian Substantial shareholders of the Company through
Orchid Garden Investment Company Limited

REFHRE  BE-RZTREAFEE #38 Orchid Garden Investment Company Limited
ZARREEZRR

Ms. Li Hairong Shareholder of the Company through Lilac
International Investment Company Limited

FERT+ # 3B Lilac International Investment Company
Limited Z AN A AR R

Greentown Holdings Group Limited Controlled by Mr. Song Weiping, Ms. Xia Yibo

(“Greentown Holdings”) and its subsidiaries and Mr. Shou Bainian

B REAR AR ([EEER]) RE T AR MARFFEE E—RRLRERFLEES

Hangzhou Dangui Investment Company Limited Entities jointly controlled by Greentown Holdings
("Hangzhou Dangui Investment”) and
its subsidiaries and joint ventures

MM R EERER A F* (M FHERE]) R AR IR AR K ARG B 58
MEFREIRAEERTA

Zhejiang Greentown Hospital Investment Company Controlled by Mr. Song Weiping, Ms. Xia Yibo
Limited (“Greentown Hospital”) and its subsidiary and Mr. Shou Bainian

TSR BRREBRAR (M ER]) REFAR BREVEE E—RLLRSHEFLEES

Bluetown Agriculture Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder
("Bluetown Agriculture Technology”)

ERREMBARQR ([EREEREK]) REFLRERZERKR

Zhejiang Yunbang Security Service Technology An associate of the Group

Co., Ltd. (“Zhejiang Yunbang Security Service")
WIEH L REEHRERA A REBE L QA
(DI EHLE R

Zhejiang Yunjie Environmental Technology An associate of the Group
Service Co., Ltd (“Zhejiang Yunjie Environmental”)

MIERREMBEREAR A (DINIERRE]) REBE & Q7]
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 EXBHH RS (&)

(CONTINUED)
(@) Name of and relationship with related parties (a) BABES EBREREBLNER
(Continued) (%8)
Name of party Relationship with the Group
BES A8 EXREEBR
Zhejiang Yunyong Supply Chain Management An associate of the Group

Co., Ltd. ("Zhejiang Yunyong Supply Chain”)
MIERHEEERERAR (DN ISR MtEE]) A B EE QA

Lishui Agriculture Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder
("Lishui Bluetown Agriculture Development”)

KEMERRERERAR([ERERREER]) REFREREREE

Bluetown Real Estate Construction Management Group  Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder
Co., Limited ("Bluetown Group") and its subsidiary

ENFEEEREESEARAR([EWNER)) RET R ERIERBR
KNHEFRA]

Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering Company An associate of Greentown Holdings
Limited (“Zhejiang Gelingtong Elevator Engineering”)

MIREBREBTIREARA RRIIE A HO B R R

(TR 858 Eﬁl%‘sﬂ)

Xiangtan Chengfa Greentown Property Service A joint venture of the Group
Company Limited (“Xiangtan Chengfa”)
WETH B ERBARQ B (THFMED AEBMEE QA

Shanghai Huamu Greentown Property Service A joint venture of the Group
Company Limited (“Shanghai Huamu")
FBIERGBMERBER AR ([ LEEAKR]) AEENEERA

Zhejiang Greentown Housing Service System Co., Ltd. A joint venture of the Group

WMTRBEERERGBERAE AREEHEERA

Yiwu Guozi Lvcheng Property Service Company Limited  An associate of the Group
("Yiwu Guozi Lvcheng Property Service”)

ERMEERHMERBERAR* REE S AR
(IEETREZRMERE]D

Greentown Technology Industry Group An associate of the Group
Company Limited

HMEMREERBEEBRAER AR REE S A A
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 EXBHH RS (&)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Name of and relationship with related parties (a) BB AFEBREBBINER
(Continued) (%8)
Name of party Relationship with the Group
B S EB BEAKEER
Hangzhou Tuotuo Network Technology Co., Ltd. An associate of the Group

(“Hangzhou Tuotuo Network Technology”)
MM ZZBERRBR AR (MM ZZERRE ) REBENEZE QT

Zhejiang Bluetown Henghui Technology Development  An associate of the Group
Co., Ltd. ("Zhejiang Bluetown Henghui”)

WTEREEMKRERARAF RE B & A
(DT EWEER )
Henan Bluetown Real Estate Construction Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder

Management Co., Ltd. (“Henan Bluetown
Real Estate Construction”)

MHEEREEEREEARAF REFRERERBERE
(DEmENFEERR])
Jiaxing Bluetown Hailan Construction Management Mr. Song Weiping is a controlling shareholder

Co., Ltd. ("Jiaxing Bluetown Hailan Construction”)
SEENSERLETEAR A REFIEBIERKRR
([FEERSEERZ])

Shanghai Xinhu Greentown Property Services Company  An associate of the Group
Limited (“Shanghai Xinhu”) and its subsidiaries

EEFREB Y ERB AR AR > ([ LEHH]) REEHE S Q7]
KNHEFRA]

Zhejiang Xinhu Greentown Property Services Company  An associate of the Group
Limited (“Zhejiang Xinhu") and its subsidiaries

HOLHR AR ) % IR A R 2 &) * (DT 1) REB Y E QT
EEFRA]

Zhejiang Greentown |deal Life Business Operation An associate of the Group
Service Co., Ltd. ("Greentown ldeal Life")

AL AR R ELRBERA R ([ARHIZ)E ) REE L QT

Ningbo Yule Investment Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Yule”) An associate of the Group

ERRERERR DA ([ERRE]) REE S A A

Lvcheng Ivfa Community Service Company Limited An associate of the Group
("Lvcheng Ivfa”)

MR BEERBEBBER AR > (TARWARE]) REB Y E QA
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1TaEBASN - MAARE THIR)

36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 EXBH IS (&)

(CONTINUED)
(@) Name of and relationship with related parties () BABES EWMREREBLNER
(Continued) (%8)
Name of party Relationship with the Group
RS £ BEAEEEBR
Shanghai Ivrong Business Management Co., Ltd An associate of the Group
("Shanghai lvrong”)

EBRREEERERAT ([ LigkRR]) A B EE QA
Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (“Zhong Ao Home”) An associate of the Group
FEIREEERLA([HREK]) REB S AT
Hangzhou Jiancheng Asset Management Co., Ltd An associate of the Group
MMEKEEERGR QR AN BB N A
Zhejiang Zhijiang Property Management Co., Ltd An associate of the Group

("Zhejiang Zhijiang Property Management”)
T ZIMEERBRAR (L ZIMERER])  AKENBEQR

* The English translation of the Company name is for reference only. * NAIZBREBZEHRRE  2%Z
The official names of these companies are in Chinese. NRMEERBAP X -

(b) Key management personnel remuneration by FEEEEAEMNS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the TEETEEEREAEWE (B
Group, including amounts paid to the Company's directors BERARRRIESZHRIE BT
as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid S E) METHERSFME T (I
employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows: WM FEOFTHRER)) AT

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMREYER
in kind 11,548 10,397
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 6,346 3,769
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET SR 508 551
Equity-settled share-based payment  DA#Ez 4 H D X & A
expense 3,485 1,236
21,887 15,953
* Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(b)). * MemEast ATEIAA] (BRI
6(b)) ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1TaEBASN - MAARETHIR)

36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 EXBHH RS (&)

(CONTINUED)
(c) Significant related party transactions () EXBBHAIRS
Particulars of significant transactions between the Group N6 B B L B R 5 R R AR
and the above related parties during the reporting period MEARZFHBET
are as follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Property service, consulting service, WERTS « BARYE - BERS
community living services, technology REHZRIFRMH T
services provided to:
— Greentown Technology Industry — BB EEEE
Group 10,318 10,660
— Bluetown Group —EREERER 16,592 17,191
— Housing Service — FERB AR 2,946 -
Sales of goods to: HEEmM
— Bluetown Agriculture Technology ~— — EE3k 2 ¥ BHE 217 713
— Lishui Bluetown Agriculture — BKEWEEER
Development 516 447
Receiving property management BESMEERIERBE
support services from
— Subsidiary of Greentown Holdings — — 4R3I IR A BB A 7 11,675 11,991
— Zhejiang Yunjie Environmental — I ERBRIFERR
Technology 10,071 7,021
— Zhejiang Yunbang Security Service — T EFH % [ R 9,099 9,676
— Housing Service — EER%EAF 25,990 -
Purchasing goods from: BEEmMm
— Bluetown Agriculture Technology ~— — BEE¥ 2 ¥R 564 446
— Zhejiang Yunyong Supply Chain — I ERHEERE 790 7,088
Loans and advances to: BERRBERT :
— Greentown ldeal Life (note (i)) — AR B AR AEE (M EE () 1,820 750
— Hangzhou Tuotuo Network — TN Z B AR R
Technology - 900
— Zhejiang Bluetown Henghui — AT EEW R E - 9,071
— Zhejiang Zhijiang Property — I ZIMEER
Management 3,528 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR Z1TFEBRIM

36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Significant related party transactions (Continued)

(c)

BUARETTIIR)

36 EXRBABARS (1B)

(c)

BEXBBAIRS (B)
2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Receiving from repayment of loans:

— Zhejiang Zhijiang Property
Management

— Greentown Technology Industry
Group

— Zhejiang Bluetown Henghui

Interest income from:

— Greentown Technology Industry
Group

— Henan Bluetown Real Estate
Construction

EREENRA
— T2 IMEERE

— BRI EXEE

— AT ER A E

FMEWARE
— R EXEE

—TEERRERR

— Jiaxing Bluetown Hailan Construction— 52 S1 85 3 4 5 2 3%

— Zhejiang Zhijiang Property
Management

Health inspection service from:
— Subsidiary of Greentown Hospital

i

— T2 IMEERE

BERERBKA :

— RRIR B B #O BT /BB 2 7]

) In addition to loans and advances, the Group provided guarantee to

Greentown Ideal Life during the year ended 31 December 2023. This
guarantee expired in October this year (2023: RMB9,000,000).

1,868 -
- 36,577

- 100

301 -
193 952
237 193
131 236
330 525

0] BERRBFN AEEREE
202312 B 31 B IE 5 E A& IE 8
EERMER - ZERNSFI08
F8A (20234 : AR 9,000,0007T)
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1TaEBASN - MAARETHIR)

36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 EXBH IS (&)

(CONTINUED)
(d) Balances with related parties (d) BEEES H4Ee
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFT
Trade nature EZHE
— Amount due from entities — FEMWCR & P
controlled by Song Wei Ping ERMIE 42,606 39,186
— Amounts due from subsidiaries and  — Ji& YAk 358 3% A% BT B 2 B &%
associates of Greentown Holdings B2 N R SRIE 1 413
— Amounts due from associates or — EEE AT
joint ventures BASX/NCIE S| 40,956 28,963
— Amount due from entities — ERREF - SHFR
controlled by Song Wei Ping, B —RPrEGI B e A
Shou Bai Nian and Xia Yi Bo 3 69
83,566 68,631
Non-trade nature — non-current FEHMHE — FEEE (FEE6)
(note (i)
— Interests in associates — amounts ~ — REFE N E 2 — B
due from associates B &N\ B FRI8 160,311 147,114
Non-trade nature — current FEHHE — BE (M)
(note (ii))
— Amount due from entities — MR 7 P
controlled by Song Wei Ping FRHHIE 13,615 14,163
— Amounts due from associates or — JE U HE N )k
joint ventures AL NRIFIA 28,491 29776
42,106 43,939
Trade nature ESHE
— Amounts due to entities — FE R &R
controlled by Song Wei Ping HEENHIE 1,767 1,927
— Amounts due to subsidiaries and — TR M B A B
associates of Greentown Holdings P8 NCIE S| 3,050 2,311
— Amounts due to associates or — BB E ARk
joint ventures AL NRIFIA 47,675 25,542
— Amount due to entities controlled  — ERTREF « EMF &
by Song Wei Ping, Shou Bai Nian B —RFTETHIE B e IE
and Xia Yi Bo 14 1,366
52,506 31,146
Non-trade nature FESMHE
— Amounts due to entities — FE R &R
controlled by Song Wei Ping FRHFIE - 71,488
— Amounts due to associates or — FETEEE R A S
joint ventures AL NRIFIA 37,404 30,838
37,404 102,326

296 GREENTOWN SERVICE GROUP CO. LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(B&

36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Balances with related parties (Continued)

(d)

(i)

(ii)

As at 31 December 2024, amounts due from
associates are mainly unsecured loans and advances
to certain associates of the Group, among which
amount due from one associate of RMB140,311,000 (31
December 2023: RMB141,222,000) is interest-free with
no fixed payment term, amount due from associates
of RMB20,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB5,892,000)
bear an interest rate of 3% (31 December 2023: 3%
7.5%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, certain current amounts due
from related parties of RMB42,106,000 (31 December
2023: RMB43,939,000) are unsecured and interest-
bearing ranging from 3.85% to 8% (31 December
2023: ranging from 3.85% to 8%) per annum.

The other amounts due from/to related parties are

unsecured and interest-free.

ST - BUAARETIIR)

36 EXRBABARS (1B)

(d) BEAEE
0]

H Al

T ek (8)
MR20245E 12 A31 8 » pEdkE
ERAIFREXFEZAMAEEH
ATHERRNEKEER
Rk Hep iy — e
A Al TE A R # 140,311,000
L (2023512 A318 : AR
#141,222,0007T) B & 8
7 [E 7F S FOCHABR - FE U B
7~ 8] 3 IE A R ¥ 20,000,000
L (202312 A31H : AR
¥ 5,892,000 7T) H) F F & &
3% (20235128318 : 3%
%£7.5%) °

20249128318 & F
BN EA e UK BE B 5 sRIE A R
42,106,000 7t (2023 F 12 A
318 AR#43,939,0007T)
BB WIRFFENT
3.85% = 8% (20234 12 A 31
B: N F3.85%E8%):HE -

FE U, 1 BR Bt 75 5ROR R A

HHERE -
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of receiving
services from subsidiaries of Greentown Holdings and
subsidiaries and purchasing goods from Lansong Supply
Chain above constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section
“CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” of the
Directors’ Report.

The related party transactions in respect of receiving
services from the subsidiary of Greentown Hospital
and Zhejiang Greentown Architectural Technology,
providing services to Bluetown Group, and sales of goods
to Bluetown Agriculture Technology above constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. However, providing services to Bluetown Group
is on normal commercial terms in the ordinary and usual
course of business and is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements under 14A.97 of the Listing Rules. The other
transactions are exempt from the disclosure requirements
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as they are below the de
minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).
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ST - BUAARETIIR)

36 EXRBABARS (1B)

(e)

FEFRBER Z A TR

Ll BB ESZRIER B A A
KW E AR EERAR A& A &R
HEBRBEER BB AR FHE
R ETHRBIE4AASE T/ E
RHGRIFEMER S - LA
FUAEFMRTECEEHNES
eREFHERERS]—H o

B B B Ak B BT RO T 4R
BEMEAR QT ZHBERQEE
MR RERE TENREE R
HEERTEMRBRERE @AY
FRBEK EMRBIE14AETR
THEERZUIFEBRER S -
AR RERBTFTEREE AT
HEXETIRRE R EGRRE
T E2ERRET(EMARAD
FUAITKREBEBTHHRENRT - H
32 Z R R LRI E 14A
EETHEERT BEERE
14A76MIETE TR RE R 2 KFE
#HE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZ=1TEA - BUAAREITIIR)

37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 37 AEIEEYTBMR K

FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
128318 12A31H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M3 ARET T ARETF T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries RPENEIE (a) 1,076,242 1,007,799
Interest in an associate Bt N Rl = 202,023 259,958
Other financial assets EthemEE 252,594 388,822
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEEE - 10,957
e 1,530,859 1,667,536
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 &k H b FRIE (b) 877,808 1,573,315
Cash and cash equivalents BekReEEY 122,897 87,597
Other financial assets HEthemEE 141,353 148,939
T 1,142,058 1,809,851
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H b EFRIA 33,653 347,899
33653 347,899
Netcurrentassets = *"BEEF® 1,108,405 1461952
Total assets less current liabilities BEEBWABAM® =~~~ 2,639,264 3,129,488
NET ASSETS EEFHE 2,639,264 3,129,488
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXREE 33(a)
Share capital [N 27 27
Reserves & 2,639,237 3,129,461
TOTAL EQUITY PR 2,639,264 3,129,488
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (BR S1TaEBASN - MAARETHIR)

37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

37 REIEEMBMRRR (B)

(@) Interest in subsidiaries (a) MIBQEER
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Cost of investments, unlisted JE_E IR E RS (M 5EG))

(note (i) 293,234 267,807

Amounts due from subsidiaries JE L B 88 m) 3B (BT EE Gi))
(note (i) 783,008 739,992
1,076,242 1,007,799

(ii)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company granted share options to certain employees
of its subsidiaries (see note 31). The Company does
not require its subsidiaries to pay for the Company'’s
shares in issue to settle the grant of share options.
Accordingly, the equity-settled share-based payment
expenses of RMB25,427,000 (2023: RMB29,984,000)
allocated to its subsidiaries with no requirement of
payments during the year ended 31 December 2024
are recognised as contributions from the Company
and the amount was recorded as cost of investments
in subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024.

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed term of repayment.
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(ii)

HE2024F 128318 L5
I N/NI R =40 D= N )
ETERERLBERE (BK
FE31) e AR AN EEKE
M B AR AR REEBRE
BRRERNE BITRDMAR -
Fit o R EE20244F12 A
MNBLEFEHMSE FEKN
BAR BEMNRESRARER
HEE ARG BER AR
% ANR# 25,427,000 7T (2023
£ AR 29,984,0007T) i
RAEAQRNLE  Mzd
BB 8 AR 2024F 12 A
31 BRMBA R E A -

FEUS K B R B R E I
% B B EE EE TR -



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZ=1TEA - BUAAREITIIR)

37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 37 AEIBEMEMRRE (E)

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(b) Trade and other receivables (b) EZRHEAMEWR
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Amounts due from related parties & L2 R Bt 75 5K OR
— Non-trade nature (note (i) — EESMHE (H3E) 877,808 1,573,315
(i)  Amounts due from related parties (non-trade nature) )y EREBARE GEESN

) REERERE -

38 RMBLARIKMKRE
TREWRFIHAREMER  AERAR
BRESHEONBARNE - BBE
B - PSR FBI AL @K -

are unsecured and interest-free.

38 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

BREEERLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
ALK
EXHEUR &/ BRTR rEE
NEEH R/ AR B 5 EREx HEBREE F0°KE WEARKE IEXRREEMQ
Greentown Service Group Investment BVI Not applicable/ 100% 100% - Investment holding, limited
Co. Ltd. 25 November 2014 UsD100 liability company
Greentown Service Group Investment EBERHEE @M/ 10ET 100% 100% — REER EREAAR
Co. Ltd. 2014411 A25H
Greentown Service Group (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Not applicable/ 100% - 100%  Investment holding, limited
Co. Limited 06 December 2014 HKD100 liability company
FRRBEE (BE) BRAF Bk TER /10087 100% - 100% REAER AREERF
2014E12R6H
Hangzhou Zigui Technology Co., Ltd the PRC USD50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Investment holding, limited
29 July 2015 USD50,000,000 liability company
MMEENEERAR i 50,000,000% 7T,/ 100% - 100% REAR BRELELT
2015477298 50,000,000 T
Lvcheng Property Services Group Co., Ltd.  the PRC RMB200,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
16 October 1998 RMB126,000,000 limited liability company
BENERBEEERAF ME AR 200,000,000 7T, 100% - 100% MFEE BREMLAA
199846104168 AK¥126,000,0007T
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZ=1TEA - BUAREITIIR)
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38 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 38 RMBRATAKNERE (B)
(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
BERERLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
ALK
EXBEUR Et/BRIR F5H
NAER R/ ML B 5 BEfEx ERER A0ARE WELAARE IRRBREEBA
Zhejiang Lvsheng Property Management the PRC RMB93,000,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 16 September 1999 RMB93,000,000 limited liability company
MTEANERBERAF EP AR #93,0000007T,/ 55% - 00% MEEE ARALLF
19959 R16H AEE93,000,00070
Shanghai Lvfeng Property Management the PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 31 August 2011 RMB500,000 limited liability company
LERENEERARRF el AR%500,0007T,/ 100% - 100% WEEE AREELF
201148A31H AR 5000007
Hangzhou Yijia Property Management the PRC RMBS500,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 01 September 2006 RMB500,000 limited liability company
MNEENEERERAR> e AR%500,0007T,/ 55% - 100% MEEE EREALF
200659818 AR 500,000 7
Ningbo Lvheng Property Management the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 44% - 80%  Property management,
Company Limited 05 June 2012 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
ERFENERBEERAR(F P AR ¥3,000,0007T, 4% - 80% MEEE BEREALF
01256A5H A8 3,000,000 7T
Ningbo Greentown Property the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 15 May 2006 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
ERGENEERERAF TE AR H5,0000007T,/ 100% - 00% MEEE ARALLF
2006£58158 A8 5,000,000 7T
Jiaxing Greentown Property Service the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 11 April 2008 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
REZENERBEARRF el AR¥5,0000007T, 100% - 100% WEEE AREELF
A08F4A 1A AR 50000007
Greentown Property Service Group the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
(Shanghai) Property Management Co., Ltd 06 January 2003 RMBS3,000,000 limited liability company
RENFREEE (LS NEER il ABR#3,0000007T,/ 100% - 100% MXEE FREMCAF
BRAR* 20035 1A6H AR 3,000,000 7T
Anhui Greentown Property Management ~ the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 30 October 2002 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
RABINEERERAR" e AR ¥5,0000007T, 100% - 100% #MEEE BEREALF
20025104308 A8 5,000,000 7T
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B RS R AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

38 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

SITREAN -

BUARETTIIR)

38 RMIBLAANKRE (B)

(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
BRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
ALK
EXBEUR Et/BRIR F5H
NAER R/ ML B 5 BEfEx ERER A0ARE WELAARE IRRBREEBA
Beijing Greentown Property Management ~ the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 13 October 2003 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
IRBENEERERAF TE AR #10,0000007T,/ 100% - 00% MEEE ARALLF
2003410 A 13H A8 3,000,000 7T
Greentown Real Estate Consulting the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Community leasing, sales
Company Limited 13 January 2005 RMB50,000,000 and other services, limited
liability company
SRERERAEEERAR" e AR¥5,0000007T, 100% - 100% EREE - HERAMRSE
2005514138 AR 85,000,000 7 BREMERA
Zhejiang Greentown Culture Arts the PRC RMB 10,000,000/ 71% - 71%  Recreational activities,
Consulting Company Limited 17 July 2007 RMB8,052,800.00 exhibitions and market
promotion services, limited
liability company
HTRA X RBBRAR il ARH10000,0007T,/ 1% - 7% EREH RERTSHER
N076TATAE AR¥8,052,800.007T k% BRAMAF
Zhejiang Greentown Real Estate Agency the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 55% - 55%  Community leasing, sales
Company Limited 20 November 2003 RMB10,000,000 and other services, limited
liability company
IR EEERBRAR" HE AR#10,0000007T,/ 55% - 5% EEEE - HEREMRTY
2003511 A208 A 10,000,000 70 BREMERA
Greentown Community Service the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Business consultant and
22 April 2009 RMB2,000,000 housekeeping services,
limited liability company
AL R RS EEBR AR e AR 50,000,000 7T,/ 100% - 100% EEEMRRERE
0094 A28 AR2,0000007T BRAMAHF
Zhejiang Greentown Hotel Management the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 63% - 63%  Hotel management, limited
Company Limited 26 January 2010 RMBS50,000,000 liability company
MIRAEEEEERAR il AR H50,0000007T,/ 63% - 63% BEERE  BRALAR
2010518268 AR 50,000,0007C
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Tulip Hotel the PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Hotel management, limited
Management Company Limited 16 November 2010 RMB500,000 liability company
RNBLELEREEERERAR" HE ARH500,0007T/ 100% - 100% BEEE ERELLA
2010511 A168 AR 500,000 7T
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B ISR AR B EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan unless otherwise indicated) (B&

38 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

ST - BUAARETIIR)

38 RMIBLAANKRE (B)

(CONTINUED)
Proportion of ownership interest
BRERRLY
Place of incorporation
and business and date Registered/ Group's Held Held
of establishment/ issuedand  effective by the bya  Principal activity
Name of company incorporation paid-in capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  and legal status
ALK
EXBEUR Et/BRIR F5H
NAER R/ ML B 5 BEfEx ERER A0ARE WELAARE IRRBREEBA
Greentown Liuzhuang (Hangzhou) the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Hotel management, limited
Hotel Management Co., Ltd 30 September 2009 RMB10,000,000 liability company
BEBHE M) BEERERAF TE AR #10,0000007T,/ 100% - 00% BEEE ARALAF
2009494308 A 10,000,00070
Greentown Training School the PRC RMB600,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management related
10 August 2011 RMB600,000 training services, limited
liability company
N AR BRI 2R HE AR¥600,0007T,/ 100% - 100% DEEEAEEIRS
1F8A10A AR % 600,000 BREMAAA
Xinjiang Greentown Property the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 16 July 2008 RMB10,000,000 leasing and housekeeping
services, limited liability
company
HERANERBEERAR i ARH10000,0007T,/ 100% - 00% MNEREE - BERRHRS
0857 A 16H AR100000007T BRAMAHF
Shenyang Greentown Property The PRC RMB6,000,000/ 80% - 80%  Property management,
Services Company Limited 22 October 1996 RMB6,000,000 limited liability company
BB ERBERAR HE AR¥6,0000007T,/ 80% - 80% MEER BEREALF
19910/ 228 AR 6,000,000 7
Qian'an Greentown Services The PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 26 December 2014 RMB500,000 limited liability company
BRGENERBBRAR" Gl ARH500,0007T/ 100% - 100% MFEE BREMLAR
0145128268 AR 500,000 7T
Shandong Greentown Property the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 18 June 2012 RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
WREHAMERBERAF TE AR #10,0000007T,/ 100% - 00% MEEE ARALLF
012667188 A 10,000,00070
Zhoushan Greentown Dongsha Hotel the PRC RMB30,000/ 100% - 100%  Undertake convention
Management Company Limited 21 April 2014 RMB30,000 and exhibition, hotel
management, limited
liability company
RLGHRYBEEEERAR" HE ARK30,0007T/ 100% - 00% FREEERRE EEEE.
014548218 AR30,0007T BREMERA
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Greentown Property Service Group Hong Kong Not applicable/ 100% - 100%  Investment holding, limited
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited 16 December 2014 HKD40,000,000 liability company
RUMERBEE (BE)ERAR Bt TER/ 100% - 100% REER AREERT
20144612160 40,000,0007% 7T
Lingshui Greentown Tiantangniao Holiday ~ the PRC RMB1,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Hotel and resorts
House Management Company Limited 15 March 2016 management, limited
liability company
BAGBREREREERERAR" HE AR%1,0000007T/- 100% - 00% BEEREREEE
016F3715A BREMAAH
Sanya Greentown Tiantangniao Holiday the PRC RMB1,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Resorts management, limited
House Management Company Limited 19 March 2016 liability company
CORBREREREERARAR e AR H#1,000,0007T,/- 100% - 100% EREEE BEREEARA
2016538198
Chongging Liangjiang Greentown the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Property Service Company Limited 24 November 2016 RMB3,725,578.14 limited liability company
EEMIRBNERBERAR TE AR H5,0000007T,/ 51% - 51% WEER BRALLF
016 11A248  AR®3725578.147C
Xinyang Greentown Property the PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 13 August 2014 RMB500,000 limited liability company
ERRENERBEARAF il ABR%500,0007T,/ 100% - 100% MEEE FRALAF
201458138 AR 5000007
Greentown Property Service Group the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Jiangsu Company Limited 03 July 2015 RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
SRNERBEBIHERAF e AR 10,000,000,/ 100% - 100% WEEE EREALF
201557430 AR 10,000,000 70
Zhejiang Twin Cities Network the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Computer networking
Company Limited 02 April 2015 RMB50,000,000 technology, consultant
service, limited liability
company
HTERBEMBRERBRA R e AR 50,000,000,/ 100% - 100%  ERBERM - AR -
1554420 AR 50,0000007T BRAMAHF
Zhejiang Greentown Lezhen Education the PRC RMB 100,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Education consultant service,
Technology Group Co,, Ltd 08 July 2015 RMB90,000,000 limited liability company
WMLHEEREN B REERAR" P AEH100,0000007C,/ 100% - 100%  HEHARE -
201557A8H AR 890,000,0007C BREMERA
2024FEHE SHMREEEBRAF
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Haining Greentown Hongxiang the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 50% - 50%  Property management,
Property Service Company Limited 11 November 2016 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
BERIEANERBEERDA () i ABH3,0000007T,/ 50% - 50% MEEER BRALLF
016511 ANA AE 81,000,000 7
Hangzhou Shide Supply Chain the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Financial service outsourcing,
Management Co., Ltd 07 March 2016 RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
RNt EREREEERAR i AR10000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% EEREHIE
16F3A78 AR100000007T BRAMAHF
Zhejiang Anji Greentown Yinrun the PRC RMBS3,000,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Property Service Company Limited 19 December 2016 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
HIREEAREYERBEERR T HE AR¥3,0000007T,/ 60% - 0%  MEER BREHELT
0165128198 A 1,000,000 7T
Jiangxi Gantie Greentown Property the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 16 December 2016 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
IRBHSAERBEER AR hE ARE3,0000007T,/ 51% - 51%  MEEE BREAAF
0165128168 A8 3,000,000 7T
Zhejiang Zhilian Sharing Information the PRC RMB10,000,000/~ 100% - 100%  Information Technology
Technology Company Limited 10 July 2017 Service, limited liability
company
MIEBAZERMBARAR i AR¥10,000,0007C,/~ 100% - 100%  EERMRS
017%7R108 BRAMAHF
Greentown Joyful Elder Life Service Hong Kong Not applicable/ 100% - 100%  Pension Service, limited
Company Limited 02 November 2017 HKD24,000,000 liability company
BHEZRBERAT BE T@f/ 100% - 100% EZRE ERETLT
2017511 A28 24,000,0007% 7T
Greentown Education Holding Group BVI Not applicable/- 100% - 100%  Investment holding, limited
29 June 2017 liability company
BEAERBERBRAF RBERES TER/- 100% - 100% RARR BREALLF
01756A298
Zhejiang Bokang Pension Service the PRC USD3,000,000/ 100% - 90%  Pension Service, limited
Limited 04 December 2017 USD3,000,000/ liability company
HIHRRZREERR R HE 3,000,000% 7T,/ 100% - 0% EEZRE BREERA
2017412R48 3,000,000% 7
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Suzhou Lvni Property Management the PRC RMB10,000,000/~ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 21 March 2017 limited liability company
BNEANERBEERERAR HE AR 10,000,007/~ 100% - 100% MEER EREALA
017538218
Wenzhou Yayuan Property the PRC RMB500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 22 August 2013 RMB500,000 limited liability company
MNEENZEEREBR AR el AR%500,0007T,/ 100% - 100% WEEE AREELF
201348 A 28 ARH500,0007C
Jilin Greentown Tianhsun Property the PRC RMB5,000,000/ 70% - 70%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 07 May 2013 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
B RIEY ERBER AR e AR ¥5,0000007T, 70% - 0% NEER BREELT
01355878 AR 85,000,000 7
Changchun Liancheng Property the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 42% - 60%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 12 October 2013 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
REMERDERBER A () P AR ¥3,0000007T, 42% - 0%  NEEER BREERT
0135104128 A8 3,000,000 7T
Tianjin Inter Property Management the PRC RMB10,010,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Company Limited 14 May 2008 RMB8,000,000 limited liability company
REMERERNEREER AT P ARE10,010,0007T/ 100% - 100% #MEEE ARAAAF
200858148 A8 8,000,000 7T
Changge Greentown Property the PRC RMB500,000/~ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 28 September 2016 limited liability company
REMAHNERBER A" el AR 500,007/~ 100% - 100% WEEE AREELF
2016597288
Jiaxing Yada Greentown Property the PRC RMBS500,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 26 July 2016 RMB500,000 limited liability company
REMEERANERBERLA e AR¥500,0007T,/ 60% - 0% MEER BREMELT
201657 R 268 AR 500,000 7T
Ji'nan Lixia Greentown Property the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 11 September 2017 RMBS5,000,000 limited liability company
BRETHANEERERAR" hE AR #10,000,000 7T,/ 51% - 5%  MEEE BREMAF
01759A118 A8 5,000,000 7T
Wuhan Greentown Binjiang Property the PRC RMBS3,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Management Company Limited 17 November 2017 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
RERMBINERBERAR TE ABH3,0000007T,/ 51% - 51% WEER BRALLA
0174611178 A8 3,000,000 7T
2024FEHE SHMREEEBRAF
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Zhejiang Happy Green City Marketing the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 69% - 69%  Market Promotion Services,
Planning Co., Ltd. 22 September 2017 RMB2,450,000 limited liability company
T ERENE HREERAF e AR 10,000,000,/ 69% - 9%  THEERRS
1749428 AR 2,450,000 7T BRERAT
Zhoushan Blessed Housekeeper the PRC RMB30,000/ 100% - 100%  Business consultant and
Community Service Company Limited 21 April 2017 RMB30,000 housekeeping services,
limited liability company
FUEREREREERBEERAA* HE AR#300007T,/ 100% - 100% SEERRRBRSE
W1744 8218 AR% 30,0007 BREMAAH
Lansong Supply Chain the PRC RMB30,000,000/ 35% - 35%  Supply Chain management,
28 October 2016 RMB30,000,000 limited liability company
HIEEHRERERER DAY HE AKH30,000,0007T,/ 35% - 3% HEEEE BEREEAA
20165107288 A8 30,000,000
Ningbo Greentown Hotel the PRC RMB1,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Hotel management, limited
Management Company Limited 18 September 2016 liability company
ERSBEEERERAR TE AR 1,000,007/~ 100% - 00% BEEEE ARALAF
2016597188
Ningbo Greentown Yuhua Care Co., Ltd the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Education consultant service,
10 August 2017 RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
ERRBAEREARAR i ARH10000,0007T,/ 100% - 100%  HEHEARS
017487108 AR100000007T AREAAH
Ningbo Greentown Yuhua Yaohong the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 70% - 70%  Education consultant service,
Childcare Co., Ltd. 16 August 2017 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
ERGBAERIREBRAR Gl ARH3,0000007T,/ 70% - 0% HEFARE
017487168 AR 3,000,007 BREMAAH
Zhejiang Twin City Cultural and the PRC RMB11,000,000/~ 71% - 100%  Education consultant service,
Creative Company Limited 17 March 2015 limited liability company
LS LRI B BRA R HE AKH11,0000007T,/- 71% - 100% HEZARE
2015538178 BREMERA
Zhejiang Lebo Education Technology the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Education Technology,
Company Limited 31 May 2017 RMB2,000,000 limited liability company
MTRBRAENBRBREELA" TE AR#10,0000007T,/ 100% - 100% HERE ARALLF
017558318 A8 2,000,000 7T
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Green Flash Network Technology Co., Ltd.  the PRC RMB50,010,000/ 80% - 80%  Information Technology
14 June 2017 RMB50,008,000 Service, limited liability
company
BEBEHMRARAR* G ARH50,0100007T,/ 80% - 80% fERRHRY
1756 A148 AR 50,008,007 BRAMAHF
Zhejiang Lvbang Property Management the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Company Limited 25 April 2001 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
MIEANEERERAR HE AR¥5,0000007T, 60% - 0%  MEER BREHELT
200154 A 258 AR 85,000,000 7
Hangzhou Wulin Greentown Property the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 46% - 51%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 22 December 2017 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
MRS ERBEER AR () P ARE3,0000007T,/ 46% - 51%  MEEE BREAAF
0175128228 A8 1,000,000 7T
Hangzhou Lianrui Advertisement the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 1% - 100%  Advertisement design,
Company Limited 08 April 2015 RMB763,800 limited liability company
MMBEREERAR TE ARH3,0000007T,/ 1% - 100% EERE ARELLAF
201544 A8H AEH763,8007
Hainan Greentown Tianhe Property the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Service Co., Ltd. 23 January 2013 RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
BEERANDEREBR A el AR¥5,0000007T,/ 51% - 51%  WEEE AREERF
013%F 1728 AR 50000007
Tianjin Greentown Lanxi Property the PRC RMB1,000,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Management Co., Ltd. 05 May 2016 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
RERHERNEERERAF" e ARH1,0000007T,/ 60% - 0% MEER BREMELT
201655850 A 1,000,000 7T
Zhejiang Four Seasons Tube Home the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Information Technology
Environment Co., Ltd. 09 January 2015 RMB35,000,021.37 Service, limited liability
company
MIEEEERENBEERAR TE AR 50,000,007,/ 100% - 100%  RERAHRS
M15%1A98  ARH35000,021.37 7T BRERAT
Beijing Jingliang Greentown Property the PRC RMB8,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Service Company Limited 16 September 2019 RMB8,000,000 limited liability company
ERBRRENERBEERA R i ARH8,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% MEEE FREALAF
20194697168 AR #8,000,0007C
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Hangzhou Greentown Information and the PRC RMB21,333,333/ 92% - 100%  Information Technology
Technology Company Limited 10 April 2014 RMB21,333,333 Service, limited liability
company
ARG S R AR AR () i AR¥213333337/ 2% - 100% {FERMRE
014547108 ARH21333333 7T BRAMAHF
Hangzhou Greentown Air Conditioning the PRC RMB30,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Equipment Maintenance
Equipment Maintenance Service Co., Ltd. 02 July 2012 RMB12,500,000 Service, limited liability
company
MR Z AR EEERBERAR e AR 30,000,000,/ 100% - 100%  RfE%ERS -
01247420 A8 12,500,000 BREMERA
Wuhan Intelligence Greentown Services the PRC RMB1,000,000/ 40% - 40%  Property management,
Co., Ltd. 14 May 2018 RMB1,000,000 limited liability company
RERZRAMEERARAR ()N P ARE1,0000007T,/ 40% - 0% NEEER BREMTAF
201858148 AE 81,000,000 7
Shanghai Bailong Network Technology the PRC RMB1,000,000/ 35% - 35%  Information Technology
Co.,, Ltd. 21 January 2003 RMB200,000 Service, limited liability
company
LERBEERMRERAR (N 0 AR¥1,0000007T,/ 35% - 3% EERMRE
20035 1A218 AR 200,000 7T BREART
Zhejiang Lingfeng Education Logistics the PRC RMB55,000,000/ 42% - 53%  Wholesale and retail,
Management Co., Ltd. 16 August 2002 RMB38,000,000 limited liability company
HIBEHERHERERAR () HE AKH55,000,0007T,/ 42% - 5% HERTE BREEAA
2002587168 AR 38,000,000 70
Dalian Hengxin Property Management the PRC RMBA4,500,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Co., Ltd. 19 October 2010 RMB4,500,000 limited liability company
REBENERBERAF TE ARH4,5000007T,/ 100% - 00% MEEE ARALLF
20104104 19H A8 4,500,000 7
Xi'an Hongji Property Management the PRC RMB3,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Property management,
Co.,, Ltd. 26 April 2010 RMB3,000,000 limited liability company
RREENZERARAA e AR¥3,0000007T,/ 100% - 100% WEEE AREELF
20104647268 ARH#3,000,0007C
Sunshine Greentown Property the PRC RMB11,111,100/ 55% - 55%  Property management,
Management (Nanjing) Co., Ltd. 10 November 1995 RMB6,666,700 limited liability company
Bt xRS (BR) ARAF Gl ARE11,111,1007T/ 55% - 5% WMEER BRATAA

19954611 A 108 AR 6,666,7007C
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Beijing Yifang Real Estate Brokerage the PRC RMB2,000,000/- 100% - 100%  Community leasing, sales
Co,, Ltd. 23 December 2016 and other services,
limited liability company
IREREHESLERAR P ARM2,0000007T,/- 100% - 100% EBEE- HEREBRE
016%F 128230 AREAAH
Anhui Shengan Greentown Property the PRC RMB?7,500,000/ 60% - 60%  Property management,
Management Co., Ltd. 25 November 1997 RMB7,500,000 limited liability company
RHBRERNERBERAR HE ARE7,5000007T,/ 60% - 0%  MEER BREHELT
1997611 A 258 AR 87,500,000 7T
Lvman Technology Company Limited the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 92% - 92%  Communication, limited
Acquired on RMB5,000,000 liability company
01 January 2020
BEMBARAF" i ARH50,000,0007T,/ 92% - 92% Bl BREELF
DS A8 5,000,000 7T
202051818
Jinan High-tech Greentown Property the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Property management,
Management Company Limited Acquired on RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
01 July 2020
BERRNEANEERERAR e AR 10,000,000,/ 51% - 51%  MEEE BREAAF
DS A 10,000,000 70
2020%7A18
Hangzhou Caizhixin Technology the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Information Technology
Co., Ltd 4 February 2021 RMB10,000,000 Service, limited liability
company
NS BERBBRAR HE AR 10,000,000,/ 100% - 100% (EERMRE
202152848 AR 10,000,000 70 BREMERA
Greentown Technology Group the PRC USD100,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Information Technology
Co., Ltd 22 February 2021 USD50,000,000 Service, limited liability
company
BERBEEERAR i 100,000,000% 7T,/ 100% - 100% {58 BHMRT -
021452828 50,000,0005% 7T BRERAT
Zhejiang Happy Greentown Parking the PRC RMB50,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Parking Service, limited
Industry Co., Ltd 17 March 2021 RMB10,000,000 liability company
MIZRRAEEERBRAA i ARH50,000,0007T,/ 100% - 100% EERE FRELAF
021437178 AR 10,000,000 7T
2024FEHE SHMREEEBRAF
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Xinjiang Greentown City Commercial the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 70% - 70%  Operation management,
Operation Management Co., Ltd 15 April 2021 RMB10,000,000 limited liability company
HERBATEEELERERAR" TE AR #10,0000007T,/ 70% - 0% EBEER ERAMAF
202144 158 A 10,000,00070
Hangzhou Chunyue Enterprise the PRC RMB22,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Business consultant,
Management Consulting Co., Ltd. 28 October 2021 RMB22,000,000 limited liability company
RMNERERRAERERAA i AR 22,0000007T,/ 100% - 100% EXER FRELAF
0214107288 AR 22,000,007
Zhejiang Greentown Architectural the PRC RMB30,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Smart construction, lighting
Technology Co., Ltd. Acquired on RMB10,000,000 construction and smart
14 December 2021 design services, limited
liability company
AL R ER AR A HE AR 30,000,007, 51% - 51% BRI RAIRR
DS AR#10,000,0007T BEACRA R -
021127148 BRAMAHF
Hangzhou Baiyi Enterprise Management the PRC RMB750,000,000/ 99% - 99%  Investment management
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* 21 April 2021 RMB749,600,000 service company
RMBREREEARER (BREY)  HE ARH750,0000007T,/ 9% - 9% RAERRKLF
2021548218 AR 749,600,0007C
Zhejiang Ruite Construction the PRC RMB25,000,000/ 51% - 51%  Science and technology
Technology Co., Ltd. Acquired on RMB10,000,000 promotion and application
4 January 2022 services, limited liability
company
MIERRENBERAR i AR 25,000,000,/ 51% - 51%  MBEERERRS
DA AR 10,000,000 7 BREMRA
20225 1R48
Zhejiang Lvrui Security Service the PRC RMB11,000,000/ 100% - 100%  Science and technology
Technology Co., Ltd. 13 January 2022 RMB11,000,000 promotion and application
service limited liability
company
TR ZHREREERA R il ARH11,0000007T,/ 100% - 100% BEEERRERRSE -
02%1 8138 AR 110000007 BRAMAHF
Zhejiang Yunqj Business Service Co., Ltd. the PRC RMB 10,000,000/ 70% - 100%  Business services,
8 June 2022 RMB 10,000,000 limited liability company
MIECERREARAR il ARH10,0000007T,/ 70% - 100% BERYE BRELAR
202256A8H AR 10,000,000 70
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Ningbo Zhongjian Property the PRC RMB15,000,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Management Co., Ltd Acquired on RMB15,000,000 limited liability company
30 June 2022
ENTRNEEEARAF P ARH15000,0007T,/ 55% - 100% MEEE FRALAF
R AR 15,000,000 70
202256A308
Huaikuang Anhui Property Service the PRC RMBS5,000,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Co., Ltd. Acquired on RMB5,000,000 limited liability company
30 June 2022
ERZENZRBEREEAR HE ARE5,0000007T,/ 55% - 100% WEEE FRETAF
DS AR H5,000,0007C
20256A308
Anhui Xincheng Smart City Operation the PRC RMB8,000,000/ 55% - 100%  Property management,
Service Co., Ltd. Acquired on RMB8,000,000 limited liability company
30 June 2022
RREHRBETEEREERAR" HE ARH8,000,0007T,/ 55% - 100% #MFEE BREMLAA
R A8 8,000,000 7T
202%6A308
Zhejiang Xincheng Smart City Operation the PRC RMB643,646,364.00/ 55% - 55%  Property management,
Service Co., Ltd. 13 June 2022 RMB643,646,364.00 limited liability company
HIERERHTMELREARAF e = 55% - 55% MEEE AREERF
202%6R138 643,646,364.007T,/
AR 643,646,364.00 7
* The English translation of the Company name is for reference only. The * NAIGBOE B FEMNSE - ZF QAN
official names of these companies are in Chinese. EERBRP -
(i) Pursuant to the agreements, the Group could control majority voting rights (i) BEHE  AEBAZHESENLHRE

REZEEROVBEREEBR - At -
ZEBEROMBER G AL KEEZ2024
F12ANHILFENREFHRE

of the board of directors, and could control the financial and operating
policies of the entities. Accordingly, these entities’ financial information was
consolidated into the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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(BRZ=1TEA - BUAREITIIR)

38 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

The following table lists out the information relating to Zhejiang
Xincheng, the subsidiary of the Group which has a material
non-controlling interest (NCI). The summarised financial

38 RMIBLAANKRE (B)

TREJNEBEAEENE R RN TEH
(BAEERIFZEBREENC)) 2EF -
IATHENHBERBEBTIENEFR

information presented below represents the amounts before any

inter-company elimination.

AR SR 58

Zhejiang Xincheng TS
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Current assets MEEE 859,045 840,195
Non-current assets JEREN A EE 534,269 525,869
Current liabilities MENBE (672,159) (654,792)
Non-current liabilities EREBBEE (14,603) (17,732)
Net assets BEFRE 706,552 693,540
Carrying amount of NCI NCIfREE 320,525 316,604
Revenue WA 1,065,723 995,319
Profit for the year FRFHE 42,307 35,839
Total comprehensive income 2HEBUA 42,307 35,839
Profit allocated to NClI B2 NCI Z FE 17,421 26,974
Dividend paid to NCI EAINCIZ B 13,500 -
Net cash generated from operating activities & & E B 115 IR & F 58 12,538 89,925
Net cash generated from investing activities 1% & /& &) TSI & 558 514 96,229
Net cash used in financing activities MEEYMEHAR e FRE (30,000) (6,875)

The details of disposal of subsidiaries are included in note 4.
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39 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE 39 MEMBNFARER

REPORTING PERIOD

(@) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the @ MRWMEHRE ESEZRER
directors proposed a final dividend and special dividend. HRERFEANRE -BEZFER
Further details are disclosed in note 33(b). B 5 33(b) # 55 ©

(b) On 23 December 2024, the Group entered into an Equity (b) M2024F12H238 ' KEER
and Debt Transfer Agreement, pursuant to which the Group RITIREREEEEDZ  RIE
agreed to purchase 25% of the equity interest in Hangzhou ZhE AEERENRAARE
Jiancheng and the Shareholder Loan for a consideration 222,717,188 7T (AR R EF K (E
of RMB222,717,188 (of which the consideration of the A AR #175,388,7507T) B9 B
Shareholder Loan is RMB175,388,750). On 2 January fE B 0N 2 5K 25% A9 A% A A0 AR 3R
2025, the acquisition was completed. Upon completion B 20251 A28 WEE T
of the Acquisition, the Group holds 45% equity interest in Ko WHETEKE  NEEBEM
Hangzhou Jiancheng. MK 45% HI R AE o
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40 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 40 H£2024F12A31HLF
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EE EMAE R RERWIEE
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE HEARREARELENSE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 2
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA HENEZSVBHREXEH  HEg5
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are i AE B EMmE =2024F 12318 1k
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and which FEHMRERBLENZET B RKER
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These e ZIAFTERISER] - LATERT AT B
developments include the following which may be relevant to the BREE G -

Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

AU BRI
RS BB LN
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 1 January 2025
— Lack of exchangeability
BRI EREN R 2B EXEHTE RS AIXHEIE 202541 1R
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: 1 January 2026
disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial
instruments
BERMBRELEOR 2B e TARBEBMBRELERE7SR 2@ T A - 202651 A1H
WE— M T AN IREET 82155
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
EREMBRELASALNNFESE —F NS 20261 A1H
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
ERMBMELRNFE 18 - HIHWEZ 5 HR#E 202741 R18
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
BRVBIMELRNE 9 - BERELH AR RSN E LR - 5KE 20271 A1R
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the AEERZEZHRERERARNTE
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period R BETT M - BRIMGARARA
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of ZERH TR REHEREMBRRES

them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated BEAXE -
financial statements.
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